®
BIiEZe

Tongcheng-Elong Holdings Limited
EREEZERERAA

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)
(RASESEMAZNERAR)
Stock Code Ix{n 55 - 0780

2020

Annual Report

Tk



CONTENTS
H &%

2 CORPORATE INFORMATION 183 INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
NEIER B AZ BN RS
6 KEYHIGHLIGHTS 190 CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT
B E R, N
? g\iv;—;g@%goww@ AEVIEW 192 CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
A ReczmiliiER
10 CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
5 5 193  CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
LA BB RER

18 MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
i 196 CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
BEENHEAN e

NN Fat  JE S

36  PROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EEREREEERE 198 CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
Ik = A

LeReRER
43 DIRECTORS' REPORT
EEepL 200 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
s LRE IS RR MR

108 CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

330 DEFINITION
EERME

134  ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RE  #HE@REARE




CORPORATE INFORMATION
ARER

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. Wu Zhixiang (Co-Chairman)
Mr. Ma Heping (Chief Executive Officer)

Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Liang Jianzhang (Co-Chairman)
Mr. Jiang Hao
Mr. Cheng Yun Ming Matthew
(appointed on April 19, 2020)
Mr. Yu Haiyang
(resigned on April 19, 2020)
Mr. Brent Richard Irvin

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Wu Haibing
Mr. Dai Xiaojing
Ms. Han Yuling

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Mr. Wu Haibing (Chairman)
Mr. Cheng Yun Ming Matthew
Ms. Han Yuling

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Ms. Han Yuling (Chairman)
Mr. Brent Richard Irvin
Mr. Dai Xiaojing

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Wu Zhixiang (Chairman)
Mr. Dai Xiaojing
Ms. Han Yuling

JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

Ms. Ma Li
Ms. Leung Suet Wing

Tongcheng-Elong Holdings Limited | EIf2E5E1ERBIRA T

EEg

HITES

REFEE (HREEER)

EMELE (HEHTE)

FHITES

REESE (HREEER)

TS

BRERE ST A
(R-F-—FFIIH+NHEZF)

REFRE

(R=—ZF—F4Fp F+1 HEHT)
Brent Richard Irvin 9t 4

BYEHITES

RigRELE
B/ REE
BEBELLT

BREES

REEEE(EFE)
WEALE
BEBELL

FHEEE
BIBRZtT (FE)
Brent Richard Irvin 4t 4
B/ REE
REZE®
REFRE(EE)
B/REE
BIEt
BEATWE

B2+
REZRL L

U 2



AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVES

Mr. Ma Heping
Ms. Leung Suet Wing

REGISTERED OFFICE IN THE CAYMAN ISLANDS

Conyers Trust Company (Cayman) Limited
Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive

P.O. Box 2681

Grand Cayman

KY1-1111

Cayman Islands

HEADQUARTERS

Tongcheng Mansion
No. 188 Yuxin Road
Suzhou Industrial Park

Jiangsu, China

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

31/F, Tower Two
Times Square

1 Matheson Street
Causeway Bay

Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER
OFFICE

Conyers Trust Company (Cayman) Limited
Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive

P.O. Box 2681

Grand Cayman

KY1-1111

Cayman Islands

CORPORATE INFORMATION
DAEH

REAR

LS

BEFELL
FERSEMNRER

Conyers Trust Company (Cayman) Limited
Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive

P.O. Box 2681

Grand Cayman

KY1-1111

Cayman Islands

37

sy = |

BT
M T EERE
FAFTRE 18855
RERE

ERTELEEME
B

ik 9

DB 15

RRES

ZEE314E

RDBEETCRE

Conyers Trust Company (Cayman) Limited
Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive

P.O. Box 2681

Grand Cayman

KY1-1111

Cayman Islands

—Z-TEHEFIR  ANNUAL REPORT 2020



CORPORATE INFORMATION
ATER

HONG KONG SHARE REGISTRAR

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited

Shops 1712-1716, 17/F
Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East
Wanchai

Hong Kong

LEGAL ADVISERS

As to Hong Kong and U.S. laws:

Davis Polk & Wardwell

18th Floor, The Hong Kong Club Building
3A Chater Road

Hong Kong

As to PRC law:

Zhong Lun Law Firm
Level 10 & 11, Two IFC
No. 8 Century Avenue
Pudong New Area
Shanghai, China

As to Cayman Islands law:

Conyers Dill & Pearman
Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive
P.O. Box 2681

Grand Cayman

KY1-1111

Cayman Islands

COMPLIANCE ADVISOR

Guotai Junan Capital Limited

28/F, Low Block, Grand Millennium Plaza
181 Queen’s Road Central

Hong Kong

Tongcheng-Elong Holdings Limited | EIf2E5E1ERBIRA T

BEEEFERLRE
ERTRESBLERAA
&%

BT
BRARERI83%R
ALy

17481712-17165% &8

SRR
EREEREELR:

EMEERM BT
o

ITIE3ASR
BEAGMAE 1818

BETEDER

PR EMESAT
PEEET

SRR

EEEYN R
EePOZHIoRIE

FRRERBEEE

Conyers Dill & Pearman
Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive
P.O. Box 2681

Grand Cayman

KY1-1111

Cayman Islands

BRER

BIRELRMERRAA
B

ERREFI1815E

Mic TES R 281E



AUDITOR

PricewaterhouseCoopers

Certified Public Accountant and Registered Public Interest Entity Auditor

22/F Prince's Building
Central
Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANKS

China Construction Bank Suzhou Industrial Park Branch
8/F, CSSD Building

No. 158, Wangdun Road

Suzhou Industrial Park

Suzhou, Jiangsu Province

China

Industrial and Commercial Bank of China Beijing Lumicang Branch
Room 11, 1/F

No. 12 Chaonei South Street

Dongcheng District, Beijing

China

STOCK CODE

0780

COMPANY WEBSITE

www.tcelir.com

CORPORATE INFORMATION
REEH

AT

’ERKEE TR B
BN DI AR F LT as B R IZ BT
o

IR

RFRE221E

FEFRET

B IRTTARN TE R R 21T
B

TLERA FRIN T

HNTERR

FE S35 15858

CSSDARE8HE

B TR tRITIL RARR B 24T
H

bR

BN/ 1255%

THENE

RRAD R ER

0780

NGIEER

www.tcelir.com

—Z-TEHEFIR  ANNUAL REPORT 2020

5



KEY HIGHLIGHTS
MEEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2020

Revenue decreased by 19.8% year-to-year to RMB5,932.6 million from

RMB7,392.9 million in 2019.

Adjusted EBITDA dropped by 32.3% year-to-year from RMB2,018.5
million in 2019 to RMB1,366.5 million in 2020. Adjusted EBITDA margin
decreased from 27.3% in 2019 to 23.0% in 2020.

Adjusted profit for the year dropped by 38.2% from RMB1,544.3 million
in 2019 to RMB954.0 million in 2020. Adjusted net margin decreased

from 20.9% in 2019 to 16.1% in 2020.

Average MAUs decreased by 6.7% year-to-year from 205.2 million in

2019 to 191.4 million in 2020.

Average MPUs decreased by 14.5% year-to-year from 26.9 million in 2019

to 23.0 million in 2020.

APUs increased by 1.8% year-to-year from 152.4 million in 2019 to 155.2

million in 2020.
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KEY FINANCIAL METRICS FOR THE YEAR ENDED

KEY HIGHLIGHTS
BWEEH

E-Z-EHES+-_A=1t—HL

DECEMBER 31, 2020 FENARUKIES
Year ended December 31,
BE+-A=+—HLEE
Year-to-year
2020 2019 change
b —E-NnF CilsdE)
(in RMB’000)
(AR®T )
Revenue A 5,932,591 7,392,932 (19.8)%
Profit before income tax B P E AT FI 397,577 881,511 (54.9)%
Profit for the year F R A 325,533 686,522 (52.6)%
Adjusted EBITDA K FEEBITDA 1,366,484 2,018,532 (32.3)%
Adjusted profit for the year F LR 55 T 953,972 1,544,320 (38.2)%
Revenue (decrease)/growth WA G, & (RE)
(year-to-year) (19.8)% 21.4%
Adjusted EBITDA margin EHIEEEBITDATE & 23.0% 27.3%
Adjusted net margin EAREER =R 16.1% 20.9%

Note:

Please refer to "Other Financial Information” below for the meaning of “adjusted
EBITDA" and “adjusted profit for the year”.

GEX

B ERAZBITOAIR [ FALFAEZFHEE - &
SETXEMHBEER] -

ZEFTFFIR ANNUAL REPORT 2020
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KEY HIGHLIGHTS
R

OPERATING METRICS FOR THE YEAR ENDED
DECEMBER 31, 2020

GMV (in RMB billion) X (ARE+ET)
Number of average MAUs (in million) — Fi# A/ERAFEE (ZE &)
Number of average MPUs (in million)  F¥HANEBRFEE (5 &)
APUs (in million) FNERFE (KEE)
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BE_Z_ZTF+-A=1t—HL
FENEEER

Year ended December 31,

BE+T-A=+—HLFE

2020
i

116.4
191.4

23.0
155.2

2019
—E-NF

166.1
205.2

269
152.4

Year-to-year
change

FlLt 2 B

(29.9)%
(6.7)%
(14.5)%
1.8%



FIVE-YEAR PERFORMANCE REVIEW

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

RFFERRR

ARG EEERER

Year ended December 31,

BE+-A=t—BHLEE

2020 2019 2018 2017 2016
—EC-EF —E-hEF ZE-N\F ZE—+tF ZE—RF
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR%STR ARBTT AR®FTT AREFTRT AR®BTT
Revenue 'ON 5,932,591 7,392,932 5,255,639 2,518,591 2,204,565
Gross profit EF 4,235,985 5,075,957 3,655,126 1,706,810 1,171,652
Profit/(loss) before income tax MRATERATRER (F8) 397,577 881,511 601,526 134,021 (2,159,618)
Profit/(loss) for the year FREF(BER) 325,533 686,522 534,539 194,377 (2,160,596)
Profit/(loss) attributable to equity ~ AQFEFIFEA
holders of the Company EEERL(ER) 327,593 688,097 529,957 195,575 (2,139,267)
Total comprehensive income/(loss) FRZEWE
for the year (BB #%E 199,689 716,592 519,554 147,785 (2,123,815)
Total comprehensive income/(loss) <A Al IEH A B
attributable to equity holders of 2ERE S (FB) 85
the Company 201,749 718,167 514,972 148,983 (2,102,486)
Adjusted profit for the year FRREAREEF 953,972 1,544,320 915,945 192,657 (239,609)
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF BEAAS BB R E
FINANCIAL POSITION
As of December 31,
BE+=-HA=+-—H
2020 2019 2018 2017 2016
—E-BF —T-hEF ZT-N\F ZE—tF ZT—RF
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR¥TR ARBTT AREBTT ARETT AREBTE
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets FREBEE 10,284,109 9,791,917 9,294,478 924,459 584,293
Current assets REBEE 8,829,682 9,691,343 7,496,865 1,843,551 1,721,516
Total assets EERE 19,113,791 19,483,260 16,791,343 2,768,010 2,305,809
EQUITY fEam
Capital and reserves attributable to AATERFEA
equity holders of the Company EBEERRGEE 14,013,741 13,156,366 11,535,453 (5,336,815) (5,538,199)
Non-controlling interests RS 2,930 (4,692) (7,642) 4,881 6,079
Total equity B 14,016,671 13,151,674 11,527,811 (5,331,934) (5,532,120)
LIABILITIES 8f&
Non-current liabilities ERBEE 863,265 725,829 729,341 6,521,992 6,405,289
Current liabilities REEE 4,233,855 5,605,757 4,534,191 1,577,952 1,432,640
Total liabilities BEAE 5,097,120 6,331,586 5,263,532 8,099,944 7,837,929
Total equity and liabilities EEREEEE 19,113,791 19,483,260 16,791,343 2,768,010 2,305,809
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

Wu Zhixiang

AN/

RS

Co-Chairman of the Board and Executive Director

EFEHFEFTRRWTES

I 'am very pleased to present you our annual report for the year ended
December 31, 2020.

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK

2020 was a challenging and momentous year for the Company. Since the
beginning of the year, the whole travel industry was negatively impacted
by the outbreak of COVID-19 and was tumbled. The virus has caused the
biggest disruption to the global economy and the travel industry in decades.
As the Chinese government locked down cities with higher exposure to
virus and implemented social distancing and travel restrictions policies,
consumption and trading were halted in the first quarter of 2020. However,
under the positive impact of control measures implemented by the Chinese
government and the dedication of medical staff, the pandemic in China
has been effectively contained and the travel market continued to recover.
The virus was diminished around the third quarter of 2020, yet there were
still some regional resurgences which led to temporary fluctuations in the
market. By the end of 2020, Chinese domestic travel has recovered much
faster than the global travel market, but still under the haze of the pandemic.
Nevertheless, we recovered quickly and definitely outpaced the industry
by leveraging our advantages in lower-tier cities, effective traffic sources,
and advanced innovation capability. We reacted swiftly to market changes
and adopted flexible operations strategy, stringent cost control and light
operating model, which helped us overcome challenges and seize market

opportunities.
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Our efforts have also brought us market recognitions during the year.
We received the “Industry Award of the Year” at The 5th Boao Tourism
Communication Forum, in recognition of our innovative products and
services, as well as our outstanding contribution to the new digital
infrastructure development. With our consistent dedication in charity
activities, we have also got the “Excellence in Poverty Alleviation of the Year

Award" at the 2020 China Corporate Social Responsibility Summit.

2020 Results Highlights

After the COVID-19 spreading reached its peak in China in the first quarter of
2020, our business continued to improve quarter by quarter and has achieved
an impressive recovery which outpaced the industry. Coming into the fourth
quarter of 2020, regional resurgences of the virus occurred in certain areas
in China and market turbulence re-appeared in November and December of
2020. However, supported by the diverse and effective traffic channels both
online and offline, our competitive advantage in lower-tier cities, as well as
our comprehensive products and services, we have obtained solid amount
of active users and paying users. Our APUs increased by 1.8% from 152.4
million in 2019 to 155.2 million in 2020 amid the challenging market situation
during the pandemic. Although the fourth quarter of 2020 is a slack season
for the travel industry and the travel demand was under the pressure of virus
rebound, we still achieved positive growth in our MPU and paying ratio. For
the fourth quarter of 2020, our average MAUs decreased by 4.8% year-to-year
from 205.9 million to 196.0 million, while average MPUs increased by 5.9%
year-to-year from 27.1 million to 28.7 million. Our paying ratio increased from
13.2% to 14.6%. Our GMV decreased by 12.6% year-to-year from RMB41.3
billion to RMB36.1 billion because the average daily room rate and air ticket
price were still under pressure. For the fourth quarter of 2020, we have
achieved remarkable growth and outstanding performance in business, with
year-to-year growth of 21% in our domestic room nights sold, more than 30%
increase year-to-year in lower-tier cities, around 5% year-to-year increase in
domestic air ticketing volume, and nearly 180% year-to-year increase in bus
ticketing volume. On a yearly basis, our average MAUs only slightly decreased
by 6.7% year-to-year from 205.2 million in 2019 to 191.4 million in 2020. Our
average MPUs decreased by 14.5% year-to-year from 26.9 million in 2019 to
23.0 million in 2020 as travel demand was hindered by travel restrictions and
pandemic control measures. Our paying ratios decreased from 13.1% in 2019
to 12.0% in 2020. Our GMV decreased by 29.9% year-to-year from RMB166.1
billion in 2019 to RMB116.4 billion in 2020.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

Although the pandemic caused unavoidable impact on our business and
financial performance, we managed to remain profitable and outperform
the industry with our advantages in market position, operations and cost
control. For the fourth quarter of 2020, our revenue decreased by 7.3% year-
to-year to RMB1,812.9 million. Our adjusted profit decreased by 7.2% year-to-
year to RMB307.3 million. Our adjusted net margin was 16.9%, fully recovered
to the level of 2019. Our total revenue decreased by 19.8% from RMB7,392.9
million in 2019 to RMB5,932.6 million in 2020. Our adjusted profit for the year
decreased by 38.2% from RMB1,544.3 million in 2019 to RMB954.0 million in
2020. Our adjusted net margin dropped from 20.9% in 2019 to 16.1% in 2020.

Business Review

As an industry leader in China's online travel industry, we took up our
responsibility to help and protect our users, as well as supporting our
suppliers and the travel industry during the pandemic. We designed a self-
service online cancellation function to fast-track refund and changes as
well as co-establishing an emergency fund to guarantee well-timed refund.
We embedded our advanced technology in an enquiry platform for users
to trace possible exposures to virus in their travel histories and help them
understand the quarantine and travel policies in different regions of China.
In order to protect our users' rights and help control travel risks, we offered
them with COVID-19 related insurance for free. Furthermore, we worked
with Tencent Map to provide users with locational information of COVID-19
nucleic acid test availability. To pay gratitude to medical staff in mainland
China who were fighting front-line with the virus, we offered them one-year
“Black Whale" paid membership for free. To help our suppliers to capture
the market rebound opportunities, we developed Ark Alliance program and
actively promoted tourist sightseeing spots through online marketing for
free. We launched “Safe Room” and “Safe Riding” initiatives to improve the
safety of hotel guests and travelers. We also offered "Hit the Road” initiative
to facilitate users’ travel plans and to help revitalize the travel industry by
providing travellers with more safety assurance. We also joined hands with
local governments to promote tourist destinations and distribute consumer
vouchers so as to help stimulate domestic consumption. All of our efforts
have been well-recognized by our users and have generated positive

recognition from our suppliers.
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During the year, we had further expanded online traffic sources and also
launched offline user acquisition measures in an effective way. In the past
year, we further strengthened our cooperation with Tencent to explore
the business potentials within its ecosystem. We maintained stable and
effective traffic channels from Weixin mini program and continued to deepen
cooperation with Tencent. In 2020, about 80.9% of our average MAUs was
contributed from Weixin mini program with majority of the traffic from Weixin
Payment portal and the drop-down list of users’ favorite or most frequently
used mini programs. We have experienced a change in Weixin payment
portals’ layout in the fourth quarter of 2020. The new layout presents our two
portals under a separate category of “Travel & Transportation”, enhancing
the visibility and recognition of our portals. We deepened our cooperation
with Weixin by further exploring the potential of the “Search+Travel”
ecosystem which allows users to have quick access to our transportation
ticketing services by conducting keyword search on Weixin platforms. We
also expanded our cooperation with Tencent by launching various marketing
campaigns with its online games platform, so as to increase our brand
recognition among younger generations and tie in with our brand image and
company strategies. Moreover, we further delved into the cooperation with
Tencent to broaden our traffic sources. We were Tencent's first partner in the
OTA industry to convert users to our mini program directly from different
Tencent-based platforms such as Tencent Video and Tencent Music. This has
helped to increase our advertising efficiency significantly. We also started on
a partnership with QQ Weather in late 2020, to enhance interactions with our

younger users.

In addition, we enhanced diversification of our traffic channels by exploring
and further penetrating alternative online traffic sources, such as third-party
location-based APPs, quick APPs, and short video platforms. With the aim
to acquire more users, we cooperated with several handset vendors and
designed various initiatives which provided users with direct booking and
itinerary reminders functions through our quick APPs on mobile phones
and other mobile devices. To grasp opportunities driven by the upswing of
short videos, we strategically cooperated with one of the leading short video
platforms and embedded our bespoke products and services in its ecosystem
to attract more users and improve brand recognition. We commenced
our offline user acquisition initiatives in bus ticketing, attraction ticketing
and accommodation businesses in the second quarter of 2020 to capture
market recovery opportunities, especially in lower-tier cities. We formed tight
relationships with bus operators and tourist attractions to digitalize user
acquisition process by setting up vending machines across the country. We

joined hands with hotels to establish QR code scanning function to convert
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offline users to book through our mini program and engender more high-
value traffic. At the same time, we continued to explore more potentials from
offline user acquisition channels. All of these offline user acquisition methods

have attained excellent progress.

We further reinforced our leading position in China's OTA market, especially
in lower-tier cities. As of December 31, 2020, our registered users residing in
non-first-tier cities in China accounted for approximately 86.3% of the total
registered users. For the year ended December 31, 2020, approximately 61.7%
of our new paying users on Weixin platform were from tier-3 or below cities
in China. Currently, the online penetration rate of travel business in lower-
tier cities is relatively low, signifying immense opportunities for us. With our
strategic focus on lower-tier cities and our efforts in offline user acquisition,
we have successfully captured the rebound opportunities in lower-tier cities
market and have gained more market shares in our major business segments,

including accommodation and transportation.

We forged sustainable relationships with various TSPs to offer one-stop-shop
products and services to users throughout their journeys. As of December
31, 2020, our online platforms offered over 7,600 domestic routes operated
by over 820 airlines and agencies, around 2.2 million hotels selections and
alternative accommodation options, nearly 390,000 bus routes, over 670 ferry
routes and approximately 8,000 domestic tourist attractions ticketing services.
During the pandemic, we launched value-added services such as COVID-19
insurance to help users reduce their travel concerns. We upgraded our
airport pick-up and drop-off services and car rental business to further fulfill
users’ demand. For accommodation business, we tailor-made value-added
products and services under different scenarios to our users to improve their
satisfactions and boost hotels" monetization. In order to revitalize the travel
industry, we deepened our cooperation with upstream suppliers such as
airports, tourist attractions and local travel bureaus to carry out live-streaming
activities and offline marketing promotions. Furthermore, we continued to
elevate our cross-selling strategies, resulting in continuous improvement in
our cross-selling rate. In late 2020, we also combined the accommodation
and the tourist attraction business segment, so as to achieve better synergy

and further improve cross-selling.
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We continued to develop and apply our advanced technology to transform
from an OTA to an ITA, with an aim to enhance our operations and
profitability, as well as to benefit the whole industry. We have leveraged
our technology ability throughout the Company’s entire operating process,
including product development, customer service automation, and value
propositions to suppliers, etc. During the year, we further ripened our
Huixing system by optimizing the layout to users and better integrating
supply chain resources to provide more combinations in different scenarios
to meet various demands. We also upgraded our Al-driven customer services
to better detect users’ underlying problems and successfully developed our
own intelligent robot for customer service, which benefited our customer
service efficiency and reduced our operational costs. In order to utilize
our technological innovation to boost the growth of travel industry, we
provided higher value propositions to our TSPs including bus operators,
tourist attractions, airports and hotels by enhancing their automation and
digitalization levels of their operations. We have developed comprehensive
Software-as-a-service (SaaS) solutions to assist individual and small chain
hotels in the management of their daily operations as well as for the

management of inventory, revenue and marketing.

In the second quarter of 2020, we launched a new brand name "R k1T
(ly.com) and a new brand logo, as well as a new slogan “Together, let’s go!”.
We were dedicated to improving our brand awareness through online and
offline advertising campaigns during the year. We successfully reinforced our
young and modern brand image and further emphasized on our targeted
users. Starting off with our new brand, we aim to be the leading travel brand
in lower-tier cities in China. We will continue with our effort to provide

convenient, intelligent and reliable travel products and services to our users.

Business Outlook and Strategies

At the beginning of 2021, the Chinese travel industry was still under the
negative impact of COVID-19 because of the resurgence of confirmed cases
in certain areas. We remained cautious and adjusted our business promptly to
overcome the challenges. With the effective control of the pandemic in China
and as efficacious vaccines emerge, we are optimistic about the recovery
of the travel industry in China in 2021. We are confident to continuously
outperform the industry with our competitive advantages in traffic sources,
market position and operation strategies. We also believe that the pandemic
has created opportunities for us to grow even faster. During the past year,
we have observed changes in user behaviors. Demands for domestic travel
have blossomed since the pandemic has seriously curbed outbound travels,
signifying greater market potential for us as we mainly focus on domestic

travel market. Besides, users started to shift their preferences towards local
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and short-haul travel due to policy restrictions, which was one of key catalysts
for the growth in our hotel and tourist attraction businesses. Furthermore,
users developed stronger demand for high-quality travel products and
services and contactless process due to safety concerns, implying more
opportunities for us to capture the market by providing innovative and
outstanding products and services. In the meantime, we have observed
that many companies became more aware of cash flow management and
expense control after the pandemic. With our well-developed technology and
entrenched relationship with TSPs, we believe that we are well-positioned
to seize the opportunities in the corporate travel sector. Thus, we acquired
a corporate travel business in the fourth quarter of 2020 and will develop it
with our extensive product offerings and technology expertise in the coming

years.

In the long run, we believe the online penetration of travel industry will
accelerate and more opportunities for OTAs will appear. To fulfill our mission
and reinforce our leadership in the market, we will continue to execute
our key business strategies. We will not only further penetrate the travel
market leveraging on stable and cost-effective traffic sources but also further
enhance products and services with technological innovations. We will
continue to excel in the industry with our ambition to transform from OTA
to ITA. We will also continue to seek merger and acquisition opportunities to

boost future growth of our business.

With the government’s support to develop and to digitalize travel industry,
we will leverage our advanced technology to improve value proposition
to our suppliers and business partners and create sustainable cooperation
in the long run. We will further explore local travel opportunities with
local governments, travel bureaus and upstream suppliers to provide
comprehensive local travel recommendations and solutions to users. This
has granted us spectacular opportunities to leverage our strong traffic to
cultivate untapped travel destinations, as well as enhancing the digitalization

and the efficiency of the travel industry in China.
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We are all grateful for the efforts made by the Chinese government and
the medical staff to contain the spread of COVID-19. On behalf of the
Group, | would also like to extend my sincere gratitude to our users for their
recognition and support in this challenging year. | would like to appreciate
our suppliers for joining hands with us to tackle difficulties and for deepening
our cooperation to explore more business opportunities. | would like to
acknowledge our devoted employees and management team for their
commitment, dedication, and contributions, especially when our Company
and the entire travel industry were heavily impacted by the pandemic. Last
but not least, | am thankful for the continuous support and confidence in our
future from our Shareholders. We will strive to enhance our performance in
the market and strengthen our leading position to generate fruitful returns

for our Shareholders in the years to come.

Wu Zhixiang
Co-Chairman of the Board and Executive Director
Hong Kong, March 23, 2021
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEE W& D

Year ended December 31, 2020 compared to Year ended December 31,

BE-Z-ZF+-A=+—-HLFEHEBZE

2019 —E-NFTZA=t-HLFENLR
Year ended December 31,
BE+-A=1t—HILEE
2020 2019
—ECERF —Z-hEF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT R ARBTT
Revenue WA 5,932,591 7,392,932
Cost of revenue SHEE B (1,696,606) (2,316,975)
Gross profit EF 4,235,985 5,075,957
Service development expenses AR 75 B2 B <2 (1,245,506) (1,512,792)
Selling and marketing expenses SHE R MY (2,131,276) (2,244,516)
Administrative expenses THHX (521,728) (594,217)
Net provision for impairment loss TREEREBEREFE
on financial assets (140,413) (39,958)
Fair value changes on investments measured RAnBEFEAHEHABR
at fair value through profit or loss RIRE AR BEESD 65,445 106,006
Other income =N 98,864 88,620
Other gains/(losses), net Hiplss, (BiE)F58 20,551 (19,573)
Operating profit R R 381,922 859,527
Finance income BATS U A 37,641 47,104
Finance costs H%EER (14,782) (12,429)
Share of results of associates FE{RERE N R ELE (7,204) (12,691)
Profit before income tax BRARSBLAT S A 397,577 881,511
Income tax expense Fr R = (72,044) (194,989)
Profit for the year FRER 325,533 686,522
Attributable to: AN B IR ¢
Equity holders of the Company RATIEZEREB A 327,593 688,097
Non-controlling interests IR (2,060) (1,575)
Adjusted profit for the year® FRE TR F @ 953,972 1,544,320

Note:

(@) Please see "Other Financial Information - Non-IFRS Financial Measures” below for

more information about adjusted profit for the year.
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Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer

HITESEREFENTE

Ma Heping

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEE WK D

L) a
REVENUE WA
Our revenue was generated primarily from accommodation reservation BB ATEREBEBEITESRSBER
business and transportation ticketing business. The following table sets forth 2% o TREFIMTERRARANBE 25
a breakdown of our revenue in absolute amount and as a percentage of the RAGRWARBE D

total revenue for the years indicated:

Year ended December 31,

BE+-A=+—HLEE

2020 2019
—EoEF ZE-NF

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARET T AREEF T
Accommodation reservation services ETETERT RIS 1,945,153 32.8% 2,358,123 31.9%
Transportation ticketing services RiBEBIR 3,471,129 58.5% 4,517,658 61.1%
Others i 516,309 8.7% 517,151 7.0%
Total revenue LN 5,932,591 100.0% 7,392,932 100.0%

Revenue decreased by 19.8% from RMB7,392.9 million for the year ended WABBZ-Z-—NEF+_A=1+—HIEFE
December 31, 2019 to RMB5,932.6 million for the year ended December 31, MARKE7INIBELBVI108%EHE_T =

2020.

TE+ A=+ —HILFENARKS9326H
BT o
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEENRE D

ACCOMMODATION RESERVATION SERVICES

We present accommodation reservation revenue on a net basis in
circumstances where we do not assume inventory risk, and on a gross basis
in circumstances where we pre-purchase accommodation room nights for
which we take inventory risk. Revenue recognized on a gross basis represents
the amounts billed to the users for the room nights sold, while the prices at
which we pre-purchase the room nights from the accommodation suppliers

are recorded as cost of revenue.

Revenue from accommodation reservation services decreased by 17.5% from
RMB2,358.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2019 to RMB1,945.2
million for the year ended December 31, 2020. The decrease was mainly
due to the declined demand in accommodation as a result of outbreak of
COVID-19 since January 2020.

TRANSPORTATION TICKETING SERVICES

We generated transportation ticketing revenue primarily from commissions
received from suppliers of transportation tickets, travel insurance and other
ancillary value-added travel products and services. In these transactions, we
acted primarily as an agent, assumed no inventory risk and no obligations
for cancelled ticket reservations, and therefore recorded the majority of our
revenue on a net basis. Starting from fiscal year 2019, we put a few resources
on inventory-risk-taking transportation products in order to provide more
secured quality products to end users with relatively higher gross margin and

accordingly recorded such revenue on a gross basis.

Revenue from transportation ticketing services decreased by 23.2% from
RMB4,517.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2019 to RMB3,471.1
million for the year ended December 31, 2020. The decrease was mainly
due to the declined demand of transportation ticketing services as a result
of outbreak of COVID-19 since January 2020 and the continuous effect
throughout year of 2020.

OTHERS

Revenue from others mainly includes: (i) attraction ticketing revenue; (ii)
revenues generated from ancillary value-added user services; and (iii) revenue

from advertising services.
Revenue from others was almost flattened at RMB516.3 million for the year

ended December 31, 2020, compared with RMB517.2 million for the year
ended December 31, 2019.
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COST OF REVENUE

Our cost of revenue consists primarily of: (i) order processing cost,
representing the fees we pay to banks and payment channels for processing
user payments; (ii) cost of pre-purchased inventory-risk-taking products,
representing the prices we pay to TSPs to purchase travel products for which
we take inventory risk; (iii) employee benefit expenses, representing the
wages, salaries, and other benefits (including share-based compensation)
for our user services and TSP services employees; (iv) procurement costs,
which represents the costs for sourcing ancillary value-added travel products
and services from service providers; (v) depreciation of property, plant and
equipment, and right-of-use assets; and (vi) others, which primarily include
bandwidth and servers fee, telephone and communication costs, tax and
surcharges, travel and entertainment cost, professional fees, user fulfilment
fees (which represent compensation paid to users due to user and customers

complaints), and rental and utility fees.

The following table sets forth a breakdown of our cost of revenue in absolute
amount and as a percentage of total cost of revenue for the years ended
December 31, 2020 and 2019:

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEENWE DT

§H & AR
BPHEERATZRLE ()T EREKRA - B
BAPIBLEE IR A P A SR A ERTT R A RIE AT
B (NWEAEFERBRNEHERNKRE - /)
B APIBLEE B R PR IR & R B & i 22 an [7) B
BERBHEHANER  (HEERMFEX
Bl AP RS Rk RGHEERENE T
NOTE - FEeREMEN (BREABRN RER
MBS ¢ (vERBKA (R REHERHRBAR
BIREREERMREHORE) - VPE - BE
RENEREEERE  RiEM - T2
BERERERER  ERMBEKAE - HE
KHmE - ZERRBEER  EXER AP
Bi1E GEE M P RE PR A AP a0
BIARESRABEREER -

TRENBEE-_ZE-_ZEFER-_T—HhF+_A
=+ —HALFEHEKNPANBE B RE
HBIHERKANB DL

Year ended December 31,

BE+-A=+—HLFE

2020 2019
—B-2F —F-NEF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T R AREF T
Order processing cost A BRRIER AR 690,231 40.7% 978,477 42.2%
Cost of pre-purchased inventory-risk-taking ~ HA¥EFERKR N E &
products EmBR A 268,905 15.8% 427,752 18.5%
Employee benefit expenses EERNRX 209,389 12.3% 273,468 11.8%
Procurement costs FEER AR 141,566 8.3% 239,127 10.3%
Depreciation of property, plant and W - BB SRR
equipment, and right-of-use assets CREEEITE 129,092 7.6% 122,091 5.3%
Others Hith 257,423 15.3% 276,060 11.9%
Total cost of revenue SHEN <45 1,696,606 100.0% 2,316,975 100.0%
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEENRE D

Cost of revenue decreased by 26.8% from RMB2,317.0 million for the
year ended December 31, 2019 to RMB1,696.6 million for the year ended
December 31, 2020. The decrease was mainly due to: (i) a decrease in order
processing cost from RMB978.5 million for the year ended December 31,
2019 to RMB690.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2020, as a result
of declined GMV; (i) a decrease in cost of pre-purchased inventory-risk-
taking products from RMB427.8 million for the year ended December 37,
2019 to RMB268.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2020; and (iii) a
decrease in procurement costs due to the decreased sales of ancillary value-
added travel products and services. Excluding share-based compensation
charges, cost of revenue accounted for 28.3% of revenue for the year
ended December 31, 2020, which decreased from 31.0% for the year ended
December 31, 2019.

SERVICE DEVELOPMENT EXPENSES

Service development expenses decreased by 17.7% from RMB1,512.8 million
for the year ended December 31, 2019 to RMB1,245.5 million for the year
ended December 31, 2020. The decrease was mainly due to the decreased
number of IT employees and relevant decreased employee benefits.
Excluding share-based compensation charges, service development expenses
accounted for 19.1% of revenue for the year ended December 31, 2020,

which increased from 18.1% for the year ended December 31, 2019.

SELLING AND MARKETING EXPENSES

Selling and marketing expenses decreased by 5.0% from RMB2,244.5 million
for the year ended December 31, 2019 to RMB2,131.3 million for the year
ended December 31, 2020, which was mainly due to: (i) the decrease in
advertising and promotion expenses; and (i) partially offset by the increase
in agency commission expenses. Excluding share-based compensation
charges, selling and marketing expenses accounted for 35.2% of revenue for
the year ended December 31, 2020 compared with 29.6% for the year ended
December 31, 2019.
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ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

Administrative expenses decreased 12.2% from RMB594.2 million for the year
ended December 31, 2019 to RMB521.7 million for the year ended December
31, 2020, which was mainly due to the decreased number of administrative
employees and relevant decreased employee benefits. Excluding share-
based compensation charges, administrative expenses accounted for 5.3% of
revenue for the year ended December 31, 2020, which increased from 4.3%

for the year ended December 31, 2019.

NET PROVISION FOR IMPAIRMENT LOSS ON
FINANCIAL ASSETS

We separately presented “net provision for impairment loss on financial
assets” in the consolidated income statement, and the comparative figures
were reclassified to conform to current period’s presentation. Net provision
for impairment loss on financial assets increased to RMB140.4 million for
the year ended December 31, 2020 from RMB40.0 million for the year
ended December 31, 2019, which was mainly due to the disrupted debtors’
repayment capability since COVID-19 outbreak.

FAIR VALUE CHANGES ON INVESTMENTS
MEASURED AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR
LOSS

Along with the market condition, we recorded fair value gains on investments
measured at fair value through profit or loss of RMB65.4 million for the year
ended December 31, 2020, compared with RMB106.0 million for the year
ended December 31, 2019.

OTHER INCOME

Other income increased from RMB88.6 million for the year ended December
31, 2019 to RMB98.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2020. The

increase primarily reflected the increase in government subsidies received.
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OTHER GAINS/(LOSSES), NET

We recorded other gains of RMB20.6 million for the year ended December 31,
2020 and other losses of RMB19.6 million for the year ended December 31,
2019, respectively. This was mainly due to increase in foreign exchange gain
of RMB17.8 million. Also, for the year ended December 31, 2019, we recorded
impairment loss of investments accounted for using the equity method
of RMB35.1 million, and there was no such expense for the year ended
December 31, 2020.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE

We recorded an income tax expense of RMB72.0 million and RMB195.0
million for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively. The
decreased income tax expense was due to the decreased taxable income for
the year ended December 31, 2020.

PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE
COMPANY

As a result of the foregoing, profit attributable to equity holders of the
Company decreased from profit of RMB688.1 million for the year ended
December 31, 2019 to RMB327.6 million for the year ended December 31,
2020.
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OTHER FINANCIAL INFORMATION
Non-IFRS Financial Measures

To supplement our consolidated results, which are presented in accordance
with IFRS, we also use certain non-IFRS measures, namely adjusted EBITDA
and adjusted profit for the year, as additional financial metrics. These
non-IFRS financial measures are not required by or presented in accordance
with IFRS.

Adjusted EBITDA is defined as operating profit adjusted for (1) share-based
compensation; (2) depreciation and amortization; (3) acquisition-related
cost; and (4) impairment loss on equity method investment. Adjusted profit
for the year is defined as profit for the year adjusted for (1) share-based
compensation; (2) the amortization of acquired intangible assets; (3)
acquisition-related cost; and (4) impairment loss on equity method

investment.

The above items are excluded from our adjusted EBITDA and adjusted
profit for the year measures because these items are either non-cash in
nature, or are not driven by core operations which render comparisons with
prior periods and competitors less meaningful. We believe the adjusted
EBITDA and adjusted profit for the year are useful measures for the analysts
and investors as basis for evaluation of our future on-going operating
performance as these measures allow more meaningful comparison of our
performance and projected cash earnings with our historical results from
prior periods and to the results of our competitors. Moreover, management
uses these measures internally to evaluate the performance of our business
as a whole. However, our presentation of such non-IFRS measures may not
be comparable to similarly titled measures presented by other companies.
The use of these non-IFRS measures has limitations as an analytical tool, and
you should not consider it in isolation from, or as substitute for analysis of,

our results of operations or financial condition as reported under IFRS.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEETWNR DM

a. Reconciliation of adjusted EBITDA for the year from a.

operating profit

The following table reconciles adjusted EBITDA for the year from

operating profit for the year, its most directly comparable financial

measure calculated and presented in accordance with IFRS for the years

presented:

IF QAR B EBITDA BT A & s FI 21 B

TERHIWNRFERFENFRALAER
EBITDAEIGF AL Z B M MEER - BREE
BB REENFER2INEAERED
LLIE R BT ISR TR T 0%

Year ended December 31,

BEt-A=+—-HLEE

2020 2019
—B-%F —TNEF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT AR®EFT
Operating profit 1w A 381,922 859,527
Add: n
Share-based compensation, gross® AR BT B & 4278 @ 382,147 542,210
Amortization of intangible assets A 414,442 413,019
Depreciation of property, plant and Y - BERREBENEAEEERE
equipment, and right-of-use assets 187,568 168,120
Acquisition-related cost 1 B AR BB R AN 405 546
Impairment loss on equity method AR EREEEY
investment® - 35,110
Adjusted EBITDA TFHWEBITDA 1,366,484 2,018532

(@) Represents gross expense related to equity-settled share-based payment
transactions. This is a non-cash item and the value is determined by
valuation techniques involving a few parameters out of the management’s
control such as macro economy index and retention rate of grantees.

(b) Represents impairment loss on investments accounted for using the equity
method. The impairment loss would be charged when the asset’s carrying
amount exceeds its recoverable amount. Management regards this item as

non-recurring.
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Reconciliation of adjusted profit for the year from profit for
the year

The following table reconciles our adjusted profit for the year from profit

for the year, its most directly comparable financial measure calculated

and presented in accordance with IFRS, for the years presented:

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

b.

EEEWR DT

F Y AS 5 2 ot F B8 4F P it B 21 R

TREINAE2RFEHFRLRAEBER
BENBNOEE  SREBRMERS
EUAHERZ2INRAEAERA L ENM

FFEAE
Year ended December 31,
BE+t-A=+—HLEE
2020 2019
—B-%F —TNEF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT T AR®EFT
Profit for the year FRIEF 325,533 686,522
Add: piliE
Share-based compensation, net® ARG AERH B2 F 58 350,494 545,896
Amortization of intangible assets WHEFTIS B B E#IEY
from acquisition® 277,540 276,246
Acquisition-related cost U g MR R A 405 546
Impairment loss on equity AR EREBEC
method investment®© - 35,110
Adjusted profit for the year FREARGF 953,972 1,544,320
Notes: WS
(@) Represents expense related to equity-settled share-based payment (a) IEELAREZAAE RN AR R SHE

transactions, net of the tax effect of temporary difference arising from the
difference between the share-based compensation recognized in profit or
loss and the tax deduction to be obtained in the future.

Represents amortization of intangible assets in relation to Tongcheng-eLong
merger in 2018, the acquisition of TCCT in 2019 and the acquisition of

Nanjing Eurasia Air Transportation Co., Ltd ("Nanjing Eurasia”) in 2020.

Represents impairment loss on investments accounted for using the equity
method. The impairment loss would be charged when the asset’s carrying
amount exceeds its recoverable amount. Management regards this item as
non-recurring.
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Year ended December 31,

BEt-A=+—-HLEE

2020 2019

—EZERF — &

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBT ARBTT

Cost of revenue HERA 18,560 27,800
Service development expenses AR 75 B 25 B <2 114,544 177,375
Selling and marketing expenses SHE R &MY 43,860 57,336
Administrative expenses THHAX 205,183 279,699
Total share-based compensation, gross DB BEFENH A 382,147 542,210
Tax effect of temporary difference EREZENBETE (31,653) 3,686
Total share-based compensation, net DR AEENMSEEE  FE 350,494 545,896

We fund our liquidity needs mainly from (i) the net proceeds received from
the Global Offering; and (ii) net cash generated from our business operation.
We had cash and cash equivalents of RMB1,804.5 million and RMB2,271.3
million as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively.

The Company's operation, working capital and cash flow were inevitably
disrupted by the COVID-19 outbreak since January 2020. Due to the
decreased demands in our travel business, declined GMV and high level of
customer refunds, we experienced unfavorable working capital trends and
stress on net cash flow generated from our operating activities in the first
half of 2020. During the challenging period, we reacted swiftly to market
changes and adopted flexible operations strategy to capture the rebound
opportunities. We diversified our traffic through online channels and offline
user acquisition initiatives. As such, our average MAUs and average MPUs
recovered quickly, and our APUs in 2020 even achieved a year-to-year
increased amid the difficult market situation during the pandemic. We strived
to further penetrate lower-tier cities, optimize our value-added products
and services and increase cross-selling from transportation business to
accommodation business. We also applied stringent cost control and reduce

our marketing, operating and administrative costs.

Tongcheng-Elong Holdings Limited | [Ef2E8EIERERLOT

BPEZENN)ERBEMEHIBFRE - R()E
f%k ﬁﬁ iﬁixigﬁﬁéﬂ—fumibﬁ ;JZ °© %Zﬁ
“E-TFR-T-AFT-AZ+-B R
MoREEREARECEEMARYE 180458
BILRARE2213EETT °

BF-TE-ARLERESMBUR - A
@ﬂ%$@~%ﬁﬁéﬁﬁéﬁ§%ﬂﬁ%ﬁ

XPMARE - ANIRBEBHFRTR - X 5%
A &%ﬁmLmim AR -—ZT-_TF L
FERELEESNTNBYE ML RBAF
RenSFENED - FULREHM - BAA
iR 0] & T35 B B N SRER BB A B E R B - A
SEREHNEE - RFBEBRERRERBRTESR
ErengF il Bt RMH T AER
AERTFHANERFPARRE - FEEES
%ﬁlﬁii%ﬁ%%%#*iﬁ%%ﬁ%_

TFEEEALER - BMBRNE-—F2E
ﬁﬁﬁm'ﬁkﬁﬁmﬂﬁém&%ﬁ'ﬂ%
MEZBEBEEBEBOZINEE - HATRK
BB AZEGLR DS - EERITRE
A o



Starting from the second half of 2020, since the pandemic in China has been
effectively contained and along with the recovery trend of the domestic
travel market, our working capital rebounded and remained positive, which
contributed to a positive cash flow generated from operating activities for
the year of 2020. From the prospective of liquidity, as of the date of this
report, we feel optimistic about the recovery trend of the travel industry
in China and about our capacity to fulfill the obligations and commitment

arising from the operation.

The following table sets forth our cash flows for the years indicated:
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B_T_ZFT+FE ARTENRERFE
BRES - XHERAKETSEENBE
BPMEEESHEMOT RGERER  R-F
TEFNREERDNSHREREELLES - 5t
RBECEMME BEAREAH - RMY
TERIRBEEXERNBYE  URETEZHER
% KA GRH) e 1) R B 4488 -

TR BRPINAREENRSRE

Year ended December 31,

BEt-A=+—-HLEE

2020 2019
—EZERF —E-hEF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T ARBFT
Net cash flows generated from KSR TSR &K= /FRE
operating activities 135,520 1,696,442
Net cash flows used in investing activities BEEHMARESREFRE (772,564) (2,955,013)
Net cash flows generated from financing activities BE EBFTER S REFE 176,539 372,764
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents ReRRSEEMRDFE (460,505) (885,807)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning FUHReRREEEY
of the year 2,271,268 3,143,883
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and EXSHHRE RS FEVNHTE
cash equivalents (6,279) 13,192
Cash and cash equivalents at end of theyear FAREERBLEHEY 1,804,484 2,271,268
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Net cash flows generated from operating activities

For the year ended December 31, 2020, net cash generated from operating
activities was RMB135.5 million, which was primarily attributable to the
profit before income tax of RMB397.6 million, as adjusted by (i) amortization
of intangible assets of RMB414.4 million, depreciation of property, plant
and equipment, and right-of-use assets of RMB187.6 million, share-based
compensation of RMB382.1 million, allowance for doubtful accounts of
RMB140.4 million, fair value changes on investments measured at fair value
through profit or loss of RMB65.4 million, and interest income of RMB37.6
million; and (ii) changes in working capital, which primarily consisted of a
decrease trade receivables of RMB129.4 million, a decrease in trade payables
of RMB1,475.9 million, a decrease in prepayment and other receivables of
RMB249.6 million, and a decrease in accrued expenses and current liabilities
of RMB82.2 million. We also paid income tax of RMB112.7 million and

received interest income of RMB31.6 million.

Net cash flows used in investing activities

For the year ended December 31, 2020, net cash used in investing activities
was RMB772.6 million, which was primarily attributable to (i) net cash paid
for wealth management products of RMB761.0 million; (ii) cash received
and paid for repayments of loans to related parties of RMB280.2 million and
RMB122.9 million, respectively; (iii) payment for purchases of property, plant
and equipment of RMB160.0 million; (iv) payment for long-term investments
of RMB103.5 million; and (v) payment for acquisition of Nanjing Eurasia of
RMB40.0 million.

Net cash flows generated from financing activities

For the year ended December 31, 2020, net cash generated from financing
activities was RMB176.5 million, which was primarily due to (i) proceeds
from exercise of share options of RMB285.8 million; (ii) partially offset by
repayment of long-term borrowings and short-term borrowings of RMB27.7
million and RMB63.1 million respectively; and (iii) payment of long-term
leases of RMB28.2 million.

Gearing Ratio

As of December 31, 2020, our gearing ratio, calculated as total borrowings
divided by total equity attributable to equity holders of the Company was
approximately 1.2% (2019: 1.8%).
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Pledge of Assets

In October 2017, we entered into a loan agreement with the lending bank
to borrow RMB196.9 million to finance our purchase of office premises. The
loan was secured by our property and will expire on October 23, 2027. As
of December 31, 2020, the carrying amount of such secured property was
RMB362.2 million.
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Capital Expenditure BARMAX
Year ended
BE+=-A=+—RH1LLEE
December 31, December 31,
2020 2019
—EBEF —E-hF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTT AR®ET T
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEME  BEMEE 160,006 301,138
Purchase of intangible assets BEELEE 6,192 1,455
Placement of long-term investments® RAEIGE® 103,453 264,812
Total capital expenditure BRI BE 269,651 567,405
Note: BiaE -

(@) Placement of long-term investments represents investments accounted for using
the equity method and investments measured at fair value through profit or loss.

Our capital expenditures primarily include purchases of property and
equipment, intangible assets, investments accounted for using the equity
method and investments measured at fair value through profit or loss. We
fund our capital expenditure requirements mainly from cash generated from

our operations as well as bank borrowings.
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As of December 31,

BEZ+=-A=+—H
2020 2019
—EIERF —ZE-hEF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT R AR®ETTT
Investments accounted for using the HAEREARNIEE
equity method 220,891 90,435
Investments measured at fair value through RAnEETEAEEE
profit or loss FFABZEWIRE 168,104 238,753
Investments measured at amortized cost REBHEKATENRE 724,739 250,697
Total long-term investments RERESRERE 1,113,734 579,885

The aggregate amount of long-term investments as of December 31, 2020
was RMB1,113.7 million as compared to RMB579.9 million as of December
31, 2019. The decrease in our long-term investments measured at fair value
was caused by fair value loss in certain private companies that we have no
significant influence over. These companies are principally engaged in hotel
management and other-travel related business. As of December 31, 2020
and 2019, total long-term investments as a percentage to the Group's total
assets are 5.8% and 3.0%, respectively. We made long-term investments in
accordance with our general strategy of investing or acquiring businesses
that are supplement and benefit to our business. Long-term investments
measured at amortized cost are term deposits over one year with fixed
interest rate, denominated in RMB. As of December 31, 2020, none of these
individual investments is regarded as material. We plan to fund our long-term
investments using cash flows generated from our operations and the net

proceeds received from the Global Offering.
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As of December 31,

BEZ+=-A=+—H
2020 2019
—EIERF —ZE-hEF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT R AR®ETTT
Short-term investments measured at REHRC AT E MR IR E
amortized cost 407,353 156,760
Short-term investments measured at fair value RAREBEFEEHES
through profit or loss FFABEMEHRE 4,505,645 4,384,168
Total short-term investments EHRERE 4,912,998 4,540,928

Short-term investments measured at amortized cost are term deposits within
one year with fixed interest rates, denominated in RMB. The investments are
held for collection of contractual cash flow and the contractual cash flows of
these investments qualify solely for payments of principal and interest, hence
they were measured at amortized cost. Short-term investments measured
at fair value through profit or loss include wealth management products,
denominated in RMB or USD, with expected rates of return ranging from
0.8% to 4.8% per annum for the year ended December 31, 2020. The returns
on all of these wealth management products are not guaranteed, hence
their contractual cash flow do not qualify for solely payments of principal
and interest. Therefore, they were measured at fair value through profit or
loss. As of December 31, 2020 and 2019, total short-term investments as a
percentage to the Group's total assets are 25.7% and 23.3%, respectively,
and there is no individual investment having a percentage of over 5% to the
Group's total assets. In view of an upside of earning with a more attractive
return than current saving or fixed deposit are under the low interest rate
trend, as well as the risk nature and the relatively short-term of maturity or
flexible redemption terms of those financial products, the Group selected
products with strong liquidity, safety features and reasonable returns issued

by reputable licensed banks and financial institutions.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEENRE D

Material Acquisitions and Disposals

On October 1, 2020, in order to expand corporate travel management
services, the Company acquired 100% equity interests in Nanjing Eurasia
from a related company, Tongcheng Travel and a third party, and accounted
for such acquisition as a business combination and started to consolidate the
financial statements of Nanjing Eurasia from October 1, 2020. Save for the
acquisition of Nanjing Eurasia, there were no other material acquisitions and
disposals of subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures during the year ended

December 31, 2020.

Foreign Exchange Risk

Foreign exchange risk arises when future commercial transactions or
recognized assets and liabilities are denominated in a currency that is not
our functional currency. We manage our foreign exchange risk by performing
regular reviews of our net foreign exchange exposures. We did not hedge
against any fluctuation in foreign currency during the year ended December
31, 2020.

Our subsidiaries and Consolidated Affiliated Entities in the PRC operate
mainly in the PRC with most of the transactions settled in RMB. We consider
our business not exposed to any significant foreign exchange risk as there
are no significant financial assets or liabilities of our Group denominated in
the currencies other than the respective functional currencies of our Group's

subsidiaries and Consolidated Affiliated Entities operating in the PRC.

Employee

As of December 31, 2020, we had a total of 4,813 full-time employees. As of
the same date, approximately 52.2% and 16.5% of our full-time employees
were based in Suzhou and Beijing, respectively, while remaining 31.3% of

them were based in the rest of the PRC and overseas.

We primarily recruit our employees through on-campus job fairs, recruitment
agencies and online channels, including our corporate websites and social
networking platforms. We have adopted robust internal training policies,
pursuant to which management, technology and other training is regularly
provided to our employees by in-house trainers or third-party consultants.
We have also adopted 2016 Share Incentive Plan, 2018 Share Incentive Plan,
2019 RSU Plan and 2019 Share Option Plan.
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As required by PRC laws, we participate in various statutory employee benefit
plans, including social insurance funds, namely a pension contribution plan,
a medical insurance plan, an unemployment insurance plan, a work-related
injury insurance plan, a maternity insurance plan, and a hosing provident
fund. We are required under PRC laws to contribute to employee benefit
plans at specified percentages of salaries, bonuses and certain allowances of
our employees up to a maximum amount specified by the local governments

from time to time.

None of our employees is currently represented by labor unions. We believe
that we maintain good working relationship with our employees and we
did not experience any significant labor disputes or any material difficulty in

recruiting employees for our operations in the year of 2020.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMETNS AND
CAPITAL ASSETS

We will continue to explore potential acquisition, investment, joint venture
and partnership opportunities that we believe are in line with our overall
business strategies. Appropriate disclosures will be made by the Company

when it becomes necessary under the Listing Rules on the Stock Exchange.

Save as disclosed in this annual report and in the Prospectus, we did not
have any other plans for material investments and capital assets as at the

Latest Practicable Date.
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PROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENGREEERE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Wu Zhixiang (RE#), aged 44, was appointed as the Co-Chairman of our
Board in March 2018 and our executive Director in June 2018. Mr. Wu's main
responsibility is to provide overall strategic planning and business direction
to our Group. Mr. Wu has more than 16 years of experience in e-commerce
and OTA business. Among others, Mr. Wu established Tongcheng Network
in March 2004. He has served as the chairman of Tongcheng Network
since April 2008. As its cofounder, Mr. Wu was responsible for the strategic
planning of Tongcheng Network and has continuously provided leadership

and inspiration for the Company’s OTA business.

+

Mr. Wu received a bachelor's degree in history from Soochow University (%
JNRER) in the PRC in June 1998.

Mr. Wu currently holds the following positions in the subsidiaries of our
Group: the chairman of Tongcheng Network, and the executive director of

Suzhou Chengyi.

Ma Heping (BEHI¥), aged 43, was appointed as our executive Director in
June 2018. Mr. Ma has served as our Chief Executive Officer since April 2018,
responsible for the implementation of our business strategies and the day-
to-day business operation. From March to April 2018, together with Mr. Jiang
Hao, Mr. Ma served as our Co-CEO. Mr. Ma has over 12 years of marketing
experience for an internet company. From January 2006 to March 2018,
Mr. Ma has served as the chief marketing officer of Tongcheng Network,
responsible for the internet-based online and offline travel business, as
well as the promotion and development of the air ticket, hotel and other

transportation business of Tongcheng Network, before Tongcheng Spin-off.

Mr. Ma obtained a diploma in computer application and maintenance from
Soochow University (BRI AEE) in the PRC in June 1998, and received an
EMBA degree from Fudan University (82 KX2) in the PRC in June 2020.

Mr. Ma currently holds the following positions in the subsidiaries of our
Group: the director and general manager of Tongcheng Network, the
executive director and general manager of Longyue Tiancheng WFOE, and

the chairman and general manager of E-dragon Beijing WFOE.
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PROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Liang Jianzhang (R#E), aged 51, was appointed as our Co-Chairman
of the Board in March 2018 and non-executive Director in June 2018. Mr.
Liang has served as one of our Directors since 2016. Mr. Liang is one of the
co-founders and the executive chairman of Trip.com Group, a company
whose shares are listed on NASDAQ (stock symbol: TCOM). He has served as
the chairman of the board of directors of Trip.com Group since August 2003.
Mr. Liang served as the chief executive officer of Trip.com Group from 2000
to 2006, and from March 2013 to November 2016.

Save as disclosed above, Mr. Liang has served as a director of BTG Hotels
Group (BHRAJE), a company whose shares are listed on Shanghai Stock
Exchange (stock code: 600258) since January 2017, and a director of
MakeMyTrip Ltd., a company whose shares are listed on NASDAQ (stock
symbol: MMYT) since January 2016.

Mr. Liang formerly served on the boards of Sina Corp. (¥T)R X &)), a company
whose shares are listed on NASDAQ (stock symbol: SINA), Tuniu Corp (&4 hR
#%#9), a company whose shares are listed on NASDAQ (stock symbol: TOUR),
eHi Car Services Ltd. (_E/8—F8F FARE AR A )), a company whose shares
were formerly listed on New York Stock Exchange (stock symbol: EHIC) and
privatized in April 2019, 51job, Inc (FIF2EERMHBRAF]), a company
whose shares are listed on NASDAQ (stock symbol: JOBS), jiayuan.com
International Ltd. (42 ELBIB AR A 7)), a company whose shares were
formerly listed on NASDAQ (stock symbol: DATE) and privatized in May 2016,
and Homeinns Hotel Group (FAZE /55 ®), a company whose shares were
formerly listed on NASDAQ (stock symbol: HMIN) and privatized in April 2016.

Mr. Liang has won many accolades for his contributions to the Chinese travel
industry, including 2019 Forbes China Multinational Business Leader, Best
CEO in the Internet category in the 2016 All-Asia Executive Team Rankings by

Institutional Investor and 2015 China’s Business Leader of the Year by Forbes.

Mr. Liang holds a Ph.D. degree from Stanford University, a master's degree

and an undergraduate degree from Georgia Institute of Technology.
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PROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
ESNeREERERE

Jiang Hao (GIL%), aged 48, served as the Company's Deputy Chairman of
the Board from April 2018 to March 2019, the Company's President from
April 2018 to March 2019, an executive Director from June 2018 to March
2019, and has been re-designated as a non-executive Director in March 2019.
From March to April 2018, together with Mr. Ma Heping, Mr. Jiang served
as the Company's Co-Chief Executive Officer. Mr. Jiang has over 17 years
of experience in leading Internet companies. From 1999 to 2015, Mr. Jiang

served as a senior vice president in Trip.com Group.

Mr. Jiang received a bachelor's degree of engineering in ship engineering
from Shanghai Jiao Tong University (/82 A2Z2) in the PRC in 1993.

Mr. Jiang currently holds the following positions in the subsidiaries of our
Group: the director of Tongcheng Network, the executive director and

general manager of Beijing E-dragon.

Cheng Yun Ming Matthew (Z}883), aged 51, has been appointed as
our non-executive Director in April 2020. Mr. Cheng joined Tencent since
November 2010, and currently serves as the corporate vice president
of Tencent. Mr. Cheng has served as a director and the chairman of the
compensation committee in Huya Inc. (R E#E) (a company whose
shares are listed on NASDAQ (stock symbol: HUYA)) since February 2021,
a non-executive director of Fusion Bank Limited (EBRITHERAFR])
since March 2019 and a non-executive director and a member of the
audit committee of China Literature Limited (BIX %M ) (a company
whose shares are listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange (stock
code: 772)) since November 2019. Prior to joining the Tencent Group, Mr.
Cheng worked at PriceWaterhouse, an accounting firm currently known as
PricewaterhouseCoopers, from 1992 to 1997, China Everbright Technology
Limited (currently known as Citychamp Watch & Jewellery Group Limited) (a
company whose shares are listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange
(stock code: 256)), a company principally engaged in manufacturing of
computer peripherals, from 1997 to 2000 and various companies assuming
financial management functions. Mr. Cheng is a fellow member of the

Association of Chartered Certified Accountants.
Mr. Cheng has obtained a bachelor’s degree in accountancy from the Hong

Kong Polytechnic (now the Hong Kong Polytechnic University) in October
1992.

Tongcheng-Elong Holdings Limited | [Ef2E8EIERERLOT

I 48 RZE—\FHRAZ-Z—IF
ZRAEAARARESEREESR RZT—N
FOAZ-ZT—AFE=ZRAHAEARREE  ©
—E-NEXNAE_ZE-NE=REEHTE
= YR -_Z-NE=FAEEHTEE - R
ZE-N\FZAENA  ITHRAEEMFELLE
—RAEERRBMEERRNTE - TEERE
BEBAANRHEARAE17FER - R—AN
NEEZT—RF  IE4ETEEZNSHE
B -

THERER-NAN=ZFEFTELEIBREM

MTIRRS2 L8 -

THREREAEERBRREETATES [/
RRENEZFIILRBRENTESTRALE -

HEE 1R R _TFHAEEERIK
HITES - BEER-_ZT-FF+—ARLNA
A REBAARIEILR - BAT - LR
TR AREERTERE (—HEBRHRA
HiEn AR (RS  HUYA) ) MEER
¥MZEexR BT —NF=-ARBELE
BMBTERAANFATES  TE-_F—A
F+— AREEMXER (—MRONERZ A
REMNRF - BRI 772) FRITESE E
HZREEXRE8 - EMABAEEZA - L
BR—NANZFE-NNLFERERH G
EHH (AWELRKB ST EB)ER
—NANEFE-_ZZTFEPEEARMEER
AR (RBEHERKREEEFGRAR (—HBK
MR FAER ETRRR] - BROAIR : 256) -
TERFEWERRABERE) IR RRERA
AREPBEERETIE  BELERBIFLRBES

MAEERESE -

BRER-NAN=F+ AEEEBRTER (R
BESETAR)RHBSLBM -



PROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Brent Richard Irvin, aged 48, has been appointed as our non-executive
Director in June 2018. Mr. Irvin joined our Group and has been appointed as
one of our Directors since March 2018. Mr. Irvin joined Tencent in January
2010, and is currently serving as the vice president and general counsel
of Tencent, the head of Tencent American branch. Prior to that, Mr. Irvin
worked as a lawyer at Wilson Sonsini Goodrich & Rosati from August 2005 to

November 2009, with a focus on technology companies.

Mr. Irvin has been a director of Tencent Music Entertainment Group (=R
FEYRELEE ), a company whose shares are listed on the New York Stock

Exchange (stock symbol: TME), since July 2016.

Mr. Irvin obtained a bachelor's degree in history from Carleton College in
the United States in June 1994, a master's degree in East Asian studies from
Yale University in the United States in December 1995, and a doctor of
jurisprudence degree from Stanford University in the United States in June
2003.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Wu Haibing (R £), aged 48, has been appointed as our independent
non-executive Director since November 2018. Mr. Wu has over 18 years of
experience in finance. Mr Wu has been serving as the investment partner
of Sequoia Capital since June 2019. Previously, Mr. Wu served as a partner
of VKC-Partners (£ X% ) and the chief financial officer of Plateno Hotel
Group (previously known as “7 Days Group Holdings Limited"), a company
whose shares were then listed on the New York Stock Exchange (stock
symbol: SVN) and voluntarily delisted in July 2013. Mr. Wu is a non-practicing

member of Shanghai Institute of Certified Public Accountant.

Mr. Wu has served as an independent director of Shanghai MicroPort
Endovascular MedTech Co., Ltd.,, a company whose shares are listed
on Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 688016) since July 2018, an
independent director and a member of audit committee of CooTek (Cayman)
Inc., a company whose shares are listed on the New York Stock Exchange
(stock symbol: CTK) since September 2018, an independent director of Acorn
International, Inc. (R REIEEAD AR A E]) from October 2016 to January
2021, a company whose shares are listed on the New York Stock Exchange

(stock symbol: ATV) and was privatized in January 2021.
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PROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
ESNeREERERE

Mr. Wu received his bachelor’s degree in economics from Shanghai Jiao Tong
University (/8333 AE2) in the PRC in July 1994 and a master's degree in
business administration from Michigan State University in the United States
in May 2000.

Dai Xiaojing (®/NH), aged 61, has been appointed as our independent
non-executive Director since November 2018. Mr. Dai has profound
knowledge and experience in the research and studies of securities market
and finance. From December 1998 to April 2016, Mr. Dai served as an
executive director in SEEC Media Group Limited (BFs{EEHEBER A7),
a company whose shares are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 0205). Mr. Dai was engaged in economic policy research at the
Economic Development Research Institute of State Council of the PRC, and

he is an editorial committee member of CapitalWeek and CAIJING Magazine.

Mr. Dai received his bachelor's degree in science and master's degree in
law from Sun Yat-sen University (FRILZKE2) in the PRC, in 1981 and 1984,

respectively.

Han Yuling (X %), aged 65, has been appointed as our independent
non-executive Director since November 2018. Ms. Han currently holds
professorial fellowship and is the executive dean of the China Tourism Talent
Development Research Institute (FREIjR#IE A A ZEEHFTFL) at Beijing
International Studies University (3t 588 —SMNBIEEE2FR ). Ms. Han also serves
as a secretary general of the China National Tourism Vocational Education
Permanent Committee (ZBIREBEHEHRZREEZE®). She has
consecutively served as a lecturer, associate professor and professor at Beijing
International Studies University since May 1986, and served as a teaching
assistant and lecturer at Central China Normal University ((EFRATEIAER)
from October 1979 until April 1986.

Ms. Han obtained her bachelor’s degree in politics from Central China Normal
University (ZEH R &3 K22 )in the PRC in July 1979.
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PROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Ma Heping (F 1), our executive Director and Chief Executive Officer. See

“—Executive Directors” in this section for his profile.

Fan Lei (5£%), aged 39, was appointed as the Chief Financial Officer
of our Group in March 2018, and is responsible for the overall financial
management. From September 2016 to March 2018, Mr. Fan served as the
finance vice president of our Company. From April 2013 to September 2016,
Mr. Fan served as a principal and senior principal, in the financial plan and
analysis department of eLong Cayman. Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Fan
consecutively served as a financial manager and a senior financial manager
in Lenovo Group Limited (E$fE8SEEBFRAFR]), a company whose shares
are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 0992) from
March 2010 to April 2013.

Mr. Fan received a bachelor's degree of engineering in mechanical
engineering and automation from Beihang University (3t EARZE AR
E) in the PRC in 2004. Mr. Fan also obtained a master's degree of business

administration from The Chinese University of Hong Kong in 2010.

Mr. Fan currently serves as a supervisor in various subsidiaries of our Group,
including Tianjin Elong E-dragon Interactive Technology Co., Ltd., Tianjin
E-dragon Interactive International Travel Agency Co., Ltd., E-dragon (Tianjin)

Technology Co,, Ltd., Longyue Tiancheng WFOE, and E-dragon Beijing WFOE.

Wang Qiang (E3&), aged 40, was appointed as the Chief Marketing Officer
of our Group in March 2018, and is responsible for the implementation of
our business strategies on marketing. From May 2016 to March 2018, Mr.
Wang served as the chief marketing officer of Tongcheng Network, and was
responsible for its promotion and business development. From February
2012 to May 2016, Mr. Wang consecutively served as a programmer, senior
manager, deputy principal and principal in the wireless business department

of Tongcheng Network.

Mr. Wang received a diploma in applied computer science from Nanjing
University of Finance and Economics (FAREF4ERE) (previously known as
Nanjing Economics Academy (R4 EE P ) ) in the PRC in 2002.

Mr. Wang currently holds the following positions in the subsidiaries of our
Group: the supervisor of Tongcheng Network, the director of E-dragon
Beijing WFOE and Shenzhen JL-Tour International Travel Service Co., Ltd., the
executive director and general manager of Tianjin Elong E-dragon Interactive
Technology Co., Ltd,, Tianjin E-dragon Interactive International Travel Agency

Co,, Ltd,, and E-dragon (Tianjin) Technology Co., Ltd,,
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PROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
ESNeREERERE

Yu Pei (5R3M), aged 38, was appointed as a Vice President of our Group in
March 2018, and is responsible for the overall research and development
activities of our Group. From February 2012 to March 2018, Mr. Yu
consecutively served as the structure design principal, chief structure officer

and chief technology officer of eLong Cayman.

Mr. Yu currently holds the following positions in the subsidiaries of our Group:

the director of E-dragon Beijing WFOE and Shenzhen JL-Tour International

Travel Service Co.,, Ltd.

Bai Zhiwei (A&1&), aged 44, was appointed as a Vice President of our
Group in March 2018, and is responsible for the marketing and business
development of our Group. From June 2014 to March 2018, Mr. Bai served
as a vice president of eLong Cayman. From December 2010 to June 2014,
Mr. Bai served as a senior principal and business development vice president
at sales support department of elong Cayman. From February 2008 to
December 2010, he served as a regional senior principal, responsible for the

strategic clients of elong Cayman.

Mr. Bai received double bachelor’'s degrees of computer science and
economics from Peking University (3t KE) in the PRC in 1998. He
also obtained a master's degree of business administration from Tsinghua
University GEZERE) in the PRC in 2007.

Save as disclosed in this annual report, none of our Directors and senior
management hold any other positions within our Group. None of our
Directors and senior management is related to other Directors, senior

management or substantial shareholders.
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The Board of the Company presents this directors’ report in the Group's

annual report for the year ended December 31, 2020.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Group is a market leader in China’s online travel industry. Through our
Tencent-based online platforms, mobile apps and websites, the Group offers
a comprehensive and innovative selection of products and services covering
nearly all aspects of travel, including transportation ticketing, accommodation
reservation, attraction ticketing services and various ancillary value-added
travel products and services designed to meet users’ evolving travel needs.
As a technology-driven company, the Group prioritizes the development of
our information technology, including research and development in big data

and artificial intelligence capabilities.

There were no significant changes in the nature of the Group's principal
activities during the year ended December 31, 2020. Please refer to note 39
to the Consolidated Financial Statements for details of the principal activities

of the principal subsidiaries of the Group.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year ended December 31, 2020 are set out in

the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income of this annual report.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board has resolved not to recommend the payment of a final dividend
for the year ended December 31, 2020.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the issued shares of the Group during the year ended December

31, 2020 are set out in note 28 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in reserves of the Group during the year ended
December 31, 2020 are set out in the Consolidated Statement of Changes in

Equity of this annual report.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at December 31, 2020, the Company has distributable reserves of
RMB21,701.2 million in total available for distribution.
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

The Group's financial summary for the last five financial years is set out in the

section headed “Five-Year Performance Review" of this annual report.

BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS

Details of bank loans and other borrowings of the Company and the Group
as of December 31, 2020 are set out in note 24 to the Consolidated Financial

Statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group
during the year ended December 31, 2020 are set out in note 14 to the

Consolidated Financial Statements.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and within
the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained the amount
of public float as required under the Listing Rules as at the Latest Practicable

Date.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of Association
and there is no restriction against such rights which would oblige the

Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to the existing Shareholders.

TAX RELIEF

The Directors are not aware of any tax relief available to the Shareholders of

the Company by reason of their holding of the Company's securities.

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE GLOBAL OFFERING

The Shares of the Company were listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange on November 26, 2018 by way of global offering, raising total net
proceeds of approximately RMB1,319.3 million after deducting professional
fees, underwriting commissions and other related listing expenses. The net
proceeds have been used in a manner consistent with those disclosed in
the section headed "Use of Proceeds” in the Prospectus. As of December 31,

2020, the unutilized net proceeds were RMB927.4 million.
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As of December 31, 2020, the Group had used the net proceeds from the HE

Global Offering for the following purposes:

30% will be used to enhance our products and 0% KRR 12ZE24(8 A
services offerings and our TSP and user bases AR IIERFIMERR
in the following 12 to 24 months RIS MR R FIM Bk
PR RER I A P T
40% will be used to expand our user base by (@) 40%3§ AR M3E T
strengthening our user acquisition channels; MERRE -
AEARBME
APER:
30% will be used to expand our productand (o) 30%#SBRERERA
service offerings by building and enhancing Tk R ER

our relationships with emerging and existing
TSP and by developing and introducing
innovative travel products and services in

partnership with TSP;

20% will be used to increase our brand (©
awareness through advertising and

promotional activities; and

10% will be used to enhance user stickiness by  (d)

improving membership loyalty programs.

i Aves g
RBEERNERLR
AR RIS AR S 1F
EEPCIN-TE i
ERRRE - AR
KMRER RS
fiLE
2nEAREE RHEE
EBLIEMBME R
RAE R
10%EBRKEE B EH
EHEMERARP
Bl o
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Use of net
proceeds

in the same
manner and
proportions as
stated in the
Prospectus
NERRER
Frt#98 e
FARLA
ERREREFE
(RMB million)
(AR%EETR)

395.8

1583

118.7

79.2

39.6

Actual

amount of
Net proceeds net proceeds Net proceeds
brought utilized as of  unutilized as of
forward for the December 31, December 31,
Reporting Period 2020 2020
BE-ECEF BECBCERF
+ZA=t-A +t+ZRA=t-H
REDEEYN  CERANFE REAH
BREFE RETHEERSE  HENEEE
(RMB million) (RMB million) (RMB million)
(AR%BER) (AR%AEEBR) (AR%EBER)
395.8 82.0 313.8
158.3 - 158.3
118.7 82.0 36.7
79.2 - 79.2
39.6 - 39.6
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Use of net
proceeds Actual
in the same amount of
manner and Net proceeds net proceeds Net proceeds
proportions as brought utilized as of  unutilized as of
stated in the  forward for the December 31, December 31,
Prospectus  Reporting Period 2020 2020
NERRER BE-E-%F BECECERF
it tZA=+-B +tZA=t-H
FRARLE  BEHLEEN  CRANFS KEAM
ERASHERE  EERE WEFRHEREHE  MENERE
(RMB million) (RMB million) (RMB million) (RMB million)
(AR®EER) (ARBEER) (ARK®AEER) (AR®EERD)
30% will be used to fund potential acquisition, 30%BRKR122241EA
investment, joint venture and partnership BREEWE - £E -
opportunities in the following 12 to 24 months ~ ABRAE 395.8 236.8 130.1 106.7
30% will be used to enhance our overall technology  30% IR KR 122 2418 A
capabilities in the following 12 to 24 months AR MR MM BERITE D 395.8 395.8 2.0 393.8
(a)  40% will be used to build our big dataand Al (a)  40% 35 BB RME B B {960
capabilities; AHBRATRREN 158.3 158.3 = 158.3
(b)  40% will be used to improve our IT (b) 40%ERRBERMA
infrastructure; and TERERE & 158.3 158.3 2.0 156.3
() 20% will be used to provide competitive (© 20%EMNEREHETN
compensation to recruit and retain IT talents. ME AT ERRE
AT 79.2 79.2 - 79.2
10% will be used for working capital and general  10% AR EEE S R Kb
corporate purposes E3iil 1319 130.9 17.8 113.1
Total @t 1,319.3 1,159.3 2319 927.4
Regarding the net proceeds that had not been utilized as of December 31, AREBEE_Z_ZF+_A=1+—HHAHA

2020, the Company intends to use them in the same manner and proportions
as stated in the Prospectus. The completion time of using the net proceeds

will be determined based on the future business development of the

Company.
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SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS

As of December 31, 2020, there was no significant investment in any investee

company with a value of 5% or more of the Company’s total assets as at

December 31, 2020. For more information on the categorization of the

principal investments held by the Company as of December 31, 2020, please

refer to note 18 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

DONATIONS

During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Group made charitable
donations of RMB416,000.

BUSINESS REVIEW

a.

Overview and Performance of the Year

Business review and financial review are provided in the Management

Discussion and Analysis section of this annual report.

Environmental Policies and Performance

It is our corporate and social responsibility in promoting a sustainable
and environmental-friendly environment, the Group strives to minimize
our environmental impact by saving electricity and to build our

corporation in a sustainable way.

Compliance with Relevant Laws and Regulations

The Group has complied with the requirements under the Companies
Ordinance, the Listing Rules, the SFO and the Corporate Governance
Code for, among other things, the disclosure of information and
corporate governance. The Group has also complied with other relevant
laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the operations
of the Group, such as the PRC Telecommunications Regulations, PRC
E-Commerce Law, PRC Pricing Law and the Qualification Accreditation
Measures (Amended in 2015), Administrative Measures for Insurance
Licences and PRC Cyber Security Law. Please refer to the section headed

“Regulatory Overview" in the Prospectus for details.
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Relationship with Our Customers

Our primary customers consist of a large and diverse base of travel
services providers covering a wide range of travel segments. Our
TSP customers include airlines and other air ticket suppliers, train
ticket suppliers, bus operators, ferry carriers, hotels and alternative
accommodation providers, other online travel agencies from whom
the Group sources travel products and services, as well as suppliers
of various ancillary value-added travel products and services, such as
insurance companies and car rental companies. Trip.com Group and its
affiliates represented one of our Group's largest customers. Our Group
and Trip.com Group share hotel and accommodation, transportation
ticketing, attraction ticketing and other travel-related resources for
sale on each other’s online platforms in order to provide a more

comprehensive selection of travel services to our respective users.

The Group develops and maintains long-term strategic relationships
with our TSP.

TSP selection. The Group carries out a rigorous TSP selection
process. When determining whether to introduce a prospective
TSP to our platforms, the Group takes into account various factors,
including reputation, industry expertise and know-how, price
competitiveness, and a history of delivering high-quality products

and services.

Travel product procurement. Our product procurement team
works closely with our TSP to ensure that our users are provided
with high-quality travel products. The Group also frequently
conducts price comparisons for TSP’s travel products to assess
the competitiveness of our pricing. Additionally, the Group hosts
periodic large procurement events and presents our major TSP with

our estimated product demand.
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Travel product development. The Group strives to provide our TSP
with industry and user insight based on the massive data the Group
has accumulated over the years. As part of the ancillary value-added
services the Group provides to our TSP, the Group uses our data
analytic capabilities to help them develop innovative services to
meet travelers’ evolving needs and to optimize the pricing of such
products. The Group believes this helps us build stronger ties with

existing TSP and attract potential TSP.

Relationship maintenance. The Group interacts with our TSP
mainly through our dedicated customer service teams, which
actively communicate with our TSP by various means. The Group
encourages our accounting and technical staff to communicate
directly with their counterparts at the TSP to ensure the issues

arising in these areas can be resolved in a timely manner.

Additionally, the Group has developed proprietary technologies
and systems to interact with our TSP and assist them in managing,

pricing and marketing their supply. These systems primarily include:

- a customer management system, which enables us to gather
and analyze numerous types of behavior and transaction data
of TSP, including sales volume, user satisfaction, conversion
rates, and user acquisition costs. The Group uses data gathered
through this customer management system in budgeting and
procurement planning, as well as designing our marketing and

promotional campaigns; and

- an e-booking system, a platform accessible via web and
mobile, that offers TSP the ability to manage inventory, pricing
and other product information, on a real-time basis without

our direct involvement.
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Quality control. To ensure that the Group delivers high-quality
products, the Group has in place service protocols and guidelines
for TSP to follow, and maintain dedicated teams to monitor the TSP
and engage with TSP in responding to queries and user feedback
and reviews. The Group offers TSP, who maintain positive user
feedback, an optimized listing in the search results on our platforms,
and impose sanctions on TSP who violate the service protocols or

constantly receive user complaints.

Our other groups of customers are (i) users who purchase from us
travel products (primarily including accommodation) that the Group
pre-purchased from travel services providers; (ii) users who purchase
ancillary value-added travel products and services, such as airport VIP
lounge and priority boarding services, and pay us service fees; and (iii)
advertisers who post advertisement of their products and services on

our online platforms.

Relationship with Our Suppliers

Our suppliers primarily consist of (i) user acquisition channels; (ii) online
and mobile payment services; (iii) advertising and marketing service
providers; (iv) data storage, server hosting and bandwidth providers;
(v) suppliers of room nights that the Group pre-purchased for resale to
users; and (vi) third-party sales channels, including the online platforms
of Trip.com Group and its affiliates, through which the Group makes

available travel products and services that the Group sources from TSP.

The Group usually enters into annual non-exclusive supply contracts
with our suppliers based on our estimated demand for products and/or
services for the year. Tencent, one of our largest shareholders, together
with its affiliates, represents one of our largest suppliers. The Group
operates our Tencent-based platforms and procure mobile payment
services for purchases made by our users through these Tencent-based
platforms, in particular, the mobile payment interfaces of Weixin and
Mobile QQ.
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Relationship with Our Employees

The Group embraces our employees as the most valuable assets of the
Group. The objective of the Group's human resources management is to
reward and recognize outstanding employees by providing competitive
remuneration packages and implementing a sound performance
appraisal system with appropriate incentives, and to promote career
development and progression within the Group by providing robust
internal training and opportunities. In particular, to strengthen and
sustain our technology innovation, the Group will continue to attract,
train and retain more talent in technology, research and development.
New talent will continue to support our technology and will be offered
advancement through performance-based compensation packages, on-

the-job training programs and promotion opportunities.

Relationship with Our Shareholders

The Group recognizes the importance of protecting the interests
of the Shareholders and of having effective communication with
them. The Group believes communication with the Shareholders
is a two-way process and have thrived to ensure the quality and
effectiveness of information disclosure, maintain regular dialogue
with the Shareholders and listen carefully to the views and feedback
from the Shareholders. This has been done through general meetings,
corporate communications, interim and annual reports and results

announcements.

Risk of Major Customers

Since a limited number of customers, including Trip.com Group and its
affiliates, take up a substantial portion of the Company's revenue, there
will be an adverse impact on the sales and profit of the Group if these
major customers reduce the volume of, or no longer sell, their travel

products and services sold through us.
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Response measures: The Group will increase market sales of our products
through a diversified source of TSP, including (i) contracting directly
with TSP including airlines, hotel operators and railway companies; (ii)
contracting with regional travel agents; (iii) directly linking our platforms
to booking systems operated by TSP; and (iv) sharing of travel resources
with other third party online travel agencies. At the same time, the
Group will actively looks for mergers and acquisition opportunities to

expand the market size.

Risk of Maintaining Business Partnerships

The Group depends on our ability to maintain our existing partnerships,
including TSP and our extensive collaboration with Tencent Group.
Adverse changes in existing relationships, or our inability to enter into
new arrangements on commercially favorable terms, could adversely

affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Response measures: The Group will (i) deepen cooperation with business
partners and to strengthen our value propositions to them, for example,
by leveraging our technology to help our TSP offer more innovative and
customized products and services; (ii) diversify our service providers, in
relation to the provision of payment and settlement, and other technical
services; and (iii) expand user base through a diverse range of traffic

acquisition channels.

Risk of Competition within the Industry

Competition in the online travel industry is highly competitive. The
Group competes primarily with other online travel agencies, as well
as traditional travel agencies and travel service suppliers. As China’s
online travel market continues to evolve, the Group may be faced
with increased competition from new domestic travel agencies or
international players that seek to expand into China. The Group may also
face increasing competition from hotels and airlines as they increase
their direct selling efforts or engage in alliances with other online travel
service providers. Increased competition could reduce our operating

margins and profitability and result in our loss of market share.
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Response measures: The Group will continue to make, substantial
investments in our sales and marketing efforts, including broadening
our user acquisition channels. At the same time, the Group will further
improve its market competition analysis mechanism, focus on market
dynamics and collect market information. In addition, the Group will
continue to increase our competitiveness through expanding the range
of our product and service offerings, growing our user base, enhancing
our user engagement, and pursuing strategic alliances, acquisitions and

investments.

Risk of Retaining and Growing Our User Base

The size of the Group's user base and the level of user engagement are
critical to our success. Our business will continue to significantly depend
on our users and their level of engagement with our products and
services. If users no longer view our products and services as useful and
attractive, the Group may not be able to increase or maintain our user
base and the level of user engagement. Thus, our operating results and

long-term monetization potential could be adversely impacted.

Response measures: The Group will continue to seek the most effective
and cost-efficient ways to expand our user base through a diverse
range of traffic acquisition channels. The Group's major strategies are
(i) increasing user awareness of Tencent-based platforms, (i) enhancing
our brand equity through marketing and promotional activities, (iii)
acquiring traffic efficiently for our proprietary mobile apps, (iv) creating
a travel-focused social community, driving user loyalty and stickiness,
and (v) providing a more personalized user experience with smart travel

solutions to meet our users’ evolving needs.

Risk of Operational Insufficiency

The results of the Group's operations will continue to be affected by our
ability to improve our operational efficiency. The main operational risks
faced by the Group include but not limited to the risks of breaching our
users’ privacy, risks associated with payment fraud, risks of operational

fluctuations due to seasonality.
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Response measures: As our business grows, the Group will continue
to further improve our operational efficiency through developing
technologies and infrastructure across different business functions.
The Group will also continue to focus on automation by, for example,
improving direct connect with accommodation suppliers to allow more
of them to manage inventories and rates and process bookings directly

from their own systems.

PROSPECTS

A description of the future development in the Company’s business is
provided in the Chairman’s Statement and the Management Discussion and

Analysis section of this annual report.

EVENT SUBSEQUENT TO DECEMBER 31, 2020

The Directors are not aware of any significant event requiring disclosure that
has taken place subsequent to December 31, 2020 and up to the date of this

report.

DIRECTORS

The Directors up to the date of this annual report are:

Executive Directors

Mr. Wu Zhixiang (Co-Chairman)
Mr. Ma Heping (Chief Executive Officer)

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Liang Jianzhang (Co-Chairman)

Mr. Jiang Hao

Mr. Yu Haiyang (resigned on April 19, 2020) (Note 1)

Mr. Cheng Yun Ming Matthew (appointed on April 19, 2020) (Note 2)
Mr. Brent Richard Irvin

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Wu Haibing
Mr. Dai Xiaojing
Ms. Han Yuling
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Notes:

(1) Mr. Yu Haiyang has resigned as a non-executive Director of the Company and a
member of the Audit Committee with effect from April 19, 2020. Please refer to
the announcement of the Company dated April 19, 2020 for details.

(2)  Mr. Cheng Yun Ming Matthew has been appointed as a non-executive Director
of the Company and a member of the Audit Committee with effect from April 19,
2020. Please refer to the announcement of the Company dated April 19, 2020 for
details.

In accordance with Article 84(1) of the Articles of Association, one-third of the
Directors will retire from office by rotation at every annual general meeting
(provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement by rotation at
least once every three years) and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-
election. Mr. Jiang Hao, Mr. Dai Xiaojing and Ms. Han Yuling will retire from
the Board by rotation at the AGM and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-

election.

No Director proposed for re-election at the AGM has an unexpired service
contract which is not determinable by the Company or any of its subsidiaries
within one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory

compensation.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of the
Group are set out in the section headed "Profiles of Directors and Senior

Management” of this annual report.

DIRECTORS' SERVICE CONTRACTS

The executive Directors have each entered into a service contract with the
Company pursuant to which they agree to act as an executive Director for an
initial term of three years until terminated in accordance with the terms and
conditions of the service contract or by either party giving to the other not

less than three months' prior notice in writing.

The non-executive Directors have each entered into a service contract
with the Company pursuant to which they agree to act as a non-executive
Director for a term of one year until terminated in accordance with the terms
and conditions of the service contract or by either party giving to the other

not less than one month’s prior notice in writing.
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The independent non-executive Directors have each signed a letter of
appointment with the Company and have been appointed for a term of one
year. The appointment may be terminated by either party giving to the other

not less than one month's prior notice in writing.

None of the Directors have an unexpired service contract which is not
determinable by the Company or any of its subsidiaries within one year

without payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE FROM THE
INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Group has received from each of the independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Wu Haibing, Mr. Dai Xiaojing and Ms. Han Yuling,
the confirmation of their respective independence pursuant to Rule 3.13
of the Listing Rules. The Company has duly reviewed the confirmation of
independence of each of these Directors. The Group considers that the
independent non-executive Directors have been independent from the date
of their appointments to December 31, 2020 and remain so as of the date of

this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES' INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

Long position in the Company’s shares

As at December 31, 2020, the interests and short positions of the Directors
and chief executives of the Company in the shares, underlying shares or
debentures of the Company or any of our associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO), which were required (a) to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV
of the SFO (including interests and short positions which they were taken or
deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); or (b) pursuant to Section
352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein; or (c) to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model

Code, were as follows:
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Name of Director

EEfE

Mr. Wu Zhixiang™

REFLED ERGEENEIZA - BmtEn
Mr. Ma Heping®? Founder of a discretionary trust, Beneficial interest
SRS A DREAMEIA - BmEn
Mr. Jiang Hao® Interest of controlled corporation, Beneficial interest
LGS REHEEER BEags
Mr. Liang Jianzhang Interest of spouse
RETEFEW [T
(L) denotes a long position
L RERFE
Notes:

Q)

Capacity/Nature of Interest

540 fEmEtE

Travel Maps Limited directly holds 14,674,600 shares in the Company. As Travel
Maps Limited is wholly-owned by The Travel Maps Trust, of which Mr. Wu Zhixiang
is the founder, Mr. Wu is deemed to be interested in the Shares in which Travel
Maps Limited is interested.

3,500,000, 3,500,000 and 500,000 options were granted to Mr. Wu pursuant to the
2018 Share Incentive Plan and 2019 Share Option Plan on March 9, 2018, May 18,
2018 and October 23, 2020, respectively.

Adventure Together Limited directly holds 9,499,140 shares in the Company. As
Adventure Together Limited is wholly-owned by The Hope Family Trust, of which
Mr. Ma Heping is the founder, Mr. Ma is deemed to be interested in the Shares in
which Adventure Together Limited is interested.

6,914,155, 6,914,155, 6,914,160, 1,600,000 and 1,600,000 options were granted to
Mr. Ma pursuant to the 2018 Share Incentive Plan and 2019 Share Option Plan on
March 9, 2018, May 18, 2018, September 1, 2018, December 20, 2019 and October
23,2020, respectively.

Founder of a discretionary trust, Beneficial interest
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Approximate
percentage of

shareholding in

Number of the total issued
Shares held share capital
REBT

IR BEE W

FRROEE BOBREILL
22,173,800 1.02% (L)
33,438,810 1.53% (L)
9,462,950 0.43% (L)
3,099,200 0.14% (L)
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Travel Maps Limited AR B E#FEH 14,674,600
f& A% 1D - B Travel Maps Limited @ The Travel
Maps Trust2&#H + RREFETERThe Travel
Maps Trust I BIHE A + RICEIR B Travel Maps
Limited FrFF B AR P AE G 5 ©

BEZT—N\EROHBTE RS- NFER
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(3) Qasis Limited directly holds 5,555,560 shares in the Company. As Oasis Limited is
indirectly wholly-owned and controlled by Mr. Jiang Hao, Mr. Jiang is deemed to
be interested in the Shares in which Oasis Limited is interested.

1,803,695, 1,803,695 and 1,500,000 options were granted to Mr. Jiang pursuant to
the 2018 Share Incentive Plan on March 9, 2018, May 18, 2018 and September 1,

2018, respectively.

Mr. Jiang was also granted restricted share units in respect of 8,300,000 shares
pursuant to the 2016 Share Incentive Plan on August 26, 2016.

(4)  Smart Charm Limited directly holds 3,099,200 shares in the Company. As Smart
Charm Limited is wholly-owned and controlled by the spouse of Mr. Liang
Jianzhang. Mr. Liang is therefore deemed to be interested in the Shares in which

Smart Charm Limited is interested.

Long positions in the associated corporations of the Company

Name of Director

EEnE

Mr. Wu Zhixiang
REFLEE

Mr. Ma Heping
B EE

Mr. Jiang Hao
AN

Note:

(1) As Suzhou Chengyi and Beijing E-dragon are limited liability companies
established in the PRC, the percentage of shareholding is determined with
reference to the percentage of subscribed registered capital of each shareholder.

Name of associated corporation

B E R

Tongcheng Network
R4

Suzhou Chengyi
BN IRE
Tongcheng Network
EEEEE

Suzhou Chengyi
ARINIZ S

Beijing E-dragon
iy -1
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Number of

securities held

FER5HE

25,447,745

N/A(W)
Sl
1,093,162

N/AM
REAY
N/A(W)
FEAO
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Approximate
percentage of

interests

EEMAOTI
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Save as disclosed above, as at December 31, 2020, none of the Directors
or chief executives of the Company has or is deemed to have any interests
or short positions in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part
XV of the SFO) which will be required to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests and short positions which they were taken or deemed to have taken
under such provisions of the SFO); or which will be required to be recorded
in the register to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the
SFO, or which will be required, pursuant to the Model Code, to be notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES

As at December 31, 2020, the followings are the persons, other than the
Directors or chief executives of the Company, who had interests or short
positions in the shares and underlying shares which would be required to
be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange under the provisions
of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO; or as recorded in the register of
interests required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of Part
XV of the SFO:

Name of Shareholder
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Approximate
Percentage of

Shareholding in

BRABH

TCH Sapphire Limited (“TCH Sapphire”)"
TCH Sapphire Limited([ TCH Sapphire )

Image Frame Investment (HK) Limited ("lmage Frame")""

BEBRREBRE (FR)BRAR([RERE)"

Tencent Holdings Limited (“Tencent”)"”

BERERERLR (THHR DO

Number the total issued

Capacity/Nature of Interest of Shares held share capital

REBT

IR A Y

B/ EEitE RO EE BAKRE DL

Beneficial owner 310,899,020 14.26% (L)
EnlBA

Beneficial owner 158,365,730 7.26% (L)
EnlBA

Interest in controlled corporations 476,215,740 21.84% (L)

REHhEE R
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EERHS
Approximate
Percentage of
Shareholding in
Number the total issued
Name of Shareholder Capacity/Nature of Interest of Shares held share capital
RE BT
IR EE
BRERERB B REHE RO EAE BRBERESHL
C-Travel International Limited ("C-Travel")? Beneficial owner 288,273,190 13.22% (L)
C-Travel International Limited ([C-Travel ])@ BxEAA
Interest in controlled corporations® 122,995,180 5.64% (L)
Rt EEERe
411,268,370 18.87% (L)
Ctrip.com (Hong Kong) Limited (“Ctrip Hong Kong")? Beneficial owner 148,966,590 6.83% (L)
BRIRTA (FB)ERAT (1R (F8)]) EnEEA
Trip.com Group Limited (“Trip.com Group”)? Interest in controlled corporations 560,234,960 25.70% (L)
R (R REHEEER
Suzhou Huafan Runhe Venture Capital Partnership (Limited Beneficial owner and Interest in 147,388,941 6.76% (L)
Partnership) (‘Huafan Runhe")® controlled corporations
BEMENERAZEREGRCE (BRER) EalB ARZEHERER
(FZEMER])w
Suzhou Industrial Park Tiancheng Jiahua Investment Interest in controlled corporations 147,388,941 6.76% (L)
Management Co,, Ltd. (“Tiancheng Jiahua")* XEwEEER
HNIXERREREREEEERAR
(TRBERE])W

(L) denotes a long position

L HKEFE

Tongcheng-Elong Holdings Limited | [Ef2E8EIERERLOT



Notes:

(1) Under the SFO, Tencent is deemed to be interested in (i) the 310,899,020 Shares
held by TCH Sapphire, (i) the 158,365,730 Shares held by Image Frame, and (iii)
the 6,950,990 Shares held by Elite Strength Limited, each of which is a wholly-
owned subsidiary of Tencent.

(2)  Under the SFO, Trip.com Group is deemed to be interested in (i) the 288,273,190
Shares held by C-Travel, (ii) the 148,966,590 Shares held by Ctrip (Hong Kong),
and (iii) the 27,332,270 Shares held by Luxuriant Holdings Limited, each of which
is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Trip.com Group. Under the SFO, Trip.com Group
is also deemed to be interested in 95,662,910 Shares held by EP Il Investment
Fund L.P, an exempted limited partnership established in the Cayman Islands
because Ctrip Investment Holding Ltd, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Trip.com
Group, contributed more than one-third of the capital to EP Il Investment Fund L.P.
However, EP Il Investment Fund L.P. does not constitute an associate of Trip.com
Group under the Listing Rules as Trip.com Group does not control 30% or more of
the voting power in EP Il Investment Fund L.P.

(3) Under the SFO, C-Travel is deemed to be interested in (i) the 27,330,270 Shares
held by Luxuriant Holdings Limited, which is a wholly-owned subsidiary of
C-Travel, and (ii) the 95,662,910 Shares held by EP Il Investment Fund L.P., given
Ctrip Investment Holding Ltd, a wholly-owned subsidiary of C-Travel, contributed
more than one-third of the capital to EP Il Investment Fund L.P.

(4) Huafan Runhe ho\ds 135,284,161 Shares, and under the SFO, is deemed to be
interested in the 12,104,780 Shares held by Huafan Runhe Limited, which is a
wholly-owned sub5|d|ary of Huafan Runhe. Under the SFO, Tiancheng lJiahua, the
general partner of Huafan Runhe, is deemed to be interested in the 135,284,161
Shares held by Huafan Runhe, and the 12,104,780 Shares held by Huafan Runhe
Limited.

Save as disclosed above, as at December 31, 2020, the Directors and the chief
executives of the Company are not aware of any other person (other than the
Directors or chief executives of the Company) who had an interest or short
position in the shares or underlying shares of the Company which would be
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange under the
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO; or as recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the
SFO.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Directors and Chief Executives’
Interests and Short Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures”
above, at no time during the year ended December 31, 2020 and up to the
date of this annual report was the Company or any of its subsidiaries, a party
to any arrangement that would enable the Directors to acquire benefits by
means of acquisition of the shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any
other body corporate, and none of the Directors or any of their spouses or
children under the age of 18 were granted any right to subscribe for the
equity or debt securities of the Company or any other body corporate or had

exercised any such right.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Relationship with Our Largest
Shareholders” in the Prospectus, and save for their respective interests in the
Group, and stated in their respective confirmations, none of the Directors was
interested in any business which competes or is likely to compete with the

businesses of the Group for the year ended December 31, 2020.

CONVERTIBLE BONDS

As at the date of this annual report, the Company has not issued any

convertible bonds.
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CONNECTED AND CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

Among the related party transactions disclosed in note 36 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements, the following transactions constitute
continuing connected transactions for the Company under Rule 14A31 of
the Listing Rules and are required to be disclosed in this annual report in
accordance with Rule 14A.71 of the Listing Rules. The Company confirmed
that the related party transactions fall under the definition of “connected
transaction” or “continuing connected transaction” (as the case may be) in
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, and it had complied with the disclosure
requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. Please see
below the information required to be disclosed in compliance with Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules.

1. Contractual Arrangements
The reasons for using the Contractual Arrangements

The Group provides online information services, online data and
transaction services, air ticketing services, insurance agency services
and/or call center services (the "Relevant Businesses”), which are
classified as foreign investment restricted under the current PRC laws
and regulations. As foreign-invested enterprises, the Group through
E-dragon Beijing WFOE and Longyue Tiancheng WFOE (collectively, the
“WFOEs") could not have obtained licences and permits required for the

operation of the Relevant Businesses.

In order to comply with PRC laws and regulations and the Listing Rules,
the Relevant Businesses of the Group have been conducted through
Contractual Arrangement Entities by itself or through their subsidiaries
(collectively, the “Consolidated Affiliated Entities”) under the
Contractual Arrangements. As a result of the Contractual Arrangements,
the Group is able to recognize and receive the economic benefit of
the business and operations of the Consolidated Affiliated Entities. The
Contractual Arrangements are also designed to provide the Company
with effective control over and (to the extent permitted by PRC law) the
right to acquire the equity interests in and/or assets of the Consolidated
Affiliated Entities.
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Summary of the major terms of the Contractual
Arrangements

The Contractual Arrangements which were in place during the year
ended December 31, 2020 and a brief description of the major terms of

the Contractual Arrangements is set out below.
(a) Exclusive Technology Consulting and Services Agreements

Each of the Contractual Arrangement Entities agreed to engage
Longyue Tiancheng WFOE or E-dragon Beijing WFOE (whichever
applicable) as its exclusive provider of technical support, consulting
services and other services in exchange for a fee. The services to be

provided include:

(i) development, maintenance and updating of server application

software for the Contractual Arrangement Entities;

(i) development, maintenance and updating of Internet

application software for the Contractual Arrangement Entities;
(iii) provision of e-commerce technology services;
(iv) provision of staff training services; and

(v) other services requested by the Contractual Arrangement

Entities.

Under the Exclusive Technology Consulting and Services
Agreements, the service fee shall be an amount equivalent to
100% of the consolidated net profit of the respective Contractual
Arrangement Entity in the financial year, less (i) net loss incurred by
the respective Contractual Arrangement Entity in the immediately
preceding financial year (if applicable); (ii) operational capital,
expenses, taxes and other payments required under the PRC law
in the same financial year; and (iii) any net profit distributed to
Longyue Tiancheng WFOE or E-dragon Beijing WFOE (whichever
applicable) in the form of dividends. Notwithstanding the foregoing,
Longyue Tiancheng WFOE and E-dragon Beijing WFOE are entitled
to adjust the scope and amount of the service fees payable with
reference to the tax obligations and operating capital needs of the

Contractual Arrangement Entities.
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(b) Exclusive Share Purchase Right Agreements

(c)

The registered shareholders of (i) Tongcheng Network other than
Longyue Tiancheng WFOE, (ii) Beijing E-dragon, and (iii) Suzhou
Chengyi (collectively, the "Registered Shareholders”) granted
Longyue Tiancheng WFOE or E-dragon Beijing WFOE (whichever
applicable) an irrevocable and exclusive right to purchase, or
designate one or more persons (each, a “designee”) to purchase,
the equity interests then held by the relevant Registered
Shareholders in, and/or the assets of the Contractual Arrangement
Entities (the "Optioned Interest’) once or at multiple times at
any time in part or in whole at the sole and absolute discretion of
Longyue Tiancheng WFOE or E-dragon Beijing WFOE (whichever
applicable) to the extent permitted under the applicable laws of
China. Where Longyue Tiancheng WFOE or E-dragon Beijing WFOE
(whichever applicable) chooses to purchase the Optioned Interest,
the relevant Registered Shareholders shall cause the Contractual
Arrangement Entities to promptly convene a shareholders’ meeting,
at which a resolution shall be adopted approving the relevant
Registered Shareholders’ transfer of the Optioned Interests to
Longyue Tiancheng WFOE, E-dragon Beijing WFOE and/or their

respective designees.

Share Pledge Agreements

The Registered Shareholders agreed to pledge all their respective
equity interests in the Contractual Arrangement Entities that they
own, including any interest or dividend paid for the shares, to
Longyue Tiancheng WFOE or E-dragon Beijing WFOE (whichever
applicable) as a security interest to guarantee the performance
of contractual obligations and the payment of outstanding debts
of the Contractual Arrangement Entities and the Registered
Shareholders under the Exclusive Technology Consulting
and Services Agreements, the Exclusive Share Purchase Right

Agreements, the Powers of Attorney and the Loan Agreement.
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Powers of Attorney

Each Registered Shareholder irrevocably appointed Longyue
Tiancheng WFOE or E-dragon Beijing WFOE (whichever applicable)
respectively (as well as the successors, including a liquidator, if any,
replacing Longyue Tiancheng WFOE or E-dragon Beijing WFOE)
or their designee(s) (including their directors) as its/his/her sole
exclusive agent to exercise on its/his/her behalf, certain powers
concerning the Contractual Arrangement Entities and to exercise
its rights as the registered shareholder of Contractual Arrangement

Entities.

Loan Agreement

E-dragon Beijing WFOE agreed to lend Mr. Jiang Hao RMB8,000,000

for purposes of the capital contribution to Beijing E-dragon.

Irrevocable Undertakings of the spouse of each of the Registered
Shareholders

The spouse of each of the Registered Shareholders has expressly
and irrevocable acknowledged and undertaken that (i) any equity
interests held by such Registered Shareholders in the Contractual
Arrangement Entities do not fall within the scope of their
communal properties; (ii) each of them will not have any claim on
the interests of Contractual Arrangement Entities obtained through
the Contractual Arrangements; (i) each of them never participated
and will not participate in the operation or management of the

Contractual Arrangement Entities.
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(9) Suzhou Chengyi Loan Agreement

Longyue Tiancheng WFOE agreed to provide a loan of
RMB20,400,000 and a loan of RMB19,600,000 to Mr. Wu Zhixiang
and Mr. Ma Heping (Mr. Wu and Mr. Ma are collectively referred as
“Suzhou Chengyi Registered Holders"), respectively, which shall
be used solely to make the necessary capital contribution to Suzhou

Chengyi.

Upon Longyue Tiancheng WFOE exercising its exclusive call option,
it will require the Suzhou Chengyi Registered Holders to repay the
loans by transferring all or part of their equity interest in Suzhou
Chengyi to the Longyue Tiancheng WFOE or any of their designated
person and use the proceeds of such transfer as repayment of the
loans. If the proceeds of such transfer is equal to or less than the
principal of the loans under the Suzhou Chengyi Loan Agreement,
the loans are considered interest-free. If the proceeds of such
transfer is higher than the principal of the loans under the Suzhou
Chengyi Loan Agreement, any surplus is considered interest for the

loans under the Suzhou Chengyi Loan Agreement.

For details of the major terms of the Contractual Arrangements, please
refer to the sub-section headed “Contractual Arrangements — Summary

of material terms of the Contractual Arrangements” in the Prospectus.

In order to increase the registered capital of Suzhou Chengyi in
response to the request of the China Banking and Insurance Regulatory
Commission to have a registered capital of RMB40 million, on March
19, 2019, the relevant parties entered into the Suzhou Chengyi Loan
Agreement (see paragraph (g) above), and consequential administrative
changes were made in the Exclusive Share Purchase Right Agreement,
the Share Pledge Agreement, the Powers of Attorney and the Irrevocable
Undertakings to reflect the increased registered capital of Suzhou
Chengyi and the entering into of the Suzhou Chengyi Loan Agreement.
Please refer to the announcement of the Company dated March 20,
2019 for details.

During the year ended December 31, 2020, save as disclosed herein,
there was no material change in the Contractual Arrangements and/
or the circumstances under which they were adopted, and none of
the Contractual Arrangements has been unwound as none of the
restrictions that led to the adoption of Contractual Arrangements has

been removed.
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Requirements related to Contractual Arrangements (other
than relevant foreign ownership restrictions) as at the date
of the Annual Report

In addition to the restrictions on foreign ownership, there are also
regulatory requirements on the operational experience and proven
track record of a foreign investor who intends to operate a value-
added telecommunications business in the PRC (the “Qualification
Requirements”’) under Provisions on Administration of Foreign Invested
Telecommunications Enterprises KIMNEREBELEBIERTE) (the
“FITE Regulation”)). The Qualification Requirements are applicable
to our operation of the value-added telecommunications business,
including the Information Services Business, the Third Party Transaction
Platform Business and the Call Center Service Business. In the view
of the Company’'s PRC Legal Advisor, there is no requirement on the
operational experience and proven track record specifically related
to a foreign investor who intends to operate the air ticketing agency
business, the online air ticketing trading business or the insurance

agency business under applicable PRC laws and regulations.

PRC law currently limits foreign ownership of companies that
provide value-added telecommunications services (other than
operating E-commerce business) in the PRC up to 50%. Moreover,
for a foreign investor to acquire any equity interest in a value-added
telecommunications business in China, it must satisfy a number of
stringent performance and operational experience requirements,
including demonstrating good track records and experience in
operating value-added telecommunications business overseas. Foreign
investors that meet these requirements must obtain approval from the
Ministry of Industry and Information Technology (the “MIT"), which
retain considerable discretion in granting approvals. Pursuant to publicly
available information, the PRC government has issued value added
telecommunications business operating licenses to only a limited

number of foreign-invested companies.

As both Tongcheng Network and Beijing E-dragon have a foreign
investor as its shareholder, such foreign investors must fulfill the
aforementioned requirements. Thus, Tongcheng Network and Beijing
E-dragon shall each apply for a new ICP License from the MIIT. The MIIT
has discretion as to whether to grant the license. On September 27,
2018, both Beijing E-dragon and Tongcheng Network have obtained a

new ICP License.
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Development in the PRC legislation on foreign investment

On March 15, 2019, the National People’s Congress promulgated the
Foreign Investment Law (JNEH%E %) (the “FIL"), which took effect on
January 1, 2020. The FIL replaces the laws regulating foreign investment
in PRC, namely, the Sino-foreign Equity Joint Venture Enterprise Law,
the Sino-foreign Cooperative Joint Venture Enterprise Law and the
Wholly Foreign-invested Enterprise Law. The FIL embodies an expected
regulatory trend in PRC to rationalize its foreign investment regulatory
regime in line with prevailing international practice and the legislative
efforts to unify the corporate legal requirements for both foreign and

domestic investments.

The FIL does not explicitly stipulate the contractual arrangements
as a form of foreign investment. The FIL does not mention concepts
including “de facto control” and “controlling through contractual
arrangements” nor does it specify the regulation on controlling through
contractual arrangements. Furthermore, the FIL does not specifically
stipulate rules on the Relevant Businesses. Instead, the FIL stipulates
that “foreign investors invest in PRC through any other methods under
laws, administrative regulations, or provisions prescribed by the State
Council”. Therefore, as advised by the PRC legal Advisor, the Contractual

Arrangements will not be affected under the FIL.

Nevertheless, there are possibilities that future laws, administrative
regulations or provisions of the State Council may stipulate contractual
arrangements as a way of foreign investment, and then whether the
Contractual Arrangements will be recognized as foreign investment,
whether the Contractual Arrangements will be deemed to be in violation
of the foreign investment access requirements and how the Contractual

Arrangements will be handled are uncertain.

In addition, the FIL does not specify what actions shall be taken with
respect to the existing companies with a variable interest entity (VIE)
structure, whether or not these companies are controlled by PRC entities

and/or citizens.
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Particulars of the Consolidated Affiliated Entities

Set out below is the registered owners and business activities of the

Consolidated Affiliated Entities which had entered into transactions with

the Group during the year ended December 31, 2020:

Name of the Consolidated
Affiliated Entities

PrREBEEEN

Beijing E-dragon
bR

Tongcheng Network

FIR2494%

Suzhou Chengyi
MR

Registered owners as at
December 31, 2020
ot S 1
TZAZ+T—HNEBERZHEEA

50% by Mr. Jiang Hao

FOT A St A HE 7R 50%

50% by E-dragon Beijing WFOE
A E e L RWFOEHEA 50%

50% by Tongcheng Network Registered

Shareholders together”

i [RIAR 448 B Re IR AL R BE A 500%

50% by Longyue Tiancheng WFOE
BEH RIZWFOEHEA 50%

51% by Mr. Wu Zhixiang
HREFEEEF%
49% by Mr. Ma Heping

F 5 A0S S8 AR 49%
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Business activities
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Provision of online accommodation

reservation services

REEREBET RS

Provision of online accommodation,
transportation ticketing and ancillary
value-added travel-related products and
services

REESKER  RBERBREERERKR
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Provision of insurance agency services
through online platforms operated under
Beijing E-dragon and Tongcheng Network,
the intended call center business, and
other Relevant Businesses
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Note:

m

The Registered Shareholders of Tongcheng Network include the registered
shareholders of Tongcheng Network other than Longyue Tiancheng WFOE,
which comprise Mr. Wu Zhixiang, Mr. Wang Zhuan, Ms. Wu Jian, Mr. Zhang
Hailong, Mr. Ma Heping, Cowin Venture Capital Co. Ltd. (ElEAIZERE
BBRAR]), Khorgos Le Cheng Tian Xia Equity Investment Management
Partnership (LP) (ERMREIMERRXTREREERAELE (AREE)),
Suzhou Industrial Park Te Cheng Wan Li \nvestmem Management Co., Ltd.
HNIXERFEEEREEEABMRAF), Khorgos Qing Cheng Equity
Investment Management Partnership ( LP Efﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁgﬁﬁaﬁ/\
ﬁ%(ﬁﬁﬁ/\%) ), Khorgos Ye Cheng Equity Investment Management
Partnership ( (ERRITEERBEREEEARLXE (BRER)),
Shenzhen Tencem Industrial Investment Fund Co., Ltd. CRIITTEENEX£%

& E S HFPRAR]), Shenzhen Century Huixiang Technology Co., Ltd. (I
4R ERERHE AR 2 a)), Shenzhen Li Tong Industrial Investment Fund Co,,

Ltd. 5575ﬂ||ﬁﬂﬁlxﬁﬁﬁﬁ/i\ﬁ|ﬂ@ﬂ and Shenzhen Century Kai Hua
Investment Fund Co,, Ltd. CRYITTH ARSI ERERESBR A

Revenue and Assets subject to the Contractual Arrangements

The revenues for the year and total assets subject to the Contractual

Arrangements are set out as follows:

Name of the Consolidated Affiliated Entities HfREBERERE
Beijing E-dragon B
Tongcheng Network FEIRALE

Suzhou Chengyi

ERINTEE
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fia -

RiZ@ENELRRBEREZABKELRE
(T EIEENRIEWFOE) - BIRERHEE -
THEELE Rt  REEELEE BT
4 SABIRIREERAR  ERRITE
BATERREREEEARLE (BRER)
FEMTXERSEEEBREERARAR
EMRETEREREREAEEARCE (AR
a%) ERRNEEREREEEARD
%(EBE/\%) “J‘Jlﬁﬂéﬁﬂﬁﬁhﬁgéﬁ
BRAF - RN HLEFREERA
ﬂ\\mﬂLFihégéﬁﬁE T&mﬂ\\mﬁi
LI EREESARIQT

BRZHBETHIRAREE

L)

ZHBETHFERAREERESRT

T -

Revenue Total assets
subject to the subject to the
Contractual Contractual
Arrangements Arrangements
for the for the

year ended year ended

December 31, December 31,

2020 2020
BE-Z2-Z2F BE-ZT-EF
+=A=+—-8B +=HA=+-—8H

LFEEEHN LEEGHTH
THETHKRA BETHNEEAE
(RMB million) (RMB million)
(ARMEBEERT) (AR®EBEER)
48.9 427.4

2,531.0 4,893.2

103.0 773.8
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For the year ended December 31, 2020, the revenues of Beijing E-dragon,

Tongcheng Network and Suzhou Chengyi accounted for 0.8%, 42.7%

and 1.7% of the total revenues of the Group, respectively.

For the year ended December 31, 2020, the total assets of Beijing

E-dragon, Tongcheng Network and Suzhou Chengyi accounted for 2.2%,

25.6% and 4.0% of the total assets of the Group, respectively.

Review of the Transactions carried out under the Contractual
Arrangements during the Reporting Period

1.

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the
Contractual Arrangements and confirm that the transactions carried
out during such year have been entered into in accordance with

the relevant provisions of the Contractual Arrangements;

2. No dividends or other distributions have been made by
Consolidated Affiliated Entities to the holders of its equity interests
which are not otherwise subsequently assigned or transferred to
the Group; and

3. Any new contracts entered into, renewed or reproduced between

our Group and the Consolidated Affiliated Entities during the
relevant financial period above are fair and reasonable, or
advantageous to our Shareholders, so far as our Group is concerned

and in the interests of the Shareholders as a whole.

BE

CECRFT A=+ -HLEFE -

ItREE  REAKEHFEMNEZENRAD
B A L= B 4B ARI0.8% ~ 42.7% K2 1.7% °

BHE_Z-_FTH&+_A=+—RLFE"
ItREE  RESRRFENEENEER

Bn

AMEAREBEEBMER22% * 256% %

4.0% °

FERBEHRBEENLZHETHX

Z

1.

BYFATEECESAORHLRE
RMZFEETHNRZIREBEH
LZHR BB IRRTL

HREBEBERY RMEREFE AR
HERMERTGAEMT A EHENE
ETAEENREHEMDIR © &

NG B O R B B B A LA AR R B
BRI NS - BHIKERT WM
BHHBATAER (MAKEME)
BRREMANKRR - AHFARROE

BRI

The Board had reviewed the overall performance of and compliance
with the Contractual Arrangements for the year ended December 31,
2020.
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The Group's auditors have carried out review procedures in accordance
with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 “Assurance
Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on
Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules”
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants on
the transactions carried out pursuant to the Contractual Arrangements
and have provided a letter to our Directors with a copy to the Stock
Exchange confirming that the transactions have received the approval
of our Directors, have been entered into in accordance with the relevant
Contractual Arrangements and that no dividends or other distributions
have been made by the Consolidated Affiliated Entities to the holders
of its equity interests which are not otherwise subsequently assigned or

transferred to the Group.

The risks associated with the Contractual Arrangements and
actions taken by the Company to mitigate the risks

There are certain risks that are associated with the Contractual

Arrangements, including:

If the PRC government found that these Contractual Arrangements
did not comply with applicable PRC laws and regulations, or if these
regulations or their interpretations change in the future, the Group
could be subject to penalties or be forced to relinquish our interests

in those operations.

The Group might be unable to enforce the Contractual
Arrangements because of uncertainties in the PRC legal system.
Since the Group might suffer significant time delays or other
obstacles in the process of enforcing the Contractual Arrangements,
it would be very difficult to exert effective control over the
Consolidated Affiliated Entities.

The interpretation and implementation of the FIL and how it might
impact the viability of our current corporate structure, corporate

governance and business operations remain uncertain.

The Contractual Arrangements might not be as effective in
providing operational control as direct ownership, and thus, the
Contractual Arrangement Entities or their respective shareholders
might fail to perform their obligations under our Contractual

Arrangements.
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If any of the Consolidated Affiliated Entities declared bankruptcy
or became subject to a dissolution or liquidation proceeding, the
Group might lose the ability to use and enjoy the assets held by the
Consolidated Affiliated Entities.

Under PRC laws and regulations, the Contractual Arrangements
might be subject to audit or challenged by the PRC tax authorities.
As a result of the audit, the PRC authorities might adjust our
Contractual Arrangement Entities’ income in the form of a transfer

pricing adjustment.

Further details of the risks associated with the Contractual Arrangements

please refer to the section headed "Risk factors — Risks relating to our

Contractual Arrangements” in the Prospectus.

Our Group has adopted measures to ensure the effective operation of

our Group's businesses with the implementation of the Contractual

Arrangements and our compliance with the Contractual Arrangements,

including:

1.

major issues arising from the implementation and compliance with
the Contractual Arrangements or any regulatory enquiries from
government authorities will be submitted to our Board, if necessary,

for review and discussion on an occurrence basis;

the Board will review the overall performance of and compliance

with the Contractual Arrangements at least once a year;

our Directors undertake to provide periodic updates in our annual

reports regarding the latest development of the FIL; and

the Company will engage external legal advisors or other
professional advisors, if necessary, to assist the Board to review the
implementation of the Contractual Arrangements, review the legal
compliance of WFOEs and our Consolidated Affiliated Entities to
deal with specific issues or matters arising from the Contractual

Arrangements.
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Tencent Technical Support Framework Agreement

On November 6, 2018, the Company entered into the Tencent
Technical Support Framework Agreement (the "Existing Tencent
Technical Support Framework Agreement’) with Tencent Cloud
EUER)ERE

f£/27A]) (‘Tencent Cloud”’), pursuant to which Tencent Group will

Computing (Beijing) Company Limited (B Ez

provide us with technical support and related services, including but not
limited to, cloud services and intelligent DNS domain name resolution.
Tencent Cloud is our connected person because it is a consolidated
affiliated entity of Tencent, which is one of our substantial shareholders.
Therefore, the transactions under the Tencent Technical Support
Framework Agreement constitute continuing connected transactions
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The Existing Tencent Technical
Support Framework Agreement has an initial term of three years. Please
refer to the section headed “"Connected Transactions” in the Prospectus

for details.

The Company intended to continue to enter into the transactions
of the similar nature under the Existing Tencent Technical Support
Framework Agreement. On December 8, 2020, the Company entered
into the Tencent Technical Support Framework Agreement with Tencent
Cloud (the “Tencent Technical Support Framework Agreement”), the
nature of which is substantially similar to the Existing Tencent Technical
Support Framework Agreement. The Tencent Technical Support
Framework Agreement has an initial term of three years from January 1,
2021 to December 31, 2023 and is renewable upon the mutual consent
of both parties, subject to compliance with the Listing Rules and
applicable laws and regulations. The Existing Tencent Technical Support
Framework Agreement ceased to be in effect from December 31, 2020.
The Tencent Technical Support Framework Agreement is fundamental
to the Group's businesses’ development and marketing and advertising
needs, given the importance of stable cloud services required for our
operations. Please refer to the announcement of the Company dated
December 8, 2020 for details.
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The table below sets forth the annual caps of the transaction amount
to be payable by us for the technical support and related services to
be provided by Tencent Group for the years ended December 31, 2020,
2021, 2022 and 2023, respectively, and the actual transaction amount
incurred for the year ended December 31, 2020 under the Existing

Tencent Technical Support Framework Agreement:

TREHNRABEARMEER =
HEAEED %Fﬁé_?_2¢~*
——F B ERIFBC=F+R
=+— B IEFE R M X % KA R
BERMINORSeEFE LRUREZRE
T CEFFT A=+ —HIEFENER
RS

Actual
Proposed annual caps for amount
the years ended/ending December 31, incurred
BE+-A=+t—HLFEW B
EZFELR XEEH
2020 2021 2022 2023 2020
—BogF T4 T —F-= —EC-EHF

(in RMB'000)

(AR®EFT)

Transaction amounts REEZAH
payable by the Group REEH 72,000 50,000 55,000 62,000 35,469
Tencent Payment Services Framework Agreement 2. B TREELR GZ

On November 6, 2018, the Group entered into the Tencent Payment
Services Framework Agreement (the “Existing Tencent Payment
Services Framework Agreement’) with Shenzhen Tencent Computer
(RIITRAGFERRRERA

("Tencent Computer”’), pursuant to which Tencent Group will prowde

Systems Company Limited

payment and settlement services through its payment channels to us
in return for certain fees. Tencent Computer is our connected person
because it is a consolidated affiliated entity of Tencent, which is one
of our substantial shareholders. Therefore, the transactions under the
Tencent Payment Services Framework Agreement constitute continuing
connected transactions under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The
Existing Tencent Payment Services Framework Agreement has an initial
term of three years. Please refer to the section headed “Connected

Transactions” in the Prospectus for details.
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The Company intended to continue to enter into the transactions of the
similar nature under the Existing Tencent Payment Services Framework
Agreement. On December 8, 2020, the Group entered into the Tencent
Payment Services Framework Agreement (the “Tencent Payment
Services Framework Agreement’) with Tencent Computer, the nature
of which is substantially similar to the Existing Tencent Payment Services
Framework Agreement. The Tencent Payment Services Framework
Agreement has an initial term of three years from January 1, 2021 to
December 31, 2023 and is renewable upon the mutual consent of both
parties, subject to compliance with the Listing Rules and applicable
laws and regulations. The Existing Tencent Payment Services Framework
Agreement thus ceased to be in effect from December 31, 2020.
The Tencent Payment Services Framework Agreement would enable
the Group to provide our users with a convenient payment method,
therefore enhancing the overall user experience of our services. Please
refer to the announcement of the Company dated December 8, 2020

and the circular of the Company dated December 11, 2020 for details.

The table below sets forth the annual caps of the transaction amount
for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2021, 2022 and 2023,
respectively, and the actual transaction amount incurred for the year
ended December 31, 2020 under the Existing Tencent Payment Services

Framework Agreement:
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TRENEKMIRER A R RBEESR
W& DRRBET_TF  _FT = —
F.ZF-Z —EZ=F+ZA=T+
—BEFENRSGEEFE IRUARBE
—E_TEF A=+ HLFEENEE
RHEH

Actual
Proposed annual caps for amount
the years ended/ending December 31, incurred
ETZA=Z+—-HILFEN 13
BERFELR ZHEHE
2020 2022 2023 2020
—E-EF - T T =F CZEZEF

(in RMB'000)

(AR¥FT)

Transaction amounts REEZ AT

payable by the Group RE5&H 1,250,000 1,800,000 2,100,000 576,530
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Ctrip Travelling Resources Sales Framework Agreement

On November 7, 2018, the Company entered into the Ctrip Travelling
Resources Sales Framework Agreement with C-Travel, pursuant to
which the Group will utilize the platforms of Trip.com Group (formerly
known as Ctrip) to offer our accommodation booking and transportation
services while Trip.com Group and/or its associates will sell
transportation ticketing services to the Group. C-Travel is our connected
person because it is one of our substantial shareholders. Therefore,
the transactions under the Ctrip Travelling Resources Sales Framework
Agreement constitute continuing connected transactions under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules. The Ctrip Travelling Resources Sales Framework
Agreement has an initial term of three years. Please refer to the section

headed “Connected Transactions” in the Prospectus for details.

On December 30, 2019, the Company entered into the Supplemental
Agreement with C-Travel (collectively, the “Ctrip Travelling Resources
Sales Framework Agreement’) to amend certain terms of the Ctrip
Travelling Resources Sales Framework Agreement dated November 7,
2018 to enhance the collaboration between Trip.com Group and/or its
associates and the Group and to expand the coverage of the existing

cooperation platform between the parties.

The Company intended to continue to enter into the transactions of
the similar nature under the Ctrip Travelling Resources Sales Framework
Agreement. On December 8, 2020, the Group entered into the Trip.
com Travelling Resources Sales Framework Agreement (the “Trip.com
Travelling Resources Sales Framework Agreement’) with Trip.com
Group, the nature of which is substantially similar to the Ctrip Travelling
Resources Sales Framework Agreement. The Trip.com Travelling
Resources Sales Framework Agreement has an initial term of three years
from January 1, 2021 to December 31, 2023 and is renewable upon the
mutual consent of both parties, subject to compliance with the Listing
Rules and applicable laws and regulations. The Ctrip Travelling Resources
Sales Framework Agreement thus ceased to be in effect from December
31, 2020. The Trip.com Travelling Resources Sales Framework Agreement
could help our products and services reach a larger sales market via Trip.
com Group's online and mobile platforms, further enlarge our user base,
and increase our market share. Please refer to the announcement of the

Company dated December 8, 2020 for details.
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The table below sets forth the annual caps of the transaction amount for TREIPFIABEZE_ZTF - —_FT=
the years ended December 31, 2020, 2021, 2022 and 2023, respectively, —F B _FR-F-_=ZF+-A=
and the actual transaction amount incurred pursuant to the Ctrip T—BLEFENRSSRFEE LR KRE
Travelling Resources Sales Framework Agreement for the year ended BT TEFA=T—HIEFERE
December 31, 2020: BRREERHEERBENERR S S
=g
Actual
Proposed annual caps for amount
the years ended/ending December 31, incurred
BE+T-A=1+—HLFEMN B
EEFELR REEH
2020 2021 2022 2023 2020
—T-E§ T T —F =ZET-= —EC-EF
(in RMB'000)
(AEBTT)

Service fee and system MEFBEALTES
maintenance fee payable  AAEERHA
by the Group to Trip.com  XiBRTS - =2
Group and/or its associates  JRTIE R (ETEERT
for the provision of access FRFGHALE M
to their platforms for the #5712 & i H Bt
offering of the Group's BEAXNRGE
transportation services, NRZGHER
attraction services and
accommodation booking
services 100,000 27,000 35,000 45,000 10,724

System maintenance fee  RIEKEFTIEIZIK
payable by Trip.com Group #2& JRHEHELE
and/or its associate to HEER R,
the Group for offering the  HEtE A si7EiE
Group’s accommodation 2 & FRHEHE
booking services on Trip.  MEETETAERT AR
com Group's platforms EER M
under the Amended Ctrip K RFMEEE
Travelling Resources Sales

Framework Agreement 35,000 - - - 0
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Ctrip Travelling Resources Provision Framework Agreement

On November 7, 2018, the Group entered into the Ctrip Travelling
Resources Provision Framework Agreement with C-Travel, pursuant to
which Trip.com Group and/or its associates will utilize our platforms
to offer its accommodation booking and car rental services. C-travel
is our connected persons and therefore the transactions under the
Ctrip Travelling Resources Provision Framework Agreement constitute
continuing connected transactions under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules. The Ctrip Travelling Resources Provision Framework Agreement
has an initial term of three years. Please refer to the section headed

“Connected Transactions” in the Prospectus for details.

On December 30, 2019, the Company entered into the Supplemental
Agreement with C-Travel (collectively, the “Ctrip Travelling Resources
Provision Framework Agreement’) to amend certain terms of the Ctrip
Travelling Resources Provision Framework Agreement dated November
7, 2018 to enhance the collaboration between Trip.com Group and/or
its associates and the Group and to expand the coverage of the existing

cooperation platform between the parties.

The Company intended to continue to enter into the transactions
of the similar nature under the Ctrip Travelling Resources Provision
Framework Agreement. On December 8, 2020, the Group entered into
the Trip.com Travelling Resources Provision Framework Agreement
with Trip.com Group (the “Trip.com Travelling Resources Provision
Framework Agreement’), the nature of which is substantially similar
to the Ctrip Travelling Resources Provision Framework Agreement. The
Trip.com Travelling Resources Provision Framework Agreement has an
initial term of three years from January 1, 2021 to December 31, 2023
and is renewable upon the mutual consent of both parties, subject to
compliance with the Listing Rules and applicable laws and regulations.
The Ctrip Travelling Resources Provision Framework Agreement thus
ceased to be in effect from December 31, 2020. The Trip.com Travelling
Resources Provision Framework Agreement would enable the Group to
expand the variety of travel products and services offered on our online
and mobile platforms, enhance the user experience on our platforms,
increase our market shares by integration of our and Trip.com Group's
respective resources. Please refer to the announcement of the Company
dated December 8, 2020 and the circular of the Company dated
December 11, 2020 for details.
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The table below sets forth the annual caps for the transaction amount TREINDINRBEZZT_ZF - =
payable for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2021, 2022 and 2023, - —F B _FRFT=F
TZA=T-HBLEEEENOR S
Ctrip Travelling Resources Provision Framework Agreement for the year BFEFELRAREZ-ZE-_ZF+=
ended December 31, 2020: A=1T—BLFEREERKEEZR
HEERGAEENERISHERE

respectively, and the actual transaction amount incurred pursuant to the

Actual
Proposed annual caps for amount
the years ended/ending December 31, incurred
BE+-A=+—HLEEW B
EEFELR XELHE
2020 2021 2022 2023 2020
—E-EFE T — —EF- = —E-=F CZEZEF
(in RMB'000)
(AEBTT)
Commissions to be received FiFmETRR K, 8
by us from Trip.com Group EB§E A URELH]
and/or its associates e RHpERRRE
and third-party TSPs for HEBRT
providing access to the SEPIRRBE R
Group's platforms for FIETERT AR M)
the offering of Trip.com B = kRS
Group transportation HERRHEA
services, attraction REEWTA
ticketing services and
accommodation booking
services 2,000,000 3,250,000 4,300,000 6,000,000 1,389,652
System maintenance fee ~ BLEAEEF A L
payable to Trip.com Group {REEIKEEE IR
and/or its associates for (PEETETERT
offering its travelling R ERTE) e
resources (including the mIERR N S E
accommodation services B E A S F E 5
and car rental services) on  #EFEE
the Group's platforms 200,000 325,000 460,000 650,000 117,341
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Marketing Services Framework Agreement

On August 29, 2019, the Group entered into the Marketing Services
Framework Agreement (the “Marketing Services Framework
Agreement”) with Shenzhen Tencent Computer Systems Company

Limited CRYITTEAFTERAZRERA

pursuant to which Tencent Group will prowde Tencent Group's User

(“Tencent Computer’),

Virtual Products and/or Interests, and advertising resources and
intellectual property interests or services, to the Group, and the Group
will provide our Visual Products and/or Interests and advertising
resources or services to Tencent Group. Tencent Computer is our
connected person because it is a consolidated affiliated entity of
Tencent, which is one of our substantial shareholders. Therefore, the
transactions under the Marketing Services Framework Agreement
constitute continuing connected transactions under Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules. The Marketing Services Framework Agreement is
effective from August 29, 2019 to January 1, 2022 and is renewable
upon the mutual consent of both parties, subject to compliance with
the Listing Rules and applicable laws and regulations. The Marketing
Services Framework Agreement would enable the Group to provide a
synergetic, value-adding product experience for both the Group's users
and the Tencent Group's users. Please refer to the announcement of the

Company dated August 30, 2019 for details.

The Company has closely monitored the progress of its continuing
connected transactions with Tencent Computer contemplated under the
Marketing Services Framework Agreement. With a view to deepening the
collaboration between the Group and the Tencent Group. On October
11, 2020, the Company entered into the Supplemental Marketing
Services Framework Agreement with Tencent Computer to revise the
existing annual caps in respect of 2020 and 2021 for the provision of the
User Virtual Products and/or Interests by Tencent Group. The other terms
and conditions of the Marketing Services Framework Agreement remain
unchanged and continue to be in full force and effect. Please refer to

the announcement of the Company dated October 11, 2020 for details.
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The table below sets forth the annual caps of the transaction amount
payable by us for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2021,
respectively and the actual transaction amount incurred for the year

ended December 31, 2020 under the Marketing Services Framework

DIRECTORS' REPORT
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TREINHEMBIESERBERBE - 2
ARBE_Z-_ZFRK_FE-_—F+=A
S+-AEFENENRSSHEFE LR
NEBEZZE-_ZF+_A=+—H8BIL#F

Agreement: ENERR LR :

Actual
Proposed annual caps for the years amount
ended/ending December 31, incurred
BE+T-HA=+—HLFEH =13
BRFELR XEEHE
2020 2021 2020
—EEHF T —F —ETHF
(in RMB'000)
Types of products and services EmkREER (AREFT)
Tencent's User Virtual Products and/or MR A P R
Interests B, S 90,000 180,000 72,646
Advertising resources and intellectual EEE IR R
property interests or services ERERERS R 20,400 30,600 2,686
The table below sets forth the annual caps of the transaction amount TEREHT B EBEEELHBEIEZRD
payable by Tencent Group for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2, SRR E T EER T —4F
2021, respectively and the actual transaction amount incurred for the +-—A=t+—BIEENENTSLEE
year ended December 31, 2020 under the Marketing Services Framework ErRURBE -+ -A=+—
Agreement: HIEFEMNERR S -
Actual
Proposed annual caps for the years amount
ended/ending December 31, incurred
BE+-HA=+—HLFEH B
EZFELIR REEH
2020 2021 2020
—EoBE —Fo—%F —zoBE
(in RMB'000)
Types of products and services EmRREER (AR®TIT)
Group's User Virtual Products and/or AEERRFEER
Interests Emk, S 12,000 14,400 2,032
Advertising resources or services EEE RS ARG 27,000 40,000 5,557
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The above continuing connected transactions have followed the
policies and guidelines when determining the price and terms of the

transactions conducted for the year ended December 31, 2020.

The auditor of the Group has reviewed the continuing connected
transactions referred to in the paragraph “Other Connected Transactions”
above and confirmed to the Board that the continuing connected
transactions: (i) have received the approval of the Board; (i) were in
accordance with the pricing policies of the Group; (i) were entered into
in accordance with the relevant agreement governing the transaction;

and (iv) have not exceeded the caps.

The independent non-executive Directors have confirmed that the
continuing connected transactions stated in the paragraph “Other
Continuing Connected Transactions” above were entered into by the
Group: (i) in the ordinary and usual course of its business; (i) on normal
commercial terms or better; and (iii) in accordance with the relevant
agreement (including the pricing principle and guidelines set out
therein) governing them and on terms that were fair and reasonable and

in the interests of the Company and the Shareholders as a whole.

The Company has designated a team of senior management from
business operation, legal, risk control and finance departments and
Board office to monitor the continuing connected transactions and
ensure that the continuing connected transactions with the above-
mentioned connected persons are on arm'’s length basis and that
the annual caps are not exceeded. Such team of senior management
continuously traces and regularly monitors the progress of the
continuing connected transactions and reports to management of the
Company. They review the continuing connected transactions with the
finance department to ensure that annual caps are not exceeded. They
will also communicate with the Audit Committee, management and
the Board of Directors, regularly or as needed, to report the progress
of the continuing connected transactions, and request for approval
of new changes of existing transaction terms. The heads of different
departments of the Company will be informed on a periodic basis in
relation to the terms and pricing policies of the continuing connected
transactions as well. With these measures, the independent non-
executive Directors could therefore assess and give the confirmations in

the preceding paragraph.
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Save for disclosed above, during the year ended December 31, 2020, the
Group had not entered into any connected transaction or continuing
connected transaction which should be disclosed pursuant to the Rules
14A.49 and 14A.71 of the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS” MATERIAL INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS
OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Connected and Continuing
Connected Transactions” above, there were no transactions, arrangements or
contracts of significance to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was
a party and in which a Director or its connected entity (within the meaning
of Section 486 of the Companies Ordinance) had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, and subsisting during the year ended December 31,
2020 or as of December 31, 2020.

CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Connected and Continuing
Connected Transactions” above, no contract of significance was entered into
between the Company, or one of its subsidiaries, and any of its Controlling

Shareholders or subsidiaries during the year ended December 31, 2020.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole
or any substantial part of the business of the Company were entered into or
existed during the year ended December 31, 2020 and up to the date of this

annual report.

DIRECTORS’' PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to Article 164 of the Articles of Association and subject to Cayman
Islands Companies Law, each Director shall be indemnified and secured
harmless, out of the assets and profits of the Company, from and against
all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which they or any
of them, their or any of their heirs, executors or administrators, shall or may
incur or sustain by or by reason of any act done, concurred in or omitted in

or about the execution of their duty.

The Company has arranged appropriate directors’ liability insurance coverage

for the Directors of the Group during the year ended December 31, 2020.
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REMUNERATION POLICY, DIRECTORS’
REMUNERATION AND PENSION SCHEME

As at December 31, 2020, the Group had 4,813 employees. The remuneration
of our employees includes salaries defined contribution plans, bonus plans
and share incentive plans. The Group provides on-the-job training programs
to our staff to enhance technical and product knowledge. The Group's
remuneration policies are formulated based on the performance of individual

employees and are reviewed regularly.

The Group offers competitive remuneration packages to the Directors. Other
emoluments are determined by the Board with reference to the Directors’
duties, responsibilities and performance and the results of the Group. Details
of the Directors’ remuneration during the year ended December 31, 2020 are

set out in note 7 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

In accordance with the laws and regulations in the PRC, the Group has
arranged for its PRC employees to join defined contribution plans, including
pension, medical, housing and other welfare benefits, organised by the PRC
government. No forfeited contribution under this scheme is available to

reduce the contribution payable in future years.

The Group also provides social insurance, including pension insurance,
unemployment insurance, work-related injury insurance and medical

insurance for the employees of the Group.

2016 SHARE INCENTIVE PLAN

The Company has approved and adopted the 2016 Share Incentive Plan
by the Board’s resolution on August 26, 2016. The terms of the 2016 Share
Incentive Plan are not subject to the provision of Chapter 17 of the Listing

Rules.

Purpose

The purpose of the 2016 Share Incentive Plan is to promote the success
and enhance the value of our Company, by linking the personal interests of
the directors, officers and employees of our Company and any present or
future Subsidiaries or VIEs (each term as defined below) of our Company by
providing such individuals with an incentive for outstanding performance,
to generate superior returns to the Shareholders. The 2016 Share Incentive
Plan is further intended to provide flexibility to our Company in its ability to
motivate, attract, and retain the services of recipients upon whose judgment,
interest, and special effort the successful conduct of our Company’s

operation is largely dependent.
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Those eligible to participate in the 2016 Share Incentive Plan include: (1) the
Directors of our Company; and (2) any person employed by (i) our Company,
or (i) any entity in which our Company holds directly or indirectly more
than fifty percent (50%) of the voting equity (the “Subsidiary”); or (iii) any
entity that is considered to be a variable interest entity consolidated with our
Company for purpose of U.S. GAAP (the “VIE") ((i), (i) and (iii) collectively, the
“Employee” or the “Participant”). A person will not cease to be an Employee

solely by virtue of also being a Director of our Company.

The overall limit on the number of underlying Shares that may be subject
to any option, restricted share units (“RSU"), any Shares issued subject to
forfeiture or repurchase by our Company until vested (the “Restricted
Shares") or other share-based award or right granted or sold pursuant to the

016 Share Incentive Plan is 101,360,000 Shares. 59,478,530 Shares have been
issued to Wonderful Holidays Limited, which are held on behalf of certain
employees of our Group under the 2016 Share Incentive Plan. No additional
Share will be issued by our Company for the purpose of granting additional

RSUs under the 2016 Share Incentive Plan after the Listing.

The Company approved and granted 44,186,710 RSUs among which
8,300,000 were granted to Mr. Jiang Hao. Please refer to the sub-section
headed “Appendix V — Statutory and General Information — Share Incentive

Plans — 2016 Share Incentive Plan” of the Prospectus for details.

The 2016 Share Incentive Plan is administered by the full Board or a
compensation committee appointed by the Board, constituted to comply
with applicable law (the “Compensation Committee”). The Compensation
Committee will have the authority in its discretion to determine the number
of Shares or RSUs to be covered by each award granted under the 2016 Share

Incentive Plan (the “Award”).
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Grant of Awards

The Compensation Committee is authorised to grant options, RSUs or other
Awards to purchase a specified number of Shares at a specified price during
specified time periods. Awards granted will be evidenced by an agreement
("Award Agreement”). The Award Agreement includes additional provisions

specified by the Compensation Committee.

Consideration

The consideration to be paid for Shares to be issued upon exercise of
an option, the granting of an RSU, or the purchase of Restricted Shares,
including the method of payment, will be determined by the Compensation
Committee. Such consideration may consist of (i) cash, (ii) cheque, (iii)
such other method of payment as is approved by the Compensation
Committee, or (iv) any combination of the foregoing that is approved by the

Compensation Committee.

Exercise of option

The Remuneration Committee shall determine the time or times at which an
option may be exercised in whole or in part, including exercise price prior to
vesting. The Compensation Committee shall also determine any conditions, if

any, that must be satisfied before all or part of an Award may be exercised.

Vesting of awards

Any options granted under the 2016 Share Incentive Plan will become vested
and exercisable, any RSUs granted under the 2016 Share Incentive Plan will
vest and be settled and any Restricted Shares issued under the 2016 Share
Incentive Plan will vest and no longer be subject to forfeiture at such times
and under such conditions as determined by the Compensation Committee

and set forth in an Award Agreement.
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Term of the 2016 Share Incentive Plan

The 2016 Share Incentive Plan commenced on August 26, 2016 (the
"Effective Date of 2016 Share Incentive Plan’). Any Awards granted that
are outstanding on the tenth anniversary of the Effective Date of 2016 Share
Incentive Plan shall remain in force to give effect to that Award for a term of
ten years according to the terms of the 2016 Share Incentive Plan and the

applicable Award Agreement.

For further details, please refer to the sub-section headed “"Appendix V -
Statutory and General Information — Share Incentive Plans — 2016 Share
Incentive Plan” of the Prospectus, and note 8 to the Consolidated Financial

Statements of this annual report.

Save as disclosed above, as of December 31, 2020, no RSUs or share options
had been granted or agreed to be granted by the Company pursuant to the

2016 Share Incentive Plan.

2018 SHARE INCENTIVE PLAN

The Company has approved and adopted a share option scheme by the
Board's resolution on March 9, 2018 (the “2018 Share Incentive Plan”). The
terms of the 2018 Share Incentive Plan are not subject to the provision of

Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.

Purpose

The purpose of the 2018 Share Incentive Plan is to promote the success
and enhance the value of our Company, by linking the personal interests of
the directors, officers and employees of our Company and any present or
future Subsidiaries or VIEs (each term as defined below) of our Company by
providing such individuals with an incentive for outstanding performance,
to generate superior returns to the Shareholders. The 2018 Share Incentive
Plan is further intended to provide flexibility to our Company in its ability to
motivate, attract, and retain the services of recipients upon whose judgment,
interest, and special effort the successful conduct of our Company's

operation is largely dependent.
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Those eligible to participate in the 2018 Share Incentive Plan include: (1) the
Directors of our Company; and (2) any person employed by (i) our Company,
or (i) any entity that is directly or indirectly Controlled (as defined below)
by our Company (the “Subsidiary”) or (iii) any entity that is considered to
be a variable interest entity consolidated with our Company for purpose
of U.S. GAAP (the "VIE") ((i), (i) and (iii) collectively, the “Employee” or the
“Participant”). A person will not cease to be an Employee solely by virtue of

also being a Director of our Company.

The overall limit on the number of underlying Shares that may be subject to
any option, RSU, any Shares issued subject to forfeiture or repurchase by our
Company until vested (the “Restricted Share”) or other share-based award or
right granted or sold pursuant to the 2018 Share Incentive Plan is 163,240,270
Shares, which represents approximately 7.49% of the issued Shares as at
December 31, 2020.

The number of outstanding Shares subject to the options granted under the
2018 Share Incentive Plan is 163,240,270 Shares. No additional options have

been or will be granted under the 2018 Share Incentive Plan after the Listing.

The 2018 Share Incentive Plan is administered by the Chief Executive Officer,
Chief Financial Officer, Chief Operating Officer, Chief Technology Officer, Chief
Strategy Officer and Chief Marketing Officer of our Company appointed in
accordance with the Shareholders Agreement and the Articles of Association
(collectively, the “Management”). The Management will have the authority
in its discretion to determine the number of Shares or RSUs to be covered by

each award granted under the 2018 Share Incentive Plan (the "Award”).

The Management is authorised to grant options, RSUs or other Awards to
purchase a specified number of Shares at a specified price during specified
time periods. Awards granted will be evidenced by an agreement (the
“Award Agreement’). The Award Agreement includes additional provisions

specified by the Management.
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Consideration

The consideration to be paid for Shares to be issued upon exercise of
an Option, the granting of an RSU, or the purchase of Restricted Shares,
including the method of payment, will be determined by the Management.
Such consideration may consist of (i) cash, (ii) cheque, (iii) such other method
of payment as is approved by the Management, or (iv) any combination of

the foregoing that is approved by the Management.

Exercise of option

The Management shall determine the time or times at which an option may
be exercised in whole or in part, including exercise price prior to vesting.
The Management shall also determine any conditions, if any, that must be

satisfied before all or part of an Award may be exercised.

Vesting of awards

Any options granted under the 2018 Share Incentive Plan will become vested
and exercisable, any RSUs granted under the 2018 Share Incentive Plan will
vest and be settled and any Restricted Shares issued under the 2018 Share
Incentive Plan will vest and no longer be subject to forfeiture at such times
and under such conditions as determined by the Management and set forth

in an Award Agreement.

Term of the 2018 Share Incentive Plan

The 2018 Share Incentive Plan commenced on March 9, 2018 (the “Effective
Date of 2018 Share Incentive Plan”). Any Awards that are outstanding on
the tenth anniversary of the Effective Date of 2018 Share Incentive Plan shall
remain in force to give effect to that Award for a term of ten years according
to the terms of the 2018 Share Incentive Plan and the applicable Award

Agreement.

For further details, please refer to the sub-section headed "Appendix V -
Statutory and General Information — Share Incentive Plans - 2018 Share
Incentive Plan” of the Prospectus, and note 8 to the Consolidated Financial

Statements of this annual report for the year ended December 31, 2020.
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2019 SHARE OPTION PLAN

The Company has adopted a share option plan (the “2019 Share Option
Plan”) by an ordinary resolution duly passed by the Shareholders on August
2, 2019 (the "Effective Date of the 2019 Share Option Plan”). As the 2019
Share Option Plan involves the grant of options, the terms of the 2019 Share
Option Plan are subject to the relevant requirements of Chapter 17 of the

Listing Rules.

Purpose

The purpose of the 2019 Share Option Plan is to provide better rewards to
the talents who have contributed to the development and success of the
Group, and for the future development of the Group, to motivate such talents
to continue to make their best efforts and to attract new talents through
providing them with the opportunities to acquire interests in Shares of the

Company.

Eligible participants

The persons eligible to participate in the 2019 Share Option Plan include (i)
any Director, (i) any other employee of the Group and (i) any consultant,
adviser, agent, customer, supplier, service provider, business partner or
joint venture partner of the Group whom the committee as appointed
by the Board from time to time (the “Committee”) or the management,
which comprises of the Chief executive officer, Chief financial officer,
Chief operating officer and Chief technology officer of the Company (the
“Management”), considers in its sole discretion (as the case may be), has

contributed or will contribute to the Group.

Maximum number of Shares for issue

The maximum number of the underlying Shares in respect of which share
options may be granted under the 2019 Share Option Plan shall not exceed
3.5% of the outstanding Shares in issue on the effective Date of the 2019
Share Option Plan, and, when aggregated with the maximum number of
Shares in respect of any share options to be granted under the 2019 Share
Option Plan and any other share options to be granted under the 2016 Share
Incentive plan, the 2018 Share Incentive plan and any other share incentive
plans to be established by the Company (the “Other Plans”) shall not in
aggregate exceed 10% of the outstanding Shares in issue on the effective
Date of the 2019 Share Option Plan (or of the refreshment of the 10% limit).
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The total maximum number of Shares in respect of which share options
may be granted under the 2019 Share Option Plan would be 73,871,298

representing 3.5% of the number of Shares in issue as at August 2, 2019.

The above maximum number is subject to the condition that the total
maximum number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise of all
outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under the 2019 Share
Option Plan and any other options granted and yet to be exercised under
the other plans shall not exceed 30% of the outstanding Shares in issue from
time to time. No options may be granted under the 2019 Share Option Plan
and no options may be granted under the other plans if it will result in such

limit being exceeded.

On October 23, 2020, a total of 21,100,000 options were granted to certain
eligible participants pursuant to the 2019 Share Option Plan to subscribe for
a total of 21,100,000 Shares. The number of outstanding Shares subject to
the options granted under the 2019 Share Option Plan is 31,787,798 Shares,
which represents approximately 1.50% of the issued Shares as at the date of

this annual report.

Unless separately approved by the Shareholders in general meeting (with the
relevant eligible participant and such eligible participant's close associates
(with the meaning ascribed thereto under the Listing Rules) (or such eligible
participants’ associates if the eligible participant is a connected person
of the Company) abstaining from voting), no eligible participant shall be
granted a share option if the total number of Shares issued and to be issued
upon exercise of the share options (including exercised, cancelled and
outstanding share options but excluding lapsed share options) granted and
to be granted to such eligible participant in any 12-month period up to and
including such further grant would exceed 1% of the outstanding Shares
in issue from time to time. A circular with the requisite information must
be sent to the Shareholders prior to general meeting, disclosing, amongst
others, the identity of such eligible participant and the number and terms
of the share options granted and proposed to be granted. The number and
terms (including the exercise price) of the share options to be granted to
such eligible participant must be fixed before the approvals are sought and
the date of the Board meeting of Company for proposing such further grant
should be taken as the date of the grant for the purpose of calculating the

exercise price.
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The 2019 Share Option Plan is administered by the Board. The Board or
any other authorized agent, which would administer in whole or partly the
2019 Share Option Plan on the Board's behalf. The Board shall have the
authority to determine which eligible participants of the 2019 Share Option
Plan will receive share options, to grant share options and to set all terms
and conditions of share options (including, but not limited to, vesting and

forfeiture provisions).

Each share option shall be exercisable at such times and subject to such
terms and conditions as the Board determines, provided that the term of
any share option shall not exceed ten years from the date of grant of the
share option. The Board or the Committee has the power to specify the
requirement as to the minimum period for which a share option must be

held before the share option can be exercised.

The Board or the Committee shall establish the exercise price of each share
option at the time of grant and specify the exercise price in the applicable
agreement evidencing the grant of option(s) (the “Award Agreement’), in
compliance with the applicable laws from time to time. The exercise price
of each share option shall be at least the higher of: (i) the nominal value of
a Share; (ii) the closing price of a Share as stated on the Stock Exchange'’s
daily quotations sheet on the date of grant of such share option; and (iii)
the average closing price of a Share as stated on the Stock Exchange's daily
quotations sheets for the five Business Days immediately preceding the date

of grant of such share option.

There is no additional amount payable on application or acceptance of the

share option.

Tongcheng-Elong Holdings Limited | [Ef2E8EIERERLOT

CE-NFBREFSRESSHETEE - &
FERTAEMEEREA  KREFSEE
2RERBY T -NFERETE  -EEEF
RETHKBEREL - FBRETE
BEBRSEAL  BUBRERHITEREZ
B GRRE (BRETRR BB KR WK
) o

BOBREANESTSREZABKRRIZR
BB AR I T AT - MR B 2 5
RASEERHBREANESTF -EFS
HEZ BRI PARENERER TITEAL
BR A ERE 2 &EHIA -

EXeR R eRRBEMEETHRRHE
RESMBREZTEEYXNERBRERT
ERwE ([ RBHHR) NTRITEE - 2HE
Bz TREREL R (ABRSERE)  ()KH
HE (VR ERBERERGD A SBIMEAR
BRAR2BHEHE - RO REZBR
BRERODESMANIESXABIMERRE
KRR FERHE -

B Bk 5 A U s M I 4R B N AEART BB ORI ©



Term of the 2019 Share Option Plan

The 2019 Share Option Plan commenced on the effective Date of the 2019
Share Option Plan and has a remaining term of approximately 8.5 years as at
the date of this annual report. no share options shall be granted under the
2019 Share option plan after the earliest to occur of: (i) the tenth anniversary
of the effective Date of the 2019 Share Option Plan; (ii) the maximum
number of the Shares available for issuance under the 2019 Share Option
Plan have been issued; or (iii) the Board terminates the 2019 Share Option
Plan in accordance with the terms set out therein. However, unless otherwise
expressly provided in the 2019 Share Option Plan or in an applicable Award
Agreement, any share options theretofore granted may extend beyond such
date, and the authority of the Board or the Committee to amend, alter, adjust,
suspend, discontinue or terminate any such grant of share options, to waive
any conditions or rights under any such grant of share options, or to amend

the 2019 Share Option Plan, shall extend beyond such date.
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THE 2019 RSU PLAN

The Company has approved and adopted the 2019 RSU Plan by the Board’s
resolution on July 2, 2019 (the "Effective Date of the 2019 RSU Plan”). The
terms of the 2019 RSU Plan are not subject to the provision of Chapter 17 of
the Listing Rules.

Purpose

The purpose of the 2019 RSU Plan is to provide better rewards to the talents
who have contributed to the development and success of the Group, and for
the future development of the Group, to motivate such talents to continue
to make their best efforts and to attract new talents through providing them

with the opportunities to acquire interests in Shares of the Company.

Eligible participants

The eligible participants of the 2019 RSU Plan include (i) any Director, (ii)
any other employee of the Group and (iii) any consultant, adviser, agent,
customer, supplier, service provider, business partner or joint venture partner
of the Group whom the Committee or the management (as the case may
be) considers, in its sole discretion, has contributed or will contribute to
the Group. The Committee (in respect of Directors and senior management
of the Company) or the management (in respect of persons who are not
Directors or senior management of the Company) shall have the authority
to determine which eligible participant will receive RSUs, to grant RSUs and
to set all terms and conditions of RSUs (including, but not limited to, vesting

and forfeiture provisions).
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The maximum number of Shares in respect of which RSUs may be granted
under the 2019 RSU Plan would be 31,659,128, representing 1.5% of the
total issued share capital of the Company as of August 2, 2019, and, when
aggregated with the maximum number of Shares in respect of which options
or awards may be granted under any other share-based incentive plan of the
Company (including the 2019 Share Option Plan and the other plans), shall
not exceed 10% of the total Issued share Capital of the Company as of the
effective Date of the 2019 RSU Plan (or of the refreshment of the 10% limit)
(the "RSU Mandate Limit").

The RSU mandate Limit may be refreshed from time to time subject to the
prior approval of the Shareholders, but in any event, the total number of
Shares in respect of which RSUs may be granted under the 2019 RSU Plan
following the date of approval of the refreshed limit, when aggregated with
the maximum number of Shares in respect of which options or awards may
be granted under any other share-based incentive plan of the Company
(including the 2019 Share Option Plan and the other plans), must not exceed
10% of the total issued share capital of the Company as of the date when

such refreshed limit is approved.

The Company granted a total of 7,902,000 RSUs to certain eligible participants
pursuant to the 2019 RSU Plan on December 20, 2019. The Company also
granted a total of 13,200,000 RSUs to certain eligible participants pursuant to
the 2019 RSU Plan on October 23, 2020. The number of outstanding Shares
subject to the RSUs granted under the 2019 RSU Plan is 10,557,128 Shares,
which represents approximately 0.48% of the issued Shares as at the date of

this annual report.

Save as disclosed above, no RSU has been granted by the Company pursuant
to the 2019 RSU Plan during the year ended December 31, 2020.
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Administration

The 2019 RSU Plan shall be subject to the administration of the Board who
may delegate all or part of such administration to a committee or any other
authorized agent. The decision of the Board or persons to whom the Board
has delegated relevant powers shall be final and binding on all parties for any

matters concerning the interpretation or application of the 2019 RSU Plan.

Grant of RSUs

The Board (or any committee or other authorized agent delegated by
the Board) may, from time to time, at their absolute discretion select the
grantee(s), determine the number of RSUs to be awarded and specify such
event, time limit or conditions (if any) as it thinks fit when making such offer
to the grantee(s), including, without limitation, conditions as to performance
criteria to be satisfied by the grantee(s) and/or the Company and/or the

Group which must be satisfied before a RSU can be vested.

Consideration

The consideration to be paid for the granting of an RSU, including the
method of payment, will be determined by the Board. Such consideration
may consist of (i) cash, (ii) cheque, (iii) such other method of payment as
is approved by the Board, or (iv) any combination of the foregoing that is

approved by the Board.

Vesting of RSUs

Unless otherwise determined by the Board (or any committee or other
authorized agent delegated by the Board) at its discretion, the RSUs held
by the trustee appointed by the Company in respect of the 2019 RSU Plan
and which are referable to a relevant grantee shall not vest in the relevant
grantee in the event that the relevant grantee fails to satisfy the specific
terms and conditions applicable to each RSU which may be determined at
the sole and absolute discretion of the Board (or any committee or other
authorized agent delegated by the Board) or breaches any terms of the 2019
RSU Plan.
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Term of the 2019 RSU Plan

Unless terminated earlier in accordance with the 2019 RSU Plan, the 2019 RSU
Plan will be valid and effective for a period commencing from the effective
Date of the 2019 RSU Plan and expiring on the 10th anniversary thereof. Any
early termination of the 2019 RSU Plan shall not affect any subsisting rights of

any grantee hereunder.

NO MATERIAL CHANGES

Save as disclosed in the annual report, from January 1, 2020 to December 31,
2020, there are no material changes affecting the Company's performance
that needs to be disclosed under paragraphs 32 and 40(2) of Appendix 16 to
the Listing Rules.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENT

Save as disclosed in this annual report, there was no equity-linked agreement

entered into by the Company during the year ended December 31, 2020.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year ended December 31, 2020, the respective percentages
of purchases attributable to the Group's largest supplier and five largest
suppliers in aggregate were 16.5% and 26.5%; and the respective percentages
of the total sales attributable to the Group's largest customer and five largest

customers in aggregate were 21.4% and 42.7%.

Mr. Liang Jianzhang, Mr. Jiang Hao, and Mr. Wu Haibing also had beneficial
interests in the Group's largest customer which accounted for approximately
21.4% of the total sales of the Group for the year ended December 31, 2020.

Tencent, who is the substantial shareholder of the Company, had beneficial
interest in the largest customer and one of five largest customers of the
Group which accounted for approximately 21.4% and 6.1% of the total sales

of the Group, respectively.
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Except as disclosed above, none of the Directors or any of their close
associates or any Shareholders (which to the best knowledge of the Directors
owned more than 5% of the Company'’s issued share capital) had a material

interest in our five largest customers.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, redeemed or sold
any of the Company'’s listed securities during the year ended December 31,
2020.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in Appendix 10 to
the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct regarding Directors’ securities
transactions. Specific enquiries have been made to all the Directors and the
Directors have confirmed that they have complied with the Model Code for
the year ended December 31, 2020.

The Company's employees, who are likely to be in possession of inside
information of the Company, have also been subject to the Model Code for
securities transactions. No incident of non-compliance of the Model Code by
the Company’'s employees was noted by the Company for the year ended
December 31, 2020.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
CODE

Save as disclosed in this annual report, the Company had applied the
principles and code provisions as set out in the Corporate Governance Code
and has complied with the code provisions in the Corporate Governance
Code for the year ended December 31, 2020. Please refer to the Corporate

Governance Report of this annual report for details.
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AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended
December 31, 2020 have been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers, certified

public accountants.

PricewaterhouseCoopers will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves
for re-appointment. A resolution for their re-appointment as auditor of the

Company will be proposed at the AGM.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS AND RECORD
DATE

The register of members of the Company will be closed from May 26, 2021
(Wednesday) to May 31, 2021 (Monday), both days inclusive, in order to
determine the eligibility of the Shareholders to attend and vote at the AGM.
The Shareholders whose names appear on the register of members of the
Company at the close of business on May 25, 2021 (Tuesday) will be eligible
to attend and vote at the AGM. In order to be eligible to attend and vote at
the AGM, all transfers accompanied by the relevant share certificates and
transfer forms must be lodged with the Company’s branch share registrar in
Hong Kong, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, at Shops
1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai,
Hong Kong before 4:30 p.m. on May 25, 2021 (Tuesday).

By order of the Board
Ma Heping

Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, March 23, 2021

DIRECTORS' REPORT
EEEWE

AT

AEEBE-_ZT-_TF+-_A=+—HLEFE
MGEYBRERTANESHIERRKES
SRR T AL -

BABERMEEMEERELAERE
BEME  BREETARRRBENHRERK
RERBFREG LIRS -

EEREBFERNREHEE

AREIBR-_E-_—FRA-+ B (EH=)
E-E-—FRA=T—H(EH ) (BEER
ME)EERERNDBFELTE  NEBETEE
BHERRBFAGRAE LREARRK - B
CE - FRATHEA(EH ) S ENEE
REEBIARABREEM EHREEEERS
MBREBFAGIREG ERE - ARHAERT
FERFRAFASGELRE LRE - IBBP XM
ERNAAREZERBFERE BN =—
FHA-THA(BEY D) THFOEB=+9R1%
REABZERROBEELDREBRRE
HFERARAR - MU ARBEFR2ERER
1835 &P 717121716584 ©

ERESEEW
HITEEFEEHNTE

B —E-—F=A=-+=H

—Z-TEHEFIR  ANNUAL REPORT 2020

107



108

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
RERT

e

The Board of the Company presents this corporate governance report in the

Group's annual report for the year ended December 31, 2020.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES OF THE
COMPANY

The Group is committed to achieving high standards of corporate
governance to safeguard the interests of the Shareholders and to enhance

corporate value and accountability.

The Company has applied the principles as set out in the Corporate
Governance Code and also the corporate governance report as contained in

Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules.

The Corporate Governance Code sets out the principles of good corporate

governance and two levels of corporate governance practices, as follows:

(@) code provisions, which listed issuers are expected to comply with or to

give considered reasons for deviation; and

(b) recommended best practices for guidance only, which listed issuers are

encouraged to comply with.

The Company's corporate governance practices are based on the principles

and code provisions as set out in the Corporate Governance Code.

The Company regularly reviews its compliance with corporate governance
codes and save as disclosed in this annual report, the Company was in
compliance with the code provisions of the Corporate Governance Code

during the year ended December 31, 2020.
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Responsibilities

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of the
Company and is responsible for promoting the success of the
Company by directing and supervising its affairs. The Board also
reviews the policies and practices on compliance with legal
and regulatory requirements. The Board has established Board
committees and has delegated to these Board committees’ various
responsibilities as set out in their respective terms of reference
which are published on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the

Company.

All of the Directors have carried out their duties in good faith and in
compliance with the standards of applicable laws and regulations,
and have acted in the best interests of the Company and its

Shareholders at all times.

Delegation of Management Function

The Board is responsible for making all major decisions of the
Company including: the approval and monitoring of all major
policies and overall strategies of the Group and internal control and
risk management systems, notifiable transactions and connected
transactions, nomination of the Directors and joint company

secretaries, and other significant financial and operational matters.

All of the Directors have full and timely access to all relevant
information as well as the advice and services of the joint company
secretaries, with a view to ensuring that Board procedures and
all applicable rules and regulations are followed. Each Director is
entitled to seek independent professional advice in appropriate

circumstances at the Company'’s expense.

The day-to-day management, administration and operation of the
Company are delegated to the senior management. The delegated
functions are periodically reviewed. Approval has to be obtained

from the Board before any significant transaction is entered into.
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3. Board Composition

The Board of the Company comprised the following Directors for

the year ended December 31, 2020 and as at the date of this annual

report:
Executive Directors Mr. Wu Zhixiang
(Co-Chairman)
Mr. Ma Heping
(Chief Executive Officer)
Non-executive Mr. Liang Jianzhang
Directors (Co-Chairman)
Mr. Jiang Hao
Mr. Yu Haiyang
(resigned on April 19, 2020) (Note 1)
Mr. Cheng Yun Ming Matthew
(appointed on April 19, 2020) (Note 2)
Mr. Brent Richard Irvin
Independent Mr. Wu Haibing
Non-executive Mr. Dai Xiaojing
Directors Ms. Han Yuling
Notes:

(1) Mr. Yu Haiyang has resigned as a non-executive Director of the
Company and a member of the Audit Committee with effect from April
19, 2020. Please refer to the announcement of the Company dated
April 19, 2020 for details.

(2)  Mr. Cheng Yun Ming Matthew has been appointed as a non-executive
Director of the Company and a member of the Audit Committee with
effect from April 19, 2020. Please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated April 19, 2020 for details.

The list of the Directors (by category) is also disclosed in all
corporate communications issued by the Company from time to
time pursuant to the Listing Rules. The independent non-executive
Directors are expressly identified in all corporate communications

pursuant to the Listing Rules.
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Save as disclosed in this annual report, to the best knowledge of the
Company, there are no financial, business, family, or other material/

relevant relationships among members of the Board.

During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Board at all
times met the requirements of the Listing Rules relating to the
appointment of at least three independent non-executive Directors
representing at least one-third of the Board and at least one
independent non-executive Director with appropriate professional
qualifications, or accounting or related financial management

expertise.

The Company has received written annual confirmation from each
independent non-executive Director of his or her independence
pursuant to the requirements of the Listing Rules. The Company
considers all the independent non-executive Directors to be
independent in accordance with the independence requirements

set out in the Listing Rules.

Appointment, Re-election and Removal of Directors

The procedures and process of appointment, re-election and
removal of the Directors are laid down in the Articles of Association.
The primary duties of the Nomination Committee include, but are
not limited to, reviewing the structure, size and composition of
the Board, assessing the independence of the independent non-
executive Directors and making recommendations to the Board on

matters relating to the appointment of the Directors.
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Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service contract
with the Company pursuant to which each of them has agreed
to act as an executive Director for an initial term of three years
(subject to re-election as and when required under the Articles of
Association) until terminated in accordance with the terms and
conditions of the service contract or by either party giving to the
other not less than three months’ prior notice in writing. Each of
the non-executive Directors has entered into a service contract with
the Company pursuant to which each of them has agreed to act
as a non-executive Director for a term of one year (subject to re-
election as and when required under the Articles of Association)
until terminated in accordance with the terms and conditions of
the service contract or by either party giving to the other not less
than one month's prior notice in writing. Each of the independent
non-executive Directors has signed a letter of appointment with the
Company and has been appointed for a term of one year (subject to
re-election as and when required under the Articles of Association).
The appointment may be terminated by either party giving to the

other not less than one month's prior notice in writing.

In accordance with the Articles of Association, all of the Directors
are subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years
and the Board has power from time to time and at any time to
appoint any new Director to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition
to the Board. Any director so appointed shall hold office until the
first general meeting or the next following annual general meeting
of the Company (as the case may be) after his appointment and

shall then be eligible for re-election at that meeting.
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Induction and Continuing Development for Directors

Each newly appointed Director receives formal, comprehensive and
tailored induction on the first occasion of his/her appointment,
so as to ensure that he or she understands the business and
operations of the Company and that he or she is fully aware of his
or her responsibilities and obligations under the Listing Rules and

other relevant regulatory requirements.

The Directors are continually provided with information relating
to the developments in the legal and regulatory regime and the
business and market environments to facilitate the execution
of their responsibilities. Continuing briefings and professional
development for the Directors were arranged by the Company and

its professional advisers.

According to records provided by the Directors, a summary of
training received by the Directors for the year ended December 31,

2020 is as follows:

Mr. Wu Zhixiang REHLEE

Mr. Ma Heping AT E

Mr. Liang Jianzhang REERE

Mr. Jiang Hao LS

Mr. Yu Haiyang (Note 2) RBAELE (MiF2)
Mr. Cheng Yun Ming Matthew (Note 3) EOEBA ST A (B7F3)
Mr. Brent Richard Irvin Brent Richard Irvin 4t 4
Mr. Wu Haibing RGEEE

Mr. Dai Xiaojing B/ REE

Ms. Han Yuling BEEZT
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Notes:

Each Director has read and learnt relevant information regarding the
Company under the “Listing Rules and Guidance” issued by the Stock
Exchange in 2020. On top of the above-mentioned trainings, each of
the Directors has also read materials prepared by external professional
advisers on “Major Regulations in Hong Kong and Regulatory Update.”

Mr. Yu Haiyang has resigned as a non-executive Director of the
Company and a member of the Audit Committee with effect from April
19, 2020. Please refer to the announcement of the Company dated
April 19, 2020 for details.

Mr. Cheng Yun Ming Matthew has been appointed as a non-executive
Director of the Company and a member of the Audit Committee with
effect from April 19, 2020. Please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated April 19, 2020 for details.

6. Attendance Record of Board Meetings

a.

Number of Meetings and Directors’ Attendance

Code provision A.1.1 of the Corporate Governance Code
prescribes that at least four regular Board meetings should
be held in each year at approximately quarterly intervals with
active participation of majority of directors, either in person or

through electronic means of communication.

The attendance record of each Director at the Board, Board
Committees and general meetings of the Company held
during the year ended December 31, 2020 is set out in the

table below:
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Mr. Yu Haiyang has resigned as a non-executive Director of the
Company and a member of the Audit Committee with effect from
April 19, 2020. Please refer to the announcement of the Company
dated April 19, 2020 for details.

Mr. Cheng Yun Ming Matthew has been appointed as a non-
executive Director of the Company and a member of the Audit
Committee with effect from April 19, 2020. Please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated April 19, 2020 for details.

Mr. Wu Haibing has appointed Mr. Fan Lei, the Chief Financial
Officer of the Company to attend the Annual General Meeting
held on June 3, 2020.

Apart from the above meetings, the Co-Chairmen of the Board

Nomination Remuneration
Board  Committee Committee
Name of Director ~ EZ# % Eze¢ R£ZBEE HMzZEE
Mr. Wu Zhixiang REEEE 8/8 33 -
Mr. Ma Heping SMFEE 8/8 = =
Mr.Liang Jianzhang ~ REELE 8/8 = =
Mr. Jiang Hao LERE 8/8 = =
Mr. Yu Haiyang REFEE
(Note 1) (1) 12 - -
Mr.Cheng Yun Ming ~ ZBERB A&
Matthew (Note 2) ~ (Hiit2) 6/6 - -
Mr. Brent Richard Irvin - Brent Richard Irvin
®E 6/8 - 0/1
Mr. Wu Haibing REREE
8/8 = =
Mr. Dai Xiaojing I REAE 7/8 33 i
Ms. Han Yuling BEELT 8/8 33 11
Notes:

held a meeting with the Independent Non-executive Directors

during the year ended December 31,

Directors’ presence.

2020 without other
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Committee

BREEE

4/4

4/4

Br i@z

CEEAR
Independent Annual  Extraordinary
Board General General
Committee Meeting Meeting

BUESZEE RRAFAE RRBAAE

S 1 i
5 1 0/1
S 0/1 0/1
5 0/1 0/1
S 0/1 0/1
5 0/1 0/1
/1 (Note 3)
22 (Hits3) 0/1
b)) 0/1 0/1
22 11 0/1
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Practices and Conduct of Meetings

Annual meeting schedules and draft agenda of each meeting

will be made available to the Directors in advance.

Notices of regular Board meetings will be served to all of the
Directors at least 14 days before the meetings. For other Board
and committee meetings, reasonable notices were generally

given.

Board papers together with all appropriate, complete and
reliable information will be sent to all of the Directors at least
three days before each Board meeting or committee meeting
to keep the Directors apprised of the latest developments and
financial position of the Company and to enable them to make

informed decisions.

Each Director also has separate and independent access to the

senior management of the Company whenever necessary.

The senior management of the Company attend regular Board
meetings and where necessary, other Board and committee
meetings, to advise on business developments, financial and
accounting matters, statutory and regulatory compliance,
corporate governance and other major aspects of the

Company.

The joint company secretaries are responsible for taking
and keeping minutes of all Board meetings and committee
meetings. Draft minutes are normally circulated to the
Directors for comment within a reasonable time after each
meeting and the final version is open for the Directors’

inspection.

The Articles of Association contain provisions requiring the
Directors to abstain from voting and not to be counted in the
quorum at meetings for approving transactions in which such

Directors or any of their associates have a material interest.
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Chairman and Chief Executive

Code provision A.2.1 of the Corporate Governance Code stipulates that
the roles of chairman and chief executive should be separate and should

not be performed by the same individual.

The chairman of the Board and the Chief Executive Officer are currently
two separate positions held by Mr. Wu Zhixiang and Mr. Liang Jianzhang
as the Co-Chairman of the Board and Mr. Ma Heping as Chief Executive
Officer, with clear distinction in responsibilities. The chairman of the
Board is responsible for providing overall strategic planning and
business development of the Group, while the Chief Executive Officer is
responsible for general business operation and the implementation of

overall business strategy.

Board Committees

The Board has established three committees, namely, the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee, and the Nomination
Committee, for overseeing particular aspects of the Company’s affairs.
All of these three committees are established with defined written terms
of reference which are available at the websites of the Stock Exchange

and the Company.

The majority of the members of the Audit Committee, the Remuneration
Committee, and the Nomination Committee are independent non-

executive Directors.

The Board committees are provided with sufficient resources to
discharge their duties and, upon reasonable request, are able to seek
independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at the

Company'’s expense.
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Audit Committee

We have established the Audit Committee with terms of reference
in compliance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules as well as
paragraphs C.3 and D.3 of the Corporate Governance Code.
The Audit Committee consists of three Directors, namely, the
independent non-executive Directors Mr. Wu Haibing, Ms. Han
Yuling, and the non-executive Director Mr. Cheng Yun Ming
Matthew. The chairman of the Audit Committee is Mr. Wu Haibing,
who holds the appropriate professional qualifications as required

under Rules 3.10(2) and 3.21 of the Listing Rules.

The Audit Committee meets at least twice a year. The primary duties
of the Audit Committee include, but are not limited to, assisting
the Board by (i) reviewing and monitoring the relationship of the
external auditor and the Group, particularly the independence,
objectivity and effectiveness of the external auditor; (i) providing
an independent view of the effectiveness of the financial reporting
process, internal control, compliance and risk management systems
of the Group; (iii) overseeing the audit process and performing
other duties and responsibilities as assigned by the Board; (iv)
developing and reviewing the Company’s policies and practices
on corporate governance, compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements and requirements under the Listing Rules; (v)
reviewing the financial information of the Company and ensuring
compliance with accounting standards and reviewing significant
adjustments resulting from audit; (vi) developing, reviewing and
monitoring the code of conduct applicable to the Company’s
employees and Directors; and (vii) overseeing the Company'’s

financial reporting system and internal control procedures.
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During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Audit Committee
held four meetings to review the quarterly, half-year and
annual results of the Company; to review continuing connected
transactions of the Group; to review financial reporting system
and risk management and internal control systems of the Group
and make relevant recommendation to the Board; to review the
Company's corporate governance policies, practices and related

matters.

The Company’s annual results for the year ended December 31,
2020 have been reviewed by the Audit Committee on March 23,
2021. The Audit Committee considers that the annual financial
results for the year ended December 31, 2020 are in compliance
with the relevant accounting standards, rules and regulations and

appropriate disclosures have been duly made.

Remuneration Committee

The Company has established the Remuneration Committee
with terms of reference in compliance with paragraph B.1 of the
Corporate Governance Code. The Remuneration Committee consists
of three Directors, namely, the independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Dai Xiaojing and Ms. Han Yuling, and the non-executive Director
Mr. Brent Richard Irvin. Ms. Han Yuling serves as the chairman of the

Remuneration Committee.

The Remuneration Committee meets at least once a year. The
primary duties of the Remuneration Committee include, but are
not limited to, the following: (i) making recommendations to the
Board on the Company’s policy and structure for remuneration of
all the Directors and senior management and on the establishment
of a formal and transparent procedure for developing remuneration
policy; (ii) reviewing and approving senior management’s
remuneration proposals with reference to the Board corporate goals
and objectives; and (iii) making recommendations to the Board
on the remuneration packages of individual Directors and senior

management.
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During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Remuneration
Committee held one meeting to review the remuneration of
the Directors and senior management of the Company and the

Company's remuneration policies, practices and related matters.

Details of the Directors’ remuneration are set out in note 7 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements. In addition, the remuneration
payable to the senior management of the Company (who are not
the Directors) by band for the year ended December 31, 2020 is
set out in the section headed “Corporate Governance Report — D.

Remuneration of Senior Management” of this annual report.

Nomination Committee

The Company has established the Nomination Committee with
terms of reference in compliance with paragraph A.5 of the
Corporate Governance Code. The Nomination Committee consists
of three Directors, namely, the independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Dai Xiaojing and Ms. Han Yuling, and the executive Director and
the Co-Chairman of the Board, Mr. Wu Zhixiang. Mr. Wu Zhixiang

serves as the chairman of the Nomination Committee.

The Nomination Committee meets at least once a year. The primary
duties of the Nomination Committee include, but are not limited
to, (i) reviewing the structure, size and composition of the Board,
(i) assessing the independence of the independent non-executive
Directors; and (iii) making recommendations to the Board on

matters relating to the appointment of Directors.

During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Nomination
Committee held three meetings to review the nomination
procedures; to review the composition and diversity of the Board,
the Nomination Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the
Audit Committees and the change in the said composition of the
management, the Board and Board Committees during the year;
to consider and recommend to the Board on the re-election of
Directors at the Company's annual general meeting; and to assess
the independence of the independent non-executive Directors. The
Nomination Committee was satisfied with the current procedures

and composition.
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Where vacancies on the Board arise, the Nomination Committee
will carry out the selection process by making reference to the skills,
experience, professional knowledge, personal integrity and length
of service of the proposed candidates, the Company’s needs and

other relevant statutory requirements and regulations.

On November 25, 2019, the Nomination Policy of Directors was
adopted to enable the Nomination Committee to nominate suitable
candidates to the Board for its consideration and recommendation
to Shareholders for election as Directors of the Company at the
general meeting or to fill casual vacancies of the Directors for the
appointment by the Board. A summary of the Nomination Policy of

Directors is set out below:
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Purpose:

EEE

Selection Criteria:

Nomination Procedures:

RERER

The Nomination Policy of Directors aims to set out the approach to enable the

Nomination Committee to nominate suitable candidates to the Board.

REBREHEAERLEZEGHANESTRE/BREANTE -

Evaluation of candidates will be based on a range of factors, including but not limited
to their skills, knowledge and experience, character and integrity, time commitments
and board diversity, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service.
HIREANTHEERZFTEER - SFEETRNERE - MEALR - RN
% BEARARESFENE ST - BREETENER - FR  MERHEEER
Tk - B - HRe - MBARRIEF -

The Nomination Committee shall make recommendations to the Board in relation to the

selection criteria and due diligence procedures to identify suitable candidates.

REZBEEMIERERERFERFANESSRIEE  UWHERENEREA -

The Board can only recommend the candidates nominated by the Nomination
Committee to be elected at the general meeting. For candidates nominated by the
Shareholders, information of the candidates shall be provided to the Company or the
share registrar in accordance with the Articles of Association. Details of the director
candidates shall be dispatched to all Shareholders by way of a circular.
MEBERRAG LERREA  MESSEUHBAREZE SRR FIRENIK
BA HRRREZHNEREA  BERRESEEMAUNAT - AARAHKRN B
FERERHIREANER - EFREANTBRABRNOEAFTETHABERER -

The Directors shall comply with the Articles of Association, the terms of reference of the

Nomination Committee and other applicable requirements.
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The Nomination Committee will review the Nomination Policy of

Directors, as appropriate, to ensure its effectiveness.

The Company has adopted the Board Diversity Policy which sets out
the criteria for the composition and diversity of the Board including
the necessary balance of skills and experience appropriate for the
requirements of the business development of the Company and for
effective leadership. All the executive and non-executive Directors
possess extensive and diversified experience in management and
broad industrial experience. The three independent non-executive
Directors possess professional knowledge in management, finance,
accountancy and legal, respectively with broad and extensive
experience in business advisory and management, respectively. A

summary of the Board Diversity Policy is set out below:

RAZECEEAHEERRIEFRS
BER - AFERE AL -

RAARERMEFESREZTILEK
FoFHESSER RS TLZE
BRERARREBBERERRBRES
FrE AR mERANETE - TE
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Purpose:

BHY

Board Diversity

Policy statement:

EXgRELTILHERHR :

Measurable Objectives:

AEEaE:

The Board Diversity Policy aims to set out the approach to achieve diversity of the Board
and enable the Board to comply with the Corporate Governance Code.

EEgRESZTEBRREEIAEREFSENESZ TN L MEEFESETE
ES D=k U

The Company considers increasing diversity at the Board level as an essential element
in supporting the attainment of its strategic objectives and its sustainable development.
In designing the Board’s composition, the Board diversity has been considered from a
number of aspects, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service.
All Board appointments will be based on meritocracy, and candidates will be considered
against objective criteria, having due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board.
AARIREEGEANBRZ TEAXHHENRRERLAIREERASET
X -NRFAEBSELHERE ARAERZFTEERESFENEZ L - BFET
RARMR - Filk - UERHEER - Bk - FTELR - e %DE%%L‘,{&HW%¢HH g
FEESEENE 2 EmSRAAEATE  MIKEASERETHLD  WEEER
BEEERELZTEHBETUER -

Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity perspectives, including but
not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service. The ultimate decision will be based
on merit and contribution that the selected candidates will bring to the Board.
REANGERERZETE  SBFEETERNERN  F& ERHEEER - &
Tk~ BERER - KEE - MBALRBEFR - REORESERNEENREATR/ES
eHEKRNEERERME
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In reviewing the structure, size, composition and diversity of the
Board, the Nomination Committee has taken into account the
measurable objectives as set out in the Nomination Policy of
Directors and Board Diversity Policy. The Nomination Committee
is of the view that the diversity level of the Board is appropriate in
terms of knowledge, experience and skills of the directors. However,
the Nomination Committee will continue to observe the Board
Diversity Policy, the Nomination Policy of Directors and consider
potential candidates against the objective criteria set out in the
Board Diversity Policy, the Nomination Policy of Directors in order

to achieve increasing diversity at the Board level.

D. Remuneration of Senior Management

The remuneration payable to the senior management of the Company

(who are not the Directors) is shown in the following table by band:
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D. B EERENEM

BNEARRSRERE (FFEF)NHFHIZ
FHRWTEIR :

Remuneration band (HKD) 2020 (members of senior management of the Company)

HEMER (B

HKD7,500,001 to HKD8,000,000 7,500,001 77T £ 8,000,000 7T
HKD8,500,001 to HKD9,000,000 8,500,001/ 7T £ 9,000,000 7T
HKD15,500,001 to HKD16,000,000 15,500,001 T & 16,000,00078 7T
HKD18,500,001 to HKD19,000,000 18,500,001 & T2 19,000,000/ 7T

E. Model Code for Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in Appendix 10
to the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct regarding Directors’
securities transactions. Specific enquiries have been made to all the
Directors and the Directors have confirmed that they have complied

with the Model Code during the year ended December 31, 2020.

The Company's employees, who are likely to be in possession of inside
information of the Company, have also been subject to the Model Code
for securities transactions. No incident of non-compliance of the Model
Code by the Company’'s employees was noted by the Company during
the year ended December 31, 2020.
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Directors’ Responsibilities for Financial Reporting

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the financial

statements of the Company for the year ended December 31, 2020.

The Board is responsible for presenting a balanced, clear and
understandable assessment of annual and interim reports, inside
information announcements and other financial disclosures required by

the Listing Rules and other regulatory requirements.

The senior management of the Company has provided such explanation
and information to the Board as necessary to enable the Board to carry
out an informed assessment of the financial information and position of
the Company in order to put forward such information to the Board for

approval.

External Auditor and Auditor Remuneration

The statement of the external auditor of the Company about their
reporting responsibilities for the financial statements is set out under the

section headed “Independent Auditor’s Report” in this annual report.

The external auditor of the Company will be invited to attend the
annual general meeting to answer questions about the conduct of the
audit, the preparation and content of the auditor’s report and auditor’s

independence.

During the year ended December 31, 2020, the remuneration paid/
payable to the external auditor of the Company for the provision of
audit services for the year ended December 31, 2020 amounted to
RMB7.55 million.

During the year ended December 31, 2020, the remuneration paid/
payable to the external auditor of the Company in respect of non-audit
services for the year ended December 31, 2020 amounted to RMB2.08
million. The nature of such non-audit services is to provide advisory

services.
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The Board of Directors is responsible for the establishment and
maintenance of sound and effective risk management and internal
control systems that are in line with the strategic objective of the Group.
The Group established risk management and internal control systems
to protect the interests of the Group and the Shareholders ensure the
Group is in compliance with relevant laws and regulations, effectively
identify and manage significant risks in achieving its strategic objectives,
protect the safety of the Group's assets, and ensure the maintenance of

proper compliance accounting records and financial reports.

The Board of Directors is responsible for evaluating the nature and extent
of the risks the Group is willing to take in achieving strategic objectives
and ensuring that the Group establishes and maintains appropriate
and effective risk management and internal control systems as well as
overseeing management of the Group in the design, implementation

and monitoring of the risk management and internal control systems.

The Board periodically receives (at least once a year) reports from the
Group’s management regarding financial, operational and compliance
controls, as well as the establishment, review and assessment of the
internal control and risk management functions of the Group. All
significant risks are reported to the Board. The Board will also evaluate
the corresponding risks and the response plan. The Group would review,
among other things, adequacy of resources, staff's qualifications and
experience, training programs and budget of our accounting, internal

control and financial reporting functions.

The Group' senior management and the Audit Committee is
authorized by the Board to be in charge with the organization and
implementation of the risk management and internal control of the
Group and be responsible for establishing the risk management and
internal control systems, standardizing the organization, authorization,
responsibilities, procedures and methods of the risk management and
internal control systems and also responsible for ongoing monitoring
of the risk management and internal control systems of the Group, and
makes periodic reports to the Board regarding the status of the risk

management and internal control systems of the Group.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
CEERE

EFeARBEYMERERNE B EZ
MR - BEERmERERE RN
BERG - AEEEVRREERANIBEEE
R BEREBEAEEMBRERZE - BIR
REEBTHBERER BB NE
BYaAsEEBRESERNEARR
REFEEEENRZSE  RELRKVES
RO SRR M SRS -

EEeRRENEAEEEREMRBREAAN
JEE\%T& WERMEERIEE  UERRAS

KR &8 LB M E R ﬁi@&lﬂ
*Bﬁb? LBt 0 [RIRE Qﬁ%gﬁiﬁl
BHEREREEABEERGHR
b—ﬂﬁﬁgl—‘ﬁio

Exer(ZLEF R AEEE
BEBRAEENMG  ELhaREE
LA R BB EE 15 I Bl P B ER i ST - BB RkAT
HEENSRS  MEERANERHERE
EPER - EZYINEAAERRARMEH G
S AT - REBEBERZ (KR aE) U
THE: BROZEMN  BEIMNERME
B FIIRTE - 2FTEE - AEBESIA S
s -

AEESREREREXZEGCRES
eEE  BEASEHER Aﬁzﬁﬂm$
EENABNER  BESTREBER
MEBEEIEHIE - MEAREE T &R ﬁ@
RAEBE M AMEE B BT R
BAMEE RANAEREEEAEERR
ERRAEBEZEHTIE - Im%m§$A
HwEANEERBRE EMANIEEROER

—Z-TEHEFIR  ANNUAL REPORT 2020



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
CEEREE

The internal audit department of the Group assists the Board and the
Audit Committee in their analysis and independent appraisal of the
adequacy and effectiveness of the Group's risk management and internal
control systems. The annual work plan of the internal audit department
covers the major activities and processes of the Group's operations,
businesses and service units. Special reviews are also performed at the
management’s request. The internal audit department members hold
regular meetings to discuss any internal control issues we face and the
corresponding measures to resolve such issues. The results of these
audit activities are communicated to the Audit Committee on a timely
basis. The internal audit department provides independent assurance to
the Board, the Audit Committee and the management of the Company

as to whether the Group's internal controls are adequate and effective.

With respect to risk management, the Group has chosen and
adopted the risk management framework issued by COSO in the
United States of America (“COSQ"), established a risk management
system covering design, implementation, monitoring, assessment
and continuous improvement based on the ISO 31000:2009
“Risk Management — Principles and Guidelines”. The Group’s
management established the overall targets and policies of the risk
management system which are in line with the strategic objectives,
and identified, analyzed and assessed the overall risk of the Company,
especially the risks in making major decisions, important events and
key business processes. The Group’s management is also responsible
for reviewing and approving the response plans to major risks, as well
as following-up and periodically reviewing the implementation of such
response plans of risks identified, in order to make sure that sufficient
attention, monitor and responses will be paid to all key risks of the
Company. The risk management reports are submitted to the Board
periodically. The main features of the risk management system are as

follows:

Financial Reporting Risk Management. The Company has in place a
set of accounting policies in connection with our financial reporting
risk management, such as financial report management policies,
budget management policies, financial statement preparation
policies and financial department and staff management policies.
The Company has various procedures in place to implement
such polices. Our Finance Department reviews our management

accounts based on such procedures.
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Information System Risk Management. The Company implemented
various internal procedures and control measures to ensure that
user data is protected and that leakage and loss of such data is
avoided. Such procedures include (i) our user data protection
procedures, based on which we implement and review our data
center and back-up systems; (ii) internal control procedures which
aim to mitigate the risks involved in the management of our
day-to-day operation data and information; and (iii) our system
development and change management policy in order to mitigate

the risks of unauthorized system changes.

Human Resources Risk Management. The Company provides regular
and specialized training tailored to the needs of our employees
in different departments, and to explain our internal rules and
guidelines regarding best commercial practices, work ethics, anti-
fraud mechanisms, negligence and corruption. The Company has in
place an anti-corruption policy to safeguard against any corruption
within our Group. Also, the Company makes our internal channel
available to all our staff to report any corruption, and our staff can
also make anonymous reports to our internal audit department.
Our internal audit department is responsible for investigating the

reported incidents and taking appropriate measures.

Investment Risk Management. The Company formulates an annual
investment plan according to our business strategies and input
from various business departments. Our strategic investment
department is responsible for investment project sourcing,

screening, execution and post-investment risk management.

Information Risk Management. The Company has established robust
internal information control measures so as to mitigate the risk
of false, inaccurate and incomplete information provided by the
TSP to us. At the same time, our internal team targets to ensure
that our users benefit from authentic and meaningful information,
including (i) screening accommodation related information from
accommodation suppliers; (ii) following user feedback closely and
removing false or misleading reviews; and (iii) removing misleading

and overly exaggerated descriptions of accommodation.
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Inventory Risk Management. There is a comprehensive set of
inventory risk management rules and policies so as to mitigate
the inventory risk arising from non-refundable prepurchased room
nights to the accommodation suppliers. The Company regularly
run tests and analyses on whether specific sale targets of various
sales agreement have been fulfilled, and the underlying causes
of unfulfilled sales targets. Corresponding tailored solutions are
implemented, such as adjusting the sales price, increasing our sales
and marketing efforts, and we closely assess the effectiveness of

such measures.

With respect to internal control, the Group has chosen and adopted
the internal control framework issued by COSO, established an
internal control system and mechanism over financial, operational
and compliance controls and has conducted continuing review and
evaluation of the internal control system of the Group to ensure the
timeliness, accuracy and completeness of all information reported. Our
internal audit team works closely with our business units to (i) perform
risk assessments and advise on risk management strategies; and (ii)
improve business efficiency and monitor internal control effectiveness.

The main features of the internal control systems are as follows:

The Group has established a mechanism for remediating internal
control deficiency under which the person in charge of each unit is
assigned with clear responsibilities relating to remediating internal

control deficiency of the unit.

The Group has placed strong emphasis on handling inside
information with the information disclosure management
mechanism in place regulating both the management and

disclosure of the Company'’s inside information.

The Group established an open channel to handle and discuss
internal and external whistle-blowing regarding financial, internal
control and fraud, to ensure that every accusation receives sufficient
attention. Significant internal control deficiencies or accusations will

be reported directly to the Audit Committee.
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Our in-house legal department implements various internal
procedures so as to ensure that our business operations comply

with relevant laws and regulations.

The management has evaluated the design and operating effectiveness
of its internal control regarding the financial report as of December
31, 2020, and did not identify any material weakness as a result of the
evaluation, and was not aware of any areas of concern that would have
a material impact on the Company’s financial position or results of
operations, and considered the risk management and internal control
systems to be generally adequate and effective, including with respect
to the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and experience, training
programs and budget of the accounting, internal audit and financial
reporting functions. On the basis of such evaluation, the Board considers
that as of December 31, 2020, the risk management and internal control

systems of the Group were effective and adequate.

The risk management and internal control systems of the Group are
designed to manage rather than eliminate risks of failure to achieve
business objectives, and can only provide reasonable, but not absolute,

assurance against material misstatement or loss.

For details of the nature and extent of the principal risks faced by
the Group, please refer to the section headed “e. Principal Risk and

Uncertainties” in the Directors’ Report of this annual report.

Communication with Shareholders and Investors

The Company considers that effective communication with the
Shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and investor
understanding of the Group’s business performance and strategies. The
Company also recognizes the importance of transparency and timely
disclosure of corporate information, which will enable the Shareholders

and investors to make the best investment decisions.
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The general meetings of the Company are expected to provide a forum
for communication between the Board and the Shareholders. The
chairman of the Board as well as chairmen of the Audit Committee, the
Remuneration Committee, and the Nomination Committee and, in their
absence, other members of the respective committees will be available
to answer questions at the general meetings. The chairman of a meeting
will provide the detailed procedures for conducting a poll and answer

any questions from the Shareholders on voting by poll.

The Company has adopted a Dividend Policy on payment of dividends.
The Company do not have any pre-determined dividend payout ratio.
Depending on the financial conditions of the Group and the conditions
and factors as set out in the Dividend Policy (including but not limited
to the Group's financial results, cash flow situation, business conditions
and strategies, future operations and earnings, capital requirements and
expenditure plans), dividends may be proposed and/or declared by the
Board during a financial year and any final dividend for a financial year

will be subject to the Shareholders" approval.

To promote effective communication, the Company maintains a website
at www.tcelir.com, where information and updates on the Company'’s
business developments and operations, financial information, corporate
governance practices and other information are available for public

access.

Amendments to the Articles of Association

The Company has adopted the third amended articles of association
effective since November 26, 2018. For the year ended December 31,

2020, no change has been made to the Articles of Association.
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To safeguard the Shareholders’ interests and rights, separate resolutions
are proposed at general meetings on each substantial issue, including
the re-election of individual Directors. Meanwhile, the procedures for the
Shareholders to (i) convene an extraordinary general meeting; (ii) direct
their enquiries to the Board; and (iii) put forward proposals at general

meetings are available.

In accordance with Article 66(1) of the Articles of Association, all
resolutions put forward at a general meeting will be taken by poll save
that the chairman may, in good faith, allow a resolution which relates
purely to a procedural or administrative matter as prescribed under the

Listing Rules to be voted on by a show of hands.

In addition, the poll results will be posted on the websites of the

Company and the Stock Exchange after the relevant general meeting.

1. Convening an extraordinary general meeting by
Shareholders

Pursuant to Article 58 of the Articles of Association, any one or
more Shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the requisition
not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company
carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the Company
shall at all times have the right, by written requisition to the Board
or the Secretary of the Company, to require an extraordinary
general meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction of any
business specified in such requisition. Such meeting shall be held
within two months after the deposit of such requisition. If within
21 days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to convene
such meeting the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do
so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by
the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be

reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.
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According to Article 59 of the Articles of Association, any
extraordinary general meeting shall be called by not less than
14 clear days' notice and not less than 10 clear business days
in writing. Subject to the requirement under the Listing Rules,
the notice shall specify the time and place of the meeting and
particulars of resolutions to be considered at the meeting and, in
case of special business, the general nature of the business to be
considered at the meeting. Notice of every general meeting shall
be given to all Shareholders other than to such Shareholders as,
under the provisions of these Articles or the terms of issue of the
shares they hold, are not entitled to receive such notices from the
Company, to all persons entitled to a share in consequence of the
death or bankruptcy or winding-up of a Shareholder and to each of
the Directors and the Auditors.

Putting forward Proposals at general meetings

There is no single provision in the Articles of Association or the
Cayman Islands Companies Law for the Shareholders to put forward
proposals at general meetings. The Shareholders who wish to
propose a resolution may request the Company to convene a
general meeting in accordance with the procedures set out in the

preceding paragraph.

Putting forward enquiries to the Board

For putting forward any enquiries to the Board of the Company,
the Shareholders may send written enquiries to the Company.
The Company will not normally deal with verbal or anonymous

enquiries.

Shareholders may send their enquiries, concerns or requests to the
Company at 31/F., Tower Two, Times Square, 1 Matheson Street,

Causeway Bay, Hong Kong.

For the avoidance of doubt, the Shareholders must deposit
and send the original duly signed written requisition, notice or
statement, or enquiry (as the case may be) to the above address
and provide their full name, contact details and identification in
order to give effect thereto. The information of the Shareholders

may be disclosed as required by law.
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Use of Proceeds from the Global Offering

For details, please refer to the section headed “Use of Proceeds from the

Global Offering” in the Directors’ Report of this annual report.

. Joint Company Secretaries

Ms. Leung Suet Wing (“Ms. Leung") of TMF Hong Kong Limited, an
external service provider, and Ms. Ma Li (“Ms. Ma"), have been engaged
by the Company as joint company secretaries effective on May 31, 2018.
Ms. Ma, the joint company secretary, is the primary corporate contact

person.

For the year ended December 31, 2020, Ms. Leung and Ms. Ma have
undertaken over 15 hours of professional training to update their skill

and knowledge.

Going Concern

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will
be able to continue as a going concern while maximizing the return
to the Shareholders through the optimization of the debt and equity

balance.

There are no material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that
cast significant doubt upon the Company’s liability to continue as a

going concern.
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B HEREARE

ABOUT THE ESG REPORT
Information about the Report

This report is the third Environmental, Social and Governance ("‘ESG") report
issued by the Company to systematically demonstrate our management
measures and practices in the aspects of product responsibility, employee

care, community investment and environmental protection in 2020.
This report is published on eco-friendly paper.

Reporting scope

The ESG Report covers the principal business of the Company. Unless
otherwise stated, the key performance indicators ("KP1") for the
environmental aspects in the Report are applicable to the main office
locations of the Company in Suzhou, Hefei and Beijing; the KPI for social
aspects in the Report are applicable to the Company, its subsidiaries and
consolidated affiliated entities. Compared with the 2079 ESG Report covered
in the 20719 Annual Report and published on April 27, 2020, there is no
significant adjustment to the scope of the Report. The reporting period is
from January 1, 2020 to December 31, 2020 (the “Reporting Period”), and

some of the content is not within the period.

References

The Report complies with the Environmental, Social and Governance
Reporting Guide (the "ESG Reporting Guide") in Appendix 27 to the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited issued by The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong.

Reporting principles

“Materiality”: The Report Communication with stakeholders and materiality
assessment are engaged in the preparing process of the ESG report to

determine key ESG topics.

“Quantitative”: The Report adopts quantitative data to present the KPIs of the
environmental and social aspects, with a narrative to illustrate its purpose
and impacts. We also provide comparative data on the environmental KPIs in

the Report.

“Balance”: This ESG report follows the principle of Balance and provides an

unbiased picture of our ESG performance.

“Consistency”: Methodologies used in the Report for statistics and KPI

disclosures are consistent with those used in the 2079 £SG report.
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HONORS ACHIEVED

Awards

REEM

Unit with 5A Credit Rating of Labour Security
TABRSBREEREFREM

Top 100 Innovative Private Enterprises of Jiangsu Province
REAIFT10058

TEFRE

2020 The Reputation List of China Listed Companies Award
2020 B TR A QRS

2020 CSR Competitiveness — Corporate Social Responsibility
China" Excellence in Poverty Alleviation of the Year Award

[2020 CREFN—HPELEH SR IFEFEIRE HELE

2020 Top 100 Internet Enterprises of China

2000F B EHMBRAENEREES

"1 4+ 2 + X" Precision Tourism Poverty-Relief Program (Network

Poverty Alleviation Case), won the Honor Award of Jiangsu

Province Network Poverty Alleviation Excellent Cases, “Two sides
of Suzhou and Tongren Show", Suzhou-Tongren Hand-in-Hand

Aid Cooperation Project (Network Poverty Alleviation Case), won

2020 Jiangsu Province Network Poverty Alleviation Excellent
Case, and 2020 Ten Major Cases of National Network Poverty

Alleviation
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%E
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Awarded by
A

Suzhou Industrial Park (SIP) Social & Labour Security Bureau

BN IEEELEMNEBRER
Jiangsu Federation of Industry and Commerce/Jiangsu Institute of
Science and Technology Development Strategy

THETREBAE  IHANBRIERBEEH TR

National Business Daily
BREHENH

2020 China Corporate Social Responsibility Summit

20200F FH ¥ e E T IEHRE

uleg

Comprehensive Strength Research Report of China Internet
Enterprises (2020) Press Conference & Summit Forum of Top 100
Enterprises

PGB (PR AR S
Ay
liiiRe=1

ENMAREQ)EMEEHREESE

2020 The 8th Jiangsu Internet Conference Digital Village Summit
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Awards

RIEEHE

Industry Award of the Year

FRITEAR

Most Growing Technological Listed Company Award

RAKEREE LT AR SR

TTG China Travel Award--Selected Travel Tech

o B 32 K BB M R

Best New Economy Company

REFEERT

Best Culture and Travel Public Group
REXRETEE

Most Influential Employer
RAYENEE

Most Talent-appreciated Employer
REATEE

ESG GOVERNANCE

‘Becoming the Most Trustworthy Travel Platform” is the developmental
vision of the Company, and also the goal and driving force for our pursuit
of sustainable development. We are committed to creating value for
all stakeholders, establishing a rigorous supplier selection mechanism,
improving overall customer service quality, providing employees with

favourable workplaces, and giving back to the society in a positive way.
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The 5th Boao Tourism Communication Forum
FhEEEREEERE
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2020
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2020 Smart Tourism Industry Summit & China Tourism Award

Ceremony
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i

The 5th “Gold Hong Kong Stocks Annual Awards Ceremony”
SNE [ &R FE 8 2248 |

The 5th CTCAS Pioneer Awards Ceremony
FHEVEXRANEEFEESE[REER]
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(1) ESG management framework

The Company has established an ESG management framework

consisting of the Board of Directors, senior management and a working

group:

® The Board of Directors is responsible for preparing ESG
management principles and policies, monitoring ESG issues, and
evaluating, prioritising and managing key ESG matters. Besides, it
is fully responsible for the Company’s ESG strategies and reporting,
and regularly reviews relevant issues and approves annual ESG
reports. At the meeting of the Board of Directors in March 2021,
the members of the Board of Directors were briefed by senior
management on ESG-related matters during the Reporting Period.
They reviewed the Company's ESG performance and relevant
disclosures in the ESG report, and discussed the ESG management

plan in future year.

® Senior management is responsible for assessing and determining
the risks and opportunities related to ESG issues, ensuring that an
appropriate and effective ESG risk management system is in place,
reporting the ESG-based risks and opportunities to the Board of
Directors, and providing confirmation as to whether such ESG

system is effective;

® The ESG working group, composed of personnel from the
Company's major departments, is responsible for implementing
the Company's ESG management policies, conducting ESG
management, and reporting the progress of ESG work to senior

management.
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The main stakeholders of the Company include shareholders and
investors, regulators, media and non-government organisations
("NGOs"), cooperation partners, users, employees and communities. We
put an emphasis on communication with stakeholders and have multiple
effective channels to understand their anticipations and demands on our

ESG performance, which serve as significant references for us to develop

ARBNEENSAME T BERRERE
EF REHE  RBIFROAK(H#
BFAR])  aERH AP BT RH

B o HAERENEEEL BB

BEEEAEMRETHEEESGTHNE
MK (ERARBHEESCRBENEES

ESG strategies.

Stakeholders
F=EBA

Shareholders & Investors

REREREE

Regulatory authorities

Media and NGOs

RERFEBRFAS

Demands

B

Return on investment
Information disclosure

Operational compliance

BB [
EEBE

BREE

Operational compliance
Tax compliance

Social contributions
RS

BRI

BRitE

Promotion of industry development

Publicity compliance

Delivery of brand value

HBITEER
REARER
EREmiEEE
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o

Communication methods

BESR

Annual reports, financial statements and
announcements

Investor briefings

Company website

Meetings, roadshows and investor summits

Fil - HBMRMAE

REEBR

NGIEER

BE BERKREEES

Direct communication
Business forums

Seminars and conferences
HERED

R

remsrnes

Social media

Official website

Press conferences
Meeting communication
MRS

B Ak

MEEhE

SRAR



Stakeholders
F=EBA

Cooperation partners

BERH

Users

RE

Employees

Communities

#HE

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

Demands

R

Fairness and justice

Win-win cooperation

Personal privacy protection
Service quality guarantee

Perfect travel experience

REEABR
RERBEE
LRI

Protection of employees’ rights and interests
Occupational health and safety
Improvement of employee benefits

Equal opportunities and diversity
RIE 8 T

BERERLZD

HEBTREA

FEgERETL

Active participation in public welfare

Promotion of positive energy

RiE - e RERHRE

Communication methods

BELR

Business communication
Regular meetings

Field visits

Evaluation and assessment
¥R

TEHEH®

B ER

BREYSEL

Application ("APP") and official website
Service hotline

Customer satisfaction survey

Social media

FEFARRF ([APP]) - B 548,
AR

BEmERE

AR

HR Generalist of business groups
Labour Union

Internal meetings

Performance assessments
FEHRE

Ie

NEbE =

BRER

Company website
Mass media
Social media
NSIEER
AREH
MR
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The Company has engaged a third-party specialist to perform materiality
assessment so as to determine each ESG topic's materiality to the
Company's business development and stakeholders. The result of
such assessment serves as an important reference to develop ESG
management strategies and prepare ESG reports. During the Reporting
Period, we interviewed and reviewed on various ESG topics, reassessed

the importance of relevant topics and reconfirmed their impacts.

Step 1 Identify ESG topics

According to the £SG Reporting Guide and considering actual business
and industrial characteristics, the Company has re-examined 15 ESG
topics identified and confirmed that they have covered our ESG practices

during the Reporting Period;

Step 2 Determine the materiality

The Company assesses and adjusts the topics from the aspects of
“materiality to Tongcheng-Elong” and “impact on stakeholders” through
internal interviews and discussions and seeking external opinions, and

generates materiality assessment matrix based on the survey result;

Step 3 Verify assessment results

The Company’s senior management and ESG working group review and
confirm the assessment results. Based on the assessment results, the
Company has identified 5 topics that are extremely important to the
Company, that is, protecting users' privacy, protecting users’ security,
operating in a credible and compliant manner, providing quality service
and safeguarding network security. In this report, we will respond to
those material issues in the corresponding chapters so as to meet the

concerns of various stakeholders.
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FEER
Very
important

HRISERS W ERE
Impact on stakeholders

5= HERERNERER
Materiality to Tongcheng-Elong
Important
FREE
S A B Very
Economic Social Environmental important

Working together to fight the pandemic

People across the whole country were worried about the outbreak of
COVID-19 in early 2020. In order to defeat the pandemic, Tongcheng-Elong
also actively responded to the appeal and entered a “state of war” in the
first place. We believe that “If you are kind to others, then you will receive an
equal treatment in return”, and have adopted a series of measures to provide

any help we could for every stakeholder.

For users: thoroughly protect benefits and support reassuring
Jjourney

Since the outbreak of the pandemic, we have been implementing a variety of
safeguards for the purpose of defeating the virus from January 21, 2020 and
working with all sectors of the community in response to the “Cold Winter” of
the travel market due to the pandemic, ensuring the travel safety of our users.
To minimise the loss by users due to the pandemic, we have implemented
COVID-19 cancellation and alteration safeguards covering all platforms’
products, promptly developed and launched self-service cancellation
function, launched emergency fund worth hundreds of millions and made
every effort to protect the benefits and interests of users through measures
such as the validity extension of membership tier status and duration. At the
same time, to ensure users’ travel demands during the pandemic, we have
launched the “Guard your way home" protection service, aiming to provide a

practical guarantee for the travelers amid the pandemic.

B - 4ERERHE

Bl EEEHE
Optimise cooperation with suppliers
AR
Safeguard intellectual property

SRR REEFR:

Economic Protect customers’ security

REEE IR
Provide quality service
WEERCE
Operate in a credible and compliant manner
REEF R
Protect customers’ privacy
REARRE
Safeguard network security
R ETRBHST
Prohibit child labour and forced labour
SRETERE

HEE and equal opp

Social  REETRE
Protect staff's health
fREEE TR
Protect staff's rights and interests
fREMERR
Promote career development
HEARTED
Charity activities
BB

RER Reduce emission

Environmental g5 3

Save resources

HRRRNBRE
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After the pandemic was effectively controlled, students from colleges and
universities across the country begun the delayed “back-to-school season”.
In order to help students return to school smoothly, we have set up a special
ticketing channel for students. All they need to do is to complete the online
registration, through which they can enjoy the exclusive discounts. Taking
into account the low occupancy during the COVID-19, we have co-operated
with airlines to launch the “Safe Riding” service with multiple seats for one
person. We also provide users with anti-pandemic kits and free “safety
insurance” to ensure that passengers enjoy a comfortable seating space and

reduce the risk of infection.

In order to ensure the safety of users during the post-pandemic period, we
have launched an initiative called “Safe Room”, for which, we have selected
eligible hotels based on the following major criteria: daily comprehensive
disinfection, employee health monitoring, convenient cancellation guarantee,
less-contact services, etc. We also live streamed the disinfection process and
showcased the pandemic prevention measures on short video platforms to
alleviate users’ safety concerns. More than 7,000 hotel brands and over 60,000
stores have joined the “Safe Room” plan since the initiative was launched,
covering more than 400 cities to ensure reliable accommodation for workers
who have returned to work. We have also launched the “Reassuring Refund”

service to accommodate changes in users’ travel plans during the pandemic.

The passenger bus was another major means of travel for returning personnel
after the pandemic was effectively controlled. We have immediately
developed and launched the tools of “Real-time Vehicle Schedule Recovery
in Passenger Transport” and the “Short Message Notification on Vehicle
Schedule Recovery in Passenger Transport” to facilitate users to timely obtain
the vehicle schedule recovery across various regions. In addition, based on
the actual needs of enterprises resumption of production, we have launched
the “Service Platform for the Transportation Needs of Returning Personnel
of Enterprises Resumption of Production “to provide transportation services
for reopen enterprises with relatively concentrated employees and long-
distance transportation charter demands. In providing such services, we
strictly implemented relevant requirements of the Ministry of Transport of
the People’s Republic of China. We have strengthened the protection against
the pandemic and vehicle disinfection, set up observation areas and reduced
intermediate transfers, in an effort to decrease the risk of infection for

employees during their return journey.
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For partners: enhance supporting and overcome hardship
together

The severe impact of COVID-19 on the tourism industry has struck our
business. Against the background of huge losses suffered by the entire
industry, we continued to enhance support for our suppliers in various ways.
As the domestic pandemic situation was gradually improving, we officially
launched the “Hit the Road” initiative. Through the continuous investment in
technology, products, services and funds, we made efforts to revitalize the
tourism industry which was seriously affected by the pandemic and stood
together with partners to tide over the difficulties and cope with the “Cold

Winter” of the tourism market under the pandemic.

To help hotels achieve rapid recovery, Tongcheng-Elong has collaborated
with its subsidiaries Zhuzhe and DecAbo to launch a series of empowerment
schemes for hotels, aiming to awaken the original intention of helping each
other with the upstream and downstream of the industrial chain in the "Hit
the Road” initiative. All courses of “Zhuzhe University” are freely available to
hotel partners in the country. The courses include hotel marketing, revenue
management, financial auditing, Online Travel Agency (“OTA") operations,
etc. We have also launched a series of free public welfare courses at “Zhuzhe
University” in the fight against the pandemic, providing hotel partners
with contingency strategies and practical advice during the pandemic, and
alleviating the pressure on hotel operation. As at the end of the Reporting

Period, thousands of people had studied the above courses.

We are committed to helping boost the revitalization of the tourism industry.
We assisted our partners in exploring innovative marketing formats to create
a new format of “tourism + live broadcasting” so as to continuously optimize
the structured development of the tourism industry as well as promoting the
re-upgrading of the whole tourism industry, which not only enhanced the
brand awareness but also strengthened the interaction with users. We also

successfully promoted tourist destinations in multiple cities and regions.

We have initiated and established the “Ark Alliance” to help tourist
destinations fully show their tourism image and resource advantages in the
form of virtual reality (“"VR"), HD video and graphic material so as to prepare
for the recovery of the tourism industry after the pandemic. Through online
video and VR, we provided users with an experience of “travelling around the
world at living room”. We have also launched the online forum for cultural
tourism public welfare, and together with tourist destinations we released
the “2020 Destination Recovery Scheme” through online live broadcast, with

a common aim to overcome difficulties during the pandemic.
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For the public: actively contribute to the society and help
economic recovery

At the early stage of the pandemic, we made full use of the advantages
of our big data platform to integrate national pandemic data, departure
and immigration policies. We launched an intelligent information system
to check itinerary of those confirmed with COVID-19. We also cooperated
with Haodaifu to offer online clinic services free of charge in an effort to

scientifically and effectively help users reduce the risk of infection.

In the post-pandemic period, we have integrated our resource advantages
to offer more resources to the tourism industry and the public to prepare for
the recovery of the tourism industry and deliver warmth and goodwill to the

public.

In March 2020, the pandemic had been effectively controlled in China, and
companies in many places resumed work and production one after another.
To ensure the safety of railway travelers, we purchased one million masks
and a large amount of protective suits, and distributed them for free in the
waiting areas of multiple railway stations to help travel safely and continue to

provide passengers with comprehensive travel protection.

In April 2020, we gave out hundreds of thousands of paid “Black Whale
Membership” cards to medical staff free of charge. In addition, Mr. Wu
Zhixiang, Co-Chairman of the Company's Board of Directors, has made a
personal donation of RMB1 million to Suzhou Red Cross in his own name, as
a care reward targeted for doctors volunteering in Hubei province, to express

respect and care for medical workers at the front line to fight the pandemic.
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For employees: guarantee the safety of workplaces and achieve
smooth resumption of work and production

In response to the outbreak of COVID-19, we immediately organised an
emergency response team on January 21, 2020, promptly issued emergency
policies and plans for pandemic preventions and controls as well as quickly
reserving protective materials to ensure a sufficient supply of masks and

disinfectants, in order to thoroughly protect employees’ health and safety.

During the pandemic, we promptly developed and launched an online
system, which integrated various functions such as employee safety
reporting, return certificate, remote working application and pass certificate.
We also followed the latest movements and health conditions of employees
from many aspects. We facilitated employees’ remote working and responded
to their needs as soon as possible. In addition, we pushed notifications to
explain what coronavirus is and how to prevent infections through our official
account so as to alert employees of pandemic preventions and enhance their

awareness.

Meanwhile, we periodically disinfected and sterilised the workplace. We
made more than 7,000 times of disinfection at our workplace just in February
2020. We strictly verified employees’ risk status at all entries and exits of the
workplace, guided them to check up and sign the Letter of Commitment on
pandemic preventions and controls, sparing no effort to create a healthy and
safe workplace. During the Reporting Period, none of our employees were

infected.
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PRODUCT RESPONSIBILITY EmEF

Adhering to the value of “putting customers first — creating value for users”, FRREIRPEF——RAPAEBEINEE

Tongcheng-Elong is committed to providing supreme travel experience for B AREERINAZ TR PRERE

diversified users, accurately grasping the needs of users throughout their RITER  BELEEFIRTEZAENRF,E

travel, and making their journey more convenient, personalised and cozy. ko EiREEIER] - I E REFERE

(1) Protecting users’ privacy ) AFRIRE
We are fully aware of the importance of privacy data protection in the BHANGEERABLEEBERENEE
information era, and actively take effective control measures in strict 1% BREKBEELZE2EM —EAREEL
compliance with relevant laws and regulations such as the /nformation IR E(GB/T 35273-2020)) SAERERER
Security Technology — Personal Information Security Specification (GB/ FREIIE  WRIRABNEEREE - $’_\
T 35273-2020). We established a personal information protection group AIEEEELXEZEE TRILBAE
under the Information Security Committee and continuously invested IRENAE - T%?E&)\ﬁﬁ?ﬂ@ﬁﬁﬁ“)\
more resources in users’ personal information protection. In 2020, we = BRELE 20204 + FAPIAI4FAPPER
obtained the security authentication certificate for four APPs from China FHEMERLZ2EERMEREFR LNR
Cybersecurity Review Technology and Certification Centre, becoming PRBEFE  KABHLT2UHEBERRAE
the first batch of APPs with national security certification, which is a HIAPP - E ¥ FEEENEAESIRER
strong recognition of our strength in personal information protection N R L2 EKRFEHRARA o

and security features.

146 Tongcheng-Elong Holdings Limited | [Ef2E8EIERERLOT



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

In the Users’ Privacy Policy of Tongcheng-Elong, we introduce to users in
concise language our management methods for the collection, storage,
usage, sharing, transfer and disclosure of their personal information as
well as entity’s rights, and ensure that the practices relating to above
aspects fully comply with relevant laws and regulations. We have
established a comprehensive user rights protection mechanism, which
mandates us to collect only necessary private information based on the
principle of “reasonable, relevant and necessary” and specify the rights
of users to inquire, correct, delete, cancel, and withdraw authorisation
for their personal information. The users’ privacy protection clauses are
also included in the cooperation agreements signed with outsourcers
and suppliers, requiring our partners to work with us to protect user's
personal information. We have established a user compliant channel and

feedback mechanism for user privacy matters.

In addition, we have launched customized services to protect users’
privacy. When the user uses "Automatic Deletion after Check-in" service
to book a hotel, the order information will be automatically deleted
once the user has successfully checked in, protecting the user's privacy

to the greatest extent.

The Company developed the Data Privacy and Security Management
Specification of Tongcheng-Elong to manage the whole life cycle of
internal data. In addition, we regularly conduct personal information
security assessment and safety audit to ensure effective operation and
implementation of relevant rules and regulations. Our rigorous data
security system ensures the security of our users’ personal information
storage. We limit the business processing operation involving users’
personal information to a secure office network. We carry out multi-level
approvals, log backup, and periodic inspection of information retrievals
as well as adopting secure data transmission methods. At the same time,
we also regularly carry out information security trainings for employees,
requiring them to strengthen their awareness of data protection. We
have set up a data leakage prevention system within office network.
We make use of technologies such as big data and machine learning
to conduct modeling and audit on the process of users’ sensitive
information, ensuring that users’ data security can be guaranteed
through a two-pronged way of both management and technological

means.
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In 2020, we continued to focus on improving privacy compliance and
launched APP Scan, a security detection platform, to automatically
check personal privacy security compliance in areas such as common
mobile security bugs, privacy policies, information collection, and use of
permissions. At the same time, we further upgraded our privacy policy
and security features in our APP security architecture to comply with the

latest compliance requirements.

Safeguarding information security

We view information security as the foundation of the stable operation
of our business. The Company has actively established a corresponding
security mechanism to solve information security issues and strengthen
the information security culture. We clarify relevant requirements in the
Administrative Measures for the Information Security of Tongcheng-
Elong based on the information security requirements specified in the
Cybersecurity Law of the People’s Republic of China and the Provisions
on the Technical Measures for the Protection of the Security of the
Internet as well as our business strategies. Based on domestic and
international information security standards and best practices, the
Company has built an information security system in line with our
business development. We have established the ISO 27001 Information
Security Management System and obtained the third party system
certification. We keep records on graded information security protection
and annually evaluate the effectiveness of the system in accordance with
the Administrative Measures for the Graded Protection of Information

Security.
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We have established the Information Security Committee chaired by
the Chief Executive Officer, as the highest organisation responsible for
corporate information security management, and comprehensively
improved the capability of information security management from the
perspectives of research and development (“R&D"), operation, detection,
governance and business. In order to strengthen and standardise
the security management of APPs, we formulated the Administrative
Measures for APPs” Security of Tongcheng-Elong to control the security
construction throughout APPs" entire life cycle from the perspective of
APP development security, security function of APPs for users, system
release security, and outsourcing security. At the same time, we have
built a backup system with high reliability and high availability based
on data level to cope with disasters, and have formulated a strict data
access process and corresponding data recovery mechanism, which
together with intra-city cross data room backup and remote backup to

maximise business continuity.

To ensure the security of business launching, we have verified the
security of R&D operation and maintenance process, and reduced the
security risk occurrence of online business to the greatest extent through
procedures and technical means such as security coding specification,
security threat modeling, security code audit, security functional testing,
online security monitoring, vulnerability management, training, etc. In
addition, we have also deployed an in-depth defense system. From the
office network to the production network as well as from the network
layer to the application layer, we've installed defense and inspection
equipment including intrusion inspection, application firewall, threat
intelligence, situation awareness, proactive defense, security operation
center and cloud shield so as to reduce the possibility to the greatest
extent of being attacked and intruded and guarantee the security of

network and information.
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We enhance the safety awareness of employees and cultivate an
information security culture by organising information security training,
circulating promotional slogans, and providing security offensive and
defensive drills. Moreover, the Company has established a security
emergency response centre to collect threats and bugs from the public
on the official website. These threats and bugs then will be handled,
repaired and reviewed by internal staff, and rewards will be offered to
the public based on the risks and impacts of the threats and bugs. While
leveraging the public’s strength to maintain users’ information security,
we also disclose bugs and vulnerabilities in an open and transparent way
for the reference of business competitors and the public on common
security issues. Together, we make progress and work hard to promote

the construction of industry information security.

Providing quality product

We strictly comply with relevant laws and regulations such as the
Tourism Law of the People’s Republic of China and the Law of the
People’s Republic of China on the Protection of Consumers’ Rights and
Interests. Through the integration of various resources in the industry
chain, we have in-depth cooperation with travel service providers
to offer more innovative products and services to cope with users’
changing travel needs and strengthen the value proposition of travel

service providers.

As of the end of the Reporting Period, our online platform had provided
over 7,600 domestic routes operated by over 820 domestic airlines
and agents, over 2.2 million hotels and alternative accommodation
options, nearly 390,000 bus routes, over 670 ferry routes and about 8,000
domestic tourist attractions ticketing services. During the Reporting
Period, we established friendly and cooperative relationships with

624,935 tourism service providers'.
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During the Reporting Period, the statistics on the number of suppliers only include travel service suppliers.

AREMA - ZPREEHERAERIRERBEES -
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Air ticket business

While selling tickets of almost all Chinese airlines and major
international airlines, we use our own data capabilities to help
users book the most suitable flights by providing clear and direct

purchasing methods.

We confirm the suppliers’ business capabilities by verifying their
qualifications including business licenses and International Air
Transport Association licenses. During the cooperation, we check
the indicators of ticketing volume, ticket issuing time, collection
rate and number of complaints, and require each supplier to ensure
authentic and valid tickets, active response to user’ needs and no
shirking of their responsibilities. We introduce monthly assessment
mechanism to suppliers, and cooperate only with the high quality

air ticket suppliers based on assessment results.

We require suppliers to establish an emergency response
mechanism to ensure the users’ smooth travel experience. We
have formulated stringent penalty and compensation rules against
suppliers in order to minimise infringement of users’ rights and
interests. We have developed the Air Ticket Supplier Service
Specifications to specify our requirements of admission, assessment,
elimination and penalty on suppliers. Meanwhile, the Company
regularly holds suppliers’ conferences to convey the direction of
service promotion and listen to relevant feedback and suggestions

5o as to improve our own platform.

We also provide users with refreshing travel experience through
continuous innovation in air ticket products and services. The
Company provides diversified services based on users' attributes.
We offer differentiated value-added products and services
according to users’ different characteristics, and provide special
membership benefits, such as dedicated birthday care and
dedicated customer service, to members at different membership
tiers, so as to satisfy users’ needs in an all-round way. In 2020, in
order to comprehensively monitor air ticket supply chain risk, we
established a health indicator system to monitor the supply chain
and guide suppliers to benign bidding so as to promote sound
development of market as well as providing high-quality and stable

products and services to our users.
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ii.

Accommodation reservation business

We offer users a large number of hotels and alternative
accommodations through our suppliers so as to meet different
accommodation budgets and preferences of users. Relying on our
mature control system for accommodation suppliers, we continue

to provide users with high-quality accommodation.

We have established strict admission criteria and carefully select
suppliers based on core dimensions including business growth,
merchant qualification, pricing advantage and software system.
During the cooperation, we conduct regular assessment and
rating on suppliers and continuously monitor their service
capabilities, pricing advantages, response speed to users’ demands,
contract compliance and fulfilment, product reputation and
other indicators. For high-quality suppliers, we occasionally offer
preferential platform resources, such as upper sequence and brand
recommendation. For unqualified suppliers, we adopt penalty
and management measures such as rectification, brand delisting,

business suspending, product delisting or cooperation termination.

In 2020, to further meet the needs of users in the post-pandemic
period, we conducted visits and surveys on hotel side and user side
in the hotel market to gain a thorough understanding of the needs
and preferences of users. We also made follow-up phone calls to
users who cancelled orders to further optimise our services based
on their appeals. At the same time, we established a data warning
model and timely communicated with hotels in regard of abnormal

orders and other situations to ensure the validity of orders.

Tongcheng-Elong Holdings Limited | [Ef2E8EIERERLOT
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Ground transportation business

We provide e-ticket booking service on the official online ticket
booking platform 12306 of China Railway Corporation and at
offline ticket outlets as well as value-added services including
ticket delivery and railway catering. Besides, we provide users with
ferry ticket booking services for domestic routes and bus ticket

purchasing service to meet China’s growing intercity traffic demand.

Prior to the cooperation, we investigate potential bus and ferry
tickets suppliers and obtain the corresponding qualification
documents to judge whether they meet the cooperation standards.
During the cooperation, we control all aspects of our service
process, establish corresponding assessment indicators, incorporate
user evaluation and feedback, and carry out monthly evaluation and
rating on suppliers to secure the rights and interests of users to the

greatest extent.

Building intelligent service

We invest a lot of resources to build a team of experienced
technical professionals, and are constantly committed to the
development and application of advanced information technology,
investment in technological infrastructure and artificial intelligence
("Al") to meet business needs in platform operation, data collection

and analysis, product development and user service.

We are making more efforts to get involved in intelligent
transportation, intelligent accommodation and Al customer service
to provide simple, fast and intelligent travel services for more
users, with an aim to transform from the OTA model to Intelligence
Travel Assistant (“ITA"). We actively explore the use of leading
technologies and innovative products, so as to continuously
improve our service capabilities and promote the digitalization of

the travel industry.

We adopt intelligent means to proactively improve customer
service efficiency. We rely on our big data capability to provide
information and reminders tailored for different users. To take into
account the special demands of a certain number of users, we used
the Real-Time Communications technology and became the first

OTA who adopted video customer service.

iil.

iv.
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To meet the users’ travel needs to the maximum extent, we have
launched an intelligent travel solution system named “Huixing".
When the user cannot reach the destination directly or there are no
tickets left, "Huixing” can provide multiple travel solutions based on
users’ travel needs and the remaining tickets on the platform. This
intelligent system integrates the transport capacity resources and
offers the users with the optimal travel combination scheme. During
the pandemic, the value of "Huixing” further highlighted. When the
government reduced the capacity of trains to prevent the spread of
the pandemic, "Huixing” was able to provide reliable and safe travel
solutions for users who needed to travel and thus obtained high
recognition from users. In 2020, we continuously enhanced the
computing capacity of “Huixing”, deeply integrated user need as
well as expanding usage scenarios in an effort to provide users with

more intelligent and diverse travel solutions.

We are also devoted to improving the industrial efficiency and
creating a healthy and sustainable ecosystem. We cooperated with
bus operators to set up ticket vending machines at stations and
transferred the transactions from offline to online so as to increase
the digitalization of the bus ticketing industry. We also cooperated
with scenic spots to assist in promoting the digitalization of the
industry and the online penetration rate. We have developed an
online reservation system for tourists attractions, and set up self-
service ticket machines in tourists attractions to enhance the
digitalization of tourists attractions. In addition, we have developed
mini programs and precision marketing systems for airports and
provided hotel management systems for individual and small chain

hotels to improve their daily operational efficiency.

In May 2020, the National Development and Reform Commission,
together with 145 members including Internet platforms and
leading enterprises and financial institutions, launched the “Digital
Transformation Partnership Action (2020)", which aimed to develop
inclusive services of “Migrating to Cloud, Using Digital Tools and
Enabling Intelligence” and foster a new digital economy. As one
of the co-sponsors of the action, we actively combines our own
strengths and foundations to work with all parties in society to
facilitate transformation of Small and Medium Enterprises, with a
focus on problems of “insufficient transformation capacity, high
transformation costs and long transformation period” facing Small

and Medium Enterprises.
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(4) Standardising customer service

2

The Company lays great emphasis on enhancing communication
with users and offering top-class services to them. We strictly observe
applicable laws and regulations such as the Law of the People’s Republic
of China on the Protection of Consumers’ Rights and Interests and the
E-Commerce Law of the People’s Republic of China. With the slogan
of “One-stop Service with Quick Response and Warm Attitude”, the
Customer Service Centre offers real time and efficient customer service
to our users, working faithfully to practice our Company vision of

“Becoming the Most Trustworthy Travel Platform”.

In 2020, we resolved a total of 4,200 effective customer complaints?.
We have already established a comprehensive complaint management
system, constantly working on internal management optimisation while

resolving complaints.

i.  System construction

We set up the Customer Service Centre Service Committee and
established a top-down management structure, with an aim to
provide supreme service experience for our users. We have obtained
the certificate of International Customer Service Standardization
Certification Body (COPC Inc.). Meanwhile, we introduced a project
management approach, namely 6-Sigma management approach,
through which our systems, procedures, personnel and services

have been optimized and perfected in a scientific way.

The data source is from third-party complaint platform.
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ii.

Taking various customer service scenarios into consideration, the
Customer Service Centre formulated corresponding handling
procedures and rhetoric and incorporated them into the Customer
Service Centre Standard Operating Procedures. The Procedure
now have included nearly one thousand suggested procedures
and rhetoric covering all functional posts, hundreds of suggested
rhetoric regarding public regulations as well as hundreds of
standard cases covering all functional posts; and it is still in
continuous optimization, calibration and perfection. In combination
with our quality inspection mechanism and key performance
indicators for customer service staff, we have established a career
growth plan targeted at all customer service staff. By means of
intelligent techniques (i.e. incorporating the results of quality
inspection defects, index screening of satisfaction impact), we send
notifications of learning playlists and tests to customer service staff

to help them improve their service level.

Intelligent service

In 2020, we introduced more intelligent means into customer
services. The Customer Service Centre has been equipped with
intelligent quality sampling methods such as emotion detection,
speed detection and online automatic scoring based on voice-
translated text to comprehensively assess and monitor the quality
of service provided by the customer service personnel, thus
improving the efficiency of quality control and customer service in

an all-around way.

We launched an intelligent navigation system, which integrates
the voice interaction function of robots into the service hotline
to provide users with order inquiry and order processing services,
increasing the self-service resolution rate by 19%. In addition,
through the introduction of intelligent robot which has the function
of automatically making outgoing calls, we are able to deal with
order processing in multiple layers, and the conversion rate was
almost the same as manual service. To help address pain points
such as complex business knowledge and uneven service capability
of staff, we also built an assistance system integrating with multiple
functions (i.e. conversational intention recognition, real-time
intelligent operation reminders, etc.) for staff in Customer Service

Centre to improve service quality.

Tongcheng-Elong Holdings Limited | [Ef2E8EIERERLOT

if.

ERPOELT TBACERSTOE
EERIEF)  HHETANERSERE
T - HIERERREERRERZS
A RRE RN T IREREEA
B BEGREREARAEANER
RERERD WINETEETEL
RELTE - BAEREHRERA
BMERES BRARLTEEZEEE
ERABWME IRKFRL @ BB

Bkl  mEEYEERHEEE
EFREAEZXBBEMEAE B
BB THHMURE - RITRBKF

EEERTE

2020% + BAMIE S B FRIIA
BEERISEES - BRFOET TIE
A - ERER - EEWEXAR
BFHEBHCERMESR  HE
BABMREERHET2TRIHR
B 2ERAEEBEZRESRE
LR

BMERTEREMES  BBEE
REMBABSRERARBAR B
RERHATESHANEERY - 88
BRORRIZTE19% © SN - BBEIAERE
WERAZEEINY  HABRTZER
EMFTERESR BEXEBATR
B - RMEHHERPOEBA
BREENE RBKTF2ETEERE
TETAEHYERS  SREFEEE
BB BERNERBFRESDE R

TTRBEE -



iil.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

Feedback improvement

We actively carry out the assessment of user experience and take
users' feedback as a driver for the improvement of our products
and services. Specifically, feedback and requirements from users
are collected, upon which analysis and special reports are formed
to guide the operation and improvement of our business, so
as to ultimately achieve the goal of improving user experience.
Through periodical obtaining of user net promoter score (NPS)
as well as SMS invitation, we invite users to give their feedbacks
and every feedback will be reviewed and verified so as to solve
users’ underlying problems while continuously improving internal

efficiency.

As a bridge connecting business and users, the Customer Service
Centre is a window to intuitively obtain users’ feelings. We set up a
variety of channels to collect existing pain points from all customer
service staff and strive to establish a closed-loop management
of products, processes and systems driven by users’ feedback.
Employees can submit their findings of the existing system’s
process defects via the activity of “Experiencing Flagship Products”.
Such findings will be specifically analyzed, categorized and solved

by a specific project team.

In 2020, we developed a specific system to enhance the progress
in and efficiency of request processing. We made dedicated efforts
to intensify the follow-up on pain points and launched learning
plans for front-line customer service employees to improve their
capabilities in finding the cause of users’ problems. Meanwhile, we
have established a reward mechanism with abundant incentives
and regularly reviewed classic cases to enhance the influence of

“Experiencing Flagship Products” in the Customer Service Centre.

In 2020, we continued to hold an activity themed “Feel for Our
Users and Provide Supreme Experience” to listen to users’ opinions.
The Company’s senior management and core employees from
each department came to listen to users and collected problems
and difficulties about customer service. During the Reporting
Period, a total of 23 activities aforementioned were held, with 296
participants. And a total of 280 issues were identified, of which 46%
had been rectified.
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iv. Culture cultivation

We launched various appraisal and selection activities, such as
"WOW Service Popular King” and "WOW Service Star”, and systematic
cultural promotion campaigns for all customer service personnel to
constantly enhance their sense of identity and mission of building
the "WOW Service”. We believe that a good working atmosphere
would greatly improve the service quality of customer service
personnel. Thus, the Customer Service Centre pushed forward with
an organisational capability improvement project named “Making
Service WOW", of which W stands for wonderful, O for users’ smiling
faces and W for warm, aiming to deliver services that make users
cheer with WOW. In 2020, we further promoted the WOW service
projects in order to create a good service environment and increase
staffs’ attention and involvement. We continued to enhance the
service knowledge of our customer service personnel through
online and offline campaign promotion, service skills, knowledge

push, etc.

We emphasize the advertising and visual identity management, strictly
follow the Advertising Law of the People’s Republic of China to establish
internal copywriting standards, and make best efforts to stay true
and accurate based on the principle of “Short and Simple”. We have
implemented the compliance auditing of broadcasting and promotional
materials in accordance with documents such as the /nternal Audit
Process for Advertising and Publicity, requiring the contents to comply
with relevant laws and regulations, and respect the intellectual property
rights of others. We have also established a unified visual identity system
in accordance with the Tongcheng-Elong Colour Standard System and

Specifications to enhance the brand recognition.

Tongcheng-Elong is committed to building a positive corporate image.
We make continuous efforts to improve our corporate recognition,
reputation and harmonization as well as managing the relations with
media and establishing the principle of public relations management

and the principle of emergency response to public opinion crisis.

We actively promote the development of the industry. As an important
board member of the China Advertising Association, we actively
participate in various activities organised by the Association, attend
various trainings, forums and lectures as event experts and judges, so
as to promote a positive, healthy, and scientific development of the

advertising industry.
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(6) Intellectual property management

In order to promote technological innovation and strengthen core
competence, we maintain and manage the intellectual property in strict
accordance with the Copyright Law of the People’s Republic of China,
the Trademark Law of the People’s Republic of China and the Patent
Law of the People’s Republic of China. We have also established the
Mechanism for the Standard Management of Special Patent Incentives
to fully invigorate the enthusiasm and creativity of all employees and to

grant honors and awards for the employees’ inventions.

We have established a complete maintenance mechanism for protecting
intellectual property. Any possible infringement will be reported to the
Legal Center for determining whether there has been an infringement.
If the infringement is confirmed, the Legal Center will require the
infringer to cease his infringement action and make compensation; if the
infringement constitutes a major one, we will preserve our legal rights
through legal means. We have specified the same strict requirements
for intellectual property management in contractual terms to restrict our
partners. We have built an intellectual property management platform
to comprehensively manage the pictures, fonts, audios, videos and
trademarks needed in the operational process of the Company, so as to

improve the standardization of intellectual property management.

In 2020, we strengthened employees’ awareness of copyrights through
on-site trainings and distribution of internal “Legal Column” articles from

time to time, to avoid infringements.

ANTI-CORRUPTION

The business philosophy of compliance and efficiency is the foundation
of quality service. We have always adhered to the value of “Integrity and
Honesty — Stand firm on the bottom line, Being Simple and Honest’, and
established a sound risk prevention and control mechanism. In all aspects
of business operations, we practice high-level ethical standards and strictly
adhere to laws and regulations such as the Criminal Law of the People’s
Republic of China, the Anti-Unfair Competition Law of the People’s Republic
of China and the Company Law of the People’s Republic of China concerning
duty encroachment, bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering. We
have zero tolerance for any form of corruption and have set up the Discipline
Inspection and Supervision Committee as an enforcement agency to handle
relevant affairs. During the Reporting Period, there were no legal cases

regarding corruption.
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We have actively created a good corporate atmosphere of honesty, diligence
and dedication. The internal policies such as the Sunshine Code of Conduct
clearly stipulates that employees are forbidden from behaviors such as
deception, improper profit, fraud and breach of confidentiality. We have
been attaching great importance to the development of a culture of integrity
through multiple channels and approaches to create a working atmosphere
of compliance, honesty and self-discipline. In addition, we regularly conduct
integrity trainings for members of the Board of Directors as we have been
paying attention to the publicity and implementation of integrity awareness
at the management level. We spare no efforts to deliver the values of
integrity and self-discipline to each employee through integrity training
activities such as “Integrity and Self-discipline Activity”, “Integrity Lecture”’,
“Xinbaida Integrity Speeches” as well as various promotion approaches such
as tabloids on integrity, integrity promotion videos and posters. We have also
designated “November 11" of each year as the “Integrity and Self-discipline

"

Day”.

We have established integrity interview mechanisms and routine inspection
mechanisms to pay attention to employees’ performance on duty fulfilment,
honesty and self-discipline as a way of misconduct prevention. In 2020, we
interviewed hundreds of managers concerning integrity for the sake of lawful
operation and assessment of management’s performance in fulfilling their
duties. We alerted them of misconduct risks through lecturing criminal risk
analysis, sunshine code of conduct, misconduct cases, and integrity policies
and commitments. In addition, we carried out a total of 5 times of special

inspection to monitor risks in the process of reimbursement and advertising.

We set up a comprehensive reporting channels and handling processes.
Employees and external personnel can report any violations of professional
ethics or related incidents through reporting e-mails, hotlines and the
official WeChat platform. If the allegation is confirmed after investigation,
we will impose severe punishments according to the Detailed Rules for the
Implementation Disciplinary Punishment and make public announcements

within the company.

To promote the mutual development of the industry, we have taken part
in the anti-corruption and co-governance of the industry. We have joined
the China Enterprise Anti-fraud Alliance and Trust & Integrity Enterprise
Alliance and cooperated with various members of the Alliance to fight
against corruption through sharing the information of dishonest personnel
and dishonest enterprises, jointly fulfilling commitments to anti-corruption,
refusing to hire dishonest personnel as well as sharing and facilitating anti-

corruption investigation cases.
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SUPPLY CHAIN MANAGEMENT

In addition to cooperation with various travel service suppliers, we are also
involved in the procurement of outsourcing services, information technology
equipment and office supplies in our business operation. Selecting such
suppliers also affects our business operation to a profound extent. We have
established a sound mechanism of selection, assessment and management
as well as having implemented relevant requirements in the Purchasing
Management System, the Guidelines for Purchasing Operations and the

Purchasing Bidding Specification.

We set different qualification requirements for different suppliers and
establish supplier catalogues. When selecting new suppliers, we will conduct
online review on all candidates and field inspections on some high-risk
suppliers. In order to ensure the service quality, the Procurement Department
will collect comments from business departments to evaluate and assess

suppliers regarding quality of delivery, products and services.

We pay close attention to the environmental and social risks in each part
of the supply chain. We have formulated the Supplier Evaluation Scheme
Focusing on Social and Environmental Risks, which serves as a vital basis
for selecting suppliers. For outsourcing service suppliers, we focus on the
assessment and evaluation of social risks including their employees’ living
and working conditions, employment practices and turnover rate as well as
hardware and workplace safety. We also require suppliers to comply with all
applicable laws and regulations pertinent to employment, safety and health.
Meanwhile, we have established a quality supplier club named TE-Club and
provide incentives to outstanding suppliers in an effort to promote the
positive development of the industry. In 2020, we pushed forward with the
construction of the online supplier management platform, which integrates
functions including supplier sourcing, supplier resource pool, supplier
performance assessment and blacklist, so as to realize the full life-cycle

management of suppliers.
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WORKPLACES

Human resources are the most valuable resource to Tongcheng-Elong
and constitute the cornerstone of the Company’s business development.
By strictly abiding by relevant laws and regulations including the Labour
Law of the People’s Republic of China and the Labour Contract Law of the
People’s Republic of China, we protect the basic legal rights and interests
of employees, provide employees with a fair, diverse and healthy working
environment and establish a good and harmonious labour relationship with
employees. Under the direction of the “Pursuing Innovation” value, we have
established a training system that keeps pace with the time to help with
employees’ career development and the Company's growth together with

employees.

(1) Compliance employment

We have built new labour relations under the value of “employee
orientation, consideration of common interests, mutual benefit and
collaborative development”. We have strictly observed applicable laws
and regulations including the Labour Law of the People’s Republic of
China, the Labour Contract Law of the People’s Republic of China and
the Provision on Prohibition of Using Child Labour, to ensure employee

benefits and enhance healthy development of the enterprise.
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As of the end of the Reporting Period, the Company had a total of 4,813
full-time employees and no part-time employees were hired. Among
them, the numbers of male and female employees were basically equal,

with the majority of employees based in Suzhou headquarters.
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Recruitment

Adhering to the criteria of “being innovative, enterprising and
responsible with integrity, eagerness to learn and dreams’, we
attract talents with excellent skills and great working ability to work
in the Company through diversified recruitment channels such as
on-campus recruitment, social recruitment and internal referral. The
Company has formulated the Recruitment Management Measures
and the /nternal Recommendation Management System. In the
course of recruitment and daily routine, we adhere to the recruiting
principle of “Open, fair, competitive and meritocratic”. We do not
discriminate against any talents due to their race, color, gender,
age, family background, religion, physical fitness and nationality.
We insist on equality of employees and endeavour to create a

harmonious working atmosphere.

In order to improve the professionalism, precision and reliability
of the recruitment process, the Company has developed the
Tongcheng-Elong Interviewer Guidebook to standardise the
interview process and provide professional trainings for the
recruitment team, through which the four basic requirements
of respect, kindness, fairness and professionalism as well as the
selection criteria for various types of talents are clarified. Meanwhile
an interview evaluation form is used to assess candidates in an
accurate, fair and effective manner. All these are aimed at providing
candidates with better interview experience. We also participate in
various activities to share our talent management experience with

peers without reservation.

In 2020, while devoting great efforts to safeguard employee
benefits, we still actively hired external talents through online
recruitment during and after the pandemic, to promote social
employment in a proactive and effective manner. In addition, we
strengthened the recruitment quality analysis through the online
system. We implemented an assessment mechanism that integrated
advanced assessment approaches and adapted to our actual

conditions, to enhance our capabilities of talent selection.
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Working hours and rest periods

In accordance with relevant laws and regulations, we have
formulated the Attendance Management System based on the
Company's operations and have implemented the standard working
hours system, the comprehensive working hours system and the
flexible working hours system based on the attributes of various
types of jobs. We have set up standard working hours and have
made efforts to make sure our employees have fair and sufficient
break time. We encourage balance between work and rest while

ensuring work progress and quality.

We are committed to enabling employees to achieve work-life
balance. We encourage employees to complete their work during
normal working hours. If employees need to work overtime in
special circumstances, they need to communicate in advance and
obtain approvals from their supervisors. The supervisors will review
the application according to the actual situation, and arrange
compensatory leave or payment for the overtime work. In addition,
employees of the Company enjoy the national legal holidays,
statutory annual leave, personal leave, sick leave, maternity leave,
paternity leave, nursing leave, breastfeeding leave, bereavement

leave and other holidays.

ii.
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Remuneration and benefits

In accordance with the Remuneration Management System and
the Performance Management System, we have formulated
incentive policies including the Bonus Pool Management System
and the Special Incentive Management System, which are also
embedded with the Company's incentive concept and cultural
value orientation. We provide targeted incentives for milestones
in organisational growth, technological iterations, business
innovations and service experience. Meanwhile, we attract, motivate
and retain excellent talents in the industry by formulating a salary
incentive plan that combines short, medium and long-term goals.
In addition, with the help of a standardized individual performance
management, we create a fair, open and just environment for
performance assessment. Through top-down performance
management involving the Company, organisations and individuals,
we achieve a virtuous cycle of performance management in the
entire business process. We pay social insurance and housing
provident fund for employees according to the national and
local laws and regulations, and provide an additional commercial

insurance covering all employees, to eliminate their worries.

In 2020, we formulated the remuneration strategy centering on
“Defeating the Pandemic” and “Business Recovery”. Against the
backdrop of salary reduction in the industry due to the pandemic,
to promote business recovery and improve employees’ sense of
gain, we launched a tens of millions worth reward program, under
which employees received cash incentives once their performance
met the pre-determined targets. Besides, we provided special
incentives for innovation competitions to further invigorate the

organisation and employees.
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iv. Termination

In accordance with the labour contract and relevant laws and
regulations, we have formulated the Tongcheng-Elong Policy for
Administration of Employee’s Employment, Transfer, Reassignment
and Termination with timely updates. We have been constantly
optimising the resignation process to ensure that both the rights
and interests of the employee and the Company are free from any
infringement. While taking appropriate measures to retain talents,
we have conducted opinion surveys on employees who have
voluntarily resigned to know their opinions about the Company and
relevant positions, with an aim to respond to employees’ concerns
and demands after an integrated analysis of these opinions. As of
the end of the Reporting Period, the employee turnover rate® was
31%.

We earnestly fulfil our responsibility to protect employees’ occupational
safety and health. In strict accordance with applicable laws and
regulations pertinent to safety and health including the Labour Law
of the People’s Republic of China and the Fire Protection Law of the
People’s Republic of China, we constantly improve the safety and health
management system to make safety management more efficient and
minimise the incidence rate of accidents. In 2020, Tongcheng-Elong
was awarded the “China Healthy Workplace Certification” by the HR
Excellence Centre, marking that our efforts to create a healthy workplace

have been recognised.

i.  Fire safety

We have a complete fire protection system in the office area
and dedicated personnel responsible for fire safety. In strict
compliance with the Office Safety Management Policy and the Fire
Extinguishing and Emergency Evacuation Plan, we conduct regular
self-fire inspections and underlying safety loophole investigations
to ensure a safe and reliable office environment. We carry out
regular fire drills every year to increase employees’ awareness of
safety and fire prevention. In 2020, we involved all employees in fire
drills, through which we further improved employees’ awareness of

mutual aid and self-rescue and their coordination in emergencies.

3
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The formula used to calculate the employee turnover rate is: Employee turnover rate = number of employees lost during the Reporting period/

(number of employees lost during the Reporting period + number of employees at the end of the Reporting Period) * 100.

AAREANEIRAXFEARAR  BEIREAER=RMEHNREAZ (REHRAREAR+TREHRAL)*100 °
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ii.

Physical and mental health

We continuously care about the physical and mental health of
employees. We provide annual free physical examination for
employees. We also carry out report interpretation seminars to
help employees understand common health problems in the
industry as well as the corresponding preventions, so as to raise
their awareness of disease preventions. We also provide physical
examination discounts and convenient physical examination
channels for employees’ families. Our workplace has been equipped
with sports facilities such as the fitness room, badminton court and

football field, to satisfy employees’ demands for bodybuilding.

In addition, taking the opportunity of the “Tongcheng-Elong
Care for Mental Health” project, we engaged a third-party
institution to provide professional psychological counselling
services for employees, where one-on-one question answering
and psychological counselling were provided for employees. We
also show our care about employees’ mental health by pushing a
monthly bulletin of mental health and holding stress relief salons.
The Customer Service Centre has stress relief materials in storage to

help employees build a positive attitude and enjoy more in work.

In 2020, we invited experts from the Emergency Department of the
Affiliated Hospital of Soochow University to deliver first-aid training
for employees, aiming to improve their capabilities in response
to emergencies. Meanwhile, we also hired a psychologist to
provide employees with SMART online courses to help them adjust
their mental condition and reduce their pressure in a scientific
way during the post-pandemic period. In consideration of the
pressure on employees of the Customer Service Centre during the
pandemic, we carried out a series of caring activities such as on-
site consultation and lunch salon, to help them resolve problems
at work, improve their physical and mental health, and relieve their

work pressure.

In the past three years, no work-related fatalities occurred. During

the Reporting Period, the lost days due to work injury were 100.
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(3) Development and training

In order to make efficient use of human resources and build a
professional talent team, we have set up a Career Development
Committee, which is responsible for the formulation of employee career
development management policies/strategies and the decision for major
issues related to employee career development. We have formulated
the Measures for Management of Career Development in Professional
Sequence, which clarifies the 12 rankings in each business line as well
as the specific ability requirements for each ranking. We have also
publicised the promotion requirements and processes for each ranking
in each business line, and established channels for collecting feedback

about promotion results.

We are committed to creating a diverse, equal and informative
learning environment for our employees. Through the establishment of
Tongcheng-Elong training system, we integrate internal and external
resources to encourage employees to proactively participate in various
training activities as well as to provide them with various opportunities
to improve professional qualifications and professional skills, so as to
help them grow with the Company. We have developed five major
curriculums: Orientation Training, Management Academy, Professional

Academy, Common Knowledge Sharing and Learning activities.
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Orientation Training

HAEE

Management Academy

Professional Academy

Common Knowledge Sharing

Learning Activities

B2EEY

We carry out orientation trainings for new employees, focusing on core issues such as the
Company's culture, internal policies and procedures and career sharing, in order to accelerate
the role transformation. In 2020, Xinbaida Programme was upgraded to help new employees
adapt to the Company as soon as possible, through which trainings were delivered for 1,137 new
employees.

BPEHARBRENEI - BEARE - SIRRREBREDZSRORE - MEETHA
BEE - 20205 - HAKRB 2R HAOHETRERA @ BIFA7A -

We provide profession and promotion trainings for existing managers at all levels, as well as
trainings for ordinary employees to get them prepared for promotion to managerial positions, so
as to further propel talent development, performance execution and experience accumulation in
the Company. In 2020, the Company carried out the Tenglong Program — Online Training Camp
for Business Management and the Yulong Program, which had enhanced innovation potentials,
overall quality and leadership of employees and thus promoting a steady team growth.
BHAERESRERERUEREASEI - REBEIEAEERREEMII - E—THED
RARKMAS BEE - BBCEHELHEE - 2020F * AR RABFAEEETS - BmE¥ETERE
BIRETE RS - IBe TEIMBIENE S REaRENREE ) - #HEBREKE -

We arrange different courses for different professional positions concerning product, marketing,
human resources and commerce, so as to enhance employees’ professional ability in different
business lines and guarantee sufficient reserve of human resources. In 2020, the academy
published 5 technical articles through various channels and carried out 57 sharing exchanges,
involving 35 lecturers and 5,393 participants.

BMRBEREENE  2HEEE  ANBREXENEBEEERETRORE - BAT
FHEARE TEEBERSD - READERFER © 20205F » EXBEREZBEEMB TRITXE
5/ DERMS75 - BAIRE3SAL - HEH5393 AR -

It enriches employee’s knowledge, provides opportunities for cross-sector sharing and cultivates
learning interest. We have launched projects such as “Welcome the Master”, “MAX Growth Plan”
and “HR Academy”.

BMAEIHREMHFER  REBERSZRAK
[MAXIZRETEI IR [HRE BT |ZFIRE -

i3
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We proactively carry out other forms of trainings such as study tours and online E-learning to
enrich training scenarios. We conduct various learning activities with the assistance of online
video courses, face-to-face course and academic reporting system. On September 10, 2020, we
launched the activity of “Never Stop Learning and Earn Free Benefits” on the Teachers' Day, in
which employees discussed various learning topics. This activity has received thousands of views.
RABIHRFS - HRE-leamingBB VR FHAMNEIED - HEERTIERIE - EHIRRE
it~ BHEMRER=ZARZ OG- BHRRSESZEEE) - 20209108 - HIMEZED
g RIEH [ BBBU T - RERFEMENED - ABE T2 MEBRFEEH - HUE
HTAREES -
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During the Reporting Period, the average annual training hours of WERA - AAFBB7S%ETES 715
employees were 5.7 hours, covering more than 75% of employees. - BIFANBERREDS7/E -

Proportion of employees receiving training by gender (%)  Training hours per employee by gender (hour)

BRI nlllﬁll:l:{’ﬂﬁ o LE (%) RMEBIBETHIAEGZT (/NEF)
Male 55 Male 55
® Female ﬁ'l“_{ ® Female ﬁ’|*£
Proportion of employees receiving Training hours per employee by
training by employment type (%) employment type (hour)
RERERGT I ABLLBI(%) RERERSGS (/INBE)
84 8.4
75
52 5.7
| 2.2 |
® Senior management SEEIEA S ® Senior management SEEEA B
Middle management FEEIEA B Middle management FEEIEA B
Junior employees Z[E A 8 Junior employees E[E A &

Percentage of employees trained = Employees who took part in training/Number of employees*100

ZHEIES =BT BIHE*100

Percentage of breakdown for employees in relevant categories = Employees in the specified category who took part in training/Number of
employees in the specified category*100

ZBBERIZE M B T B =2 AR I8 T8, ZERI 8 45100

Average training hours per employee = Total number of training hours/Total number of employees

BREITHXZIINB=-BTINE EITAAK

Average training hours for employees in relevant categories = Total number of training hours for employees in the specified category/Number of
employees in the specified category

BB E TTHXIRE=-HEHMNE TNAZTIIRE HEHMNNE TAK
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Talent team cultivation - High potential

talent development plan

BRMBERER - SBASTBES

In addition, in order to support and improve employees’ professional
knowledge and skills as well as to encourage voluntary learning, we have
developed the Tongcheng-Elong Scholarship Award Scheme to provide
employees with scholarships, so as to motivate and retain core talents

and thus proactively building a learning organisation.

In 2020, for the purposes of further creating an atmosphere of innovation
and screening out excellent talents, we held various activities such as
the "2 Hackathon” and the “2020 Creativity Competition Concerning
City Operation”, to motivate employees’ creativity and encourage them

to turn creativity into growth.
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(4) Employee care

i.

Employee Communication

Adhering to the principle of “communicate and solve problems
in a timely manner, and leaving no issues unresolved overnight”,
we value the functions of democratic management, democratic
participation and democratic supervision. We have established
online and offline employee communication and feedback channels
to understand and respond to employees’ expectations and
opinions. In accordance with the Regulations on the Negotiation
and Adjustment of Labour Disputes in Enterprises, we have
established the labour union and congress of workers and staff, and
formed a labour dispute mediation committee to promote scientific
decision-making and democratic management of the Company and

to maximise the rights and interests of employees.

The Customer Service Centre organises a “BOSS face-to-face” event
on a quarterly basis to discuss recent hot topics. Leaders of various
teams are invited to provide on-site answers to achieve two-
way communication. This has effectively shortened the distance

between management and junior employees.

In 2020, we carried out multiple trainings for front-line supervisors,
enabling them to quickly identify the mental state of staff, better
digest negative emotions and exploit positive feelings, so as to

strengthen team communication and cohesion.
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ii.

iil.

Employee benefits

In order to motivate employees to go all out for the Company's
long-term development, we provide employees with diversified
benefits. We have a “personalised” welfare mall where points can
be used to redeem benefits. We have gym, entertainment room
and library where all kinds of fitness equipment and e-learning
equipment are available. We have the “Baby Care Room” specially
set up for female employees. We also provide additional benefits
to employees through cultural honour, holiday benefits, employee
care and phone allowance. Our Customer Service Centre provides
quality accommodation for employees. In addition, we also
actively obtain feedback from employees and continue to develop
new welfare programs, in order to stimulate the enthusiasm of
employees to grow together with the Company while protecting

the value of employees’ work.

Employee activities

In order to enrich the amateur cultural life of employees and to
reflect people-oriented management and caring, we have organised
various activities from time to time, such as gratitude tours for
parents, interest groups, caring for women events and annual
parties, to deepen the communication among departments as well
as that between management and employees, thus strengthening
team cohesion and enhancing employees’ acknowledge and sense

of belonging to the Company.

COMMUNITY INVESTMENT

Enthusiastic participation in public welfare undertakings is not only our

unshakeable social responsibility, but also the requirements of our long-term

development. As an active participant in the public welfare undertakings,

based on our industrial advantages, we are devoted to creating a favourable

public welfare environment by means of participating in public welfare and

charity activities in an enthusiastic manner through leveraging our resources

and technologies and upholding the spirit of pursuing goodness.
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The year of 2020 marked the last year to fight against poverty, during

which we made “Great Achievements in Poverty Alleviation” with our

responsibilities.

ii.

Partnership assistance for poverty alleviation.

In April 2020, we signed an agreement for partnership assistance
with poverty-stricken villages in Yanhe County, Tongren City,
Guizhou Province, to leverage our advantages to facilitate poverty
alleviation through the consumption of products from the poverty-
stricken areas, employment and education for the poverty-stricken
areas in the project of “Suzhou and Tongren Work Hand-in-hand”.
Tongcheng-Elong actively brought the strengths of its platform
into full play to enhance the popularity and influence of Tongren's
tourism brands across the country through building customized
services and creating cultural and creative brands, creating a new
model of poverty alleviation via tourism. Meanwhile, we tried to
strengthen the support for poverty alleviation and public welfare
under the concept of “Tourism + Public Welfare”. We launched
activities like “Caring for Students” and “Making Travel Dreams
Come True” for teenagers in poverty-stricken areas in Tongren city,
so as to plant the seeds of wisdom for the future development of

rural areas.

The project was awarded one of the Top 10 Online Poverty
Alleviation Cases in the 2020 Poverty Alleviation Cases Online
Collection hosted by the China Federation of Internet Societies
under the guidance of the Information Development Bureau of the

Office of Central Cyberspace Affairs Commission.

Quality products in support of farmers

The severe pandemic has paralysed logistics across the country,
resulting in massive unsalable agricultural products in various
regions. We integrated the Internet with community thinking,
and built a platform of “Tongcheng Quality Products” to support
farmers in rural areas. Thousands kilograms of unsalable Liangshan
strawberries and tens thousands of kilograms of unsalable Shanxi
apples were sold out through the platform within half a day. Our
efforts have facilitate the sale of various agricultural products,
greatly reducing losses and supporting the agricultural industry at
the county level while also providing users with superior agricultural

products through a rigorous screening.
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iii. Post-pandemic revitalisation

In May 2020, the National Federation of Industry and Commerce,
the People’s Government of Hubei Province and the China Society
for Promotion of the Guangcai Program jointly organised an activity
to support post-pandemic revitalisation and poverty Alleviation for
Hubei. With respect to poverty relief effort through consumption,
together with other travel platforms we made every effort to
promote tourist resources and products of Hubei to boost the post-
pandemic revitalisation of the cultural tourism industry in Hubei as
well as facilitating poverty alleviation and high-quality development

in Hubei while achieving sound development of the Company.

In October 2020, we launched eight posters of “China Major Event” to
celebrate the 715t anniversary of the founding of the People’s Republic
of China, to boost patriotism and positive energy from the promotion
of a series of major milestones in China in recent years, including
anti-pandemic, earthquake relief work, self-developed technologies,

aerospace equipment.

We donated RMB100,000 to the Amity Foundation to jointly carry out
the campaign of “71 China Pictures”. Participants were given the card
of “71 China Pictures” after collecting eight “China Major Event” posters,
which could be redeemed for RMB71 cash or equivalent amount
donation to the public welfare project “Salute to Ordinary Heroes” to
pay tribute to the selfless dedication by public security officers, armed

police, firefighters and medical staff who were injured at work.
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ENVIRONMENT

We have included the impacts of our operations on the environment in
our overall planning. We are committed to reducing adverse effects upon
the environment and climate caused by our business operation. We have
implemented the principles of sustainable development by vigorously
advocating energy conservation, emission reduction and efficient resource
utilization. In strict compliance with the Environmental Protection Law of
People’s Republic of China, the Energy Conservation Law of the People’s
Republic of China and other applicable laws and regulations, we have
formulated the Administration of Energy Conservation, in which we have
clarified the green office practices. During the Reporting Period, the Company

was not involved in any environmental violation issues.

(1) Green operation

We face lower climate-related risks in terms of policies and regulations,
technologies, market and reputation since we are not engaged in any
large-scale production activities and we neither consume significant
energy nor produce massive emissions. Yet we proactively adopt green
office management measures to promote energy conservation and

emission reduction:

® Turn off office ceiling lights during the one-hour lunch break;

® Increase the frequency of routine inspections by the property

management company and shut equipment not in use;

® Post energy-saving slogans, and promote green and healthy work

style and habits in staff trainings;

® Regulate temperature limit of air conditioning in office area, namely,
no higher than 20 degrees Celsius in winter and no lower than 26

degrees Celsius in summer.
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In addition, the Company has further strengthened energy management
through energy-saving transformation and the use of cleaner energy,

including:

® Using LED lighting for office area, and removing excessive lamps
under the condition of sufficient illuminance; installing tubular
lighting in the well-lit places to make full use of natural light

illumination and thus reduce electricity consumption;

® Using induction lamps of low energy consumption in underground

garages;

® Installing solar equipment and supplying heat with solar energy,
so as to increase the utilisation of clean energy and reduce carbon

emission from the utilisation of traditional energies.

In 2020, we selected representatives from all business groups to take the
lead in promoting energy conservation and carbon emission reduction.
In addition, we improved the awareness of employees by shooting short

videos of energy-saving and circulating them in streaming media.

Water saving and waste reduction

In strict compliance with the Water Law of the People’s Republic of
China, the Law of the People’s Republic of China on Prevention and
Control of Water Pollution and other applicable laws and regulations,
we constantly strengthen water management, striving to reduce water
consumption and improve water utilisation. We have been reducing
water consumption by a series of measures, including posting water-
saving signs, applying water-saving equipment and adopting advanced

flushing technologies.

In order to reduce paper consumption, we have created a paperless
office via online systems such as Office Automation and email. To reduce
waste production, we have also placed waste paper boxes with reusable

papers alongside printers as well as encouraging double-sided printing.
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Climate change

We continuously monitor the impact on our business operations of
climate changes and evolving regulations at home and abroad. The
Company's ESG working group actively identifies climate-related risks
and opportunities and formulates corresponding countermeasures.
It is assessed that extreme weather such as typhoons and rainstorms
will exert a potential impact on our business operations. Therefore, we
have established emergency procedures and response mechanisms
for extreme weather to mitigate the impact of force majeure on our

business operations and ensure users' travel safety and convenience.

Environmental KPlIs

Compared with 2019, the disclosure scope of the environmental KPls
in the Report has been adjusted as follows: Two offices in Suzhou were
relocated to the newly built Suzhou Tongcheng Travel Building in
August and September 2020, respectively. At the beginning of 2020, the
Company's office did not operate normally during the pandemic. After
the relocation in September 2020, Suzhou Tongcheng Travel Building
was not 100% put into use. Affected by the aforementioned factors,
every environmental KPI during the Reporting Period dropped sharply
compared with that of 2019.

(3)
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i. Emissions i. HBHY

During the Reporting Period, our KPIs for emissions aspect are as WEBMA - BRMOPERYEBEKPIN
follows: N
Emissions 2020 2019 2018
BB 20204 20194F 2018%F
Wastewater discharge (tonnes)' BEKHERE (WR) ! 62,307.48 72,351.19 69,388.02
Total GHG emissions REREHNEE
(Scopes 1 and 2) (tonnes)? (&l — &) (HE) 2 7,138.70 8,308.76 8,324.71
Direct GHG emissions (Scope 1) BEEAEREIN
(tonnes) (#R5—) (W8) 67.79 69.57 75.89
Including: Petrol (tonnes) Hr o 70m (HE) 67.79 69.57 75.89
Energy Indirect GHG emissions fEREE R E RN
(Scope 2) (tonnes) (850 —) (m8) 7,070.91 8,239.19 8,248.82
Including: Purchased electricity Hrh : SNEE D (HE)
(tonnes) 7,070.91 8,239.19 8,248.82
GHG emissions per capital ADRERBHERE
(tonnes per capital) (g, ET) 1.57 149 1.39
GHG emissions per floor area FEFREMBERBENE
(tonnes per square metre) (g, SFFK) 0.12 0.16 0.17
Total non-hazardous waste (tonnes) ~ EERERMAE (W) 426.95 631.01 885.82
Non-hazardous waste per capital ANOEEEEDIRE
(tonnes per capital) (Mg, BI) 0.09 0.11 0.15
Notes : EE

1. As water fees generated by the office located in Ruoshui Road Suzhou 1.
Industrial Park are borne by the property management company,
the wastewater discharge disclosed above does not cover the
aforementioned office.

2. Based on operational features, our GHG emissions mainly include 2.

direct GHG emissions (Scope 1) arising from petrol consumption
of the Company’s commercial vehicles, and energy indirect GHG
emissions arising from purchased electricity (Scope 2). GHG emissions
are presented in carbon dioxide equivalence and is calculated based
on the Accounting Methods and Reporting Guide for Greenhouse
Gas Emissions from Public Building Operators issued by the National
Development and Reform Commission (‘NDRC").

3. Non-hazardous waste arising from our daily operation mainly includes 3.

domestic waste, grease trap waste and kitchen waste, all of which are
disposed by the property management company. The hazardous waste
includes waste toner cartridge and waste ink cartridge from printing
equipment at office buildings. Waste toner cartridge and waste ink
cartridge have no material impact as they are collected and disposed of
by printing suppliers, so KPI A1.3 total hazardous waste produced is not
disclosed in the Report.
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ii.

Use of Resources

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

During the Reporting Period, our KPIs for use of resources aspect

are as follows:

Use of Resources

BERER

Total energy consumption (MWh)'

Total Direct energy consumption
(MWh)
Including: Petrol (MWh)

Total indirect energy consumption
(MWh)
Including: Purchased electricity

(MWh)

Energy consumption per capital
(MWh per capital)

Energy consumption per floor area
(MWh per square metre)

Water consumption (tonnes)?

Water consumption per capital

(tonnes per capital)

BERERERE OERE)
BB EE ORRE)

Hep 0w (KRR
BB FAE KR )

Hep : SMNBE N OKELE)

ABREREREE
kKRR BT)
BYITAKIEHEEREREE
OKELE/FI3K)
BRKAE (H) 2
A BEFRKAE (M, 8T)

RiE - e RERHRE

i, BHREH
WEHR - RMAOERE B EEKPI

T

2020
20204

9,897.92

277.25
277.25

9,620.67

9,620.67

2.18

0.17
69,230.53

17.32

2019 2018
20194F 20184F
11,633.93 11,535.38
284.56 310.39
284.56 310.39
11,349.37 11,224.99
11,349.37 11,224.99
2.08 1.92

0.22 0.24
80,390.21 77,097.80
17.22 15.88
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Notes:

Total energy consumption is calculated based on the consumptions of
electricity, oil and the default parameter values related to fossil fuel as
shown in the Appendix 1 to the Accounting Methods and Reporting
Guide for Greenhouse Gas Emissions from Public Building Operators
issued by NDRC.

The Company's water consumption mainly consists of the domestic
water at office buildings, all sourced from the municipal pipe network.
The domestic wastewater generated is discharged into the municipal
pipe network for treatment.

As water fees generated by the office located in Ruoshui Road, Suzhou
Industrial Park are borne by the property management company, the
water consumption and water consumption per capital disclosed above
does not cover the aforementioned office.

Since the Company's operation does not involve the use of packaging
materials, KPI A2.5 (Total packaging material used for finished products)
is not applicable to us and thus not disclosed in the Report.

Based on the characteristics of the industry, Aspect A3 (The
Environment and Natural Resources) and KPI A3.1 (Description of
significant impacts of activities on the environment and natural
resources and the actions taken to manage them) is not applicable to
us as we do not have any significant impacts on the environment and
natural resources during our business operation, thus such information
is not disclosed in the Report.

OUTLOOK

In the future, we will, continue to actively assume social responsibilities,
help partner out of dilemmas as soon as possible and as always, manage to
create excellent experience for our users. We will also grow together with
our employees, explore more forms of charity, and work to improve energy
efficiency and achieve sustainable development, so as to give back to our

stakeholders with every pragmatic action.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

Independent Auditor’s Report
To the Shareholders of Tongcheng-Elong Holdings Limited

(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION
What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of Tongcheng-Elong Holdings Limited
(the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 190 to

329 which comprise:

the consolidated statement of financial position as at December 31,
2020;

the consolidated income statement for the year then ended;

the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year then
ended;

the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then
ended;

the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended; and

the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which include a

summary of significant accounting policies.
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In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at December 31, 2020,
and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (“IFRSs") and have been properly prepared in compliance with the

disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on
Auditing (“ISAs"). Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated

Financial Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and

appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the International Code
of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including International Independence
Standards) issued by the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants
("IESBA Code"), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with the IESBA Code.

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our
audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our

opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matter identified in our audit is related to revenue recognition.
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Key Audit Matter

BRETER

Revenue recognition

PN

Refer to Note 2.19 and 5 to the consolidated financial statements.

B E B RRME2.19K%5 °

The Group's revenue primarily derives from providing
accommodation reservation services and transportation ticketing
services, amounting to RMB1,945 million and RMB3,471 million,
respectively, for the year ended December 31, 2020. Commissions
from accommodation reservation services are recognized when
the reservations placed by users through the Group become non-
cancellable. Commissions from transportation ticketing services
are recognized upon the issuance of tickets or travel insurance
net of estimated cancellations.

BEEBEE T _TET _A=THLEFENKRATERE
REFETEBRBE EBEBRE D IARE 1 045BE TR
ARB3471BET - EMPBE ERERANEBKAST
AIRGHEE - BRI REAEME TINER - RBRBRBEH
e H RSB REIRAR (FOBREFHEUR ) B T AR -

We identified the Group’s revenue recognition as a key audit
matter as we spent significant audit efforts in this area due to
numerous volume of transactions and the operational data
processed by self-developed complex information technology
("IT") systems and transferred to the accounting records.

B BEXEXRSEEABEBHEHE TRABNEREER
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
RO BT NAREERBETEE

Our audit procedures in relation to revenue recognition included:

BRRAERNETRTFEE

Understood and evaluated management’s estimates made in
determining the method and timing of revenue recognition;
TR R R AL E IR B A R T WA RR B T 0E B B BE T T BT I
B fbat

Understood, evaluated and tested management's process
and controls over revenue recognition of major revenue
streams;
TR AR ROAHE R B 2R ARE R ARERER
12 R

Understood, evaluated and tested management’s key IT
general controls of important IT systems related to major
revenue streams;

TR FERAREEEHFERARREHENERITR
SEVRESR TR

Understood, evaluated and tested management’s key IT
automated controls and interface between important IT
systems and those system generated reports used by the

Group for its revenue recognition;

TH  FERARERENEETADEHREETRS
ZREOERRFAR  ERERMA RS RO R
it

Tested on sampling basis the sales transactions by examining
relevant supporting documents, including service contract,

sales order, commission statement from customers and cash

receipts;
BRREEBAHUEXH (BERBEH  HETE &

PHIASHRE RIS HHE R SETHEOIHR
Based on the result of the work performed, we found that the
Group's revenue recognition was supported by the evidence
obtained.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises all of the information included in the annual
report other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s

report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion

thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or

otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a
material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report

that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THE AUDIT
COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with IFRSs and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that

are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but

to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group's financial

reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a
body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken

on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We

also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform
audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of

internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances,
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of

the Group's internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by

the directors.
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Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained,
whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions
that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as
a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists,
we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to

cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying

transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group

audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify

during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and
to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,

actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor's report unless law
or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so
would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of

such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s

report is Yuen Kwok Sun.

PricewaterhouseCoopers

Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, March 23, 2021
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

mellmk

E_TFE+_A=+—RHILFE

For the year ended December 31,2020 BiEZ =F

Year ended December 31,

BEt-A=+—-HLEE

2020 2019
—EZEF —E-hEF
Note RMB’'000 RMB'000
BaE ARBT T ARBTT
Revenue WA 5 5,932,591 7,392,932
Cost of revenue HER AR 6 (1,696,606) (2,316,975)
Gross profit EX 4,235,985 5,075,957
Service development expenses AR5 FAEE R 6 (1,245,506) (1,512,792)
Selling and marketing expenses HE K2 HMAY (2,131,276) (2,244,516)
Administrative expenses THAX (521,728) (594,217)
Net provision for impairment loss on TR EREBERE TR
financial assets (140,413) (39,958)
Fair value changes on investments measured 2 AR BETE B EZ&HTA 18(f)
at fair value through profit or loss BamREARBEE 65,445 106,006
Other income H A 9 98,864 88,620
Other gains/(losses), net Hibss, /(B8 )55 10 20,551 (19,573)
Operating profit R F 381,922 859,527
Finance income BRI A 11 37,641 47,104
Finance costs P di 11 (14,782) (12,429)
Share of results of associates FE{RERE N R ELE 16 (7,204) (12,691)
Profit before income tax RRAT 1S B AR R 397,577 881,511
Income tax expense FriS i 2 12 (72,044) (194,989)
Profit for the year FREA 325,533 686,522
Profit attributable to: T S EEMEEF
~ Equity holders of the Company —RARE=RFEA 327,593 688,097
- Non-controlling interests — FEIE R (2,060) (1,575)
325,533 686,522
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT
malEx
For the year ended December 31,2020 BEZE=—Z—TF+-A=+—ALFE

Year ended December 31,

BEt-AZ=+—-HLEE

2020 2019
—BRCOEF —T-NE
Note RMB’000 RMB'000

B AR¥T T ARETT

Earnings per share BRERN (USRAR®EIIR) :
(expressed in RMB per share): 13
- Basic — &K 0.15 0.33
- Diluted — g 0.15 033
The above consolidated income statement should be read in conjunction iR A Uk SR FEEERE M B MY s — R E o

with the accompanying notes.

T -THEFIR  ANNUAL REPORT 2020



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
e ZHEWER

For the year ended December 31,2020 HEZE = E =T F+ - A=+—HIEFE

Year ended December 31,

BE+-HA=+—-BHLEE

2020 2019
—E-EfF ZT-hEF
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
B ARBTR ARETT
Profit for the year FRER 325,533 686,522
Other comprehensive (loss)/income Hith2ME (FE) Wi
Items that may not be subsequently REAETRER P EE B
reclassified to profit or loss: AEE -
— Currency translation differences —ERnEES (125,844) 30,070
Other comprehensive (loss)/income FREMEE (BB W
for the year, net of tax HKRHE (125,844) 30,070
Total comprehensive income for the year FREEREEE 199,689 716,592
Total comprehensive income UTEEEGNEEKEEE:
attributable to:
~ Equity holders of the Company —RRRERFAA 201,749 718,167
- Non-controlling interests S (2,060) (1,575)
199,689 716,592
The above consolidated statement of comprehensive income should be read L 4R A 2 TE W e 2 8 BB B A Y 5 — 61 RS

in conjunction with the accompanying notes. & o
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e BRI AR

As of December 31,200 HZE —E-_ZEF+-F=+—H
As of December 31,
BZ+-BA=+—H
2020 2019
—ECEF —E-NF
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
B s AR¥T ARET T
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment V¥ - BB MRS 14 1,226,126 1,102,031
Right-of-use assets CRAEEE 15 242,111 41,067
Investments accounted for RAEREARNRE 16 220,891 90,435
using the equity method
Investments measured at fair value BAREEFTEAEEHTA 18 168,104 238,753
through profit or loss B=EHRE
Investments measured at amortized cost LB ER AT ENRE 18 724,739 250,697
Intangible assets BEEE 19 7,480,569 7,860,452
Deferred income tax assets BEEFTSTHEE 20 215,610 201,057
Prepayment and other receivables TR FRIE e H A e Wi I 21 5,959 7425
10,284,109 9,791,917
Current assets REEE
Trade receivables B 5 EWGRIE 22 931,755 1,096,313
Prepayment and other receivables TR FRIA N EL e U 0B 21 1,088,293 1,569,453
Short-term investments measured at IRESER AT EMR BT E 18 407,353 156,760
amortized cost
Short-term investments measured at BAREEFEAEZETA 18 4,505,645 4384168
fair value through profit or loss B EIRE
Restricted cash ZRHIRE 23 92,152 213,381
Cash and cash equivalents ReRHALEEY 23 1,804,484 2,271,268
8,829,682 9,691,343
Total assets EEHAE 19,113,791 19,483,260
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e BRI R

As of December 31,2020 BE =T =-TF+=-A=+—H

As of December 31,
BEZ+=-A=t+—~H
2020 2019
—e-®F  -FTN%
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
i ARBF T ARETFT
EQUITY R
Capital and reserves attributable to AAFERBFEABEELRRFHE
equity holders of the Company
Share capital AR A 28 7,512 7,323
Share premium &7 5 8 28 19,046,357 18,189,973
Treasury stock BT 28 = @)
Other reserves H At & 29 (2,995,744) (2,668,946)
Accumulated losses ES (2,044,384) (2,371,977)
14,013,741 13,156,366
Non-controlling interests FERER 2,930 (4,692)
Total equity AR 14,016,671 13,151,674
LIABILITIES &\
Non-current liabilities *REEE
Borrowings B 24 113,229 132,921
Deferred income tax liabilities EEFTERAE 20 529,213 568,376
Long-term lease liabilities RHHEAE 15 205,807 17,830
Other payables and accruals H T RIE R g E A 26 15,016 6,702
863,265 725,829
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e BRI R

As of December 31, 2020 BE =T =-TF+=-A=+—AH

As of December 31,

BZ+-BA=+—H
2020 2019
—e-®F  -FT-N%
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
B &E AR®ETR ARET T

Current liabilities REaE

Borrowings RN 24 49,303 106,895
Trade payables B S HIE 25 2,000,605 3,428,531
Other payables and accruals H e RIERER &R 26 1,958,974 1,946,769
Short-term lease liabilities REIEEAE 15 27,235 6,059
Contract liabilities EHEE 27 160,577 88,554
Current income taxes liabilities BUEAFTIS R A E 37,161 28,949
4,233,855 5,605,757
Total liabilities BEAE 5,097,120 6,331,586
Total equity and liabilities EnkBERE 19,113,791 19,483,260

The above consolidated statement of financial position should be read in

conjunction with the accompanying notes.

The consolidated financial statements on pages 190 to 329 were approved

by the Board of Directors on March 23, 2021 and were signed on its behalf:

Wu Zhixiang
REH
Director

EBEZE

bt ey & B TR O 3R B B T B9 B 5 — G B

2 -
FI0ENIENGEUBRRENR =T =—F

SAZT=PHhESEMETHATALE
=

Ma Heping
Director

EZ
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
For the year ended December 31,2020 HEZE = E =T F+ - A=+—HIEFE

Attributable to equity holders of the Company

FARERERARS
Non-
Share Share Treasury Other  Accumulated controlling Total
capital premium stock reserves losses Sub-total interests equity

Bx BB  ERRE  RkRE  RHER Mt FERER  RRHE
RMBO00  RMB0OO  RMB0O0  RMB'000  RMBO000  RMBOOO  RMB0O0  RMB'00
ARBTR ARMTR ARMTR ARBTZ ARBTR ARETR ARMTIR ARRTZ

As of January 1, 2020 HZ-2-%%-B-A 733 18189973 (1) (2,668946) (2371,977) 13,156,366 (4692) 13,151,674
Comprehensive income 2ENE
Profit/(loss) for the year EpiH/ (58) - - - - 327,593 327,593 (2060) 325533
Other comprehensive loss Hti2EEE
Currency translation differences BHREES - - - (125844) - (125844) - (125844)
Total comprehensive income REUREE - - - (125844 327,593 201,749 (2,060 199,689
Transactions with owners HEEANRS
Share-based compensations DR BERREHS - - - 381,008 - 381,008 - 381,008
Exercise of share options - ERRE-CHABRE

proceeds received 132 557,231 - (288,844) - 268,519 - 268,519
Restricted shares units vested and settled ~ EEBREEENZBHIRAER 57 299,153 7 (299168) = 49 = 49
Contributions from minority shareholders — DERETE - - - - - - 9,682 9,682
Tax benefit from share-based HELAANRAAER

payments of a subsidiary R E - - - 6,147 - 6,147 - 6,147
Disposal of investment accounting HEFRESEAENRE

for using equity method - - - (97) - (97) = (97)
Total transactions with owners ERRERRIEARA

recognized directly in equity HWRA%E 189 856,384 7 (200,954) - 655,626 9,682 665,308
As of December 31,2020 BE-Z-EEtCA=1-A 7512 19,046,357 - (2,995744)  (2,044384) 14,013,741 2930 14,016,671
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
GARKREE

For the year ended December 31,2020 HE—Z R +-_A=+—HILFE

Attributable to equity holders of the Company
ARARERENER

Non-
Share Share Treasury Other  Accumulated controlling Total
capital premium stock Teserves [osses Sub-total interests equity

BE REE  EERD  ReER  2eER PG HEREE  EREE
RMBOOO  RMBOOO  AVBOOO  AMBOOD  RMBOOD  RMBOOO  RMBOO  RMBOOO
ARRTT ARBTRL ARETL ARBTR ARETR ARETR ARETL ARMTR

As of January 1, 2019 BE-%-75-A-H 7056 17311220 (1) (7284  (B0600T4) 11535453 (7660 1581
Comprehensive income 2EE
Profitf(loss) for the year Fhiafl/ (B8) - - = = 688,097 688,007 (1575 68652
Other comprehensive income A 2EbE
Currency translation differences ERBEEE - - - 30,070 - 30070 - 30070
Total comprehensive income PEYEAR - - - 30070 688,097 718,167 (1575) 716592
Transactions with owners EREANRS
Share-hased compensations A AR #E - - - 534,856 - 534,856 - 534,85
Exercise of share options - fribtkiE -2 inGsE

proceeds received 175 755,052 = (391,197) = 364,030 = 364,030
Resticted shares units vested and setted ~ LB REAEHERABAEL ¢ 123701 8 (123,701) - - - -
Acquisition of non-controlling interest LEFEL S = = = 174 = 174 (174) -
Contributions from minority shareholders DEBRER - - - - - - 3500 3500

Purchase of non-controlling interests HEBAKBESERER
in connection with the

business combination - - - - - - 1,199 1,199

Tax benefit from share-based

HERANRD AERHFH
L

payments of a subsidiary = = 3,686 3,686 = 3,686
Total transactions with owners BRNEERIEEEA
recognized directly in equity LEGES 167 878,753 8 23818 - 902,746 4525 907,271
As of December 31, 2019 BE-R-AETCA=t-H 733 18189973 (0 Q66s%4) Q3197 13156366 4e%) 13151674
The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be read in it B4R A RE RS B K PR BARE MY A9 B 5T — T B
conjunction with the accompanying notes. R

T -THEFIR  ANNUAL REPORT 2020 197



CONSOLlDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
an\ Eﬁﬁ/ﬂbiﬁ

For the year ended December 31,2020 HEZE = E =T F+ - A=+—HIEFE

Year ended December 31,

BE+-A=+t—-BHLEE

2020 2019
—BCEHE —F-hE
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
B ARBF T ARETT
Cash flows from operating activities RETHHABRERE
Cash generated from operations KEMERE 32 216,612 1,939,368
Interest received BEIHE 31,631 40,474
Income tax paid EATETIEH (112,723) (283,400)
Net cash flows generated from RETHAEBEESRETE
operating activities 135,520 1,696,442
Cash flows from investing activities RETEHFIARERE
Payments for long-term investments FAEREARHRPKRENARK
accounted for using the equity method (87,945) (84,778)
Payments for long-term investments measured  RAR BEE R EEHTA
at fair value through profit or loss BafRARENRNK (15,518) (180,034)
Payments for purchases of long-term BEREHEKAA 2R
investments measured at amortized cost HERRR (464,000) (250,000)
Proceeds from interest of REEK AT ENRIKREN
long-term investments T EPSHRIE
measured at amortized cost 4,575 -
Purchases of property, plant and equipment BEWE  BEK&E (160,006) (301,138)
Purchases of intangible assets BERVEE (6,192) (1,455)
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEWE « BFERZENETIE 32(a)
plant and equipment 1,753 455
Disposal of subsidiaries, net of cash disposed LEWBAR  HKRELERS = 271
Payment for purchase of BE ISR
non-controlling interests - (8,866)
Decrease/(increase) in restricted cash ZBEIRSHLD(35n) 121,229 (71,186)
Dividend received 2 U ER RS B, 9 9,328 =
Payments for purchases of BB R ENNK
short-term investments (14,552,256) (17,853,773)
Proceeds from redemption of fEE R IR A M AR IR
short-term investments 14,250,690 16,280,962
Payments for loans to related parties A Fég ﬁﬂmﬁ%ﬂ 36(e) (122,927) (354,924)
Interest received from loans to related parties A B3 H 5 E A EUWF S 36(e) 6,066 1,484
Loans repayments from related parties ek 1% EEN 36(e) 280,172 110,200
Payments for business combinations, EBAHOR®
net of cash acquired HMEREWERS (37,533) (242,231)
Net cash flows used in investing activities ~ REZBHFIAREREFHE (772,564) (2,955,013)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
n/T\ EE%/}ILE%‘:Z

For the year ended December 31,2020 8E - E-ZTF+_-_F=+—HILFE

Year ended December 31,

BE+-A=+t—-BHLEE

2020 2019
—BCEfF —E-NEF
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
i ARBF T ARETT
Cash flows from financing activities METHAERERE
Exercise of share options — proceeds received T IIE — B WS FUIE 285,848 364,032
Proceeds from borrowings B G 32(b) 100,000 87,660
Repayments of borrowings BEBAR 32(b) (190,809) (28,432)
Payment of long-term lease REBEEHNMNRK 32(b) (28,182) (14,333)
Proceeds from minority shareholder KA VERREAFTEIE 9,682 3,500
Payment of share issuance cost in B EITRARI R
connection with the Listing - (39,663)
Net cash flows generated from MEITBREEERETH
financing activities 176,539 372,764
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents HERREZEYRL BHE (460,505) (885,807)
Cash and cash equivalents at FREeMASEED 23
beginning of the year 2,271,268 3,143,883
Effect of exchange rate changes on ExgHHReRReFEMHTE
cash and cash equivalents (6,279) 13,192
Cash and cash equivalents FRBEEREESEEY 23
at end of the year 1,804,484 2,271,268

The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read in FM A ERE IR S R 2 R FE LR T A B R — OF 6

conjunction with the accompanying notes. & o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

n‘/T\

For the year ended December 31,2020 E =T =T F+_A=+—HIFE

BB WmRMEE

GENERAL INFORMATION

Tongcheng-Elong Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is an exempted
company with limited liability incorporated under the laws of the
Cayman Islands on January 14, 2016. The registered office is Cayman
Corporate Centre, 27 Hospital Road, George Town, Grand Cayman
KY1-9008, Cayman Islands.

The Company'’s shares have been listed on the Main Board of The Stock

Exchange of Hong Kong Limited since November 26, 2018 (the “Listing”).

The Company is an investment holding company. The Company and
its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) are principally engaged in the
provision of travel related services, including accommodation reservation
services, transportation ticketing services, and online advertising services
(the “Listing Business”) in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC").

The Financial Information is presented in Renminbi (“‘RMB”), unless

otherwise stated.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these
consolidated financial statements are set out below. These policies have
been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise
stated.

2.1 Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been
prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (“IFRS") issued by International Accounting Standard
Board (“IASB") and disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong

Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements has been prepared under
the historical cost convention, as modified by the revaluation of

financial assets and financial liabilities which are carried at fair value.

Tongcheng-Elong Holdings Limited | [Ef2£5EERERAF]
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B ERR M

For the year ended December 31,2020 HE—Z R +-_A=+—HILFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in
conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting
estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgement
in the process of applying the Group's accounting policies. The
areas involving a higher degree of judgment or complexity, or
areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the
consolidated financial statements are disclosed in Note 3 below.

A number of new or amended standards became applicable for
the annual reporting period commencing January 1, 2020. The new
or amended standards did not have any impact on the Group's
accounting policies and did not require retrospective adjustments.

During the year, the Group separately presented the “net provision
for impairment loss on financial assets” in the consolidated income
statement. The comparative figures have been reclassified to
conform with current presentation.

2.2 Changes in accounting policy

(a) New and amended standards adopted by the Group

The Group has applied the following standards and
amendments for the first time for the Group's financial year
beginning on January 1, 2020:

Definition of Material — amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8

Definition of a Business — amendments to IFRS 3

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform — amendments to IFRS 9,
IAS 39 and IFRS 7

Revised Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting

The amendments listed above did not have any impact on the
amounts recognized in prior periods and are not expected to
significantly affect the current or future periods.

2. EXETTBRBE(E)

2.1 RBLEE (4F)

AT ABERMBREENNEGRS Y
BRRF2EAETERGFEA -
ERAASENEARRE  EEE
NEEELHE - PRAEHEHE
MEZNHE  BRRGEFHES
M ERBEAE TN T XM E3P R

2 8

SEFHRLETEACRERAR -
—TE—A-HHEBNEEREH -
FET RSB ER A S B & 5K
FYEEMPE BEAFEHENH
go

RER  AEBRGEERERTHH
2 eREEREBBBBEFE] -
HBREFEEH D BEUNERBN 2T
REF—B -

2.2 B BURE

(a) FEBERAAIFTET RAZNEET
2R

ALER-T-TE—A—AMK
OB B R A A T AL RS
R

BEAMER B SHERIE
157 e BB & 5T RIS 8 5 A9
CH|

2T E - AR REE
B3 SRA0IET

FIREENE — BRI EHRE
HRIFE O - BB GFTERE
395 R BIPR B s R LRI 7
SRS ET

RETNFBERERSER
LS EERTH AT R E B

WRERZE - I BFAREE RN
RREEL BEREATZE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MRRME

For the year ended December 31,2020 BE — T2 —FF+_-_A=+—HIFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Changes in accounting policy (continued)

(b) New standards and interpretations not yet adopted

Certain new accounting standards and interpretations have
been published that are not mandatory for the year ended
December 31, 2020 and have not been early adopted by the
Group. These standards are not expected to have a material

impact on the Group in the current or future reporting periods

and on foreseeable future transactions.

2.3 Subsidiaries

(a) Consolidation

A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity) over
which the Group has control. The Group controls an entity
when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable
returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability
to affect those returns through its power over the entity.
Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which

control is transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated

from the date that control ceases.

Intra-group transactions, balances and unrealized gains
on transactions between group companies are eliminated.
Unrealized losses are also eliminated unless the transaction
provides evidence of an impairment of the transferred asset.
When necessary, amounts reported by subsidiaries have been

adjusted to conform with the Group's accounting policies.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MRRMEE

For the year ended December 31,2020 HE—Z R +-_A=+—HILFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. EAETBERME (&)

POLICIES (continued)
23 MEAE (&)
(a) WEARR (#&)
FIBE KL BRI 8 2 7]

2.3 Subsidiaries (continued)
(a) Consolidation (continued)

(i)~ Subsidiaries controlled through contractual arrangements ()

The prevailing PRC rules and regulations restrict foreign
ownership of companies that provide internet content,
call center services, travel agency and transportation
ticketing services, which represent the core activities
and services provided by the Group. As a result of such
restrictions, the Company does not have equity interests
in certain of its PRC operating entities. However, pursuant
to a series of contractual arrangements of the Group with
each of Beijing E-dragon Information Technology Limited
Gt REEEFEBEMAMRAR]) (“Beijing E-dragon”),
Suzhou Chengyi International Technology Limited (Z&JH
REREREBMRAE]) ("Suzhou Chengyi”), Tongcheng
Network Technology Co., Ltd (FIF2#L&EHER MO BR A
Al) (‘Tongcheng Network”) and their respective equity
holders (“Beijing E-dragon Contractual Arrangement”,
"Suzhou Chengyi Contractual Arrangement”, “Tongcheng
Network Contractual Arrangement’, and collectively, the
“Contractual Arrangements”), which enable the Company

to:

govern the financial and operating policies of Beijing

E-dragon, Tongcheng Network and Suzhou Chengyi;

exercise equity holders’ voting rights of Beijing

E-dragon, Tongcheng Network and Suzhou Chengyi;

receive substantially all of the economic interest
returns generated by Beijing E-dragon, Tongcheng
Network and Suzhou Chengyi, in consideration for
the technical services and software license provided

by wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company;
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1% o BRZERS] - AQBEAL
BERETHEREBEREAR
B o AT - RIBAEEELL R
BEEERMARAR (1L
RERE])  HMNEZREEH
RBEBRRA ([EHMEZ])
RIZEKR BN BRAR
(TR #EA% ) L& B et
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EEILRERE - FEAS
KRN TR BB 75 B8 2
BUR

T RERE - RENE
REMEENERREA

RERE

ERUL RERE - R28E
KRN TR EE £ R B KB
DEEM @R - ER/R
N AR AR R M
FrRFRVRE

T -THEFIR  ANNUAL REPORT 2020

203



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR M

For the year ended December 31,2020 BE — T2 —FF+_-_A=+—HIFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. EAETBERME (&)

POLICIES (continued)
23 MEBAT (&)
(a) AR (4B)

() BEBEHILTHIEFEINE A 7]
(continued) (%)

2.3 Subsidiaries (continued)
(a) Consolidation (continued)

(i)~ Subsidiaries controlled through contractual arrangements

have the irrevocable and exclusive right, at any time
when applicable PRC law permits foreign invested
companies to operate an internet content provision
business, to purchase from the equity holders of
Beijing E-dragon, Tongcheng Network and Suzhou
Chengyi for their respective equity interests in Beijing
E-dragon, Tongcheng Network and Suzhou Chengyi.
The exercise price of the option is equal to the actual
paid-in registered capital (or pro rata portion thereof,
as appropriate) unless otherwise specified under PRC
law on the date of exercise. If the transfer price of the
equity interest is greater than the loan amount, the
shareholders are required to immediately return the
proceeds from the transfer price in excess of the loan

amount to the Company; and

obtain a pledge over the entire ownership interests
of Beijing E-dragon, Tongcheng Network and Suzhou
Chengyi from their respective equity holders to
secure the payment obligations of Beijing E-dragon,
Tongcheng Network and Suzhou Chengyi under the

Contractual Arrangements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MRRMEE

For the year ended December 31,2020 HE—Z R +-_A=+—HILFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. EAETBERME (&)

POLICIES (continued)
23 MEAE (&)
(a) WEARR (#&)
BAE LRI E 2 A]

2.3 Subsidiaries (continued)
(a) Consolidation (continued)

(i)~ Subsidiaries controlled through contractual arrangements 0]

(continued)

As a result of the Contractual Arrangements, the Company
has rights to exercise power over Beijing E-dragon,
Tongcheng Network and Suzhou Chengyi and their
respective subsidiaries, receive variable returns from its
involvement with Beijing E-dragon, Tongcheng Network
and Suzhou Chengyi and their respective subsidiaries, and
has the ability to affect those returns through its power
over Beijing E-dragon, Tongcheng Network and Suzhou
Chengyi and their respective subsidiaries. Therefore, the
Company is considered to have the power to control
Beijing E-dragon, Tongcheng Network and Suzhou
Chengyi and their respective subsidiaries. Consequently,
the Company regards Beijing E-dragon, Tongcheng
Network and Suzhou Chengyi and their respective
subsidiaries as structured entities and consolidates the
financial positions and results of operations of these
entities in the consolidated financial statements of the

Group.

Nevertheless, the Contractual Arrangements may not
be as effective as direct legal ownership in providing
the Group with direct control over Beijing E-dragon,
Tongcheng Network and Suzhou Chengyi and their
respective subsidiaries and such uncertainties presented
by the PRC legal system could impede the Group's
beneficiary rights of the results, assets and liabilities
of Beijing E-dragon, Tongcheng Network and Suzhou
Chengyi and their respective subsidiaries. The Directors,
based on the advice of its legal counsel, consider that the
Contractual Arrangements are in compliance with the
relevant PRC laws and regulations and are legally binding

and enforceable.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MRRME

For the year ended December 31,2020 BE — T2 —FF+_-_A=+—HIFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. EAETBERME (&)

POLICIES (continued)

2.3 Subsidiaries (continued) 23 MEBAT (&)
(a) Consolidation (continued) (a) AR (48)
(i) Business combination (i) HFEE G

The Group applies the acquisition method to account for
business combinations except for business combination
under common control. The consideration transferred
for the acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair values of the
assets transferred, the liabilities incurred to the former
owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by
the Group. The consideration transferred includes the fair
value of any asset or liability resulting from a contingent
consideration arrangement. Identifiable assets acquired
and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a
business combination are measured initially at their fair

values at the acquisition date.

The Group recognizes any non-controlling interest in
the acquiree on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis.
Non-controlling interests in the acquiree that are
present ownership interests and entitle their holders to
a proportionate share of the entity’s net assets in the
event of liquidation are measured at either fair value or
the present ownership interests’ proportionate share in
the recognized amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net
assets. All other components of non-controlling interests
are measured at their acquisition date fair value, unless

another measurement basis is required by IFRS.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
acquisition date carrying value of the acquirer’s previously
held equity interest in the acquiree is re-measured to fair
value at the acquisition date; any gains or losses arising

from such re-measurement are recognized in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B ERR M

For the year ended December 31,2020 HE—Z R +-_A=+—HILFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.3 Subsidiaries (continued)

(a) Consolidation (continued)

(i)

(iif)

Business combination (continued)

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the
Group is recognized at fair value at the acquisition date.
Subsequent changes to the fair value of the contingent
consideration that is a financial asset or liability is
recognized in accordance with IFRS 9 in profit or loss.
Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured, and its subsequent settlement is accounted

for within equity.

The excess of the consideration transferred, the amount
of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the
acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest
in the acquiree over the fair value of the identifiable
net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If the total
of consideration transferred, non-controlling interest
recognized and previously held interest measured is less
than the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary
acquired in the case of a bargain purchase, the difference

is recognized directly in the statement of profit or loss.

Changes in ownership interests in subsidiaries without

change of control

Transactions with non-controlling interests that do not
result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity
transactions — that is, as transactions with the owners of
the subsidiary in their capacity as owners. The difference
between fair value of any consideration paid and the
relevant share acquired of the carrying amount of net
assets of the subsidiary is recorded in equity. Gains or
losses on disposals to non-controlling interests are also

recorded in equity.

2. EXETTBRBE(E)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MRRME

For the year ended December 31,2020 BE — T2 —FF+_-_A=+—HIFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
2.3 Subsidiaries (continued)
(a) Consolidation (continued)

(iv) Disposal of subsidiaries

When the Group ceases to have control, any retained
interest in the entity is re-measured to its fair value at
the date when control is lost, with the change in carrying
amount recognized in profit or loss. The fair value is the
initial carrying amount for the purposes of subsequently
accounting for the retained interest as an associate,
joint venture or financial asset. In addition, any amounts
previously recognized in other comprehensive income in
respect of that entity are accounted for as if the Group
had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.
This may mean that amounts previously recognized in

other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or

loss.

(b) Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries (including structured entities) are
accounted for at cost less impairment. Cost includes direct
attributable costs of investment. The results of subsidiaries

are accounted for by the Company on the basis of dividends

received and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is
required upon receiving a dividends from these investments
if the dividends exceeds the total comprehensive income of
the subsidiary in the period the dividends declared or if the
carrying amount of the investment in the separate financial
statements exceeds the carrying amount in the consolidated

financial statements of the investee's net assets including

goodwill.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant

influence but not control, generally accompanying a shareholding

of between 20% and 50% of the voting rights.

(a) Investments in associates in the form of ordinary

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MRRMEE

For the year ended December 31,2020 BEZE=—Z—TF+-A=+—ALFE

2. EXETTBRBE(E)

BENFIRAEENEEEATESN
BEEFENETE (—RIFEEE20%
E50%FORERARE) o

shares

Investments in associates in the form of ordinary shares
are accounted for using the equity method of accounting
in accordance with IAS 28. Under the equity method, the
investment is initially recognized at cost, and the carrying
amount is increased or decreased to recognize the investor's
share of the profit or loss of the investee after the date of
acquisition. The Group's investments in these associates
include goodwill identified on acquisition, net of any
accumulated impairment loss. Upon the acquisition of the
ownership interest in an associate, any difference between the
cost of the associate and the Group's share of the net fair value
of the associate’s identifiable assets and liabilities is accounted

for as goodwill.

If the ownership interest in an associate in the form of ordinary
shares is reduced but significant influence is retained, only a
proportionate share of the amounts previously recognized in
other comprehensive income is reclassified to consolidated

statement of comprehensive income where appropriate.

The Group's share of the associates’ post-acquisition profit
or loss is recognized in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income, and its share of post-acquisition
movements in other comprehensive income or loss is
recognized in other comprehensive income or loss. The
cumulative post-acquisition movements are adjusted against
the carrying amount of the investment. When the Group's
share of losses in an associate equals or exceeds its interest in
the associate, including any other unsecured receivables, the
Group does not recognize further losses, unless it has incurred
legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf

of the associate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MRRME

For the year ended December 31,2020 BE =T —TF+-A=1+—RHALFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(a)

(b)

Investments in associates in the form of ordinary
shares (continued)

The Group determines at each reporting date whether
there is any objective evidence that the investments in the
associate are impaired. If this is the case, the Group calculates
the amount of impairment as the difference between the
recoverable amount of the associate and its carrying value
and recognizes the amount in “other gains/(losses), net” in the

consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

Profits and losses resulting from upstream and downstream
transactions between the Group and its associate are
recognized in the Group's consolidated financial statements
only to the extent of unrelated investor's interests in the
associates. Unrealized losses are eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset
transferred. Accounting policies of associates have been
changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the

policies adopted by the Group.

Gain or losses on dilution of equity interest in associates are
recognized in the consolidated statement of comprehensive

income.

Investments in associates in the form of redeemable
convertible preferred shares

Investments in associates in the form of redeemable
convertible preferred shares or ordinary shares with preferential
rights shares are accounted as financial assets measured at fair

value through profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B ERR M

For the year ended December 31,2020 HE—Z R +-_A=+—HILFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.5 Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the

internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision-maker

("CODM"). The CODM, who is responsible for allocating resources

and assessing performance of the operating segments, has been

identified as the Chief Executive Officer, vice presidents and

Directors (the “Directors”) of the Company that makes strategic

decisions.

2.6 Foreign currency translation

(a)

(b)

Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of the
Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the entity operates
(the “functional currency”). The Company'’s functional currency
is USD as it key activities and transactions are denominated in
USD. The Company's primary subsidiaries were incorporated
in the PRC and these subsidiaries considered RMB as their
functional currency. As the major operations of the Group
are within the PRC, the Group determined to present its
consolidated financial statements in RMB (unless otherwise

stated).

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional
currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of
the transactions or valuation where items are re-measured.
Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the
settlement of such transactions and from the translation at
year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are recognized in the

statement of profit or loss.

Translation differences on non-monetary financial assets and
liabilities such as instruments held at fair value through profit
or loss are recognized in profit or loss as part of the fair value

changes.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MRRME

For the year ended December 31,2020 BE — T2 —FF+_-_A=+—HIFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
2.6 Foreign currency translation (continued)

(c) Group companies

The results and financial position of all the Group entities (none
of which has the currency of a hyper-inflationary economy)
that have a functional currency different from the presentation

currency are translated into the presentation currency as

follows:

assets and liabilities for each balance sheet presented are

translated at the closing rate at the date of that balance

sheet;

income and expenses for each statement of profit or
loss are translated at average exchange rates (unless
this average is not a reasonable approximation of the
cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction
dates, in which case income and expenses are translated

at the rate on the dates of the transactions); and

all resulting currency translation differences are

recognized in other comprehensive income.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the
translation of any net investment in foreign entities, and
of borrowings and other financial instruments designated
as hedges of such investments, are recognized in other
comprehensive income. When a foreign operation is sold or
any borrowings forming part of the net investment are repaid,

the associated exchange differences are reclassified to profit or

loss, as part of the gain or loss on sale.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition
of a foreign entity are treated as assets and liabilities of the
foreign entity and translated at the closing rate. Currency

translation differences arising are recognized in other

comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MRRMEE

For the year ended December 31,2020 HE—Z R +-_A=+—HILFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. EAETBERME (&)

POLICIES (continued)

2.7 Property, plant and equipment 2.7 W% - BERRZE

All property, plant and equipment is stated at historical costs less
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment charge.
Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to

the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset's carrying amount or
recognized as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is
probable that future economic benefits associated with the item
will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognized.
All other repairs and maintenance are charged to the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income during the financial period
in which they are incurred. Depreciation is calculated on the
straight-line method to allocate their cost to their residual values

over their estimated useful lives, as follows:

Building 20 to 50 years
Software 3to 10 years
IT equipment 2 to 5 years
Leasehold improvements Estimated useful lives
or remaining lease
terms, whichever

is shorter

Furniture, fixtures and motor vehicle 410 5 years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and

adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.

An asset's carrying amount is written down immediately to its
recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than its

estimated recoverable amount.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing
proceeds with carrying amount and are recognized in “Other gains/
(losses), net” in the consolidated statement of comprehensive

income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MRRME

For the year ended December 31,2020 BE — T2 —FF+_-_A=+—HIFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.7 Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Construction in progress represents office building and leasehold

improvements under construction. Construction in progress is

stated at cost less accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Cost includes the costs of construction and acquisition, and
capitalized costs attributable to the construction during the
period of construction. No provision for depreciation is made on
construction in progress until such time as the relevant assets are
completed and ready for intended use. When the assets concerned
are available for use, the costs are transferred to property, plant and

equipment and depreciated in accordance with the policy as set

out above.

2.8 Intangible assets

(a) Goodwill

Goodwill arises on the acquisition of subsidiaries and
represents the excess of the consideration transferred over the
Group's interest in net fair value of the net identifiable assets,

liabilities and contingent liabilities of the acquiree and the fair

value of the non-controlling interests in the acquiree.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired
in a business combination is allocated to each of the
cash-generating units ("CGUs"), or groups of CGUs, that is
expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination.
Each unit or group of units to which the goodwill is allocated
represents the lowest level within the entity at which the
goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes.

Goodwill is monitored at the operating segment level.

Goodwill impairment reviews are undertaken annually or more
frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate
a potential impairment. The carrying value of goodwill is
compared to the recoverable amount, which is the higher
of value in use and the fair value less costs to sell. Any

impairment is recognized immediately as an expense and is

not subsequently reversed.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MRRMEE

For the year ended December 31,2020 BEZE=—Z—TF+-A=+—ALFE

2. EXETTBRBE(E)

(b) Intangible assets other than goodwill with indefinite (b) BRETEBUSE BRI EHE
useful life BEREE
Intangible assets other than goodwill that have indefinite PR LAY BE MR BR 58 A AF HA O f
useful life primarily include trade name acquired in business WEEFZEBFEBEIHPIEHN
combination are recognized at fair values at the date of the ek RERBRZRAREERE
acquisition. The Company evaluates indefinite-lived intangible R oo ANRNBIES S BT &R
assets each reporting period to determine whether events and BIVEE  UEESEHLRERLZS
circumstances continue to support an indefinite useful life. If BESIFERAFERF - MR
an intangible asset that is not being amortized is subsequently HNEEEEREREEREES
determined to have a finite useful life, the asset is tested for RRe]FFAFH - B2 B EETTR
impairment. BRI -

(c) Other intangible assets with definite useful life (c) EEBERAEHFRIRMME

FEEE

Other intangible assets with definite useful life mainly BEEERAFEAFHNEMERE
including trade names, business relationship, technology EXZEENR  EBEE - i
platform and business cooperation arrangements, are stated at TaREBEEZTHE - THIERKAR
cost less accumulated amortization and impairment losses, if R EOREREE (HA )5
any. Amortization is calculated using the straight-line method B BIEDEREREATE U
to allocate the costs of acquired intangible assets over the THfEET A A E A D B AT U EE
following estimated useful lives: B EENA
Trade names 5 years 5 54
Business relationship 10-12 years R 10-124F
Technology platform 6-10 years BirEs 6-104F
Business cooperation arrangements 3-5 years EBEERHE 3-54F
Customer lists 5 years XEZE 54
Internet domain names 5 years B8 54

T -THEFIR  ANNUAL REPORT 2020



216

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MRRME

For the year ended December 31,2020 BE — T2 —FF+_-_A=+—HIFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
2.8 Intangible assets (continued)

(d) Research and development expenditures

Research expenditure is recognized as an expense as incurred.
Costs incurred on development projects (relating to the design
and testing of new or improved products) are capitalized
as intangible assets when recognition criteria are fulfilled.
These criteria include: (1) it is technically feasible to complete
the software product so that it will be available for use; (2)
management intends to complete the software product and
use or sell it; (3) there is an ability to use or sell the software
product; (4) it can be demonstrated how the software product
will generate probable future economic benefits; (5) adequate
technical, financial and other resources to complete the
development and to use or sell the software product are
available; and (6) the expenditure attributable to the software
product during its development can be reliably measured.

Other development expenditures that do not meet those

criteria are recognized as expenses as incurred.

Development costs previously recognized as expenses are
not recognized as assets in subsequent periods. Capitalized
development costs are amortized from the point at which the

assets are ready for use on a straight-line basis over their useful

lives.

All development costs incurred by the Group during the
years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 do not meet the

capitalization criteria and hence are fully expensed off.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B ERR M

For the year ended December 31,2020 HE—Z R +-_A=+—HILFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.9 Impairment of non-financial assets other than goodwill

Intangible assets other than goodwill that have an indefinite
useful life or intangible assets not ready to use are not subject to
amortization and are tested annually for impairment. Assets that
are subject to amortization are reviewed for impairment whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognized
for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an
asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For the purposes
of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for
which there are separately identifiable cash flows (cash-generating
units). Non-financial assets other than goodwill that suffered an
impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at

each reporting date.

2.10 Financial assets

(a) Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets in the following

measurement categories:

those to be measured subsequently at fair value (either
through other comprehensive income, or through profit

or loss), and
those to be measured at amortized cost.
The classification depends on the Group's business model for

managing the financial assets and the contractual terms of the

cash flows.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR M

For the year ended December 31,2020 BE — T2 —FF+_-_A=+—HIFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
2.10 Financial assets (continued)

(a) Classification (continued)

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses will either
be recorded in profit or loss or other comprehensive income.
For investments in debt instruments, this will depend on
the business model in which the investment is held. For
investments in equity instruments that are not held for
trading, this will depend on whether the Group has made
an irrevocable election at the time of initial recognition to

account for the equity investment at fair value through other

comprehensive income.

See Note 17 for details about each type of financial asset.

The Group reclassifies debt investments when and only when

its business model for managing those assets changes.

(b) Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset
at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not at fair
value through profit or loss, transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction

costs of financial assets carried at fair value through profit or

loss are expensed in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B ERR M

For the year ended December 31,2020 HE—Z R +-_A=+—HILFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.10 Financial assets (continued)
(b) Measurement (continued)
Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on the
Group’s business model for managing the asset and the cash
flow characteristics of the asset. There are three measurement

categories into which the Group classifies its debt instruments:

Amortized cost: Assets that are held for collection of
contractual cash flows where those cash flows represent
solely payments of principal and interest are measured at
amortized cost. A gain or loss on a debt investment that
is subsequently measured at amortized cost and is not
part of a hedging relationship is recognized in profit or
loss when the asset is derecognized or impaired. Interest
income from these financial assets is included in finance

income using the effective interest rate method.

Fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI):
Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows
and for selling the financial assets, where the assets’ cash
flows represent solely payments of principal and interest,
are measured at FVOCI. Movements in the carrying
amount are taken through other comprehensive income
("OCI"), except for the recognition of impairment gains or
losses, interest revenue and foreign exchange gains and
losses which are recognized in profit or loss. When the
financial asset is derecognized, the cumulative gain or loss
previously recognized in OCl is reclassified from equity to
profit or loss and recognized in other gains/(losses), net.
Interest income from these financial assets is included in
finance income using the effective interest rate method.
Foreign exchange gains and losses and impairment

expenses are presented in other gains/(losses), net.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MRRME

For the year ended December 31,2020 BE — T2 —FF+_-_A=+—HIFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.10 Financial assets (continued)
(b) Measurement (continued)
Debt instruments (continued)

Fair value through profit or loss: Assets that do not meet
the criteria for amortized cost or FVOCI are measured
at fair value through profit or loss. A gain or loss on a
debt investment that is subsequently measured at fair
value through profit or loss and is not part of a hedging
relationship is recognized in profit or loss and presented
net in profit or loss within other gains/(losses), net in the

period in which it arises.

Equity instruments

The Group subsequently measures all equity investments
at fair value. Where the Group's management has elected
to present fair value gains and losses on equity investments
in other comprehensive income, there is no subsequent
reclassification of fair value gains and losses to profit or loss
following the derecognition of the investment. Dividends from
such investments continue to be recognized in profit or loss as
other income when the Group's right to receive payments is
established.

Changes in the fair value of financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss are recognized in other gain/(losses) in
profit or loss as applicable. Impairment losses (and reversal of
impairment losses) on equity investments measured at FVOCI

are not reported separately from other changes in fair value.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MRRMEE

For the year ended December 31,2020 HE—Z R +-_A=+—HILFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. EXRETTHRBE(E)
POLICIES (continued)
2.10 Financial assets (continued) 210 ERMEE (&)
(c) Impairment (c) tE
The Group has types of financial assets subject to IFRS 9's new AEEEEHESREES RN EIR
expected credit loss model: RS ERFEORMMTEREER
EEER

trade receivables for sales of goods or provision of HESmIRERBHE FE

services; and WskIE &

other receivables - HhpEWRIA
The Group assesses on a forward looking basis the expected 52 B 4 i A 1 L S L DA
credit losses associated with its debt instruments carried at HRAREARBEGEAEEZS)
amortized cost and FVOCI. The impairment methodology FFAEMEEREEZEFIA
applied depends on whether there has been a significant HEAZEBREEERE - FTEAZRE
increase in credit risk. Note 4.1(b) details how the Group B EBURREER B R G REE
determines whether there has been a significant increase in BN e MEEE4.1(b) FFAL AN & B a0 {a] &
credit risk. EEERBEEHRBEILM -
For trade receivables, the Group applies the simplified MEZFEWFIBEMNS @ N5EER
approach permitted by IFRS 9, which requires expected B B B 75 i 5 2R R B 0 SR A AT A £
lifetime losses to be recognized from initial recognition of b7% - RETERFERFEREEA
the receivables. The Group uses practical expedients when B VI EREMGRIERER - A%
estimating life time expected credit losses on trade receivables, EEhETE S EKEIEN S TR
which is calculated using a provision matrix where a fixed EEEEREAYSERNEEZ
provision rate applies depending on the number of days that a 5 ZAERAREEEAE - B
trade receivable is outstanding. FIRIRE 5 FEWGRIE m R EER R

BUEREEREE

Impairment on other receivables is measured as either b BRI EZR 12 A8
12-month expected credit losses or lifetime expected credit HEEEEXXEmERBEHREED
loss, depending on whether there has been a significant BERENFE - HEUAREERR S
increase in credit risk since initial recognition. If a significant IS HERAREERBEIL N W fE
increase in credit risk of a receivable has occurred since initial WRRIEH) = B MR B 7 25 FERR LA R
recognition, then impairment is measured as lifetime expected BEWLN - APREER S HATE AR
credit loss. EEEIETE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

For the year ended December 31,2020 BE — T2 —FF+_-_A=+—HIFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.11 Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for services

performed in the ordinary course of business.

Trade and other receivables are generally due for settlement within

one year and therefore are all classified as current.

Trade and other receivables are recognized initially at fair value

and subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective

interest method, less provision for impairment.

2.12 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits held at

call with banks and other short-term highly liquid investments with

original maturities of three months or less.

2.13 Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly

attributable to the issue of new shares or share options are shown

in equity as a deduction from the proceeds.

2.14 Trade payables

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or services that
have been acquired in the ordinary course of business from
suppliers. Trade payables are classified as current liabilities if
payment is due within one year or less (or in the normal operating

cycle of the business if longer). If not, they are presented as

non-current liabilities.

Trade payables are recognized initially at fair value and

subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective

interest method.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MRRMEE

For the year ended December 31,2020 HE—Z R +-_A=+—HILFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. EAETBERME (&)

POLICIES (continued)

2.15 Borrowings 215 B

Borrowings are recognized initially at fair value, net of transaction
costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently carried at amortized
cost; any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction
costs) and the redemption value is recognized in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income over the period of the

borrowings using the effective interest method.

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are recognized as
transaction costs of the loan to the extent that it is probable that
some or all of the facility will be drawn down. In this case, the fee
is deferred until the draw-down occurs. To the extent there is no
evidence that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be
drawn down, the fee is capitalized as a pre-payment for liquidity
services and amortized over the period of the facility to which it

relates.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has
an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least

12 months after the end of the reporting period.

2.16 Current and deferred income tax

The income tax expense for the period comprises current and
deferred income tax. Income tax is recognized in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income, except to the extent that it
relates to items recognized in other comprehensive income or loss
or directly in equity. In this case, the income tax is also recognized
in other comprehensive income or loss or directly in equity,

respectively.

(a) Currentincome tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of
the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the end
of each reporting period in the countries/territories where
the company’s subsidiaries and associates operate and
generate taxable income. Management periodically evaluates
positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations in
which applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation.
It establishes provisions where appropriate on the basis of

amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MRRME

For the year ended December 31,2020 BE — T2 —FF+_-_A=+—HIFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
2.16 Current and deferred income tax (continued)
(b) Deferred income tax

Inside basis differences

Deferred income tax is recognized, using the liability method,
on temporary differences arising between the tax bases
of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the
consolidated financial statements. However, deferred tax
liabilities are not recognized if they arise from the initial
recognition of goodwill, the deferred income tax is not
accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or
liability in a transaction other than a business combination that
at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor
taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax is determined using
tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of each reporting period and are expected
to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is realized

or the deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognized only to the extent
that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available
against which the temporary differences can be utilized.

Outside basis differences

Deferred income tax liabilities are provided on taxable
temporary differences arising from investments in subsidiaries
and associates, except for deferred income tax liability where
the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference is
controlled by the Group and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Generally
the Group is unable to control the reversal of the temporary
difference for associates. Only when there is an agreement in
place that gives the Group the ability to control the reversal
of the temporary difference in the foreseeable future, deferred
tax liability in relation to taxable temporary differences arising
from the associate’s undistributed profits is not recognized.

Deferred income tax assets are recognized on deductible
temporary differences arising from investments in subsidiaries
and associates only to the extent that it is probable the
temporary difference will reverse in the future and there is
sufficient taxable profit available against which the temporary

difference can be utilized.

Tongcheng-Elong Holdings Limited | [Ef2£5EERERAF]

2. EXETTBRBE(E)

216 BNVFARIESEFR1SBL (A7)
(b) EAL T

AEE L

BREFGHRIREERBREIHE
HENRA P BERAZ REER
ZEREEE  RAABEER
A - RS HEREHEBMELNE
ERIBEET TR - MRS H®
R—ER 5 (EBAHERIN R Z
BEXRBEBEMELZERREHR -
WERZ SR IZEGTHRRRE
bR - BN TAR - EERF
BT & WS PEE R Z A2 8
HEE LR - LR NIAE
BIEFTSTRE ERRIREMEH
BEBEREANKE (RFE)

BE -

EILFIEBHEEEEN B ARK
FERRBUE A D] A S A M 258
BERERR o

SIMEZE £Z

EEFT ST B BRI B A 7] K Bt
BRARZKREMELZERBE R
B RE - RSB
ERMEEE Y BORME - UREE
MR AR GER A B 2R 2
EEFTSTH B ARSI - ARE—R
BRI S N R R I E R 2
B - EEHER] A LG TAKERE
45 I B M BRI A LA O 2
BIZBERT - TAERBEARR
DR M PTE LR ERR TR L=
BERETEHAERAE -

RHBA R LB E AR ZRERE
EZAREREERE  EEER
FAE R R A A RN AR # -
BAERHERBEN A BIFEHEE
RUEEERERERERIEESR -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B ERR M

For the year ended December 31,2020 HE—Z R +-_A=+—HILFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.16 Current and deferred income tax (continued)

(c)

Offsetting

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when
there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when the deferred income
tax assets and liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the
same taxation authority on either the taxable entity or different
taxable entities where there is an intention to settle the

balances on a net basis.

2.17 Employee benefits

(a)

(b)

(c)

Defined contribution plans

The Group contributes on a monthly basis to various defined
contribution plans organized by the relevant governmental
authorities. The Group’s liability in respect of these plans
is limited to the contributions payable in each period.
Contributions to these plans are expensed as incurred. Assets

of the plans are held and managed by government authorities.

Bonus plan

The expected cost of bonuses is recognized as a liability
when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation
for payment of bonus as a result of services rendered by
employees and a reliable estimate of the obligation can be
made. Liabilities for bonus plans are expected to be settled
within 1 year and are measured at the amounts expected to be

paid when they are settled.

Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognized
when they accrue to employees. A provision is made for
the estimated liability for annual leave as a result of services
rendered by employees up to the end of the reporting period.
Employee entitlements to sick and maternity leave are not

recognized until the time of leave.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
~ e PSR R

For the year ended December 31,2020 BE — T2 —FF+_-_A=+—HIFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.17 Employee benefits (continued)

(d) Share-based compensation

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

The Group operates share incentive plan, under which it
receives services from employees as consideration for equity
instruments (restricted shares units ("RSUs") and options) of the
Company. The fair value of the services received in exchange
for the grant of the equity instruments (RSUs and options)
is recognized as an expense in the consolidated statements
of comprehensive income with a corresponding increase in

equity.

In terms of the shares, RSUs and options awarded to
employees, the total amount to be expensed is determined
by reference to the fair value of equity instruments (RSUs and

options) granted:

Including any market performance conditions;

Excluding the impact of any service and non-market

performance vesting conditions; and

Including the impact of any non-vesting conditions.

Non-marketing performance and service conditions are
included in calculation of the number of RSUs and options that
are expected to vest. The total amount expensed is recognized
over the vesting period, which is the period over which all of

the specified vesting conditions are to be satisfied.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.17 Employee benefits (continued)

(d) Share-based compensation (continued)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MRRMEE

For the year ended December 31,2020 HE—Z R +-_A=+—HILFE

2. EXETTBRBE(E)

217 EEER (&F)
(d) URGBEBLME ()

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions (continued)

The Company grants its equity instruments to employees of
its subsidiaries to exchange for their services related to the
subsidiaries. Accordingly, the share-based compensation
expenses, which are recognized in the financial statements,
are treated as part of the “Investments in subsidiaries” in the

Company's statement of financial position.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group revises its
estimates of the number of RSUs and options that are expected
to vest based on the non-marketing performance and service
conditions. It recognizes the impact of the revision to original
estimates, if any, in the consolidated income statements, with

a corresponding adjustment to equity.

When the share options are exercised, the Company issues
new ordinary shares. The proceeds received net of any directly
attributable transaction costs are credited to share capital
and share premium. Where there is any modification of terms
and conditions which increases the fair value of the equity
instruments granted, the Group includes the incremental fair
value granted in the measurement of the amount recognized
for the services received over the remainder of the vesting
period. The incremental fair value is the difference between
the fair value of the modified equity instrument and that of the
original equity instrument, both estimated as of the date of the
modification. An expense based on the incremental fair value is
recognized over the period from the modification date to the
date when the modified equity instruments vest in addition to
any amount in respect of the original instrument, which should
continue to be recognized over the remainder of the original

vesting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MRRME

For the year ended December 31,2020 BE — T2 —FF+_-_A=+—HIFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. ERETBREE (&
POLICIES (continued)
2.17 Employee benefits (continued) 217 BEER (&)

(d) Share-based compensation (continued) (d) URGEBEBIIHE (1)
Cash-settled share-based payment transactions B E R BEBIAKLZ
Share-based compensation awards which are settled in cash B AR & SR LARR (D B AT
upon vesting are classified as liabilities in the consolidated e REEFeEEARRT D
balance sheets. Compensation expense is determined based HREBE MeRXBREBREES
on the current share price at the balance sheet dates, and BERAMORITREREZZAFAM
the proportionate amount of the requisite service that has REVERBOLE O SEEETE
been rendered to such date. Changes in the fair value of the E o BEEEEHNVERBEHRT
liability-classified awards, after the requisite service period W?ﬁ&ﬁ@]ﬁ%%ﬁﬁmﬁﬁﬁﬁ@
has been completed and before the awards are vested, are RAR BEZE)HEHREERE
recognized as compensation expenses in the period in which Miﬁﬂi °

the change in fair value occurs.

2.18 Provisions 218 BfE
Provisions are recognized when the Group has a present legal or fis 7N &% [ (2] 38 71 =5 4 1 38 Bf 2B A HE 0K
constructive obligation as a result of past events; it is probable that ERETEMR  METZEEMTEE
an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation; BHERRL AP RMHEEED
and the amount has been reliably estimated. Provisions are not S fhet - RIS MRERE o RKRKE
recognized for further operating losses. B R B AR R A o
Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood MEZBAUEE  HFEEERNF
that an outflow will be required in settlement is determined by MmEER AN - RIBEENER
considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is xR AFEER—EFENAE
recognized even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to any 2R — 18 B R EJRR &
one item included in the same class of obligations may be small. AT RS MR - (DB TSR o
Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures BEFARRER TS ESEREE
expected to be required to settle the obligation using a pre-tax rate REBEARFERR 2T E 2 BATL
that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money - BHRESHETEBETE X
and the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision ZHEE - BEERRERAMIG N2
due to passage of time is recognized as interest expense. BEERATERXE -
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.19 Revenue recognition

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MRRMEE

For the year ended December 31,2020 BEZE=—Z—TF+-A=+—ALFE

2. EXETTBRBE(E)

219 L ATERR

The Group offers a variety of travel related services, including
accommodation reservation service, transportation ticketing service

and, to a much lesser extent, online advertising service.

Revenues are recognized when or as the control of the goods or
services is transferred to the customer. Depending the terms of
the contract and the laws that apply to the contract, control of the
goods and services may be transferred over time or at a point in

time.

If contracts involve the sale of multiple services, the transaction
price will be allocated to each performance obligation based on
their relative stand-alone selling prices. If the stand-alone selling
prices are not directly observable, they are estimated based on
expected cost plus a margin or adjusted market assessment

approach, depending on the availability of observable information.

(a) Principal agent consideration

The Group determines the presentation of its revenue by
assessing whether it acts as the principal of the services that
are rendered. The Group presents its revenues on a net basis
(that is, the amount billed to the users less the amount paid
to the travel service suppliers) when the Group acts as an
agent with no control over the underlying services and does
not assume inventory risk. The Group presents its revenue on
a gross basis (that is, the amount billed to the users) when
the Group assumes inventory risk and acts as a principal by
pre-purchasing the travel related products from the travel
service suppliers. The purchase payments to the travel
suppliers are recorded as “cost of revenue” in the consolidated

statements of comprehensive income.

The Group presents majority of its revenue on net basis as the
supplier is primarily responsible for providing the underlying
travel services and the Group does not control the service

provided by the supplier prior to its transfer to the user.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B ERARM

For the year ended December 31,2020 BE — T2 —FF+_-_A=+—HIFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.19 Revenue recognition (continued)

(b) Timing of revenue recognition

Accommodation reservation services

The Group generates revenue as a result of the booking of
travel products and services on its websites and mobile apps
and derives its revenue mainly from the commissions earned
from intermediating services for facilitating reservations of
hotel accommodations. Commissions from accommodation
reservation services are recognized at a point in time when
the accommodation reservations placed by users through the

Group become non-cancellable.

Transportation ticketing services

Transportation ticketing services primarily consist of the
reservation of air tickets and train tickets, sale of travel
insurance and other transportation-related services. The
commissions from such services are recognized at a point in
time upon the issuance of the tickets or the travel insurance,

net of estimated cancellations.

Other Services

Other revenues are primarily consisted of attraction ticketing
revenue, advertising revenue and revenue generated from
ancillary value-added user services. The attraction ticketing
revenue is recognized at a point in time and other revenues

are recognized over the service period.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.19 Revenue recognition (continued)

(c) Contract asset and contract liability

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MRRMEE

For the year ended December 31,2020 HE—Z R +-_A=+—HILFE

2. EXETTBRBE(E)

219 WA TERR (&)
(c) BHEERSHERE

(d)

When either party to a contract has performed, the Group
presents the contract in the statement of financial position
as a contract asset or a contract liability, depending on
the relationship between the Group's performance and
the customer’s payment. A contract asset is the Group's
right to consideration in exchange for services that the
Group has transferred to its customer. A contract liability is
the Group’s obligation to transfer services to its customer
for which the Group has received consideration from the
customer. Incremental costs incurred to obtain a contract, if
recoverable, are capitalized and presented as contract assets
and subsequently amortized when the related revenue is
recognized. The Group applies the practical expedient and
does not disclose information about remaining performance
obligations that have original expected durations of one year

or less.

Users incentive programs

The Company provides various users incentive programs,
where participating users are awarded incentives on
current transactions or for free that can be redeemed for
future reservations through the Company’s platforms. The
estimated fair value of the incentives awarded on current
transactions with consideration of the expected usage by the
users is recognized as a reduction of revenues at the time
the incentives are granted. Incentives awarded for free to
participating users are not considered as payment to customer

but recorded as selling and marketing expenses instead.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR M

For the year ended December 31,2020 BE — T2 —FF+_-_A=+—HIFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.20 Service development expense

2.2

—_

Service development expenses represents the expenses incurred to
develop and diversify the travel products and services the Group's
sources from its travel service providers as well as the expenses in
relation to the research and development of service providers assist

system and the Group's online platforms.

Interest income

Interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest
rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset except for
financial assets that subsequently become credit-impaired. For
credit-impaired financial assets the effective interest rate is applied
to the net carrying amount of the financial asset (after deduction
of the loss allowance). Interest income is presented as finance
income where it is earned from financial assets that are held for
cash management purposes. Any other interest income is included

in “Other gains/(losses), net”.

2.22 Government grants/subsidies

Grants/subsidies from government are recognized at their fair value
where there is a reasonable assurance that the grants/subsidies will

be received, and the Group will comply with all attached conditions.

Under these circumstances, the grants/subsidies are recognized
as income or matched with the associated costs which the grants/

subsidies are intended to compensate.

2.23 Leases

As a lessee, the Group's leases are mainly rentals of land-use-right
and buildings. Rental contracts are typically made for fixed periods
of 1 to 50 years. Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis
and contain a wide range of different terms and conditions. The
lease arrangements do not impose any covenants, but leased assets

may not be used as security for borrowing purposes.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B ERR M

For the year ended December 31,2020 HE—Z R +-_A=+—HILFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.23 Leases (continued)

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially measured on a
present value basis. Lease liabilities include the net present value of

the following lease payments:

fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less

any lease incentives receivable

payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease

term reflects the group exercising that option.

Lease payments to be made under reasonably certain extension

options are also included in the measurement of the liability.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit
in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily determined, which is
generally the case for leases in the Group, the lessee’s incremental
borrowing rate is used, being the rate that the individual lessee
would have to pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an
asset of similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic

environment with similar terms, security and conditions.
To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the Group:

where possible, uses recent third-party financing received by
the individual lessee as a starting point, adjusted to reflect
changes in financing conditions since third party financing was

received

uses a build-up approach that starts with a risk-free interest
rate adjusted for credit risk for leases held by the Group, which

does not have recent third party financing, and

makes adjustments specific to the lease, e.g. term, country,

currency and security.

if a readily observable amortizing loan rate is available to the
individual lessee (through recent financing or market data)
which has a similar payment profile to the lease, then the
group entities use that rate as a starting point to determine the

incremental borrowing rate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MRRME

For the year ended December 31,2020 BE — T2 —FF+_-_A=+—HIFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. EAETBERME (&)

POLICIES (continued)

2.23 Leases (continued) 223 FHE (4F)

Lease payments are allocated between principal and finance cost.
The finance cost is charged to profit or loss over the lease period so
as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining

balance of the liability for each period.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the following:

the amount of the initial measurement of lease liability,

any lease payments made at or before the commencement

date less any lease incentives received,

any initial direct costs, and

restoration costs.

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the shorter of
the asset’s useful life and the lease term on a straight-line basis.
If the Group is reasonably certain to exercise a purchase option,
the right-of-use asset is depreciated over the underlying asset’s
useful life. While the Group revalues its land and buildings that are
presented within property, plant and equipment, it has chosen not

to do so for the right-of-use buildings held by the Group.

Payments associated with short-term leases of equipment and
vehicles and all leases of low-value assets are recognized on a
straight-line basis as an expense in profit or loss. Short-term leases
are leases with a lease term of 12 months or less. Low-value assets

comprise IT equipment and small items of office furniture.

Lease income from operating leases where the Group is a lessor is
recognized in income on a straight-line basis over the lease term
(Note 15). Initial direct costs incurred in obtaining an operating
lease are added to the carrying amount of the underlying asset
and recognized as expense over the lease term on the same basis
as lease income. The respective leased assets are included in the

balance sheet based on their nature.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B ERR M

For the year ended December 31,2020 HE—Z R +-_A=+—HILFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
2.24 Dividends distribution

Dividends distribution to the Company's shareholders is recognized
as a liability in the Group's and the Company's financial information
in the period in which the dividends are approved by the

Company's shareholders or Directors, where appropriate.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are based on
historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future

events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

Management of the Group makes estimates and assumptions
concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by
definition, seldom equal the related actual results. Apart from the PRC
operating entities under the Group’s control through the Contractual
Arrangements being accounted for as subsidiaries as described in Note
2.3(a) above, the estimates and assumptions that have significant risk
of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and

liabilities within the next financial year are addressed below.

(@) Impairment of non-financial assets

The Group tests annually whether goodwill has suffered any
impairment. Other non-financial assets are reviewed for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount may not be recoverable. The recoverable amounts
have been determined based on value-in-use calculations or
fair value less costs to sell. These calculations require the use of

judgments and estimates.

Judgment is required to determine key assumptions adopted
in the valuation models for impairment review purpose.
Changing the assumptions selected by management in assessing
impairment could materially affect the result of the impairment
test and as a result affect the Group’s financial condition and
results of operations. If there is a significant adverse change
in the key assumptions applied, it may be necessary to take
additional impairment charge to the consolidated statement of

comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR M

For the year ended December 31,2020 BE — T2 —FF+_-_A=+—HIFE

3. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (continued)

(b) Business combinations

Business combinations are accounted for under acquisition method.
The determination of fair values to the identifiable assets acquired
and liabilities assumed by the business combinations is based
on various assumptions and valuation methodologies requiring
considerable management judgment. The most significant variables
in these valuations are supplier turnover rate, revenue growth rate,
gross margin rate, discount rates, terminal values, the number of
years on which to base the cash flow projections, as well as the
assumptions and estimates used based on the risk inherent in the
related activity's current business model and industry comparisons.
Terminal values are based on the expected life of assets and
forecasted life cycle and forecasted cash flows over that period.
Although the Group believes that the assumptions applied in the
determination are reasonable based on information available at the
date of acquisition, actual results may differ from the forecasted

amounts and the difference could be material.

Useful lives and amortization charges of intangible
assets

The Group's management determines the estimated useful lives
and related amortization charges for the Group’s intangible assets
with reference to the estimated periods that the Group intends
to derive future economic benefits from the use of these assets.
Management will revise the amortization charges where useful lives
are different to that of previously estimated, or it will write-off or
write-down technically obsolete or non-strategic assets that have
been abandoned or sold. Actual economic lives may differ from
estimated useful lives. Periodic review could result in a change in

useful lives and therefore amortization expense in future periods.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B ERR M

For the year ended December 31,2020 HE—Z R +-_A=+—HILFE

3. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (continued)

(d) Current and deferred income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in the PRC and other
jurisdictions. Judgment is required in determining the provision for
income taxes in each of these jurisdictions. There are transactions
and calculations during the ordinary course of business for which
the ultimate tax determination is uncertain. Where the final tax
outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were
initially recorded, such differences will impact the income tax
and deferred income tax provisions in the period in which such

determination is made.

Deferred income tax assets relating to certain temporary differences
and tax losses are recognized when management considers it is
probable that future taxable profits will be available against which
the temporary differences or tax losses can be utilized. When the
expectation is different from the original estimate, such differences
will impact the recognition of deferred income tax assets and

taxation charges in the period in which such estimate is changed.

Fair value of financial instruments

Fair value of financial instruments, in the absence of an active
market, is estimated by using appropriate valuation techniques.
Such valuation were based on certain assumptions about credit risk,
volatility and liquidity risks associated with the instruments, which
are subject to uncertainty and might materially differ from the

actual results. Further details are included in Note 4.3.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MRRME

For the year ended December 31,2020 BE — T2 —FF+_-_A=+—HIFE

4., FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
4.1 Financial risk factors

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market
risk (including foreign exchange risk, cash flow and fair value
interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall
risk management program focuses on the unpredictability of
financial markets and seeks to minimize potential adverse effects on
the Group's financial performance. Risk management is carried out

by the senior management of the Group.

(a) Market risk
(i) Foreign exchange risk

Foreign exchange risk arises when future commercial
transactions or recognized assets and liabilities are
denominated in a currency that is not the Group entities’
functional currency. The Group manages its foreign
exchange risk by performing regular reviews of the
Group's net foreign exchange exposures. The Group does
not hedge against any fluctuation in foreign currency
during the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019.

The Group operates mainly in the PRC with most of the
transactions settled in RMB, management considers that
the business is not exposed to any significant foreign
exchange risk as there are no significant financial assets or
liabilities of the Group are denominated in the currencies
other than the respective functional currencies of the

Group's entities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B ERR M

For the year ended December 31,2020 HE—Z R +-_A=+—HILFE

4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

4.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(a) Market risk (continued)

(i)

Interest rate risk

The Group's interest rate risk primarily arose from
borrowings with floating rates (Note 24), time deposits
and cash and cash equivalents. Those carried at floating
rates expose the Group to cash flow interest rate risk
whereas those carried at fixed rates expose the Group to

fair value interest rate risk.

If the interest rate of borrowings with floating rate had
been 10 percent higher/lower, the profit before income
tax for the year ended December 31, 2020 would have
been approximately RMB867,000 (2019: RMB914,000)

lower/higher.

If the interest rate of time deposits had been 10
percent higher/lower, the profit before income tax for
the year ended December 31, 2020 would have been
approximately RMB2,058,000 (2019: RMB741,000) higher/

lower.

If the interest rate of cash and cash equivalents had been
10 percent higher/lower, the profit before income tax
the year ended December 31, 2020 would have been
approximately RMB2,737,000 (2019: RMB4,710,000) higher/

lower.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MRRME

For the year ended December 31,2020 BE =T —TF+-A=1+—RHALFE

4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

4.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(b) Credit risk

The Group is exposed to credit risk in relation to its cash and
cash equivalents, restricted cash, trade receivables, other
receivables, investments measured at amortized cost and
short-term investments measured at fair value through profit or
loss. The carrying amounts of each class of the above financial

assets represent the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk

in relation to financial assets.

To manage risk arising from cash and cash equivalents,
restricted cash, investments measured at amortized cost and
short-term investments measured at fair value through profit
or loss, the Group only transacts with state-owned or reputable
financial institutions in mainland China and reputable
international financial institutions outside of mainland China.

There has been no recent history of default in relation to these

financial institutions.

Trade receivables as of December 31, 2020 and 2019 are
mainly due from the third-party customers including hotels,
insurance companies or related agents, etc. in cooperation
with the Group and other receivables mainly include deposits,
guarantees and others (“Receivables”). The Group considers the
probability of default upon initial recognition of Receivables
and whether there has been a significant increase in credit
risk on an ongoing basis throughout each reporting period.
To assess whether there is a significant increase in credit risk,
the Group compares the risk of a default occurring on the
Receivables as at the reporting date with the risk of default
as at the date of initial recognition. It considers available

reasonable and supportive forwarding-looking information.

Especially the following indicators are incorporated:

- internal credit rating;

- external credit rating (as far as available);
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MRRMEE

For the year ended December 31,2020 HE—Z R +-_A=+—HILFE

MBRERER ()
MBEREE (H)
(b) EEEAE ()

4, FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
4.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(b) Credit risk (continued)

- actual or expected significant adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected to
cause a significant change to the debtors’ ability to meet

its obligations;

- actual or expected significant changes in the operating
results of the debtors; significant increases in credit risk on

other financial instruments of the same debtors;

- significant changes in the value of the collateral
supporting the obligation or in the quality of third-party

guarantees or credit enhancements;

- significant changes in the expected performance and
behavior of the debtors, including changes in the

payment status of debtors, etc.

Regardless of the analysis above, a significant increase in credit
risk is presumed if a debtor is more than 30 days past due in

making a contractual payment.

A default on receivables are when the counterparty fails to
make contractual payments within 180 days of when they
fall due. Financial assets are written off when there is no
reasonable expectation of recovery, such as a debtor failing
to engage in a repayment plan with the Group. The Group
categorizes a receivable for write off when a debtor fails to
make contractual payments greater than 360 days past due.
Where receivables have been written off, the Group continues
to engage in enforcement activity to attempt to recover
the receivable due. Where recoveries are made, these are

recognized in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MRRME

For the year ended December 31,2020 BE — T2 —FF+_-_A=+—HIFE

4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

4.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(b) Credit risk (continued)

The Group makes periodic assessment on the credit risk of
the Receivables based on the history of cooperation with
customers, settlement records and past experience and other
information, macroeconomic information (such as market
interest rates or growth rates) is incorporated as part of the
internal rating model. The assessment on the expected credit
loss associated with trade receivables and other receivables are

performed by management, see Note 22(d) and Note 21 (b) for

detail.

(c) Price risk

The Group is exposed to price risk in respect of the long-term
investments and short-term investments measured at fair
value through profit or loss held by the Group. The Group is
not exposed to commodity price risk. To manage its price risk
arising from the investments, the Group diversifies its portfolio.
Each investment is managed by senior management on a

case by case basis. The sensitivity analysis is performed by

management, see Note 4.3 for detail.

(d) Liquidity risk

The Group aims to maintain sufficient cash and cash
equivalents and marketable securities. Due to the dynamic
nature of the underlying businesses, the Group maintains

flexibility in funding by maintaining adequate cash and cash

equivalents.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B ERR M

For the year ended December 31,2020 BEZE=—Z—TF+-A=+—ALFE

4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

4.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(d) Liquidity risk (continued)

The table below analyses the Group's financial liabilities into

relevant maturity grouping based on the remaining period at

the end of each reporting period to the contractual maturity

date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual

undiscounted cash flows.

4, RERERE (&
41 BIEABERE (&)

(d) HEEZEE (&)

TRERSHEMREAOZHA
MRGHEEARESRAEIN
ARABEAR - KNBEBENEE
RAEHARBERBESRE -

Less than Between 1 Between 2

1 year and 2 years and 5years  Over 5 years Total
—£R -EmE WERE BENE FoE
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR¥TRE AR®Tn AR¥Tn AR¥ETR  AR%Tx

At December 31, 2020 RZE-ZEF+ZA=1-H
Borrowings EE 56,994 25,397 69,823 36,318 188,532
Trade payables ZoRNTE 2,000,605 - - - 2,000,605
Other payables and accruals () - E- R FIB R IEE B () 999,626 15,665 2,500 = 1,017,791
Lease liabilities HEAR 44,787 37,011 95,434 103,112 280,344
3,102,012 78,073 167,757 139,430 3,487,272

At December 31,2019 RZE-AE+-A=+-H
Borrowings EE 114,723 26,458 73,007 58,531 272719
Trade payables ZHRATE 3,428,531 = = - 3428531
Other payables and accruals () EALfE(T B RIERT B () 745,846 = S = 745,846
Lease liabilities MEGE 11,954 8,792 3,143 = 23,889
4,294,352 36,987 81,115 58,531 4,470,985

Note: MIsE -

(i)  Other payables and accruals disclosed in the table are excluding
advanced from users, accrued payroll and welfare, business and
other taxes, and other accrued expenses.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR M

For the year ended December 31,2020 BE — T2 —FF+_-_A=+—HIFE

4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

4.2

4.3

Capital risk management

The Group's objectives when managing capital (including funding
from the Group and related parties) are to safeguard the Group's
ability to continue as a going concern in order to provide returns for
the Group and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an

optimal capital structure to enhance equity value in the long-term.

Fair value estimation

The table below analyses the Group’s financial instruments carried
at fair value as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, by level of the
inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value. Such
inputs are categorised into three levels within a fair value hierarchy

as follows:

quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets

or liabilities (level 1);

inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that
are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (that is,

as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices) (level 2);

inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable

market data (that is, unobservable inputs) (level 3).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MRRMEE

For the year ended December 31,2020 BEZE=—Z—TF+-A=+—ALFE

4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 4, BIERERERE (&

43 A REEME (&)

TRIBMAEBBE_Z_ZTFR_
E-hE+-_A=+t—HBEAREE
AEMNEERAE-

4.3 Fair value estimation (continued)

The following table presents the Group's assets and liabilities that

are measured at fair value as of December 31, 2020 and 2019.

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
E1E 2B #3E “st
RMB’000 RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARBTR ARBTRT AR®TRT
As of December 31, 2020 BE-Z-ZF
+=B=+—H
Assets EE
- Long-term investments —RAnEBEFER
measured at fair value through HEBt ABEN
profit or loss (Note 18) RAEPGE (Ftzx18) 122,953 - 45,151 168,104
- Short-term investments —RAnEBEFER
measured at fair value through HEBt ABEN
profit or loss (Note 18) EAEARE (Fesx18) - 106,393 4,399,252 4,505,645
122,953 106,393 4,444,403 4,673,749
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
A EoE E3E oy
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARETT ARETT ARETET
As of December 31, 2019 BE-ZE—NF
+=A=+—-~
Assets BE
- Long-term investments —BAnEBEFER
measured at fair value through HEE AEm
profit or loss (Note 18) REPIGE (FtzE18) 150,205 88,548 238,753
— Short-term investments —BAnBEFER
measured at fair value through HE g ABme
profit or loss (Note 18) HHEIRE (Mf5E18) = 174705 4209463 4,384,168
150,205 174,705 4,298,011 4,622,921
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MRRME

For the year ended December 31,2020 BE =T —TF+-A=1+—RHALFE

4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(a) Financial instruments in level 1

The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets
is based on quoted market prices at the balance sheet date.
A market is regarded as active if quoted prices are readily and
regularly available from an exchange, dealer, broker, industry
group, pricing service, or regulatory agency, and those prices

represent actual and regularly occurring market transactions

on an arm’s length basis.

(b) Financial instruments in level 2

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in
an active market is determined by using valuation techniques.
These valuation techniques maximize the use of observable
market data where it is available and rely as little as possible on
entity specific estimates. If all significant inputs required to fair

value an instrument are observable, the instrument is included

in level 2.

(c) Financial instruments in level 3

If one or more of the significant inputs is not based on

observable market data, the instrument is included in level 3.

Specific valuation techniques used to value financial

instruments include:

Quoted market prices or dealer quotes for similar

instruments.

Other techniques, such as discounted cash flow analysis,

are used to determine fair value for financial instruments.

Tongcheng-Elong Holdings Limited | Ef2E8EERERLT

4. MBEARERE(E)

(a) E1EZ@T A

REBTZEENERTANAR
EBEEDENEEATSRE © {2
HFf - X8 &R - ITRER
TE {8 AR 75 M 48 o5 B ' M R BB B JE 8
RERE  BRFEBRKRRERTE
HETHRATFMER S - AITHHK
BB -

E2ESEIT A

TENERETSEENERMIT AR
REBEUEERNEE - ZFHE
BirEEFN AR IHETHEH
B [REORBEBRNFTEET -
Mt E R T AN AR BEMEHAT
BERBABAITEREIE - BlZ
TEBIIAFEE -

(c) B3IELHITA

i —IB3k % HE AH A ELIEER
AERTIREE - IR TAHAS
38 o

AR SR T AR EFHERM
B

MEREXXHEHBLUTER
HYRIE o

RN RE N ITFE MBI
AREEEMIARAEE-



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B ERR M

For the year ended December 31,2020 HE—Z R +-_A=+—HILFE

4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

4.3 Fair value estimation (continued)

(c) Financial instruments in level 3 (continued)

Level 3 instruments of the Group's assets and liabilities include

long-term investment measured at fair value through profit or

loss and short-term investments measured at fair value through

profit or loss.

The following table presents the changes in level 3 instruments

of long-term investments measured at fair value through profit

or loss for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019.

MERREE ()
3 ARBEMET ()
(c) #3F2MTA (&)

rEEEEMABENSEIETIAR

BRARBEAEEEZH AR

*E’\Jﬁﬁﬁh’éu&?ﬁ@ﬁﬁﬁﬁi
HEFF NERNEHRE -

TRIBHE_ZT_TER_F—
NFE+-ZA=+—RIEFERRA
EEFEEEESHTABENRY
REFIEIANES -

X

Year ended December 31,

BE+T-AZ=+—-HLFE

2020 2019
—g-8F T AF
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TRT ARETE

At the beginning of the year F9) 88,548 52,442
Addition NE 644 36,552
Reclassify to investment accounted for BN EERAERE

using the equity method ABRHIRE - (1,277)
Changes in fair value NREEES) (42,577) 900
Currency translation differences EBBRE = (1,464) (69)
At the end of the year FR 45,151 88,548
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MRRME

For the year ended December 31,2020 BE =T —TF+-A=1+—RHALFE

4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 4,

4.3 Fair value estimation (continued)
(c) Financial instruments in level 3 ( continued)

The following table presents the changes in level 3 instruments
of short-term investments measured at fair value through profit
or loss for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019.

BERRER (&)
AREEMEE ()
(c) EIELHTE (&)

THRABHE-—E-FFR=
heE+=A=t—ALEEEAL
B B E S B A BRNES
BEEIBLANES -

Year ended December 31,

BE+-A=1+—HLEFE

2020 2019

—B-BF E—NEF

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥T AREET T

At the beginning of the year FA) 4,209,463 2,570,170
Addition INE 13,992,129 17,113,198
Business combination (Note 31) EA6F (BI5E3) 17,500 =

Disposal e (13,899,407) (15,608,424)
Changes in fair value NAEEZEE 129,918 117,011
Currency translation differences EBRE = (50,351) 17,508
At the end of the year FR 4,399,252 4,209,463
Net unrealized gains for the year FRAREIRUWZFEE 44,469 30,779

The valuation of the level 3 instruments mainly included
long-term investments measured at fair value through profit
or loss in unlisted companies (Note 18) and short-term
investments measured at fair value through profit or loss (Note
18). As these instruments are not traded in an active market,
their fair values have been determined by using various
applicable valuation techniques, including discounted cash

flows and market approach etc.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MRRMEE

For the year ended December 31,2020 HE—Z R +-_A=+—HILFE

4. MKERER (&
43 DREEES (F)
(c) E3BHMTE (&)

4, FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
4.3 Fair value estimation (continued)

(c) Financial instruments in level 3 (continued)

The following table summarizes the quantitative information
about the significant unobservable inputs used in recurring
level 3 fair value measurements of the short-term and

long-term investments as of December 31, 2020 and 2019.

TERBEBE T -_TFN_T—
NWE+_A=+—AERYEEER
RAREEEEHEIBAAEE
FFERNRANERTAIEREAE
WEEER} o

Significant Relationship of
Fair Values Valuation unobservable Range of inputs unobservable inputs to
Description As of December 31, techniques inputs As of December 31, fair values
RAEE BRAA BAEHE FBERBAE
it BET-A=t-H fRERE  BFREAE BET-A=t-H BRRBENBE
2020 2019 2020 2019
“ESRF “TNF SBSRF “TNF
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR%TR  AR%TR AR%TR  AR%TR
Long-term investments 45,151 88,548 Market approach Expected  35.7%~49.8%  42.9%~45.1% The higher the expected
measured at fair value volatility volatility, the lower the
through profit or loss fair value
BRABEFEEEEY 45,151 88,548 5% BHRIE  357%49.8%  429%~45.1% EHKELR A%
TABRRNRARE BEWE
Short-term investments 4,399,252 4,209,463 Discounted  Expected rate 0.8%~4.8% 23~75% The higher the expected
measured at fair value cash flows of return rate of return, the higher
through profit or loss the fair value
RRRBEAEEEEY 4,399,252 4209463 HARSTEE  BEESEX  08%-4.8% 23~75% BHEOREHS A%

SABENEHRE

If the fair values of the long-term investments and short-term
investments measured at fair value through profit or loss held
by the Group had been 10% higher/lower, the profit before
income tax for the year ended December 31, 2020 would have
been approximately RMB444.4 million (2019: RMB429.8 million)

higher/lower.

There were no transfers between level 1, 2 and 3 of fair value
hierarchy classifications during the years ended December 31,
2020 (2019: nil).

BEES

HAEBEFAENIZ AR BEFER
HEHTABRNRPREREH
BEM AR EELEATRE10%
ABE_ZT-_TF+_H=+—H
L FER TSR ALEF A8 2 Bl 1%
Mmoo AR E 4444 BETT (=
T—NF : AR¥4298FET) ©

HE-Z-THF+=-RA=+—H
IHFE  DABESHSESE
QRIEMILMER (ZT—NF
) o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MRRME

For the year ended December 31,2020 BE — T2 —FF+_-_A=+—HIFE

5. WAR D HEFR
5.1 LA

HE_ZT-_TFR-_FT—NLF+=A
T+ —HIEFEZRBERLE DK
AT :

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
5.1 Revenue

Revenue by service type for the years ended December 31, 2020

and 2019 are as follows:

Year ended December 31,

BET-AZ=+—-HLEFE

250

2020 2019

—E_EHF —E-NF

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARET T ARBET T

Accommodation reservation services SECIRER i 1,945,153 2,358,123
Transportation ticketing services RiBEBIRS 3,471,129 4,517,658
Others HAth 516,309 517,151
Total revenue UL 5,932,591 7,392,932

The Group derives revenue from the transfer of services over time

and at a point in time in the following major services:

AEEEATEERBEETR —R
By e B 5 {1 ey ] 2 1 S R PR A5 I 1S K

A

Year ended December 31,

BET-AZ=+—-HLEFE

2020 2019
—BRE —TNF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T AREET T
Timing of revenue recognition TR U B B [
At a point in time FF [ 20
— Accommodation reservation services —(ETETERT RS 1,945,153 2,358,123
- Transportation ticketing services — RIBEE R 3,471,129 4,517,658
- Others —HAh 379,693 328,804
5,795,975 7,204,585
Over time —ERRE M
- Advertisement services —BERY 136,616 188,347
5,932,591 7,392,932
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MRRMEE

For the year ended December 31,2020 HE—Z R +-_A=+—HILFE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. WARZEBER (&)
(continued)
5.1 Revenue (continued) 5.1 WA (&)
The major customers which contributed more than 10% of the total HE_Z-_TFR-_FT—-—NF+=A
revenue for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 are listed =+—HLEFE BRIKABEER
as below: 0% EEZPEINNAT :

Year ended December 31,

BE+-A=+—HLEFE
2020 2019
—ECEF —ET-NF

Customer A BEFA 21.45% 18.89%
5.2 Segment information 52 pHER

The CODM assesses the performance of the operating segment FEEERRETERBELE R K
mainly based on the measure of operating profit, excluding FrE (CMeEE D BRI & 5% A
items which are not directly related to the segment performance WIEE) ([EEHEREDIELEDH
("combined results”). These include non-operating income/ KIE - ZFELERA S (BAX)BEE
(expenses) such as government subsidies, fair value gains on BARA  BARBEFEEHEEZS
investments measured at fair value through profit or loss, and other FABEZMRE A EE KRR EAM
non-operating items. The CODM reviews the combined results FEBEBEEE - TBEERKENE
when making decisions about allocating resources and assessing HERAOEERMNARETIEAEE
performance of the Group as a whole. Therefore, the Group has %ﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁﬁ%ﬁ o At
only one reportable segment which mainly operates its businesses AEEEE—EAR2HOH - HEE
in the PRC and earns substantially all of the revenues from external EPBEKEEBIT A ‘:F' B 5130 % P iR
customers attributed to the PRC. As of December 31, 2020 and 2019, BAHLABEA - BEZZT_TFR=
substantially all of the non-current assets of the Group were located T-NF+ZA=+—H8  ~EEB
in the PRC. Therefore, no geographical segments are presented. No AEDIERBEEMRPE - Bt -
analysis of segment assets or segment liabilities is presented as they WHERENHIESE - HREELER
are not used by the CODM when making decisions about allocating RERERB@SEEE IR RE RGFT
resources and assessing performance of the Group. BAREERERIYEEASBEEK

DEBBENINT - WEZOTLEZS) -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

For the year ended December 31,2020 BE — T2 —FF+_-_A=+—HIFE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. WARDEER ()
(continued)
5.2 Segment information (continued) 5.2 DEBE R (&

Year ended December 31,

BET-AZ=+—-HLEFE

2020 2019
—B-BE  —FNF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥F T ARBTIT
Operating profit per consolidated FEEHEKEROEERT
statements of comprehensive income 381,922 859,527
Less: Other income B E A (98,864) (88,620)
Fair value changes on investments BRAnEEFEER
measured at fair value through FEFABRNERERQR
profit or loss BEEZE (65,445) (106,006)
Other (gains)/losses, net Hh (), EIEFE (20,551) 19,573
Operating profit presented to the CODM EWMTFELERFEENKLLE B 197,062 684,474
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MRRMEE

For the year ended December 31,2020 BEZE=—Z—TF+-A=+—ALFE

6. EXPENSES BY NATURE 6. BMEEI T

Year ended December 31,

BE+TZA=+—-HLFE

2020 2019
—E-EF —Z-hEF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET R AR®ETT
Employee benefit expense (Note 7) EERAFAEZ (7)) 1,744,189 2,160,166
Advertising and promotion expenses BERERRY 1,453,587 1,622,452
Order processing cost HES#E D% 690,231 978,477
Depreciation and amortization expense e REHEFY
(Note 14, 15 & 19) (MtsE14 ~ 15K19) 602,010 581,139
Cost of pre-purchased travel related products B W7k AR E B AR 268,905 427,752
Commission expenses Hemx 238,606 154,055
Procurement costs TR 141,566 239,127
Bandwidth and servers fee BENMRERER 134,374 160,488
Professional service fees EXRBER 86,382 87,237
Rental and utility fees MeE kA ARAREER 56,301 61,277
Travelling and entertainment expenses ZIREAREFFRY 43,500 73,193
Telephone and communication BRENBE 24,241 43,030
Tax and surcharges HE LK mE 22,301 31,113
Auditor fees HiTER 7,547 7,547
Others Hith 81,376 41,447
5,595,116 6,668,500
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBRRME

For the year ended December 31,2020 BE — T2 —FF+_-_A=+—HIFE

7. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSE (INCLUDING 7. EEEFPEX (BREEEHM)

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS)

Year ended December 31,

BET-AZ+—-HLFE

2020 2019
323 —T-NF
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR%®TR AR®BTE

Wages, salaries and bonuses TE - Hre kil 1,151,505 1,268,609

Other social security costs, housing benefits and HRER  EEE7
other employee benefits R H b g B2 F 166,719 240,085
Pension costs - defined contribution plans RN AR — R EHRE 2 43,818 109,262
Share-based compensation expenses (Note 8) LAR% (D A E I R B € 5 2 (F7Es) 382,147 542,210
1,744,189 2,160,166

(@) Pension costs - defined contribution plans

(a) BARERA - FREHGE

Employees of the Group in the PRC are required to participate in a AEEEFENEBSESINE TR
defined contribution retirement scheme administered and operated NEREKEENRTERIRIKGE -
by the local municipal governments. The Group contributes funds AEBEEMAESEAEER (S8R
which are calculated on a fixed percentage of the employees' salary EMTBNRENEEEF 2 (RET
(subject to a floor and cap) as set by local municipal governments REkERIEBEBSLFE) AR
to each scheme locally to fund the retirement benefits of the BRREMNBENES -

employees.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MRRMEE

For the year ended December 31,2020 HE—Z R +-_A=+—HILFE

7. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSE (INCLUDING 7. EEGARX (BREESHM)
DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS) (continued) ()
(b) Directors’ emoluments (b) EEFM
The remuneration of each director of the Company paid/payable by AEBRBE-_ZE-_TFR_ZT—N
the Group for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 are set F+-ZA=t+—BLEEE XN &
out as follows: NOARRBSESHMESLT -

Emoluments paid or payable in respect of a person's services as a director,
whether of the Company or its subsidiaries undertaking
R-RALRAEZ (FREsLTRENRARER) FEAREEHIEMHM

Other emoluments

paid or payable

in respect of

director's other

services in

connection with

Employer's the management

contribution of the affairs

of a retirement Share-based  of the Company

Discretionary Housing benefit  compensation or its subsidiaries
Fees Salary Bonuses allowance scheme expenses undertaking Total

HESREE

LR

WEATZEM

BB MRGAER RUEMRHEA
ik B¢ BRERA  fERRY  FEEIMR pHEEx  FEAEMmHH #it
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®TT  ARBTR  ARBTR  ARETR N N A AR®TL  AR®TR

Year ended December BE-5-%R

31,2020 TZR=t-ALEE
Ma Heping (CEO) SHT(BRHE) - 4,804 1,200 % 3 21,267 10 33,336
Jiang Hao Lk - - - - - 4,687 - 4,687
Wy Zhixiang REH - 3,205 800 % 3 10,620 10 14,690
Liang Jianzhang PiEE - - - - - - - -
Cheng Yun Ming Matthew (i) 588 ) - - - - - = - -
Yu Haiyang () RAE() - = - = = = = -
Brent Richard Irvin Brent Richard Irvin - - - - - - - -
Wy Haibing RBE 90 - - - - - - 90
Dai Xiaojing #x 88 - - - - - - 88
Han Yuling 1B 88 - - - - - - 88
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBRRME

For the year ended December 31,2020 BE — T2 —FF+_-_A=+—HIFE

7. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSE (INCLUDING
DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS) (continued)

(b) Directors’ emoluments (continued)

Year ended December

31,2019
Ma Heping (CEO)
Jiang Hao
Wu Zhixiang
Liang Jianzhang
Lin Haifeng (i
Yu Haiyang
Brent Richard Irvin
Wu Haibing
Dai Xiaojing
Han Yuling

HEZE-0F
tZAZT-BLEE

ST (ERHTE)

b3

REH

2EE

g (i)

g

Brent Richard Irvin

REE

)R

Fees

e
AMBO0D
ARETT

90
8
88

Tongcheng-Elong Holdings Limited | REIf2E25EiERBIRA T

7. BERANFAX (BEESHH)

(%)
(b) EEHM (4

Emoluments paid or payable in respect of a person'’s services as a director,

whether of the Company or its subsidiaries undertaking

A-AALREES (R ALRANBARER) MRARBENRENFH

Discretionary
Salary Bonuses

B PR

RMB000 RMB 00O
ARBTR  ARETR
4800 1319

38 -

3200 879

Housing
allowance

[E5 28
R0
ARETT

2

2

Employer's
contribution
of a retirement Share-based
benefit  compensation
scheme expenses
RivER HRARER
HEEIME HBERX
RMB1000 RMB1000
AREFT ARETFT
36 61454
13 15,884
3% 17353

Other emoluments
paid or payable

in respect of
director's other
services in
connection with
the management
of the affairs

of the Company

or its subsidiaries
undertaking
HESRER
ARAFH
(GEPTES i)
REERBEN
FRMEAEH
RMB1000
ARBTI

Total

a5t
RMB000
ARRTT

67,645
16290
21,503

0
88
88



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B ERR M

For the year ended December 31,2020 HE—Z R +-_A=+—HILFE

7. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSE (INCLUDING
DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS) (continued)

(b) Directors’ emoluments (continued)

Notes:

() Mr. Cheng Yun Ming Matthew was appointed as the Company’s
non-executive director in April 2020.

(i) Mr. Yu Haiyang was appointed as the Company’s non-executive director
in November 2019 and resigned from his position as non-executive
director in April 2020.

(iii)  Mr. Lin Haifeng resigned from his position as non-executive director in
November 2019.

The remuneration shown above represents remuneration received
or receivable from the Group by the director in his capacity as
employee to the companies comprising the Group. No directors
waived any emolument during the years ended December 31, 2020
and 2019.

No emolument was paid by the Company or the companies
comprising the Group as an inducement to join the Company or
the companies comprising the Group, or as compensation for loss
of office during the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019.

Five highest paid individuals

The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in the
Group for the years ended December 31, 2020 include two (2019:
three) directors whose emoluments are reflected in the analysis
shown in “Directors’ emoluments” above. The emoluments payable

to the remaining three (2019: two) individuals are as follows:

7. Eﬂ%?ﬁﬂﬁﬁi (BEESHMW)

) EEHM (&)

mE

Wi

() FHBEER_Z_ZFNAEEER
ARBEHITES -

(i) REFRER-Z—NF+— HZ%;E
RERBFATERIN — T -FFT
ABHISEITES B -

(i) MEEBLEER=T—
WITEE B -

NE+— ABHESE

EXFRHMIEZEETAEERAR
SEETRARAEEHREENENHER
SHEWERHERNFHH - REBEE-FT
—EER-FT-NAF+-A=+—H
HEE - BEEEHEEAHH -

BE_Z_TER_F-NAF+-A
:+—EIJJ:¢F£ F ARBRANEEE
TRRABMENERMHH - ERMA
ARARRAEBE T RAINRE - %

VEBREBAI M E
hEREEHMAL
AEBREBEE_ZT-_EF+_A=+
—HIEFERAZESHFMALEE2S

(ZF-NF 3R)EF - HFHMRK
RIEZHM] LXK DT ©
ENEBRT3IE(ZT—NF : 28) @5
ATHEFMT :
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

For the year ended December 31,2020 BE — T2 —FF+_-_A=+—HIFE

7. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSE (INCLUDING 7. EEEFPEX (BREEEHM)

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS) (continued) (&)
(c) Five highest paid individuals (continued) (c) ABBRESHMAL(E)

Year ended December 31,

BET-AZ=+—-HLEFE

2020 2019

—B-BE  —FNF

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥F T ARBTIT

Wages and salaries TERF® 6,972 5,600

Discretionary bonuses BEIEAL 1,313 1,461
Other social security costs, housing benefits HittRER - FEEF

and other employee benefits MEMIEBET 180 12

Pension costs — defined contribution plans RIS A — FUE G E 101 86

Share-based compensation expenses ARG BEROSR 29,792 29,805

38,358 37,064

The emoluments fell within the following band: BRAHFMN R THIEE
Number of individuals
Year ended December 31,
A"
BZE+t-A=1+—HLEE
2020 2019
g Jemp 53 —ZE-NEF

HKD8,500,001 to HKD9,000,000 8,500,001 78 72 9,000,000,7%8 7T

HKD15,500,001 to HKD16,000,000 15,500,001 7T & 16,000,000 7T 1 =
HKD18,000,001 to HKD18,500,000 18,000,001 % 7L 2 18,500,000 7T - 1
HKD18,500,001 to HKD19,000,000 18,500,001 4 7T & 19,000,000/ 7T 1 =
HKD23,500,001 to HKD24,000,000 23,500,001 7 7T 2 24,000,000 7T - 1
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B ERR M

For the year ended December 31,2020 BEZE=—Z—TF+-A=+—ALFE

SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION EXPENSES

In March 2018, the Company adopted a 2018 share incentive plan
(the “2018 Plan"), which allows senior management, other employees,
non-employees and directors of the Company, with certain vesting
conditions being fulfilled, to (i) acquire ordinary shares of the Company
pursuant to options granted, (ii) receive RSU awards, and (iii) make
direct purchases of restricted shares. The maximum number of ordinary
shares that may be subject to the awards granted under the 2018 Plan is
163,240,270.

On March 9, 2018 and May 18, 2018, the Group granted 5,103,003 and
5,103,003 share options respectively under the 2018 Plan to senior
management, other employees, non-employees and directors of the
Group. The exercise price of all options granted is RMB26 and RMB55
per share respectively. The options granted are with the requisite service

period of four years from the grant day.

On September 1, 2018, the Group granted 6,118,021 share options under
the 2018 Plan to senior management, other employees and directors
of the Group. The exercise price of all options granted is IPO issuance
price of the Company. The options are exercisable upon the market
value of the Company reaches RMB30 billion and shall be forfeited upon

optionee’s resignation or retirement.

In October 2018, the Company granted certain cash-settled share
options in connection with the acquisition of additional interest of its

subsidiary.

In November 2018, pursuant to the share premium account of the
Company being credited as a result of the Listing, the Company allotted
and issued a total of 1,719,906,084 shares by way of capitalization of
the credit of the share premium account upon the Listing. The number
of share options and RSUs in issue prior to the capitalization issue is
adjusted in accordance with the proportional change in the number
of outstanding ordinary shares after the share issue as if the event (the
de facto 1:10 stock split) had occurred at the beginning of the years

presented.

BARR A7 75 EL 1 Y BN € 3 2

RZZE—NEF=A AREERH=-ZFT—N
FROBEBFE ([ ZT—-NF8])
ZAEI AT ARRRRERE - AfbE
8 FEEREFEENE THBKRED
BRAT  (WVREBEERLOBEREKRELRAQA
TR (BRI EALHRE - &
(WEEBEXRHIKRD - BRE_T—N
FHETTERERBNEBRESBER
163,240,2700% °

RZE-—NF=ZANAK=_ZE—NFHA
+NB  AEERE=-Z—N\F:t&55
MASESREERE  HEtiES - 3FES
REZEERT5,103,0031 & 5,103,003 10 AR
o FTARLERENTEES R ATR
AR 26 TR AREESSTT » B H B AE
BE Lz BREMNFRNHREREE -

R-ZZE—N\FHLA—B AEERE_-FT
—NFirElmAEESREERE - EfiE
BREERH6118021 0 HEARKE - AR
BRENTEEAARAERAREEN
BB BREFEAARMEEIAR
¥E3001B T IE R T1TIE - WIEHE A B
SR R T LR ©

RZE—NF+RH KRR GHEELNE
ARFEIMEEREETURSEENBR

"

Ve

o

>

RZZE—NF+—A REXAREEET
M ABRERGEBER © AR AR LR
BROBERNEEERL A REE RET
& #£1,719,906,084 I8 19 & AL ATRI
BEETHNERERIRAIRMELEER
BROBEITEREKRITESRIREE O LM
SHAE  BOZEH(BREZIIORED
ENEMEVNMFEAL -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

TN

GEUBREN

For the year ended December 31,2020 BE =T —TF+-A=1+—RHALFE

SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION EXPENSES
(continued)

In July 2019, the Company adopted a 2019 RSU plan (the “2019 RSU
plan”), which allows officers, employees, non-employees and directors of
the Company to (i) receive RSU awards, and (ii) make direct purchases of
restricted shares. The maximum number of ordinary shares that may be
subject to the awards granted under the 2019 RSU Plan is 31,659,128.

In August 2019, the Company adopted a 2019 share option plan (the
2019 Option plan”), which allows officers, employees, non-employees
and directors of the Company to acquire ordinary shares of the Company
pursuant to options granted hereunder. The maximum number of
ordinary shares that may be subject to the awards granted under the
2019 Option Plan is 73,871,298.

On December 20, 2019, the Group granted 20,983,500 share options and
7,902,000 RSUs respectively under the 2019 Option plan and the 2019
RSU plan to senior management, other employees and directors of the
Group, including 459,000 share options and 25,000 RSUs to employees
of the Group's associates. The exercise price of all options granted is
HKD12.428. 50% of the share options and RSUs granted were vested
immediately upon granting and the remaining 50% to be vested in third
quarter of 2020.

On October 23, 2020, the Group granted 21,100,000 share options and
13,200,000 RSUs respectively under the 2019 Option plan and the 2019
RSU plan to senior management, other employees and directors of the
Group, including 285,200 share options and 60,000 RSUs to employees
of the Group's associates. The exercise price of all options granted is
HKD14.436. 50% of the share options and RSUs granted were vested
immediately upon the grant and the remaining 50% to be vested in
third quarter of 2021.

Tongcheng-Elong Holdings Limited | Ef2E8EERERLT

DR BERNM SR (&

RZE-—NFtA  XRARAEM=ZZT—1
EXREIRDELAAEN (2T -NEX
PREIRR D Bt El]) - &t B R FFARA]
SREEE - -REE  FEEREHHKI
HREIRMECER  RHEEBER
&G - REBE-_Z-NFXRHIKHE
B FREZBNETBARESEE B
31,659,128 % °

RZE—NEFENA ARAEHN_-_FT—
NEBEREFS (2T - NFEREF
2 ZFAEARTARAESRERE -
BE  FEENREFRERENERER
BANRIEARK -REBE_Z-NEERE
ER TREEBNEERESHEER
73,871,298 % °

R-ZZBE—NE+-_A=-+8 xEERE
“E-NFEREFER-_Z-AFEZR
HIRDBEME DR MAEESREE
- EfhiE B RESZH 720,983,500 R
T $ 7,902,000 & 5 R #ll iR 7 B2 - B IE (A
AR E B E A BlE B % 459,00017 BB AR 42
3% 25,0008 PR IR 19 Bz - FrERH
BIRENITEEA1242887T « EH50%H
BRRER ZREIRMOEMEER TR
BNERE - HAS0nE—_ T _TFE=F5
Jz_r'g °

RZZEZTF+A=Z+=0 ' REERE
“E-NFEREGFER-Z-AFER
HIRDEMRFE DB MAERSREE
C HAbg B REEH T21,100,00017 %
T 213,200,000 18 % bR Il & 1 B 52 - B 1E A
R E B E A BlE B % 285,20017 BB AR 42
% 60,000 18 = IR HI iR 5 B AL - FRE R
BREMNITEEB14436787T © HAPS50%H
BARERZREIRMOEMEER TR
ANERE - HARSOWBE—_ZE-—FFE=FK
E_é °



8. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION EXPENSES

(continued)

The share-based compensation expense recognized for employee

services received during the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 is

shown in the following table:

Expense arising from equity-settled share-based

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B ERR M

For the year ended December 31,2020 HE—Z R +-_A=+—HILFE

8. URMBERNM M (F)

MBE_E_EFR_FT—NF+_A=
+7

B FEES R 8 MR %R AR

DRERNMERAZN TRIR :

A 4 DA RR 1 T Bt

Year ended December 31,

BE+-A=1+—RHLEE

2020 2019
—g-®F —T-hK
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TR AR®BTE

payment transactions WAL ZEENRS 380,198 534,347
Expense arising from cash-settled share-based REHEE RN RER
payment transactions BN RZZEERNRS 1,949 7,863
382,147 542,210
(a) Share options (a) BERE

The following table summarizes information with respect to share

options outstanding as of December 31, 2020 and 2019 and the

weighted average exercise prices (“WAEP”).

TERBHMEFHE T _TFR_FT
—NF+ZA=Z+—BHERTEER
REDA R IS 1T B ([ hn#E 51T
FEEDHER -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

For the year ended December 31,2020 BE — T2 —FF+_-_A=+—HIFE

8. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION EXPENSES
(continued)

(a) Share options (continued)

DR BERNVM M (&)

(a) FBMRHE (&

Year ended December 31,

BEt-A=t-HLFE

2020 number 2020 WAEP 2019 number 2019 WAEP

—E-EF —E-hE

“E-ZFHE MEFPHTEE —T-NAFEE METHTEE

RMB RMB

AR¥% ARE

Outstanding at beginning REHARITE 132,431,304 6.17 162,171,070 575

Granted BEE 21,100,000 12.42 20,983,500 1.6

Exercised [RERy:d (38,691,579) 6.70 (50,366,734) 7.23
Forfeited and expired FRZU BRI

during the year (265,318) 4.81 (356,532) 6.03

Outstanding at ending RERRBAITHE 114,574,407 7.08 132,431,304 6.17

Exercisable at ending RERAITHE 53,046,318 8.90 46,196,316 834
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MRRMEE

For the year ended December 31,2020 HE—Z R +-_A=+—HILFE

8. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION EXPENSES 8. URHBEBRNMER< (&

(continued)

(a) Share options (continued) (a) IBRHE (&
Based on fair value of the underlying ordinary shares, the Company ARAREREELEBROALEE -
has used binomial option-pricing model to determine the fair value FRZEXERETEEXUETEH
of the share option granted during the years ended December 31, EEEFR-ITF-NAFFZA=
2020 and 2019. Key assumptions are summarized in the following T-HRLEFEEENEREQALE
table: B FERBHMERTEX

Year ended December 31,
2020 and 2019
BE_2_B2FR-Z-NF
TZA=Zt+-HLEFE

Granted on Granted on
October 23, December 20,
2020 2019

—E-EF —E-h#E
+tA=t=H +=A=tH

R R

Exercise price (HKD) 1T1EE (BT) 14.436 12428

Risk free interest rate 4 [ fp 1) = 0.78% 1.7%

Dividend Yield i 2z 0.00% 0.00%

Expected volatility TEHR R B = 48.96% 45.97%
The weighted average remaining contractual life for the share HE_Z-_TF+-_A=+—HHRK
options outstanding as of December 31, 2020 was 8.02 years. TEMBRENMEFLIFRGEOF

(R A&8.024F »
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR M

For the year ended December 31,2020 BE — T2 —FF+_-_A=+—HIFE

8. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION EXPENSES 8. URHBEBRNMER< (&
(continued)
(a) Share options (continued) (a) IBRHE (&
Share options outstanding at the end of 2020 have the following RZTZFTFREAITERNERES
expiry date and exercise prices: HA RATEBWT
Number of share
options as of
Expiry date Exercise price per share option December 31, 2020
BE-Z-BF
+=-—B=+—H
BB BHBRENTEE BREHE
March 9, 2028 RMB2.6 32,045,063
- N\F=ANH ARM267T
May 18, 2028 RMB5.5 32,785,824
“E-NFRATNR AR¥ESSTT
August 31, 2028 HKD9.8 13,184,560
ZEZNFNA=+—H 988
December 19, 2029 HKD12.428 15,458,960
—ZE-hAFE+ZA+TAB 124287 7T
October 22, 2030 HKD14.436 21,100,000
—E=TF+A=-+=H 1443678 7T
114,574,407
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B ERR M

For the year ended December 31,2020 HE—Z R +-_A=+—HILFE

SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION EXPENSES
(continued)

(b) RSUs (b)

The following table summarizes information with respect to RSUs
arrangements as of December 31, 2020 and 2019 and the weighted
average fair value ("WAFV").

DR BEROM SRR (2)

ZPRHIR D E

TEBEFRBE_FT_TFER_F
—NE+ZA=T—BOHXRHIKRMN
BRURPEARMNEFIAAEE TN
BFHRAREEDOER

Year ended December 31

BE+T-RA=+-HLFE

2020 2019
—E-EF —Z-NE
number WAFV number WAFV
MEFH MET
#E AREE B AREE
RMB RMB
AR ARE
Outstanding at beginning REFEKRITE 26,320,810 7.21 44,056,950 5.82
Granted during the year FRFE 13,200,000 12,02 7,902,000 11.16
Vested and settled during the year RERNBBREE (32,920,810) 7.83 (25,638,140) 6.04
Outstanding at ending AERERITHE 6,600,000 12.02 26,320,810 7.21

The Company used closing market price of its ordinary shares as of
the date of grant to determine the fair value of RSU granted during
the year ended December 31, 2020.

ARBERBERL AN ARRE
BEETEEERE_FT_FTF+—
A=+ HLFEERHZR KRN
BUHRAEE-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MRRME

For the year ended December 31,2020 BE — T2 —FF+_-_A=+—HIFE

9. OTHERINCOME

HlA

Year ended December 31,

BE+-A=1t—RHLEE

2020 2019
—EEF —E-NF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET ARBET T
Government subsidies BT Ah 66,359 51,427
Dividends income A B UA 9,328 =
VAT additional deduction AR RN 23,177 37,193
98,864 88,620
10.0THER GAINS/(LOSSES), NET 10. HAblizs (E518) BEE
Year ended December 31,
BE+T-A=1+—HLEE
2020 2019
gt 33 —E-NEF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T AREBFT
Impairment loss of investments accounted for FAEREARNRE
using the equity method (Note 16) AIEEE (3E6) - (35,110)
Investment income from investments R AT 2R E
measured at amortized cost S E WA 20,576 7,407
Foreign exchange gain bE 5 Yo 17,821 603
Donation B (16,687) (339)
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment HEME - BERXEERE (49) (961)
Others Hitb (1,110) 8,827
20,551 (19,573)
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11.FINANCE INCOME AND COSTS

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B ERR M

For the year ended December 31,2020 HE—Z R +-_A=+—HILFE

MN.BBEKRAREHR

Year ended December 31,

BE+-A=1t—RHLEE

2020 2019
—g-®5 —T-nF
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTR ARBTT

Finance income WA
Interest income on bank deposits RITFERF WA 27,373 47,104
Others Hh 10,268 =
37,641 47,104
Finance costs B%EA
Service fee for bank guarantee RITEROREE (143) (137)
Interest and finance charges paid/payable HEBBEN EAMER
for lease liabilities (Note 15(b)) WsE R (3E150)) (5,876) (1,049)
Interest expense for borrowing fERF B R (8,763) (9,141)
Others HAth - (2,102)
(14,782) (12,429)
Net finance income g T ONE:E 22,859 34,675
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR M

For the year ended December 31,2020 BE — T2 —FF+_-_A=+—HIFE

12.INCOME TAX EXPENSE

The income tax expense of the Group for the years ended December 31,

12.Fhif8HBiRE X
AEEHE-_Z-_ZFR_T—NF+=

2020 and 2019 is analysed as follows: A=+—HLFENMESHRAI AT
Year ended December 31,
BZE+-ZA=t—HLEE
2020 2019
—EEF ZE-NF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥F T ARBETT
Current income tax BVEAFT 1S3 120,978 181,773
Deferred income tax (Note 20) RIEFTIS B (Mi7E20) (48,934) 13,216
72,044 194,989
(a) Cayman Islands income tax (a) BAEHEMBH
Under the current laws of the Cayman Islands, the Company is BEREHESRITEE  AQREA
not subject to tax on the Company's income or capital gains. In AR ARA I E R ST o 1t
addition, no Cayman Islands withholding tax is imposed upon any O BESEEAERIAR B A R BUIR  EBF
payments of dividends. SIEHH -
(b) Hong Kong income tax (b) BBFBH

Entities incorporated in Hong Kong are subject to Hong Kong
profits tax at a rate of 8.25% on assessable profits up to HKD2
million and 16.5% on any part of assessable profits over HKD2

million for the years presented.

Tongcheng-Elong Holdings Limited | [Ef2£5EERERAF]
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B ERR M

For the year ended December 31,2020 HE—Z R +-_A=+—HILFE

12.INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

()

PRC corporate income tax (“CIT”)

CIT provision was made on the estimated assessable profits of
entities within the Group incorporated in the PRC for the years
ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, calculated in accordance with
the relevant regulations of the PRC after considering the available
tax benefits from refunds and allowances. The general PRC CIT rate
is 25% during the year ended December 31, 2020 (2019: 25%).

Three of the Company's subsidiaries incorporated in the PRC is
qualified as High and New Technology Enterprise, and accordingly,
they are subject to a reduced preferential CIT rate of 15% for the

year ended December 31, 2020 according to the applicable CIT law.

Other subsidiaries of the Company incorporated in the PRC are
subject to the general PRC CIT rate of 25% during the year ended
December 31, 2020 (2019: 25%).

PRC Withholding Tax (“WHT")

According to the applicable PRC tax regulations, dividends
distributed by a company established in the PRC to a foreign
investor with respect to profits derived after 1 January 2008 are
generally subject to a 10% WHT. If a foreign investor incorporated
in Hong Kong meets the conditions and requirements under the
double taxation treaty arrangement entered into between the PRC
and Hong Kong, the relevant withholding tax rate will be reduced
from 10% to 5%.

During the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, the Group
does not have any plan to require its PRC subsidiaries to distribute
their retained earnings and intends to retain them to operate and
expand its business in the PRC. Accordingly, no deferred income tax
liability on WHT was provided as of December 31, 2020 (2019: nil).

()

12. iM% (&)

REIEEES ([REAEH D)

BHE-ZT-_ZTFR-T—NFE+=A
=+—HEFE RPBFRRZS
NEB N E K& 5 R & FIE D
EMGHEE  CEMEHEED
KERKRBRT LA AREE
BERBEPBRBEERGTE #HEZ
T -_TFE4+ A=+ —HILFEHEH
EMSHAEHREL2%(ZZE—1
F 125%) °

ARARRAPBEFMAZH =EHE R
AIERTERSFRMEE - ALRE
BRACEMSHE  Z=-FHANBAA
RBE-_Z-_ZEF+-_A=+—HI
FEZALEMGHUREABER X
15% °

AR A E 5 A B SR AR S A9 BT B A
REE—ZE-_TF+_-_A=+—HI
FEAR MR ERB(ZT—HLE
25%) B B EFTEH -

FREIFE ([FEMH D)

RBERTBEBRBESR  EPEKT
BARRIEIREESNEABN _F
FENF-A-—RREENZENORE
—RRABN1 0% TR » MR BB
MAKZWINRIRE E A PR EETE
Z TEIRT LB & B OB 15 7E & BE D R F
KARTE - RIMERATAHIFL B 45 B 10%38

DE5Y o

BE_Z_ZHFR_FT-AF+_A
=t—RLEEE  AEELEEME
EERETEMBRRDIRERER
M REEBRE BN IAESBEE M E
REEK - BEilt  BE_ZT_TF+
“A=+-BRE(ZFT-NF : &)
PIBMBHPRE TS BB 2B -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MRRME

For the year ended December 31,2020 BE — T2 —FF+_-_A=+—HIFE

12.INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)
(d) PRC Withholding Tax (“WHT") (continued)

12. FRE B (&
(d) REIFEMB ([FRINBL) (&

ERAEERBANEFOBEE R
KABE-_T=FTF+=-_A=+—H
IFEE BT R 25%( =B —N4EF :25%)
(MEEEEEMBARNKE)ER
FHSELENSE ZF|HWMMAT

The tax on the Group's profit before tax differs from the theoretical
amount that would arise using the tax rate of 25% for the year
ended December 31, 2020 (2019: 25%), being the tax rate of the
major subsidiaries of the Group. The difference is analysed as

follows:

Year ended December 31,

BE+-A=1+—RHLEE

2020 2019
—E-EF —E-hF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T ARBTT
Profit before income tax B Fr 8Bt A 397,577 881,511
Tax calculated at PRC statutory tax rate of 25% B BETER R 25% T H A IR 99,394 220,378
Tax effects of; INTEIBEMRBEZE
Preferential income tax rates and tax difference BEMEHH R KEP
from the PRC statutory tax rate EEREENERE (99,535) (107,549)
Super deduction for research and T35 78 S 89 0T H0ER ()
development expenses (i) (35,916) (37,248)
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes (ii) BAMBFX () 45,306 134,974
Utilization of previously unrecognized B AR IR BIAE B
tax losses and temporary differences RERFEE (2,802) (47,911)
Tax losses for which no deferred income WRERELEMEHEE
tax asset was recognized KT IR &8 51,768 =
Others HAh 13,829 32,345
Income tax expense BB x 72,044 194,989
Notes: BiaE -
(i)  According to the relevant tax laws and regulations in the PRC, that () WBEPEE-_ZZN\FREREN-Z

was effective from 2008 onwards and updated in 2018, enterprises
engaging in research and development activities are entitled to claim
175% of their research and development expenses so incurred as tax
deductible expenses when determining their assessable profits for the

—N\FEHNBEBREEEER  #E
TSN EERETFEREZHFE
B ARERBHEEAOMERIN
175%5| E I AL IR ©

year.

(i) The expenses not deductible for tax purposes for the year ended iy BEZZT-_TF+-A=+—HLF
December 31, 2020 mainly attributes to the share-based compensation B AAENRENRAZEZHER A
expenses. Bth BREROM SRS -

270 Tongcheng-Elong Holdings Limited | [Ef2£5EERERAF]



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B ERR M

For the year ended December 31,2020 HE—Z R +-_A=+—HILFE

13.EARNINGS PER SHARE
(a) Basic

Basic earnings per share for the years ended December 31, 2020
and 2019 are calculated by dividing the profit attribute to the
Company's equity holders by the weighted average number of

ordinary shares in issue during the respective year.

13.8REF
(@) ER
BHE-ZT-_ZTFR-T—NF+=A
=t BULEFENERERRFTHE
AR E=IFEABEZNBRASE
WE BT E BRI INEFIIEETE -

Year ended December 31,
BE+-A=+—HLEFE

2020 2019
—2-BF T NF

Net profit attributable to the owners RAEIER ANEREF)F5E
of the Company (RMB'000) (ARBFT) 327,593 688,097
Weighted average numbers of ordinary shares B BT AR IR T 8
in issue (thousand shares) (i) (FBOG 2,137,139 2,059,262
Basic earnings per share (RMB) BRERBF (ARE) 0.15 033
Note: Mt -

(i)  Please refer to the notes on share capital and share premium regarding
the change in the number of shares.

() AMBGHEED  BLMBARRESD
el IGE

—E-TEFEEH ANNUAL REPORT 2020

271



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MRRME

For the year ended December 31,2020 BE =T —TF+-A=1+—RHALFE

13.EARNINGS PER SHARE (continued) 13.8REBR (&

Diluted earnings per share is calculated by adjusting the weighted
average number of ordinary shares outstanding to assume

conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares.

As of December 31, 2020, 114,574,407 share options and 6,600,000
RSUs were outstanding in total. For the year ended December
31, 2020, the share options and RSUs granted by the Company
have potential dilutive effect on the EPS. Diluted EPS is calculated
by adjusting the weighted average number of ordinary shares
outstanding by the assumption of the conversion of all potential

dilutive ordinary shares arising from share options and RSUs

BEREERNBBRAEDETER
BRmEFHEEE  URERABE
SRR CEER -

HE-_ZT-_THE+-_A=+—H8 &
114,574,407 17 B A% 4 1. 6,600,000 &
ZRBIRGD BRI ERITE - BEZE
ZZEF+ZA=Z+—HLEEE AR
A A B R RS2 R I AR 17 BE L ¥
BRAFMNEAEESRELE - GRE
SERFTEBHEDEITLRRMM

B HEE - Mt HREAR QA&
computing the diluted EPS). No adjustment is made to earnings A BE AR R 2 TR I AR 1D BE L FRE £
(numerator). WA EBEEE LR EER (A1
HERAEBEERENNDE) - BF
(DF)AW AL -

granted by the Company (collectively forming the denominator for

Year ended December 31,

BE+-A=1+—HLEFE

2020 2019
—ECEHF —FE-NF
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTR ARETE

NARVEE AEERF
FE(ARETT) 327,593 688,097

Net profit attributable to the owners
of the Company (RMB'000)

BT E BT I8

Weighted average number of ordinary shares

in issue (thousand shares) (F1&) 2,137,139 2,059,262
Adjustments for RSUs granted to employees BT REENXREIRG

(thousand shares) B (FE) 3,306 4,585
Adjustments for Options granted to employees BT RERENERERARE (T7m)

(thousand shares) 40,920 53,111

Weighted average number of ordinary shares A EEREERN N TR

for calculation of diluted earnings per share EFHE (FR)
(thousand shares) 2,181,365 2,116,958
Diluted earnings per share (RMB) BREHEEN (ARE) 0.15 033
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MRRMEE

For the year ended December 31,2020 BEZE=—Z—TF+-A=+—ALFE

14.PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14.9% - BERZE
Furniture,
[T fixturesand Leasehold  Construction
Building  equipment  motorvehicle  Software  improvements in progress Total
fa - BR

g7 BkRk  KELRES g# L ERIR it
RMB000  RMB'00O RMB000  RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000  RMB00O
ARBTR ARMTR  ARWTR ARMTR  ARMTR  ARMTR ARWTR

At January 1, 2020 RZ2-8£-5-H
Cost A 396,543 635,535 2179 24746 15,471 440582 1,735,056
Accumulated depreciation 2iiE (19,344) (401,086) (12,306)  (188,478) (11,811) - (633,025)
Net book amount BEFE 377,199 234,449 9,873 36,268 3,660 440,58 1,102,031
Year ended December 31,2020 BE-S-EE{-A=1-A

l:3:4
Opening net book amount ENEEFE 377,199 234,449 9873 36,268 3,660 440,58 1,102,031
Addition through business combination EREHAMRE - 55 35 276 = = 683
Other additions AthRE - 87,549 8,490 10422 2,621 173,256 282,338
Transfer Er 589,143 - - 2,024 - (591,167) -
Depreciation charge EEM (20,880)  (123,155) (3501)  (6803) (2,785) - (157,124)
Disposal HE - (1,572 (230 - - - (1,802)
Closing net book amount EXEEFE 945,462 197,326 14,984 4,187 3,49 261 1,612
At December 31,2020 RZB-FE+-A=1+-H
Cost A 985,686 702,069 30132 237,549 18,092 2671 199,199
Accumulated depreciation Zithe (40,224)  (504,743) (15148)  (195362) (14,59) - (1700m3)
Net book amount FEFE 945,462 197,326 14984 42,187 3,496 267 12612
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBRRME

For the year ended December 31,2020 BE — T2 —FF+_-_A=+—HIFE

14.PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

14.9% - BMERRE (&)

Furniture,
T fixtures and Leasehold Construction
Building  equipment  motorvehicle  Software  improvements in progress Total
& EE
BF EHRE  REREH gt HERE fRIR @
RMBI000 RMB000 RMBOOD  RVBOO0 RMB 000 RMBI000 RMB000
ARETT  ARETT  ARETR ARETR  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR
At January 1, 2019 RZZ-1E-5-H
Cost A 391,768 589270 18214 208290 15440 2935 1442417
Accumulated depreciation 2 478)  (302471) (1179 (181,199) (10,116) = (508,056)
Net book amount BEFE 389290 286,799 6481 2709 5304 219375 934,361
Year ended December 31, 2019 BE_Z-NE+ZA=1-H
LEE
Opening net book amount ENEEFE 389,290 286799 6481 27092 534 219375 934361
Addition through business combination EREBANRE = 459 264 = - = 3
Other additions HfhRE 4775 72955 6,130 16472 208 2107 321,747
Depreciation charge EER (16,866) (124559) (2792) (7,29) (1872) - (153,384)
Disposal HE - (1,206) (210) - = - (1416)
Closing net book amount EREESE 377,199 234449 9873 36,268 3660 4058 1,102,031
At December 31,2019 RZE-NE+-A=1-A
Cost B 396,543 635,535 219 04746 15471 440580 1735086
Accumulated depreciation B (19344 (401,086) (12306)  (188478) (11811) = (633,029)
Net book amount HEFE 377,199 234449 9873 36,268 3660 4058 1,102,031
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MRRMEE

For the year ended December 31,2020 HE—Z R +-_A=+—HILFE

14.PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

Depreciation expenses have been charged to the consolidated income

statement as follows:

14.9% - BERRE(E)

R WmR O MBTEERRT ¢

Year ended December 31,

BETZA=+—-HLFE

2020 2019
—g-®5 —T-nF
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TR AR®BTE

Cost of revenue THEMA 114,639 117,931
Service development expenses RIS 28,178 22,379
Administrative expenses TR 11,755 11,609
Selling and marketing expenses $HE R R X 2,552 1,465

157,124 153,384

Note: As of December 31, 2020, buildings with carrying amount of
RMB362,258,060 was pledged as security for the Group's bank borrowings
of RMB132,921,000 (Note 24).

For the year ended December 31, 2020, there was no interest of

borrowing capitalized in construction in progress (2019: nil).

M BE2-_T-_TF+-_A=1+—8 " K@E
BEA AR362,258,060 TCHIETE I HH
ERAEBIRITERARY 132,921,000
TCRIPELR (BiF3E24) ©

BE_Z_ZTF+_A=T—HLFE "
WEERAMERTRREFOMNE (ZF—N
FE) -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MRRME

For the year ended December 31,2020 BE =T —TF+-A=1+—RHALFE

15.LEASE 15.3E
(@) The balance sheet shows the following amounts relating to leases () BEABEREIINTAEEIELEME
where the group is a lessee: ARTEE MBI FUE
As of December 31,
BE+=-A=+—H
2020 2019
—E-ZF —T-hF
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR®T T ARBTT
Right-of-use assets EREEE
Land-use-right TR AR 15,366 15,702
Buildings B 223,317 21,784
Equipment B 57 134
Vehicles =1 3,371 3,447
242,111 41,067
Lease liabilities HEEE
Current Yk 27,235 6,059
Non-current JERED 205,807 17,830
233,042 23,889
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15.LEASE (continued)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MRRMEE

For the year ended December 31,2020 BEZE=—Z—TF+-A=+—ALFE

15. 888 (&)

(b) The consolidated income statement shows the following amounts (b) HAEKRFXRZIATEBAHEE ZFUE

relating to leases:

Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets
Land-use-right

Buildings

Equipment

Vehicles

Year ended December 31,

BETZA=+—-HLFE

2020 2019
—E-EHF —E-NF
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TR AR®BTE

FRAEEENEER

e A2 336 336
BF 27,783 13,866
B 77 76
B 2,248 458

30,444 14,736
Interest expense (included in finance cost) MERZ GtAMBER)
(Note 11) (FFE11) 5,876 1,049
The total cash outflow for leases in 2020 was RMB28,182,000 (2019: “E-TFMNHEERSRHAEAA

RMB14,333,000).

R¥28,182,000 (ZE—NF : AR
#14,333,0007T) °

No variable lease payments were contained in lease contracts BHE-_ZT_-_ZTF+_-_A=+—HLHF

during the year ended December 31, 2020.

B HEANYEESHEHENK -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR M

For the year ended December 31,2020 BE — T2 —FF+_-_A=+—HIFE

16.INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE
EQUITY METHOD

16. fF R EZEARNIRE

Year ended December 31,

BET-AZ+—-HLFE

2020 2019

—B-BF  —FNF

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥T T ARBTT

At the beginning of the year F9) 90,435 48,731

Additions (a) ANE (a) 138,882 87,772

Transfer to investment in subsidiaries HERMHE R BNIRE (2,775) =
Transfers from investment measured BiRANBETEEHZS

at fair value through profit or loss FFABRAREEA - 1277

Share-based compensation to employee REEE N EE SRS

of the Group’s associates RERHHE 811 509

Shares of losses FEfG BB (7,204) (12,691)

Impairment loss R EEE - (35,110)

Currency translation differences BEBBRE =5 742 (53)

At the end of the year FR 220,891 90,435
Note: MiEE

(@) During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Group invested equity
interests in certain unlisted companies with an aggregate amount of
RMB138.9 million. These companies are principally engaged in hotel
management and other travel-related business and the Group does not have
control over these companies.

The Company's investments in associates accounted for using equity
method are not considered material in individual or aggregated basis in
the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MRRMEE

For the year ended December 31,2020 BEZE=—Z—TF+-A=+—ALFE

17.3%28 8P HWEmT A

As of December 31,

17.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

BZE+=-A=+—H
2020 2019
—E-EF —ZE-hEF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T ARBETTT
Assets as per consolidated statement of FEMBRRARNEE
financial position
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss: EAnBETEEHEZS
FABRNEREE
— Long term investments measured at fair value —BARBEFEEEE
through profit or loss (Note 18) FABRRBRE
(MtzE18) 168,104 238,753
- Short-term investments measured at fair value —EBARBEFEEEE
through profit or loss (Note 18) SFABRMESRE
(MtE18) 4,505,645 4,384,168
Financial assets at amortized costs: R AGTENSREE
— Trade receivables (Note 22) — B S rElEkmE (MHiE22) 931,755 1,096,313
~ Other receivables (Note 21) — ot pE M R (BT aE21) 597,141 891,223
- Time deposits (Note 18) — E BT (M35 18) 1,132,092 407,457
- Restricted cash (Note 23) —XBEHIRE (HiEE23) 92,152 213,381
— Cash and cash equivalents (Note 23) - HeRBEESEEY
(B¥zE23) 1,804,484 2,271,268
9,231,373 9,502,563
Liabilities as per consolidated statement of GEMBRRARNEE
financial position
Financial liabilities at amortized cost: REEK AT ENSRBE
- Trade payables (Note 25) — B S REARIE (M7E25) 2,000,605 3,428,531
— Other payables (Note 26) — H b AT FIE (BisE26) 1,014,642 745,846
-~ Borrowings (Note 24) — &K (fF3E24) 162,532 239,816
~ Lease liabilities (Note 15) —HEaE (HE15) 233,042 23,889
3,410,821 4,438,082
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MRRME

For the year ended December 31,2020 BE — T2 —FF+_-_A=+—HIFE

18.INVESTMENTS 18.1R&
As of December 31,
BZE+=-A=+—H
2020 2019
—ECEF —E-NF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR® T AREET T
Current assets REEE
Short-term investments measured at FHRE
- Amortized cost (a) (e (i) — B HER AT EA) e () 407,353 156,760
— Fair value through profit or loss (b) (e (ii)) —BAnEEFEEEE
sFAIEZE (D) (e (i) 4,505,645 4,384,168
4,912,998 4,540,928
Non-current assets ERBEE
Long-term investments measured at REIRE
— Amortized cost (c) (e (iii)) — RB A ARFT 2 (0) (e (i) 724,739 250,697
— Fair value through profit or loss (d) (e (iv)) —RARBEGFEEHES
FFAIEZ (D) (e (iv) 168,104 238,753
892,843 489,450

(@) Short-term investments measured at amortized cost

Short-term investments measured at amortized cost are time
deposits within one year with fixed interest rates, denominated
in RMB, USD or HKD. The investments are held for collection of
contractual cash flow and the contractual cash flows of these
investments qualify for solely payments of principal and interest,

hence they are measured at amortized costs. None of these

investments are past due.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B ERR M

For the year ended December 31,2020 HE—Z R +-_A=+—HILFE

18.INVESTMENTS (continued)

(b) Short-term investments measured at fair value through

profit or loss

The short-term investments measured at fair value through profit
or loss include wealth management products, denominated in RMB
or USD, with expected rates of return ranging from 0.8% to 4.8%,
per annum for the year ended December 31, 2020 (2019: 2.3%
to 7.5%). The returns on all these wealth management products
are not guaranteed, hence their contractual cash flows do not
qualify for solely payments of principal and interest. Therefore they
are measured at fair value through profit or loss. None of these
investments are past due. The fair values are based on cash flow
discounted using the expected return based on management

judgment and are within level 3 of the fair value hierarchy.

The short-term investments measured at fair value through profit or
loss also include a discretionary portfolio management agreement
denominated in USD, which was entered in December 2019 with
a commercial financial institution. Pursuant to the agreement, the
Company diversified its investment portfolio and authorized the
commercial financial institution to act as the portfolio manager to
manage its assets held or to be held in account on the Company's
behalf. The investment portfolios were instructed to be deployed
in highly liquid financial assets, for instance government bonds and
corporate bonds, that are traded in active markets and quoted by
market prices and therefore, were classified as level 2 within a fair
value hierarchy. The initial cost of investments under this portfolio
management agreement was USD25 million, out of which USD12.5
million was funded by the Company with remaining portion
funded from the commercial financial institution. The Company
recorded the total investment as short-term investment measured
at fair value through profit or loss, and credited the fund from the
commercial financial institution, bearing interest at LIBOR+90bp
compound rate per week, as short-term borrowings. As of
December 31, 2020, the Company has repaid USD8.6 million.

18.1R& (&)

) BERAREEFEEESEHT AR
@mHERRE
BRAREBEFEAHZPFABEMN

RHERERREEMESR  UARES
ENHE BHE_T-TF+ZAZ=
+—HRLFE SFEHERFEN
T08%E48%(ZF—NF :23%F
7.5%) ° FT7E 5% % B B /2 o ) (] 3R 1 A
%%'ﬁkﬁ%WAmﬁ%ﬁEEK
AEBRERRASRFEMK -
}QﬁﬁEJEHA@ ﬁk%ﬁﬁ

c HERAMESRE - AABAETD
ﬁ%%%ﬁ@%ﬂ%mﬁ%@ﬁ&%
RRETEFNE  WEE=FRL2AE
BEREHA -

RANEBEEFELEHEZHABEN
MAERENMBIEUNETE  RF
—NEF+ AR HAEXSREEST
VHERREAEENE - BEHE
RARDMEREHRE  WIREDE
CREBEREAARIMNMEEERA -
REARABEERPL NS T
BHEE - ANARIERREMEGHY
BRBERMEE  fIMEERTER
BREUATSRE (ARSI EAAAE
BEERNE-_ROBNESRARE
% RIBBEEERGH  RENYL
BRABSBEEL HR125BEET
HARRLE SR TPIOHEESR
HELE - AARHRERBERER
BAARBEFEEHZHTABEN
RERE  UYHREEmESREESN
BeREERRBBITRER B MO
m%%%@AﬂzuE%F*AE

HE ZZEF+=ZA=+—H" ' =K
AﬂEEE%E%%ﬁ°
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR M

For the year ended December 31,2020 BE — T2 —FF+_-_A=+—HIFE

18.INVESTMENTS (continued)

()

Long-term investments measured at amortized cost

Long-term investments measured at amortized cost are time
deposits over one year with fixed interest rates, denominated in
RMB. The investments are held for collection of contractual cash
flow and the contractual cash flows of these investments qualify for
solely payments of principal and interest, hence they are measured

at amortized costs. None of these investments are past due.

Long-term investments measured at fair value through
profit or loss

As of December 31, 2020 and 2019, long-term investments
measured at fair value through profit or loss are equity interests
and derivative held by the Group in several private and listed

companies.

The equity interests held by the Group in the private and listed
companies are (i) less than 20% of each entity and the Group
does not have control nor significant influence over each of
these entities, or (i) not considered to be substantively the same
as ordinary share due to the investment having a substantive
liquidation preference or redemption rights. Therefore, these
investments are classified as long-term investments measured at
fair value through profit or loss. The fair values of the long-term
investments are measured using a valuation technique with
unobservable inputs and hence classified as level 3 of the fair
value hierarchy for equity interests in private companies, and are
measured by quoted market prices in active markets and hence
classified as level 1 of the fair value hierarchy for equity interests in

listed companies.

The Company's investments in affiliates accounted for measured
at fair value through profit or loss are not considered material in
individual or aggregated basis in the years ended December 31,
2020 and 2019.
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18.INVESTMENTS (continued)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B ERR M

For the year ended December 31,2020 HE—Z R +-_A=+—HILFE

(e) As of December 31, 2020, details of top 5 principal

investments in each category are set out as below:

(i) Short-term investments measured at amortized cost:

18.8R& (&)

) BE-ZF-_ZTFE+-_A=+-—
B SEHEASKETERENFHE

HHWT :
(i) ZREBHXEABHEHRE -
Percentage
of size as
Principal compared
Principal and interest to the
amount amount total assets

rERk (HEEAR

&8 AME£®E HAEEIH
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TRT AR®TR

Investments in deposits FRIRE

Bank A ERITA 329,669 330,919 1.73%

Bank B R1TB 50,000 50,538 0.26%

Bank C $R1TC 25,000 25,896 0.14%
404,669 407,353 2.13%
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR M

For the year ended December 31,2020 BE — T2 —FF+_-_A=+—HIFE

18.INVESTMENTS (continued) 18.1R¥& (&)

(e) As of December 31, 2020, details of top 5 principal @ BE=-E-—ZEHXE+=-A=1+—
investments in each category are set out as below: B BEAERSKTERENFSE
(continued) ]y T (&

(ii) Short-term investments measured at fair value (i) BRAAEETTEARZEIA
through profit or loss: Bl ERRE -
Percentage
of size as
Principal compared
Principal and interest to the
amount amount  total assets

rEk (HEESE

FEH FEE®E REEIH
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®TT AR®TR

Investments in wealth management BYEMTE

products
Bank D #R17D 560,000 565,161 2.96%
Bank E $RTTE 550,000 553,174 2.89%
Bank F RITF 472,800 478,621 2.50%
Bank G ER17G 445,000 448,904 2.35%
Bank H RITH 381,200 381,305 1.99%

2,409,000 2,427,165 12.69%
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MRRMEE

For the year ended December 31,2020 HE—Z R +-_A=+—HILFE

18.INVESTMENTS (continued) 18.18& (#&

(e) As of December 31, 2020, details of top 5 principal @ BE-_F-TBF+=-A=+-—
investments in each category are set out as below: H SEHFSATERENFRE
(continued) HIWOT (&

(iii) Long-term investments measured at amortized cost: (iii) BBEH AT EH RFRE .
Percentage

of size as

Principal compared

Principal and interest to the

amount amount total assets

rEk (HEERE

rEH FEE®E REESH
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®TT AR®TR

Investments in deposits FRIRE

Bank | ERATI 300,000 302,594 1.58%
Bank J AT 100,000 102,529 0.54%
Bank K $RITK 100,000 100,848 0.53%
Bank L RATL 100,000 100,265 0.52%
Bank M ERITM 50,000 52,262 0.27%

650,000 658,498 3.44%
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR M

For the year ended December 31,2020 BE — T2 —FF+_-_A=+—HIFE

18.INVESTMENTS (continued) 18.1R& (&)

(e) As of December 31, 2020, details of top 5 principal (@) BE=ZE=-ZEHXE+=ZAHA=1+—
investments in each category are set out as below: B BEAERSKTERENFSE
(continued) AT (4
(iv) Long-term investments measured at fair value (iv) BRAREEFTEARZETA

through profit or loss: BalIRHRE -
Percentage
of size as
compared
Equity Carrying to the
interest held amount total assets
hEEERE
HERE BREE REFD
Investment in Companies RARKIKRE
Company A NG 0.80% 85,751 0.45%
Company B NS 0.84% 30,576 0.16%
Company C yNCi[@ 0.48% 18,265 0.10%
Company D NGIID) 7.30% 15,207 0.08%
Company E NAE 5.00% 10,966 0.06%
160,765 0.85%
(f) Amounts recognized in profit or loss (b) REREANSE
Year ended December 31,
BE+=-A=+—-HLEFE
2020 2019
—E-TF —E-NF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T ARBETT
Fair value changes in long-term investments BEARBEFEAEHEHTA
measured at fair value through profit or loss BaNRBREAABEEY (62,677) (11,307)
Fair value changes in short-term investments EAnEBEAEEEZ8EA
measured at fair value through profit or loss BEamEREA R EEEZY 128,122 117,313
65,445 106,006
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e mR M

For the year ended December 31,2020 BEZE=—Z—TF+-A=+—ALFE

19.INTANGIBLE ASSETS 19.8BEEE

Business

cooperation

Business arrangement

relationship and internet

and Trade domain

Goodwill customer names  Technology names
(Note ¢) lists (Note b) platform (Note a) Others Total

Bak

ZHR

BE  XEBRE B )

(W) REFZEE  (Wib)  Hl¥e (M) At Eh)
RMB000  RMB000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTR ARMTR AR®TR ARMTR ARWTR ARBTR ARETR

Year ended December 31,2020 HZ-ECEE
tZB=t-HLEE

Opening net book amount ENEmTE 3,941,630 1,631,723 1,760,464 171,661 329,195 25779 7,860,452
Addition through business BREBARE

combination 17,930 9,000 - 5,600 = = 32,530
Other addition EHRE - = 185 = - 1,844 2,029
Amortization charge ZHER - (161,995) (2,014) (40,840) (208,716 (877)  (414,442)
Closing net book amount EXEEFE 3959560  1,478728 1,758,635 136,421 120,479 26,746 7,480,569
At December 31, 2020 R-B-E5+-A=1+-H
Cost A 3965084 1928977 1,850,632 251,113 1,164,895 42,530 9,203,231
Accumulated amortization 25t - (450,249) (51,595)  (114692)  (1,043,861) (15784)  (1,676,181)
Impairment e (5,524) - (40,402) = (555) = (46,481)
Net book amount REFE 3959560 1478728 1,758,635 136,421 120479 26,746 7,480,569
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBRRME

For the year ended December 31,2020 BE — T2 —FF+_-_A=+—HIFE

19.INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued) 19. B EE (&)
Business
cooperation
Business arrangement
relationship and internet
and Trade domain
Goodwill customer names  Technology names
(Note ¢) lists (Note b) platform (Note a) Others Total
HhafE
ZHR
BE  EBBK % EBEEE
(i) REFLE (Wzto)  B#GTA (fza) i &t
RMB000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB000
ARBTT  AREFTR  ARBTR  ARETR  ARBTR  ARETR  ARETR
Year ended December 31, 2019 BEZ-NE
tZR=t-HLEE
Opening net book amount ENEEEE 3792797 1634143 1766679 206,895 537,050 BYI6 7961640
Addition through business BREBAIRE
combination 148,833 154,300 = 5248 = = 308,381
Other addition EthFE - - 70 - 689 2691 3450
Amortization charge BHER - (156,720) (6,285) (40,482) (208,744) (788) 413,019)
Closing net book amount FREAFE 3,941,630 1631723 1,760,464 171,661 329195 25719 7860452
At December 31, 2019 RZB-AEtZA=1-R
Cost A 3947154 1919977 1,850,447 245513 1,164,895 40,686 9,168,672
Accumulated amortization ZitEH = (288,254) (49581) (7385 (835,149) (14907)  (1,261,739)
Impairment e (5,524) - (40,402) - (555) - (46,481)
Net book amount REFE 3,941,630 1,631,723 1,760,464 171,661 329,195 25719 7860452
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B ERR M

For the year ended December 31,2020 HE—Z R +-_A=+—HILFE

19.INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

Note:

()

Business cooperation arrangement

In July 2016, the Company entered into a Strategic Cooperation
Arrangement with one of its shareholders (the “Shareholder”), which includes
a Business Cooperation Arrangement and a compensation to promotion
and marketing service rendered by the Shareholder to the Company by
issuing certain preferred shares of the Company. The Business Cooperation
Arrangement has a term of five years and the Shareholder will deploy certain
agreed-upon business resources to the Company to increase the user traffic
of the Company's platform. The Company assessed and concluded that the
Business Cooperation Arrangement was qualified as an intangible asset to
recognize in separate from the total consideration. Based on the valuation
performed by the Company with assistance from the independent appraisal,
the fair value of the Business Cooperation Arrangement was RMB163 million
which was recorded as intangible asset and amortized over five years under
straight line method.

Upon the acquisition of Tongcheng Network’s Online Travel Agency Business
(“Tongcheng Online Business”)(“the Acquisition”) consummated on March 9,
2018, a separate business cooperation arrangement with fair value of RMB599
million was acquired by the Group. In July 2015, Tongcheng Online Business
entered into business cooperation arrangement with the Shareholder,
who would deploy certain agreed-upon business resources to Tongcheng
Online Business. Tongcheng Online Business assessed and concluded that
the business cooperation arrangement was qualified for capitalization as an
intangible asset and amortized over the contractual beneficial period of 3.4
years under straight line method.

19.8FEE (&)

Ff

€)

a2

EBEERS

MZTB—RELA ARAHEEF-FZER
(TRRDFT LB R - ERBEES
BIER B R RAA R BREEE R HR
BEORB - TAREITETARBESLRK -
EBAERRYRSE - RREHEE TH
EEBERTARBAEINAREFENA
FRE - ARAIFHARRR - EHAIERY
HNEBERERBVAERBREYFRIER -
R AR AR X B £ 98 37 AT 4 B 199 B) T #E 77 #O 5F
ff EBRERFN AR EER/RARKE 163
BELYCHABTAEL NERENAF
MBS o

U i S R A2 AR A ey A _E IR AR I 2675 ([ R A2
BEEBD(TREDR-_ZE-N\F=ANA
K AEBEES-HRAABEARARE
599 ETHIERI XM A IEREE - ARG L
XN _T-AFEARBRRILEBAE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MRRME

For the year ended December 31,2020 BE — T2 —FF+_-_A=+—HIFE

19.INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

Note: (continued)

(b)

Trade names

The trade names balance as of December 31, 2020 and 2019 comprised of
the trade name acquired by the Group before the years presented which is
with finite useful life of 5 years (“trade name with finite useful life”), and the
trade name of Tongcheng brand arising from the Acquisition on March 9,
2018 which is with indefinite useful life, respectively.

The trade name is attributable to brand of Tongcheng Online Business which
is considered with indefinite useful life as the Group considered: i) it is an
well recognized brand in the market, ii) the Group have demonstrated its
ability to efficiently manage similar brand and will continue to put significant
resource to maintain and promote the brand, iii) there is no technical
obsolescence nor legal limits on the use of the assets, and iv) stability of the
online travel service industry without any downturn in foreseeable future.

Impairment assessment of the trade name with indefinite useful life is as
follow:

Given the trade name with indefinite useful life and goodwill arose from the
acquisition of Tongcheng Online Business are attributable to the same group
of CGUs of the Company, the Company performed the impairment tests
for trade name with indefinite useful life as of December 31, 2020 based on
fair value less cost of disposal (‘FVLCD"). Based on the result of the above
impairment testing, the estimated recoverable amount exceeded its carrying
amount of the group of CGUs (the "Headroom") by approximately RMB2,376
million as of December 31, 2020.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B ERR M

For the year ended December 31,2020 #ZE - T - ZF+_F=+—HILFE

19.INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

Note: (continued)

(0)

Impairment tests for goodwill

As of December 31, 2020, the Company's goodwill includes (1) goodwill
of RMB3,609 million recognized from the Acquisition on March 9, 2018;
(2) goodwill of RMB184 million recognized from the acquisitions before
the years presented; (3) goodwill of RMB149 million recognized from the
acquisition of Suzhou Tongcheng Cultural Tourism Development Co., Ltd
("TCCT") on April 30, 2019; and (4) goodwill of RMB18 million recognized
from the acquisition of Nanjing Eurasia Air Transportation Co., Ltd ("“Nanjing
Eurasia”) on September 30, 2020 (Note 31) and other acquisition.

During the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, the Company
performed impairment reviews for the goodwill and intangible assets with
indefinite useful life annually or more frequently if events or changes in
circumstances indicate a potential impairment. For impairment purpose,
the carrying value of the group of CGUs containing goodwill and intangible
assets with indefinite useful life, is compared to the recoverable amount
which is determined based on the higher amount of the FVLCD and
value-in-use ("VIU") calculations. Since management reviews the business
performance of the Group and operates the trade name of Tongcheng brand
at group level as a single segment, the Company used one group of CGUs
(the “group of CGUs") in assessing the impairment for goodwill.

As of December 31, 2020, the recoverable amount of this Group was
determined based on FVLCD, which was estimated by management with
reference to the transaction price of the Company’s listed shares in the
Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. Management
considered the recoverable amount of the Group was higher than its
carrying amount as of December 31, 2020.

Based on the result of the above impairment testing, the estimated
recoverable amount exceeded its carrying amount of the group of CGUs (the
“Headroom”) by approximately RMB9,534 million as of December 31, 2020.

Amortization charges were expensed in the following categories in the
consolidated statements of comprehensive income:

19.8FEE (&)
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Year ended December 31,

BE+-A=1t—HLEE

2020 2019

—E-FF —T-NF

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR%T R AREEFTT

Cost of revenue SHEM A 2 851
Service development expenses RRE RS 202,865 199,723
Selling and marketing expenses HEREHEAY 208,716 208,777
Administrative expenses TTERE X 2,859 3,668
414,442 413,019
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MRRME

For the year ended December 31,2020 BE — T2 —FF+_-_A=+—HIFE

20.DEFERRED INCOME TAX 20. IR SE PSR
As of December 31, 2020, there was no offsetting deferred income tax HE-_Z-_ZF+-A=+—H0 " HEXK
assets and liabilities (December 31, 2019: nil). HEEMSHEERAB(ZE—NAFT+=
A=+—RH:4)-
The analysis of deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities is as BEREEERBELEHIBEESTOT ¢
follows:

As of December 31,
BZ+=-—A=+—H

2020 2019
223 —E-NF
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TRT ARETE

Deferred tax assets: REFIBEE ¢
— to be recovered after more than 12 months — BB 1218 A &Y= 140,572 154,655
— to be recovered within 12 months — 1218 ARk 75,038 46,402
215,610 201,057
- offsetting deferred income tax liabilities —EHREMEH AR - =
215,610 201,057

Deferred tax liabilities: EEBIBAE -
- to be recovered after more than 12 months — 8@ 1218 A& W (484,575) (525,198)
— to be recovered within 12 months — 1218 ARk (44,638) (43,178)
(529,213) (568,376)
- offsetting deferred income tax assets —BEEEMEHEE - =
(529,213) (568,376)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R PSRRI

For the year ended December 31,2020 BEZE=—Z—TF+-A=+—ALFE

20.DEFERRED INCOME TAX (continued)

The gross movements in the deferred income tax assets are as follows:

20 EEFRSHE (&)
EEFSHAESRBNT :

Impairment
on
investment,
trade
receivables
Accrued and Future
liabilities ~ prepayment deductible
and and other expenses Tax losses
provisions receivables and others (Note) Total
RE -ES
FEWE -
BERRER
HitfEW  RRADRE HEER
EtRERERE TOERE  AXREM (FFaE) w@ct
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR AR¥TR ARBTR AR%TR AR%TR
At January 1, 2020 R-E-E%-A—-H 10,097 8,829 76,727 105,404 201,057
Addition through business BREBEHAE (F31)
combination (Note 31) - 1,387 842 519 2,748
Credit/(charge) to profit or FARNER/EtHE
loss/other reserve for the year A/ (H0R) (194) 19,741 19,514 (27,256) 11,805
At December 31, 2020 R-B-BE+ZA=1-H 9,903 29,957 97,083 78,667 215,610
At January 1,2019 RZZF-1¥-A—-H 9,824 3430 83,669 153,868 250,791
Addition through business BREBREHRE
combination - 133 68 2,170 2,371
Credit/(charge) to profit or loss FRRBREEA/ (NK)
for the year 273 5,266 (7,010) (50,634) (52,105)
At December 31, 2019 R=B-n&+=-A=t-H 10,097 8829 76,727 105,404 201,057
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE B ER R MY EE
For the year ended December 31,2020 BE =T —TF+-A=1+—RHALFE

20.DEFERRED INCOME TAX (continued)

20 JBIEFTSH (&)

The gross movements in the deferred income tax liabilities are as

EREFASHAEAZEFHMT ¢

follows:
Fair value
changes in
Intangible investments
assets measured
acquired at fair value
in business through
combination profit or loss Others Total
RAREE
STEREHSH
REBEH  FTABEREW
hESH RERAR
BmEE BEESH Hit et
RMB’000 RMB’'000 RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARBTR AR¥TR AR®TR AR®¥TxR
At January 1, 2020 R=-ZB-ZF—H—H (567,538) (824) (14) (568,376)
Addition through business BREBEHAE (HHE31)
combination (Note 31) (3,650) - - (3,650)
(Charge)/credit to profit or FAREZ (F0BR) FA
loss for the year 43,269 (456) - 42,813
At December 31, 2020 R=FB=FF+=-A=1—H (527,919) (1,280) (14)  (529,213)
At January 1, 2019 R=ZZB-NF—HA—H (570,487) (564) (13) (571,064)
Addition through business BREBEHAE
combination (39,887) = = (39,887)
Credit/(charge) to profit or FRARBRTAIR)
loss for the year 42,836 (260) (1) 42,575
At December 31, 2019 R=FB-AF+=A=+—H (567,538) (824) (14) (568,376)
Note: BT -

Deferred income tax assets are recognized for deductible temporary differences
and tax losses carry-forwards to the extent that the realization of the related tax
benefit through future taxable profits is probable. The Group did not recognize
deferred income tax assets of RMB237,518,000 as of December 31, 2020 (2019:
RMB175,536,000), in respect of tax losses amounting to RMB850,715,000 (2019:
RMB623,644,000) and other temporary differences of RMB192,065,000 (2019:
RMB145,998,000) of certain subsidiaries comprising the Group as at those dates,
respectively, that can be carried forward against future taxable income, and will

expire between 2021 and 2026 under PRC tax regulations.
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21.PREPAYMENT AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B ERR M

For the year ended December 31,2020 HE—Z R +-_A=+—HILFE

21. FAN FRIR R E At B IE

As of December 31,

BZ+=-A=+—H
2020 2019
—BC-EHE —T-hEF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T AR®ET T
Included in non-current assets STAERBEE
Advances to suppliers ) 4k FE P EA K 2,902 3,809
Total non-financial assets ISR EERTE 2,902 3,809
Deposits Be 2,195 3,616
Others Hih 862 =
Total financial assets TRIEERRE 3,057 3,616
Non-current, total JEENER - 4258 5,959 7,425
Included in current assets FARBEE
Advances to accommodation suppliers METEHERRHR 41,027 50,584
Prepaid taxation AR 36,009 30,784
Advances to tickets suppliers MEEHERRR 286,617 462,301
Prepayment for advertising BNEEE 29,773 25,964
Prepayment for office rental SEENE VN R 441 449
Prepayment to related parties (Note 36) Ta{~ A 5 A (M sE36) 37,339 24,706
Others HAh 63,003 87,058
Total non-financial assets FeRmEERTE 494,209 681,846
Deposits by 187,435 201,920
Receivable from related parties (Note 36) FE U BA S 77 7O (K3E36) 398,924 626,800
Others A, 54,744 63,166
Less: provision for impairment of other receivables R E A G IE R E R (47,019) (4,279)
Total financial assets TREEMLR 594,084 887,607
Current, total BIHR - 4858 1,088,293 1,569,453
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MRRME

For the year ended December 31,2020 BE =T —TF+-A=1+—RHALFE

21.PREPAYMENT AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 21. AN FE R EEWEIE (&)

(continued)

(@ Movement in impairment of other receivables are as follows:

(a)

Hib U FIRRREZ E T

Year ended December 31,

BE+-—A=+—HLEE

2020 2019
—g-®F —T-nF
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥®T T ARETT

At the beginning of the year F] (4,279) (1,529)
Provision for impairment RERE (68,332) (6,452)
Addition through business combination BREBEHAE (20) =
Written-off g8 25,612 3,702
At the end of the year FR (47,019) (4,279)

(b) The Group considers the probability of default upon initial
recognition of asset and whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk on an ongoing basis throughout each
reporting period. Other receivables that are measured at amortized

costs mainly included deposits and receivables from related parties.

Based on the assessment and analysis conducted by the Directors,
a significant increase in credit risk of other receivables from four
companies with carrying amount of RMB84,461,000 has occurred
since initial recognition, then impairment is measured as lifetime
expected credit loss, the Group has made RMB70,635,000 provisions
against other receivables as of December 31, 2020 (December 31,
2019: nil).

Except for other receivables above, impairment on other receivables
is measured as 12-month expected credit losses, as there has not
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
the Group has made RMB3,349,000 provisions against the other
receivables. (December 31, 2019: RMB4,279,000).
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22.TRADE RECEIVABLES

Receivables from third parties

Receivables from related parties (Note 36)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MRRMEE

For the year ended December 31,2020 HE—Z R +-_A=+—HILFE

22. B S EEWFE

REE =M ERRIA
2R B BB 5 B R U FR IR
(FffzE36)

As of December 31,

Less: allowance for impairment of trade receivables

B BB REFORRERE

Note:

(@)

Movements on the Group's allowance for impairment of trade receivables (a)

are as follows:

Wi

BZ+=-A=+—H
2020 2019
—ECEHE —T—hfF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T ARBFT
799,998 762,292
246,412 368,473
1,046,410 1,130,765
(114,655) (34,452)
931,755 1,096,313

AEBNE ZRUGRIERERFHEZSNT

Year ended December 31,

BE+-A=1t—HLEE

2020 2019

—BC2F —E-hEF

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥T T ARBFT

At the beginning of the year RE] (34,452) (3,962)
Provision for doubtful receivables FEWRIB RER BB (72,081) (33,506)
Addition through business combination BREBAIRE (5,530) =
Receivables written off during the year as uncollectible S 2 7 AT UK (o] FE I R IR 3,453 3,016
Recovery of the provision written off in previous periods W e R a1 BRI 8 2 B (6,045) =
At the end of the year RER (114,655) (34,452)

T -THEFIR  ANNUAL REPORT 2020

297



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE B ER R MY EE
For the year ended December 31,2020 BE =T —TF+-A=1+—RHALFE

22.TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

Note: (continued)

(b) The Group normally allows a credit period of 30 days to its customers. An
aging analysis of trade receivables based on invoice date is as follows:

22. B 5 EINFRIE (&8
fizE : (&)

(b)

AEBBEETEPIOANEER - RIE
R A E S EKSIRETTH R DT a0
T

As of December 31,

BEZE+=-HA=+—H
2020 2019
—E-EH —ZT-NF
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TT AREET T

Up to 6 months =% NMAAR 777,950 1,045,582
Over 6 months NEA M E 268,460 85,183
1,046,410 1,130,765

(c) Trade receivables are classified as financial assets measured at amortized
cost, their carrying amounts approximated their fair values due to their short
maturities.

(d) The Group applies the simplified approach to provide for expected credit
losses prescribed by IFRS 9, which permits the use of the lifetime expected
loss provision for all trade receivables. To measure the expected credit
losses, trade receivables have been grouped based on shared credit risk
characteristics and the days past due. The provision is determined as follows:

Current
BN A
RMB’000
AR¥T
As of December 31, 2020 BE_Z_ZF
+=A=+-8
Expected loss rate TEHIEE X 1.51%
Gross carrying amount IREAE 505,456
Loss allowance provision EREE R 7,608
As of December 31, 2019 BE-Z-h&
t+=A=+-~8
Expected loss rate TEEE R X 0.10%
Gross carrying amount RE4AE 751,810
Loss allowance provision B R E R 765
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Up to

3 months
past due
BYR®
318 A
RMB’000
AR¥T R

4.40%
229,397
10,093

0.44%
190,697
840

BHRWFBTDDBERLEHER AT ENS
MEE  HEEERMRBEMEREARE
EIfE -

AEE E A BB S 3RS R 9 HRE W
27 AR B E R R REE - ZER
RFFRNEE S RYGRE B EEFEHN
EHEREE - RITERBEERE 25
YA RIBERAEERBSHFAHR
oM - BBEREELT

3to Over

6 months 6 months
past due past due Total

BH3E BHER
618 A 6@ A @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥TR ARWTRT AR%T:R

10.20% 35.64%

55,324 256,233 1,046,410
5,645 91,309 114,655
1.58% 25.4%

62,855 125,403 1,130,765
993 31.854 34,452



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B ERR M

For the year ended December 31,2020 HE—Z R +-_A=+—HILFE

23.BANK BALANCES AND CASH

(a)

Cash and cash equivalents

23.BTHEBRRES
(a) BERBEEZEEY

As of December 31,

BZE+=-A=+—H
2020 2019
—EEF —FE-NF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T ARBET T
Cash on hand FERS 98 37
Cash at bank RITIRE 1,804,386 2,271,231
1,804,484 2,271,268

Cash at bank earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank
deposit rates. The conversion of the RMB denominated balances
maintained in the PRC into foreign currencies is subject to the rules
and regulations of foreign exchange control promulgated by the

PRC government.

Restricted cash

Deposits to business partners

Restricted cash represents cash that cannot be withdrawn without
the permission of third parties. In connection with the Group's air
ticket business and the accommodation reservation services, the
Group was required by its business partners to place deposits in the
Group's bank accounts as guarantee in order for the issuance of air

tickets and timely payment.

TEBBRHENRSE

RITASBREBARTERNEINZH
MERBEBRAE - RPBEFHROARKE
BRA R BINGE BB TP BB EM
SN B ] 25 A1) B AR fB) o

ZREERE
As of December 31,
BE+=-A=+—8H
2020 2019
—E-ETF —E-hF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T AREET T
92,152 213,381

RRBIRSIEALE=THET TR
BRE -  ARBEREXH RER
BAIRBME  FHBHERLEE
ERMIBITEOFTAESIEER -
VAREIRBE 3, M R IR BB A 3K ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MRRME

For the year ended December 31,2020 BE — T2 —FF+_-_A=+—HIFE

24.BORROWINGS 24. 6K
As of December 31,
BE+=-A=+—H
2020 2019
—EEF —E-NF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T AREET T
Included in non-current liabilities: FFASEREIALE
Secured bank borrowings (a) BEBPRITER Q) 113,229 132,921
Included in current liabilities: FFARBEE
Unsecured loan from financial institution (b) EI RS REBE(Db) 29,611 87,203
Current portion of secured bank borrowings (a) BEHEMRITERABIE IS (a) 19,692 19,692
49,303 106,895
162,532 239,816
Notes: BiRE -

(@) The bank borrowings denominated in RMB were secured by property, plant
and equipment of the Group (Note 14) and bear interest at CHIBOR floating
rate with 10% per annum.

(b) The Company's borrowing is USD3.9 million as of December 31, 2020 to
leverage short-term investment measured at fair value through profit or
loss (Note 18(b)). The loan bears interest at LIBOR+90bp compound rate per
week, as short-term borrowings.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MRRMEE

For the year ended December 31,2020 HE—Z R +-_A=+—HILFE

24.BORROWINGS (continued) 24. 16K (&
At December 31, 2020 and 2019, the Group's borrowings were repayable RZEZTERZF-NAFTA=+—
as follows: H - AEBEEFHEEBEROT
As of December 31,
BE+t=-A=+—8H
2020 2019
—g=®F "I NF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARBFT
Within 1 year 1 AA 49,303 106,895
1~2 years 1E26F 19,692 19,692
2~5 years PEE:S 59,076 59,076
Over 5 years SEFEL 34,461 54,153
162,532 239,816
The Group is in compliance with all loan covenants as of December 31, BE T ZTENR-—"FT—NhE+-_/A=+—
2020 and 2019. B AEEBETHEEREZE -
25.TRADE PAYABLES 25. B Z B FIE
As of December 31,
BE+t-A=+-—H
2020 2019
gt 222 —E-NF
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARET T ARETE

Payables to third parties ENE=H%E 877,518 1,260,643
Payables to related parties (Note 36) FE 1< B 75 5R0B (B 5E36) 1,123,087 2,167,388
2,000,605 3,428,531
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

For the year ended December 31,2020 BE — T2 —FF+_-_A=+—HIFE

25.TRADE PAYABLES (continued) 25. 8 5 EARUE (45
Trade payables and their aging analysis based on invoice date are as RIFEZHREE FEMNRIBETHRER
follows: DT

As of December 31,

BE+=A=+-8
2020 2019
—g-®F —T-AF
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TR AR®BTE

Up to 6 months &% E A 1,741,669 3,253,169
Over 6 months ~E AL E 258,936 175,362
2,000,605 3,428,531
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B ERR M

For the year ended December 31,2020 BEZE=—Z—TF+-A=+—ALFE

26.0THER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

26. Htt B RIE R BT E A

As of December 31,

BE+=-A=+-—H
2020 2019
—B-BF —TNF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T ARBTIT
Payable to insurance companies TE R A BIZRIE 366,049 228,792
Payable of reorganization cost (a) JE (S E AR AR (a) 157,454 157,193
Deposits from sales channel REHERBENES 81,147 104,647
Accrual for users incentive program AP T8I fERTE A 40,735 78,195
Payable of property, plant and equipment V¥ - S KR B FE IR 165,578 54274
Payable to travel service suppliers JE -1 R 382 AR 75 £ FE P 18 84,468 14,041
Payables to related parties (Note 36) JEAF R EGE 7 RO (KitsE36) 13,756 16,055
Payable of equity investment IR & FE A 5RIA 58,661 15,000
Contingent consideration payable L B FE T B S A (B (BRFEE3T)
for acquisition (Note 31) 3,490 =
Others HAh, 43,304 77,649
Total financial liabilities TRBERR 1,014,642 745,846
Advances from users AP 526,368 685,560
Accrued payroll and welfare JEET L& KRAEF| 253,810 291,699
Accrued advertisement expenses EETEERY 104,779 107,431
Business and other taxes R R H A TR 29,326 57,855
Accrued professional fees ErtEXEA 15,626 27,379
Accrued commissions it 17,862 16,521
Payables to related parties (Note 36) FEAS A 7 7OE (BE36) 2,226 312
Others A, 9,351 20,868
Total non-financial liabilities oA BEEE 959,348 1,207,625
Total et 1,973,990 1,953,471
Note: sk

(@) After the Acquisition, for the purpose of meeting certain listing requirements
on its equity interests in the consolidated PRC operating entities using
contractual agreements, the Group carried out an internal reorganization
by transfer certain equity interests of its PRC operating entities, including
Tongcheng Network, from the equity holders of these PRC operating entities
to its subsidiaries. Pursuant to the contractual arrangements of these PRC
operating entities, the pertinent expenses of the equity holders in relation to
the share transfer shall be borne by the Group.

(@)

WHE SRR - RiWeABRAEHRIFNH
RTPBELEREBNET ETRE A%
EEBSETEELTRE (BEREMA®K)
MWETRERZSTRELERORERE
ANBZEZHMBARNDNETAEA -
RIBEZETEEZERNS LT - BIER
BARBRNHEENEBR AR AEEX

=
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MRRME

For the year ended December 31,2020 BE =T —TF+-A=1+—RHALFE

27.CONTRACT LIABILITIES

The Group has recognized the following revenue-related contract

27. 8B E

AEBECERUTRERBAHNANEE

liabilities:
As of December 31,
BEZ+=-A=+—H
2020 2019
—EC-EF —ZT-NF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T AREET T
Deferred revenue for online reservation service ERTER] RIS IR Wz 160,577 88,554

Contract liabilities primarily consists of the sales of various eCoupon
programs, for which implied obligations are to be provided by the

Group over time.

The following table shows the amount of revenue recognized in
consolidated statements of comprehensive income for the years ended
December 31, 2020 and 2019 relating to contract liabilities brought

forward:

EHNABTERAEESRETESRSTE
EE ARERE-RERAHLETR

SEE-

TREVNHEE-_ZEER-_T—HET
—A=ZT-BULFEGAETERERER
MEEELOEEEENKESE

Year ended December 31,

BE+T-AZ+—HLFE

2020 2019
—g=8F T AF
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T T ARETT

Revenue recognized that was included in the contract FHRAGHNBEEHD

liability balance at the beginning of the year B R

Tongcheng-Elong Holdings Limited | Ef2E8EERERLT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MRRMEE

For the year ended December 31,2020 HE—Z R +-_A=+—HILFE

28.SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE PREMIUM 28. IR A K A7 i (B
Number of Ordinary Ordinary
ordinary shares share capital ~ share premium  Treasury stock Total
LERYA EERRA EEREE ERRG @zt
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBT T ARBT R ARBT T ARBT T

At January 1,2020 R-ZE-EF-f-H 2,126,788,694 7,323 18,189,973 (7) 18,197,289
Exercise of share options - EBiE - HAETE

proceeds received 38,691,579 132 557,231 - 557,363
Restricted shares units vested ERBREENZRFIRMEN

and settled 14,502,000 57 299,153 7 299,217
At December 31, 2020 R-E-EE+-F=1-H 2,179,982,273 7,512 19,046,357 - 19,053,869
At January 1, 2019 RZZ-nE-A-A 2076421960 7,156 17,311,220 (15) 17,318,361
Exercise of share options - TERRE-ERAERE

proceeds received 50,366,734 175 755052 - 755227
Restricted shares units vested EREREENZRERMEN

and settled - ) 123,701 8 123,701
At December 31,2019 R=Z-AE+=A=t-A 2,126,788,694 7323 18,189,973 7) 18,197,289
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MRRME

For the year ended December 31,2020 BE =T —TF+-A=1+—RHALFE

29.0THER RESERVES 29. Ht f# &
Currency Share-based
Capital Statutory translation  compensations
reserve reserves differences reserve Others (a) Total
DRBA
EAfit iR EMBEEE ERNOMERE Efb(a) &3t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARETR  ARETR  ARMTR ARBTR  ARETR  ARMTR

At January 1, 2020 R=B-%5-f-A (5,389,435) 9,826 14,153 2,212,897 483,613 (2,668,946)
Exercise of share options - ERRE-CRHRERE

proceeds received - - - (288,844) - (288,844)
Exercise of share options - TRRE-FrERAR

income tax expenses - - - 6,147 - 6,147
Currency translation differences BEhEEE - - (125,844) - - (125,844)
Share-based compensations IR BERREE - - - 381,008 = 381,008
RSUs vested and settled EEBREENTRA

S - - - (299,168) - (299,168)

Disposal of investment accounting HEFRRREARNRE

for using equity method - - - - (97) (97)
At December 31, 2020 RZB-EE+-A=t-H (5,389,435) 9,826 (111,691) 2,012,040 483,516 (2,995,744)
At January 1, 2019 RZB-NE-A-A (5,389,609) 9826 (15917) 2,189,253 483613 (2722,834)
Exercise of share options - ThRRE-CWHRERE

proceeds received - - - (391,197) - (391,197)
Exercise of share options - FERE-FEREX

income tax expenses = = = 3686 = 3686
Currency translation differences ERHEER - - 30070 - = 30070
Share-based compensations DAH%’%%WE’]M? = = = 534,856 = 534,856
RSUs vested and settled EREENTRH

Hﬂn Bfy = = = (123,701) - (123,701)
Acquisition of non-controlling interest BB FEIE IR 2R 174 = = = = 174
At December 31,2019 RZB-NE+ZA=1-R (5389439) 9826 14153 2212897 483613 (2668.946)
(@) Others mainly represents the reserves arising from the conversion @) EMFEHENEIFENEBRAEER
of preferred shares of the Group before the years presented. BERELENRER -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B ERR M

For the year ended December 31,2020 BEZE=—Z—TF+-A=+—ALFE

30.DIVIDEND

31

No dividend has been paid or declared by the Company or the
companies now comprising the Group during the year ended December
31,2020 (2019: nil).

.BUSINESS COMBINATION

Acquisition of Nanjing Eurasia

On October 1, 2020, in order to expand corporate travel management
services, the Company acquired 100% equity interests in Nanjing Eurasia
from a related company, Tongcheng International Travel Service Co., Ltd.
(“Tongcheng Travel”) and a third party, and accounted for the acquisition
of Nanjing Eurasia as a business combination and started to consolidate

the financial statements of Nanjing Eurasia from October 1, 2020.

The initial cash consideration was RMB40.0 million, of which RMB35.0
million was paid to Tongcheng Travel and RMB5.0 million was paid to
a company established by Mr. Huang Liang, the founder of Nanjing
Eurasia and a third party. In accordance with the purchase agreement,
the Group would pay contingent consideration to the selling company
controlled by Mr. Huang Liang upon certain operational conditions
were met. As of the acquisition date, the fair value of such contingent

consideration was RMB3.5 million.

In addition, Mr. Huang Liang is required to remain seat as executive
officer of Nanjing Eurasia for the next two years and would be paid upon

such service condition was met.

Details of the purchase consideration, the net assets acquired and

goodwill are as follows:

30.RE

31

BE-_Z-_ZTE+-_A=+—BHL=EE -
A7) 3k BR B AR Ak AN S B Ay A &) I B R A
KERBRE (ZE—NE: &) -

FEBAO

s fE P R B AR

RZZB-ZF+A—H "REABHIRE
EIERY - ARA B @B AR RERERK
THERRE (TREKRTEDE—RE=
77 W B F R BR SR BY 100% AR A2 - 30 A4S B R ER
THERBEREARIMERTAH  R2F
—EE+A-BRBEHFAREREERZ
FATEHRER -

MEREREBARBIA00BET  £FA
R¥EOABLINTEBRTHEARE
SOBBRXN FHESRLE (MREREME
MAVKMIORRIR—BE=H - RIEBE
B AREEBRE T EERGERFR
ERAEESNET AR FHANE -
HEWHEAH  ZAARENAIAREER
ARE3SHETT °

BEAN - B AR AR RN E R BT
REEMITE - WHRERB @RS ET

BEIER -

BEAE  FEALESEREENEE
T -

October 1, 2020

—E_ZF+H—H
RMB’000
AR¥T T

Fair value of the Consideration REZAAEE
Cash consideration BeRE 40,000
Fair value of contingent consideration FAREN AR EE 3,490
Total consideration REH®EE 43,490
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BRI

For the year ended December 31,2020 BE — T2 —FF+_-_A=+—HIFE

31.BUSINESS COMBINATION (continued)

Acquisition of Nanjing Eurasia (continued)

31.EKE0t(E)

The preliminary price purchase allocation (PPA) of the acquisition is as

follows:

WS B R ()
WEEEEMYSEEBSEPPALT ¢

Identifiable assets and liabilities at the acquisition date: Fair Value
WEEHTRBINEEREE AREE
RMB’000
ARET
Cash and cash equivalents ReRREFEY 2,373
Restricted cash R HIR e 200
Trade receivables & 5 WA 36,911
Prepayment and other receivables TR FRIE K EAth FE W R IE 8,048
Short-term investments measured at RAnBEEEEEHT ABRNEHIEE
fair value through profit or loss 17,500
Property, plant and equipment ME - BEREE 625
Right-of-use assets EREEE 743
Intangible assets BEEE
— Supplier relationship (a) —HEEBER @) 9,000
~ Technology (b) — Bl (b) 5,600
Deferred income tax assets RIEFREHEE 2,748
Borrowings B (5,000)
Trade payables Z SR RIE (39,181)
Other payables and accruals Hibh I RIBEREGER (8,889)
Lease liabilities HEARE (634)
Deferred income tax liabilities RIEMEHaE (3,650)
Total identifiable net assets AE Bl REERE 26,394
Goodwill (c) A&« 17,096
43,490
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B ERR M

For the year ended December 31,2020 HE—Z R +-_A=+—HILFE

31.BUSINESS COMBINATION (continued)

Acquisition of Nanjing Eurasia (continued)

Note:

The identified intangible assets for the acquisition primarily consist of supplier
relationship and technology. They are initially recognized and measured at fair
value if they are acquired in business combinations.

(a)

The supplier relationship represents the contractual business relationship
with the existing suppliers of the acquired entity, i.e. other travel service
providers of Nanjing Eurasia, of which the Company assessed and estimated
the useful life at 10 years based on the considerations of the long-term
relationship built up with the suppliers, market practice in the other travel
service industry as well as the turnover and churn rate of suppliers in the
past. The Company also benchmarked with the useful life of the similar
intangible assets from the comparable deals in the market.

The technology represents the self-developed business system and the
related technology that the acquired entity can enhance the operating
efficiency and improve the corporate travel services. The Company assessed
and estimated the useful life at 10 years primarily based on the comparable
market deals of similar technology.

Goodwill is primarily attributable to the operating synergies and economies
of scale expected to be derived from combining the operations. None of the
goodwill is expected to be deductible for income tax purpose.

The acquired business contributed revenue of RMB6.7 million and net

loss of RMB1.5 million to the Group for the period from October 1,

2020, the acquisition date, to December 31, 2020. If the Acquisition had

occurred on January 1, 2020, consolidated revenue and net loss for the

year ended December 31, 2020 would have been RMB19.2 million and

RMB3.9 million respectively.

31.EKE0t(E)

Uy B8 e SR 52 ()
Bl B0 BRI T B IR (R PR IR

Ry - Wz SRV EEAEBAHTABA
AR DA BEER R E -

@ HEPBEREEMBAREBREHER (B
P 2R R S5 0 E A IR 05 PR IS (R IE RS ) R A0 %
BRAR - AAREREHRENELN R
% - AR ARG 1TRATISEOIA R E
EUEMERERRAREZERZTHR
AEtEAEREHA10F - RQRF2EM
B EABELRZZESNBEUETLEENA
ERAFEH -

(b) FHUEMKBERARAZERERNERD
i RIS RO B =R B XK R G LA
B ARREEENTIH LEURRA AL
BR GG kG AR ERFRRI0F

0 BEIZRBENAHBEBAHELNKE
1 R R R AR A B AR FE - TRERRL R p ]
EHIFSH -

H-_Z-_ZF+A—B(KERH)E_ZF
—EF+ A=+ AHMMEAERY
AEBERURESARE7AEB T REBETF
BARK I SsAET  MKBEFEER=-Z
ZTEF-A—BEB4LE AEEZFT-FF
TZA=tT—HLEFENGEREREE
FHEBONAAREIEBIRARKE
3988 e
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MRRME

For the year ended December 31,2020 BE =T —TF+-A=1+—RHALFE

32.NOTE TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH NR.EBEHEERERMEE

FLOWS
Year ended December 31,
BE+-—A=+—HLEE
2020 2019
—B-BF T NF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T ARBTTT
Profit before income tax B PRS2 Al & A 397,577 881,511
Adjustment for: BATZIEFE -
- Foreign exchange gain (Note 10) — & ¥ UeEs (fdsE10) (17,821) (603)
— Allowance for doubtful accounts —RERBE 140,413 39,958
- Loss on disposal of property, —HEVE  BER
plant and equipment (Note 10) A EsE (Frsxi0) 49 91
— Depreciation of property, plant and —¥E - BEREBTE
equipment (Note 14) (MI5E14) 157,124 153,384
- Depreciation of right-of-use asset (Note 15) —FEREEENE (ME15) 30,444 14,736
— Amortization of intangible assets (Notes 19) —EREERE (MiE19) 414,442 413,019
- Share-based compensation (Note 8) — AR AERA
(K¥zEs) 382,147 542,210
— Fair value changes on investments measured —RAnEEFTE8EEZH
at fair value through profit or loss FFABZMEERAR
BE2D (65,445) (106,006)
- Finance income (Note 11) — BRI (BF3E11) (37,641) (47,104)
- Finance cost (Note 11) —BisER (1) 14,639 10,232
- Other gains, net —H e 558 (18,119) (9,572)
— Impairment loss of investments —REEE QR E R
in associates (Note 16) REEE (H3E16) - 35,110
— Share of results from investments —FE(REE A RIIRE A
in associates (Note 16) (Mt3E16) 7,204 12,691
- Dividend income (Note 9) — B A (FiFEE9) (9,328) =
Changes in working capital: HEESEY
~ Trade receivables —BHRIWNFIA 129,388 (353,193)
- Prepayment and other receivables — TR RRIB K H i FE UK 249,624 (796,168)
— Trade payables —B S EMNFIEA (1,475,870) 893,717
— Accrued expenses and other current liabilities — R REMRB A E (82,215) 254,485
Cash generated from operating activities RESEEITISIR S 216,612 1,939,368
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32.NOTE TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH

FLOWS (continued)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended December 3

(@) In the consolidated statements of cash flows, proceeds (@) E&HE

from sale of property, plant and equipment comprise:

Fe M ERRME
1,220 BZ -2 -2 F+-_RA=+—HILFE

R.GeRERERME (&

REREBRA - HEWE K

ERRERERERSE

Year ended December 31,

BE+-A=+—-BLFE

2020 2019
—ECEHF —E-NF
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TRT ARETE

Net book value (Note 14) BREDFE (Fi5T14) 1,802 1,416
Loss on disposal of property, LEYE - BER&ERNEE

plant and equipment (Note 10) (K¥zE10) (49) (961)
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEYE - BRERKHBFTEHIA

plant and equipment 1,753 455
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B ERARM

AN
léﬁ/—ﬁl:l

For the year ended December 31,2020 BE — T2 —FF+_-_A=+—HIFE

32.NOTE TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH  32.438BE&REBRM T ()
FLOWS (continued)
(b) Reconciliation of liabilities generated from financing (b) MEEHFTELEEBNYEER
activities
Borrowings Borrowings
due within due after Lease
a year a year Interest liabilities
(Note 24) (Note 24) payable (Note 15) Total
—FR —F%
HHER HEER HESR
(FizF24) (FffaF24) ERFE (H=E15) #st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT AR%®Trn AR¥Tr AR%ETn ARETxn
As of January 1, 2020 BE-_Z-Zf¥-8-H 106,895 132,921 710 23,889 264,415
Acquisitions (Note 31) ek (P3E31) 5,000 = = 634 5,634
Cash flows Beng (82,284) - (8,525) (28,182) (118,991)
Accrued interest expenses PR RIS - - 8,834 5,876 14,710
Other non-cash movements HibkRe® 19,692 (19,692) - 230,825 230,825
As of December 31, 2020 BZ-_Z_Zf
+=A=+-H 49,303 113,229 1,019 233,042 396,593
As of January 1,2019 BEZ-Z-h&-A—-H 19,692 152613 258 17,282 189,845
Acquisitions e - = = 19,578 19,578
Cash flows Beng 67,511 = (9,013) (13,241) 45,057
Accrued interest expenses PR RIS - = 9,465 1,025 10,490
Other non-cash movements Hib kR e 28 19,692 (19,692) = (755) (755)
As of December 31,2019 BZ_Z-NF
+=A=+-AH 106,895 132,921 710 23,889 264415
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MRRMEE

For the year ended December 31,2020 HE—Z R +-_A=+—HILFE

33.BANKING FACILITIES 33.8R1TRLE
As of December 31, 2020, the Group has banking facilities available in HE-_Z-_ZF+-_A=+—H  A5H
the form of letters of guarantee of RMB1,134,000,0000 (December 31, TﬁﬁﬁL}ﬁ%ﬁ? R RENRITHREARE
2019: RMB2,889,000,000), in which RMB1,022,000,000 (December 31, 1,134,000,000C(ZFE—AF+=-_A=+—
2019: RMB699,200,000) are utilized and provided to a business partner in B : AR%2,889,000,0007T) @ Ef AR
connection with air ticketing business for financial security. 1,022,000,000L (ZE—AEF+ZA=+—

H: AR#699,200,0007T) 2 8 AW RE T
WEZESEBRER BT FIER -

34.CONTINGENCIES 34. HAREIE
As of December 31, 2020, the Group did not have any significant HEZZTZZF+A=+—08 £5%H
contingent liabilities (December 31, 2019: nil). WEAMEANAREE(ZE—NAEFE+=A
=+—H:8E)-
35.COMMITMENT 35. i
(a) Operating lease commitments KEHERE
The Group leases offices under non-cancellable operating lease AEERBEIAIRELEHERHEM
agreements. The future aggregate minimum lease payments under RAMAE REEEAERAH T
non-cancellable operating leases at each of the balance sheet dates AHEEEHETRRFEBEMNK
are as follows: MEET

As of December 31,

BE+-A=+—H
2020 2019
gt 222 —ZT-hEF
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARET T ARETE

No later than 1 year THB—F 721 3,391
Between 1 and 2 years —EWF = 263
721 3,654
The operating lease commitments as of December 31, 2020 only BEZZ-TF+-_A=+—HrKEHA
represent payments to be associated with short term leases and EREEEEAEHHAEREEEEEMNE
leases of low-value assets. Other operating lease commitments have FREA R - B & &R E R 5
been classified as lease liabilities with adoption of IFRS 16. BB EERIE 6 RBOEAHERE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR M

For the year ended December 31,2020 BE — T2 —FF+_-_A=+—HIFE

35.COMMITMENT (continued) 35. 748 (&)
(b) Purchase commitments (b) BBERIE
The purchase commitments represent the minimum payment BB RERA R AR B R 5 R 75 1R
that the Company would pay for the pre-purchase of travel HERR AR TEEREAEE R (K
related products assuming inventory risk pursuant to the existing BFERR)MREMNK -

agreements with travel service suppliers.

As of December 31,

BE+-A=+—-A
2020 2019
—B-RF —TNHF
RMB'000 RMB'000

ARET T ARBETE

Purchase commitments BB A 66,332 64,293
(c) Capital commitments (c) BAEE
Capital expenditure contracted for not yet incurred as of December BT -_ZTER-_ZT—HhhE+=-A
31,2020 and 2019 is as follows: =+—H BIAEHRREENER
XA :

As of December 31,

BE+=-BA=+—H
2020 2019
323 —E-NF
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TRT ARETE

Property and equipment LEYSE ] 10,593 45,499
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36.RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability, directly fisg —
or indirectly, control the other party or exercise significant influence
over the other party in making financial and operation decisions. Parties
are also considered to be related if they are subject to common control.

Members of key management and their close family member of the

Group are also considered as related parties.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MRRMEE

For the year ended December 31,2020 HE—Z R +-_A=+—HILFE

36.FEE TR S

THEENERIBEESNS T ‘}Z
RS- B REERRITRE
25 METRA SR 1h'§‘§7’7‘x,\
RIEH - THREREHT - AEEXEE
EERB RRENTRIMRR SR -

Save as disclosed in other notes, the following significant transactions BREAMMEMBEREIN  UTEARXSTIA
were carried out between the Group and its related parties during AEEREABIRNBE_S_EF R
the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019. In the opinion of the E-NEFE+A=T—BILFERET -
Directors of the Company, the related party transactions were carried KRBIEERE  ZEWHMAIRZTINA
out in the normal course of business and at terms negotiated between %“%ﬁ%ﬂ&¢ﬁz$$ E X g R TR

the Group and the respective related parties.

(a) Names and relationships with related parties

The following companies are related parties of the Group that

had balances and/or transactions with the Group during the years

ended December 31, 2020 and 2019.

Company

NG

Trip.com Group and its affiliated companies

B EBE LA

Tencent and its affiliated companies
RS e )= NS

City Legend International Limited and its affiliated companies
EERRERDRLEBELA

Tongcheng Holdings and its affiliated companies

[T IR I EL B 2 )

Suzhou Chenglv Network Technology Co., Ltd.
FINEIRBERRBR AR

Suzhou Yitong Meicheng Hotel Management Co., Ltd.
BMNBREREEERERAA

Suzhou Tongyi Huyu Network Technology Co., Ltd.
BEMREERBBREER LR

AR B R 77 B R

KT AT ARREOME T - B
HE-F-FER-F-NE+_H
ST-ALFERAEEAERE
2R -

Relationship with the Group
HASENRE

Shareholder with significant influence over the Group
HARBAREATZENNKRE

Shareholder with significant influence over the Group
HASEERSRTENNKRE

Shareholder with significant influence over the Group
HAKEAEEAZENNRE

Controlled by shareholders with significant influence over the Group
MU AEEEBERTE NI RRZEF

Associate of the Group

AEEEENE

Associate of the Group

REEHE QT

Associate of the Group

REEHERT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

For the year ended December 31,2020 BE — T2 —FF+_-_A=+—HIFE

QAT

Yitong Quwan Cultural Tourism Management (Suzhou) Co., Ltd.

and its subsidiaries
ERBTUEIREEE (BN BRARRE TR
TEJ Co,, Ltd.
A EHTE)
LY (Thailand) Co., Ltd.
LY(RE)BR A
Toyeebuy Information Technology (Hainan) Co., Ltd.

RSB ESAK (8 BERAR

Chuke Yunxing Intelligent Technology (Hubei) Co,, Ltd.

BEETEEMR AL AERA

Suzhou Honghu Huixing Network Technology Co,, Ltd.

FIMNBRETHEERREERA

elLong Net Information Technology (Hainan) Co,, Ltd.
BEBEERMOCE)ERAT

Suzhou Chenglv Network Technology Co.,, Ltd.
N RBEREAR AR

Shanghai Ailu Hotel Management Co,, Ltd.

BV EREERERAT

Tongcheng-Elong Holdings Limited | REIf2E25EiERBIRA T

36.RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued) 36.BAEE AR B (2)
(@) Names and relationships with related parties (continued) (a) BIB&XEEREB TR (&
Company Relationship with the Group

RS E A

Associate of the Group

AEEBE DT
Associate of the Group
AEEEENT
Associate of the Group
AEEBE LT
Associate of the Group
REEBE LT
Associate of the Group
AEEEENT
Associate of the Group
AEEEENT
Associate of the Group
AEEBE DT
Associate of the Group
AEEEENT
Subsidiary of associate of the Group

AEEE N RSB R A



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MRRMEE

For the year ended December 31,2020 HE—Z R +-_A=+—HILFE

36.RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued) 36. BB AR S (&
(b) Significant transactions with related parties (b) B STNEARS

Year ended December 31,

BE+-A=1+t—RHLEE

2020 2019
—ECEHF —E-NF
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARBTT

Commission and other service income received B B B T A e &
from related parties: HAbRRISUA
— Trip.com Group and its affiliates —ERELREEBAR 1,272,311 1,396,312
- Tencent and its affiliates — AL EEE AR 7,589 24,963
- Tongcheng Holdings and its affiliates — RIFREAR K H Bt E A 7] 15,790 71,051
- City Legend International Limited —Z 2R ER AT - 283
- Others —HAth 639 983
Total Bt 1,296,329 1,493,592
Commission, settlement and other service BB TZHNEe  EER
fees paid to related parties: HmRTEE
— Trip.com Group and its affiliates —EBREIEBEB AR 10,724 26,376
~ Tencent and its affiliates — R EE B A 687,719 856,232
- Tongcheng Holdings and its affiliates — R R HEEE A A 29,140 77,880
- Others —HAth 24,150 382
Total Bt 751,733 960,870
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR M

For the year ended December 31,2020 BE — T2 —FF+_-_A=+—HIFE

36.RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued) 36.FABE AR (&
(c) Balance with related parties (c) EEREEE TS &8k

As of December 31,

BZE+=-A=+—H
2020 2019
—EEF —FE-NF
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBFR ARBTT

Trade receivables, prepayment and other RE B R E S REWGRIE
receivables from related parties (Note 21 & 22): TE A FRIE R H A FE W R IE
(BifaE21 %22) -
— Trip.com Group and its affiliates —EBREIEBEB AR 124,596 185,111
- Tencent and its affiliates — AR A E AR 303,079 369,076
- Tongcheng Holdings and its affiliates — [RIFR AR N HOH B A Al 146,802 278,719
- Others —Hftp 108,198 187,073
Total mst 682,675 1,019,979
The receivables from related parties arise mainly from ordinary FEWEM A RIETERN —REKEREPE
course of business. The receivables are unsecured, interest-free and EoBpEE_E-_EF+_A=+—HMA
with no fixed term of repayment except for loan to related parties RAE T B AR 870,069,000 7T (HiEE36(e))
of RMB70,069,000 (Note 36(e)) as of December 31, 2020. Group has SN ERENHIBEEEER - 28 BEE
made RMB40.6 million provisions against receivables from related TFENEMR - AEED 7 E WL 5 18
parties. EH AR 406 B BT -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
eI IRAR M

For the year ended December 31,2020 HE—Z R +-_A=+—HILFE

36.RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued) 36.BHARS (&
(c) Balance with related parties (continued) (c) EHRRBS TS &6k (48)
As of December 31,
BZE+=-A=+—H
2020 2019
—EEF —FE-NF
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBFR ARBTT

Trade payables and other payables to ST REEE T B E 5 FER RRIE
related parties (Note 25 & 26): N E At S 5RIR
(MEE25 % 26) -
— Trip.com Group and its affiliates —EBREIEBEB AR 1,081,199 2,156,399
— Tencent and its affiliates — AR HEE AR 37,086 7,243
- Tongcheng Holdings and its affiliates — R R H BB A A 14,423 17,870
- Others —Hity 6,361 2,743
Total Et 1,139,069 2,184,255
The payables to related parties are unsecured, interest-free and with EREE A SRIEAEIRR  CENERT
no fixed term of repayment. BEEARR o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

For the year ended December 31,2020 BE — T2 —FF+_-_A=+—HIFE

36.RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued) 36.BH AR B (&
(d) Key management personnel compensations (d) EEEEASFH
The compensations paid or payable to key management personnel NEERBENIERNETEEREAER
(including CEO and other senior executives) for employee services (BETREZEREMSHRITHAE)
are show below: NS R -

Year ended December 31,

BE+T-AZ+—HLFE

2020 2019
—g-8F T AF
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TRT ARETE

Wages and salaries TERH® 16,703 19,585
Discretionary bonus BIFIEAT 3,686 5,135
Pension costs — defined contribution plans RIKEKA —REHIEE 202 297
Other social security costs, housing benefits Hibt RERA -

and other employee benefits FEENREMmESRT 323 375
Share-based compensation expenses AR D B ETER BN & F 72,621 149,669
Total et 93,535 175,061
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36.RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(e) Loan to related parties

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B ERR M

For the year ended December 31,2020 HE—Z R +-_A=+—HILFE

36.BBEE SR Z (42

(e) PIEAEES B

Year ended December 31,

BE+-A=1+t—RHLEE

2020 2019
—E-EF —Z-hF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T AR®ETT
Beginning of the year F1) 265,064 21,711
Loans advanced BEEBER 122,927 354,924
Loan repayments received BWBIEFER (280,172) (110,200)
Interest charged BEFIE 9,477 3,281
Interest received B YR F 2 (6,066) (1,484)
Debt restructuring E%EH (41,069) =
Transferred to investments accounted EEFAEREARNIRE
for using the equity method - (2,994)
Currency translation differences BEmE xS (92) (174)
End of the year FR 70,069 265,064
(f) Lease from related party (H EELSHEE
Year ended December 31,
BE+t-A=+—HLEE
2020 2019
—E-EF —Z-hEF
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARBETT
Addition of right-of-use asset AREBECRAEEE
— Shanghai Ailu Hotel Management Co., Ltd. — BN EREEEERAR 110,210 -
Interest expense accrued EETFIERX
- Shanghai Ailu Hotel Management Co., Ltd. - BN EREEEAERAA 2,497 =

T -THEFIR  ANNUAL REPORT 2020 321



322

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

For the year ended December 31,2020 BE — T2 —FF+_-_A=+—HIFE

36.RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(f) Lease from related party (continued)

Lease liability
- Shanghai Ailu Hotel Management Co., Ltd.

(g) Acquisition of subsidiaries from related parties

Consideration
- Tongcheng Holdings and its and

its affiliated companies

(h) Fair value change of purchasing financial assets from

related parties

Fair value change
- Tongcheng Holdings and its and

its affiliated companies

Tongcheng-Elong Holdings Limited | REIf2E25EiERBIRA T

36. M AR % (&)
(f) BABASHEE (4)

As of December 31,

BZ+=-A=+—H
2020 2019
—ECEE —E—hfF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T ARBFT
HEAE
- EENEBIEEEERAR 104,553 -

() o1 EAHE TS WiR R 2 J

Year ended December 31,

BET-AZ=+—-HLFE

2020 2019
g Jemp 53 —E-hEF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARBTT
RE
— R R H BB A A
37,279 270,000

(h) MEAHFBEEMBEENAAE
EEE
Year ended December 31,

BE+T-AZ+—-HLFE

2020 2019
g Jemp 53 —E-hEF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARBEFT
AR EEZD
— RITR4E AR e E B8 A A
4,024 =



37.SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

There were no material subsequent events during the period from
December 31, 2020 to the approval date of these consolidated financial

statements by the Board of Directors on March 23, 2021.

38.FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVE MOVEMENT

OF THE COMPANY

(i)

Financial position of the Company

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MRRMEE

For the year ended December 31,2020 HE—Z R +-_A=+—HILFE

37.6585

(i)

RESEH

R-B-_THE+_-_A=+—HE-FT=-—
FZA-+=H (ESeERNGRETHR
KA BB ERLEE X

3. AR AUMBRAR REEED

R B BAR R

BEBREM-

As of December 31,

BE+=-B=+—~H
2020 2019
e —E-AF
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
BisE ARBT T ARBT T
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets RBEE
Right-of-use assets, net HRAEEEFRA 597 544
Investment in subsidiaries HERKB AR 20,027,989 19,333,902
Investments accounted for using the ERAEZREARNIEE
equity method 3,644 1,363
Investments measured at fair value BEAnEBEFEEEEZY
through profit or loss FFABEMIRE 122,953 150,205
Prepayment and other receivables TR RRIE K HoAth FE R IE 54 72
20,155,237 19,486,086
Current assets REBEE
Prepayment and other receivables TEA FRIE K o FE MR 341,263 180,455
Short-term investments measured BEHEKATTER
at amortized cost R E 330,919 =
Short-term investments measured BAREBEEFEEEEH
at fair value through profit or loss FFABEEMEEIRE 875,091 816,205
Restricted cash ZRHIR e 65,249 69,762
Cash and cash equivalents RERREEFEY 101,052 740,329
1,713,574 1,806,751
Total assets EEHRE 21,868,811 21,292,837

—E_TFFRH
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MRRME

For the year ended December 31,2020 BE — T2 —FF+_-_A=+—HIFE

38.FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVE MOVEMENT
OF THE COMPANY (continued)

(i) Financial position of the Company (continued)

()

(i) ADBHABARR (&)

38. 2K 1 B A Bk i I fei s 2 B

As of December 31,

BZ+=-A=+—H
2020 2019
= —EAF
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
ks AR¥T T ARBEFT
EQUITY R
Capital and reserves attributable to AATFERIFE AEN
equity holders of the Company EXR#E
Share capital [N 7,512 7,323
Share premium & im(E 19,046,357 18,189,974
Other reserves H b 38(ii) 1,890,586 2,221,967
Retained earnings RE & 38(ii) 764,280 731,907
Total equity B 21,708,735 21,151,171
LIABILITIES =N
Non-current liabilities FRBEE
Other payables and accruals H b A R R FERTE A 27 27
Current liabilities REBEE
Borrowings (R 24,611 87,203
Other payables and accruals Hih R FRIBREER 135,053 53,971
Short-term lease liabilities MHREEE 385 465
160,049 141,639
Total liabilities EEA% 160,076 141,666
Total equity and liabilities EzRkaERAE 21,868,811 21,292,837
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MRRMEE

For the year ended December 31,2020 HE—Z R +-_A=+—HILFE

38.FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVE MOVEMENT 38. DA AR R HEERE

OF THE COMPANY (continued) ()
(i) A THrER

(ii) Reserve movement of the Company

Retained earnings Other reserves

REEF Hith ik
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARBTR AR¥TR
At January 1, 2020 R-—ZB-_ZF—-H—H 731,907 2,221,967
Profit for the year FWmF 32,373 =
Exercise of share options — TR IRE — 2 RS RUR
proceeds received - (288,844)
RSUs vested and settled BB R EER R IR B - (299,168)
Share-based compensations ARG BERSME - 380,813
Currency translation differences BEmE - (124,182)
At December 31, 2020 R-B-EHF+=-A=+—H 764,280 1,890,586
At January 1, 2019 R=—ZFE—NF—A—8 822,063 2,173,438
Loss for the year FNERE (90,156) =
Exercise of share options — TERERE - B RUR
proceeds received - (391,197)
RSUs vested and settled EEREREENTREIRGN B - (123,701)
Share-based compensations AR BERENHES = 534,856
Currency translation differences BmEE - 28,571
At December 31, 2019 R=ZB-hE+=A=+—H 731,907 2,221,967

—E-TEFEEH ANNUAL REPORT 2020

325



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MRRME

For the year ended December 31,2020 BE — T2 —FF+_-_A=+—HIFE

39.SUBSIDIARIES 39. i & 2~ 7
The Company’s major subsidiaries (including controlled and structured AREEBEZZ_FEF+_A=+—AH1
entities) during the year ended December 31, 2020 are set out below. FEXZEMBAR (BEXEHREETE

BN -

Place of incorporation/ Country/place of Equity/beneficial
Establishment and operation and date Particulars of issued/ interest held
Company name kind of legal entity of incorporation paid-in capital As of December 31, Principal activities
AR/ RIBHR gE%/ BT/ KENRE BEER
AR%ER FEEREN BEREMAYIAE  BRRAEE HET-A=t-B  IEXH
2020 2019
e A
Directly held:
EBRE:
elong Inc. Cayman, limited liability company  PRC/April 4, 2001 U801 100% 100%  Investment holding
L REHE BRALAA hE/-35-%F WEIH 100% 100%  RERR
mARA
Indirectly held:
RERE
eLong Net Information Technology (Beijing) Co, Ltd"  PRC, limited liability company PRC/August 17,1999 US8214,277.229 100% 100%  Platform service of hotel
business
LEBERRN LR BRAR hE - EREAAT wE/-AANE D4TTI9%T 100% 100%  BEEBHTARE
NATER
eLong Information Technology (Hefei) Co, Ltd.? PRC, limited liability company ~ PRC/July 09, 2012 US$5,000,000 100% 100%  Hotel business service/business
process outsourcing service
ERERRE (AR BRAR hE - EREEAA wE/ZF-ZELAR S00000XT 100% 100% EEEHBRE/
A BRI
Beijing eLong Information Technology Co, Ltd." PRC, limited fiability company PRC/Noverber 28,2000 RMB16,000,000 100% 100%  Information technology
outsourcing/advertising
service
TRERESRHERARY hE - EREAAT hE/TTTF ARH 160000007 100% 100% BRI/ BERE
T—A=t/\A
Beijing eLong Air Services Co, Ltd."” PRC, limited liability company ~ PRC/October 23, 2002 RMB23,000,000 100% 100%  Air ticket service
TRERNERBEERARY hE - EREAAT hE/ZTTCF ARE 230000007 100% 100%  BERE
tA=t=R
Bejing eLong International Travel Co, Ltd.? PRC, limited fiability company ~ PRC/July 29, 2004 RMB1,500,000 100% 100%  Hotel business service/other
travel service
IrERERKTHARAA hE - EREEAT hE/Z3TNF ARE 15000007 100% 100 BEEHRE LbERE

Tongcheng-Elong Holdings Limited | [Ef2£5EERERAF]
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39.SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Company name

AREH

Tianjin Chengmei Technology Development Co, Ltd.”

REREHBERARARY

Shenzhen JL-Tour Intemational Travel Service Co, Ltd.”

AFEFERETHARATY

Xinyi Insurance Brokers (Beijing) Co, Ltd."
ERRBRELOLR)ERATY

Bejing Asia Media Interactive Advertising Co, Ltd.
IRENES RS ERERAA

Suzhou Longyue Tiancheng Venture
Capital Group Co, Ltd
SR REEREEERRAR)

Suzhou Chenghuiwan International
Travel Agency Co, Ltd"
SR emAREAHERATY

Nanjing Tongyou Car Rental Co, Ltd"
BRRBRTAEREERATY

Place of incorporation/
Establishment and
kind of legal entity
ARRL/ IR
FEEREN

PRC, limited fiability company
hE - EREAAT

PRC, limited fiability company
hE - EREAAT

PRC, limited fiability company
hE - EREAAT

PRC, limited fiability company
hE - EREAAT

PRC, limited fiability company

hE - EREEAT

PRC, limited fiability company

hE - EREAAA

PRC, limited liability company
hE AREMAA

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MRRMEE

For the year ended December 31,2020 HE—Z R +-_A=+—HILFE

Country/place of
operation and date
of incorporation
gEExR/
BEREMALAH

PRC/December 31,2013
o/ —F-Z%
tZR=1-A
PRC/October 09, 2001
hE/55-%
tAhA
PRC/May 09, 2016
hE/Z5-1F
BAKA
PRC/August 02, 2000
hE/-53T%
NAZH
PRC/September 07, 2018

hE/~F-\E
NAtA
PRC/November 24, 2015

hE/-F-1F
+-B-tER

PRC/October 28, 2016

hE/ZF-AF
tA=tNR

39.MfB AT (&

Particulars of issued/
paid-in capital
&/
BaRAHE

RMB15,000,000
AR 1500000070

RB2.430,769
ARE24307697C

RMBS0,000,000
AR5000000070

RMB30,000,000
AR300000007

RMBO0.00

ARE000TT

RMB1,000,000

ARHE10000007C

Equity/beneficial
interest held
As of December 31,
KENRE BEER
BET-A=1-A
2020 2019
CEIRE CINE

100% 100%
100% 100%

54% 54%
54% 54%
100% 100%

100% 100%

100% 100%
100% 100%

100% 100%

100% 100%

100% 100%

100% 100%

100% 100%
100% 100%

Principal activities

IEEH

Investment holding

e

International travel service

BRI

Insurance brokerage business

RBELEH

Advertising service

BERH

Information technology
outsourcing

AR

Travel related services

IEANRRARES

Travel related services

IEARRARES
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BRI

For the year ended December 31,2020 BE — T2 —FF+_-_A=+—HIFE

39.SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Company name

AREH

Suzhou Chenglv Tianxia Information
Technology Co, Ltd.™
EMRIBR T ERBERAAY

Beijing Tongcheng Huading Intemational Travel

Agency Company Limited”
I RRRESARITIARARY

Tongcheng Insurance Agent Co, Ltd"
ARRRABERAR

Suzhou Chengyi Technology Co, Ltd.
N REReREERARY

Tongcheng Network Technology Co, Ltd ™
FERRHERGERAR"

Suzhou Tongcheng Cultural Tourism

Development Co, Ltd."

SRR AR AT

Place of incorporation/
Establishment and
kind of legal entity
ARRL/ IR
FEEREN

PRC, limited fiability company

hE - EREEAT

PRC, limited fiability company

hE - EREAAA

PRC, limited liability company
hE AREMAT

PRC, limited liability company
hE AREMAA

PRC, limited liability company
hE AREMAA

PRC, limited liability company

RE BRALLA

Tongcheng-Elong Holdings Limited | [Ef2£5EERERAF]

Country/place of
operation and date
of incorporation
gEExR/
BEREMALAH

PRC/December 23, 2015

hE/-F-1F
TZR-1=H

PRC/January 12, 2011

hE/ZF—F
—-A+ZzA
PRC/May 28, 2010
hE/F-3F
;i g1
PRC/March 21,2018
wE/ZF-)\F
=R=t+-H
PRC/March 10,2004
hE/ZFTNE
=A+A
PRC/July 10, 2015

hE/=3-1%
tA+A

39.MfB AT (&

Particulars of issued/
paid-in capital
&/
BaRAHE

RMB100,000

AE#1000007

RMB5,000,000

AR 00000070

RMBS0,000,000
ARE5000000070

RMB111,319,969
ARE111319969T

RMB100,000,000

AR1000000007

Equity/beneficial
interest held
As of December 31,
KENRE BEER
BET-A=1-A
2020 2019
CEIRE CINE

100% 100%

100% 100%

100% 100%

100% 100%

100% 100%
100% 100%

100% 100%
100% 100%

100% 100%
100% 100%

100% 100%

100% 100%

Principal activities

IEEH

Travel related services

gl

Travel related services

AR

Travel related services

AR

Travel related services

AR

Travel related services

AR

Travel related services

FERRRYG



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B ERR M

For the year ended December 31,2020 HE—Z R +-_A=+—HILFE

39.SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Notes:

()

(ii)
(ifi)
(iv)

(a)

Registered as wholly foreign owned enterprises under the PRC law
Registered as a sino-foreign cooperative joint venture under the PRC law
Contract joint venture

Registered as limited liability companies under the PRC law

The English names of certain subsidiaries referred herein represent

the Directors’ best effort at translating the Chinese names of these

companies as no English names have been registered.

All companies comprising the Group have adopted December 31 as

their financial year end date.

Xinyi Insurance Brokers (Beijing) Co., Ltd. was deregistered on July 9,
2020.

Beijing Tianyuan Difang Insurance Agency Company Limited was

changed to Tongcheng Insurance Agent Co., Ltd on May 11, 2020.

39. [
B

(i)

(ii)

(ii)

(iv)

a2

BRF (&

RIERBEDAEZMOINEBE RS
REDBEIZEEMOFIIELELE

BRRREDE

o)

RERBEAEEMNER AR

SRR E TH B QR EXEE
REZRRABNEZEZRANPX
HWIELOBE  BAZSRAME
BRERX BT o

REEBETHRBRREHRMAT A=
T-BRREMBEFEAER -

EERBREL (XR)BERAFNR-F
—EFCANAGEH -

REMT (LR RERKEERAAR

“EZHFAAT-HEARBER
BRAEBRRFA] °
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330

DEFINITION

In this annual report, unless the context otherwise require, the following

expressions shall have the following meaning:

“2016 Share Incentive Plan”

[ = NFR B2

“2018 Share Incentive Plan”

[—Z— N\FRD BT E ]

“2019 RSU Plan”

[—E—NFRRH
Rt B3 ]

“2019 Share Option Plan”

[—T—NFEkETE ]

AGM”

[BRRBFAE ]

HA‘H

[AATEgE) ]

"APUs"
[FNERAF]

“Articles of Association”

“Audit Committee”
[FEZZEE

“Beijing E-dragon”

B¢ -5 N

Tongcheng-Elong Holdings Limited

EREEERBRAF

RARFER - BRXESHBFATIEN
WMTRE

UTRZAER

the share incentive plan adopted and approved by the Company on August 26,
2016
ARRRZZE—RFENAZ+SBEARIUERNRG BB S

the share incentive plan adopted and approved by the Company on March 9, 2018
RARRZE—NF= AN B 5 R ES R 5 SR E

the restricted share unit plan adopted and approved by the Company on July 2,
2019
RRABRZT—NFL R = BRI ZBEN R R B3

the 2019 share option plan approved by an ordinary resolution passed by
shareholders of the Company at the extraordinary general meeting of the
Company held on August 2, 2019
RAATRRERABRZZE-—NEFENAZBERANKREEFIARS LRiREER
BRIEN T — N FEERET S

the 2020 annual general meeting of the Company to be held on May 31, 2021 or
any adjournment thereof

RAAFRER - E - —FREA=T-BRTN T _ZFRRBFRASLHEM
ge

artificial intelligence
ATIERE

annual paying user

FNEAP

the articles of association of the company adopted on October 12, 2018 and
effective on November 26, 2018 and as amended from time to time
RZZE-—NFTATZBRAER - N\F+ A+ RAERNARRFAE
BER (TREET)

the audit committee of the Board
EF2EREEE

Beijing eLong Information Technology Co. Ltd. (It REFEEFEERMAER AR, a
limited liability company established under the laws of the PRC on November 28,
2000, which is one of the Contractual Arrangement Entities
IREEEERMARAT  RZZZEZF+ - AT\ BRBHBUEEK L
WEREERNR - RAKNLERZ —



“Board”

[E%g

"

“Business Day(s)

[&%A )

“China” or “PRC"
[

“Company”

[ARA]]

“Consolidated Affiliated Entities”

(BRIt R E S |

“Contractual Arrangement(s)”

[& K25

“Corporate Governance Code”

[EEERTA

"C-Travel”

[C-Travel]

"Director(s)”

[E%]

“E-dragon Beijing WFOE"

[ #4384t RWFOE |

DEFINITION

the board of directors of the Company
KRARERE

any day(s) on which the stock exchange on which shares of the Company are
traded is open for the transactions of business

RRBBRNETEEZBF R GMETEBR S ZEMAF

People’s Republic of China
R AR AME

Tongcheng-Elong Holdings Limited (RII2E 8T BR A F]), an exempted
company with limited liability incorporated under the laws of the Cayman Islands
on January 14,2016
FREEERERAR  RIE-R"F-ATHARBERERESEERMKL
BB R QA

the entities we control through certain contractual arrangements

BFBEE TANLHHEH N ER

the series of contractual arrangements entered into by, among others, E-dragon
Beijing WFOE, Longyue Tiancheng WFOE and the Contractual Arrangement Entities,
details of which are described in the section headed “Contractual Arrangements”
in the Prospectus

B (B L RWFOE » B RIEWFOER &N R BRI K — &5
BRRY - FEHANBRERSHTHE]—5

the Corporate Governance Code set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules

S LR A SR AT B (R EVR T RID

C-Travel International Limited, a limited liability company incorporated under the
laws of the Cayman Islands on March 3, 2006 and a wholly-owned subsidiary of
Trip.com Group

C-Travel International Limited - —ARBERASHEEZEN T EF=A=H7*
MRZHEREERTF  UWAEBENEZENEAF

the director(s) of the Company

KRREF

eLong Net Information Technology (Beijing) Co,, Ltd. (Ege#{E BRIt ) AR
2 A)), a wholly foreign-owned enterprise established under the laws of the PRC on
August 17, 1999 and a wholly-owned subsidiary of our Company
BEMACLEMUER)ARAR  R—ANNENA T+ BRERBUEERZ
BINEBERE  REARANEENBAR
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DEFINITION

“eLong” or “eLong Cayman”

(&5 % [&EHE ]

“Global Offering”
[2IREE |

"‘GMV”

(X 5%

Group”, "we”, “us”, or “our

N SN EAEN

“Hong Kong”
(&5

" ASE"
[BEREtEAEES

“ICP License(s)"

[ICPEFAI

“|IFRS”

[ER RIS SRS R

“Latest Practicable Date”

[EERATTHH

Tongcheng-Elong Holdings Limited | [Ef2E8EIERERLOT

elong Inc, a corporation incorporated under the laws of the Cayman Islands on
May 19, 2004
elong Inc. ' RZZEZMER AT NARBRSHS EETMK AR

the offering of the Company’s Shares as described in the Prospectus

ARERMENARAIRNDEE

gross merchandise volume, the total value of merchandise sold in the specified

market or through a specified platform during a given period
EmX 8% IERTRBAEETRENEETA LHENTEREE

the Company, its subsidiaries and Consolidated Affiliated Entities from time to time

RRF - ETENMBAR I RBBER

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the People’s Republic of China
hEE AR AMEEBRSRIITHE

the International Accounting Standards Board
B gt AR EE

Value added Telecommunications Services Operating Permit for Internet

information services

NERAERRB AEBEEMNLETERBLLTIZE

International Financial Reporting Standards, amendments, and interpretations, as
issued from time to time by the IASB

RETEAEEE TR RMOBERYBEREER - EIARRE

April 20, 2021, being the latest practicable date prior to the printing of this annual
report for the purpose of ascertaining the information contained herein

TR -FWAZ+R - RFRNEDATREET S TEROREERA
fTHE

intelligent travel assistant

REEHITER

the listing of the Shares on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, which occurred

on the Listing Date
Mty 7 £ B BRSSP AR BT



“Listing Date”

[ £ A

“Listing Rules”

[ LAl

"

“Longyue Tiancheng WFOE

[ BE 1 RFZWFOE |

“Main Board”

[E1R]

“MAUS”

[ARERFE]

“Model Code”

[1224Es7 Al

“MPUs"

[ANERF]

“Nomination Committee”

[fREZEE]

OTA”

DEFINITION

November 26, 2018, the date on which the Shares are listed on the Main Board of

the Stock Exchange
—NF+—AZ+XA - BROPBEPFER ETH B A

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong

Limited, as amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time

BRMAXHMERARES LMHRA - ETRERT - BRIARMA A ER

Suzhou Longyue Tiancheng Venture Capital Group Co,, Ltd (BRMBEIH KIZAIZ%
BEEABR AT, a wholly foreign-owned enterprise established under the laws
of the PRC on September 7, 2017 and a wholly-owned subsidiary of our Company
FNBERAERIEREEEBRAR - RZE—F N AL BRBPBUEERK
SUHINEEERE  RRARNEEWBE AT

the stock exchange (excluding the option market) operated by the Stock Exchange

which is independent from and operates in parallel with the Growth Enterprise

Market of the Stock Exchange

M PAEENE SRS (TBERETS) » B RBRPTGEM » I ELH ff
1TEME

monthly active users who access our platforms at least once during a calendar
month

—EEARELEARMTFE RO AERAP

the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers set out in
Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules
FRAIMEE PR EMBEITAEFETIERXHNEESTED

monthly paying users who make purchases on our platforms at least once during a
calendar month

—EEAELHE-—RNANERP

nomination committee of the Board

ExgRE%Be

online travel agency
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DEFINITION

“Paying Ratio”
[ &Ll |

“Prospectus”

[ R =L

“Remuneration Committee”

(FHEEg]

“Reorganization”

[E#]

“RMB”
TARE ]

“Share(s)”

[Bfn ]

“Shareholder(s)”
[A& =]

“Stock Exchange”
[ B8 22 AT

"

“substantial shareholder(s)
[EBRE

“Suzhou Chengyi”

[ &R I2E

“TCCT
[ R 30 f iz |

Tongcheng-Elong Holdings Limited | [Ef2E8EIERERLOT

the ratio calculated as average MPUs divided by average MAUs
AT AN BB IATY A ERASHH0HL R

the prospectus dated November 14, 2018 issued by the Company
RRABR-ZT—N\F+—A+HBETIENHERERR

the remuneration committee of the Board

EFEEVIEES

the reorganization arrangements undertaken by the Group in preparation for the
Listing
REBAEH L mETHNEALH

Renminbi, the lawful currency of China

ARE - PEUEEE®

Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong), as

amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time

BREVIFESBCESFRAEED) - ETERERT - MR AR Bk

ordinary share(s) in the share capital of the Company, currently of nominal value
USS$0.0005 each
AN BIAR AN AR ER R A AR TET{B10.0005 25 7T /9 3 3 %

holder(s) of the Share(s)
BHFEA

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
ERBARSMER AT

has the meaning ascribed to it in the Listing Rules

EREWRAFE T 2 RE

Suzhou Chengyi Internet Technology Limited (BRJNI2ERERIIRERAR)), a
limited liability company established under the laws of the PRC on March 21, 2018,
which is one of the Contractual Arrangement Entities

BMNEREEARRERAR R NF=AZ T —BIREBHRBUEEKH
BREMERT - RENLHERZ—

Suzhou Tongcheng Cultural Tourism Development Co., Ltd

FMERXCIREERBRAR



“Tencent”

MR

“Tencent Group”

[

“Tencent-based platforms”

[BAETFA ]

“Tongcheng” or

“Tongcheng Network”

[[R72 )5k [ RI24848

“Tongcheng-eLong Merger”

[FRERES G

“Tongcheng Holdings”

[ [RA2 4% A%

“Tongcheng Online Business”

[ R4 575

DEFINITION

Tencent Holdings Limited, a company redomiciled to the Cayman Islands on
February 27, 2004 as an exempted company under the laws of the Cayman Islands,
whose shares are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 700)
BIERERAR  — AR ZEENF A+ ARBEFASHS E2EAE
HREAREMERSRHS - HRMEBRZAER T (RHRSE - 700)

Tencent, its subsidiaries and its controlled entities

B~ HE AR REZES B

(i) our proprietary Weixin-based mini programs, which can be accessible by Weixin
users through the “Rail & Flight” and “Hotel” portals in Weixin Wallet, the mobile
payment interface of Tencent's Weixin or from the drop-down list of the favorite
or most frequently used mini programs in Weixin; and (ii) the “Rail & Flight” and
“Hotel” in QQ Wallet, the mobile payment interface of Tencent's Mobile QQ and
certain other portals in Mobile QQ

OWEBRWMENEF  MERPABBEMEES (BAMENB I I AE)H
[RNEEHR IRDEEIAASRMEZEAEGERNMEFNTRIIRPEA
R(inQQER (BEBRENEAB BN HIE) KEFHQQHE T EMA AR
[NERME R EE]

Tongcheng Network Technology Limited (RF2484EEHEAR (D AR AF]), a joint
stock limited company established under the laws of the PRC on March 10, 2004,
which is one of the Contractual Arrangement Entities

RRREERERHERAR - RZTTMF= A+ BREFBEVEEN ARG
BRAF  REHNRHEREZ—

the acquisition of Tongcheng Network by the Company

ZNCIE G AT R

Tongcheng Holdings Co., Ltd. (R BR AR, a joint stock limited
company established under the laws of the PRC on March 17, 2017 pursuant to a
spin-off from Tongcheng Network
RRRZERRNDERAR - —FERERBEES LW RBRAPBEER_ZE—+F
= RTEBEHRGEBERAR]

the online business unit of Tongcheng Network which comprises transportation
ticketing, accommodation reservation and certain other travel-related online
services offered through its online platforms

FREMEENE FEBEN - BFEERAR - TARENBER - F/EE K
& T EAMIREREERRE
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DEFINITION

“Trip.com Group”

[#E72 |
“TSP”

[ iz AR A5 A FE 7 e
“USD” or "USS”

Sl e

Tongcheng-Elong Holdings Limited | [Ef2E8EIERERLOT

Trip.com Group Limited, previously known as Ctrip.com International, Ltd., a
limited liability company incorporated under the laws of the Cayman Islands on
March 3, 2000 whose shares are listed on NASDAQ (stock symbol: TCOM) and the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange(stock code: 9961)

Trip.com Group Limited (BT#&Ctrip.com International, Ltd. * —fAR =TT F =
R=AREHSHESEETMRINBRAR - HiRHOEMITER B (RH
5% - TCOM) RAERERZ P AR £ 70 (AR 5% < 9961)

travel service providers

IR R (e P

United States dollars, the lawful currency of the United States of America

X XBUEEEH



P w®
BliEZle

Tongcheng-Elong Holdings Limited
EREEEERERA

eeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee
R EARENRAEROER
Ew%ncrg FSC™ C021898
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